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only exist in the present, as kings, queens or governors, but also in the past, 
in genealogies, and in the future, as a group of hypothetical heirs.

This book analyses how dynasties were ‘made’ by the people belonging to 
them. It uses a social institutionalist framework to analyse how family dy-
namics gave rise to practices and roles. The kings of Spain only had limited 
power to control the construction of their dynasty, since births and deaths, 
processes of dynastic centralisation, pressure from subjects, relatives’ indi-
vidual agency, rivalry among relatives and the institutionalisation of roles 
limited their power.
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Prince Filiberto of Austria never existed. Yet in 1624 an Andalusian printer 
published a short treatise on ‘the great victory achieved by His Highness 
Prince Filiberto of Austria, viceroy of Sicily’.1 The details of neither the victory 
nor the treatise need concern us here. Of greater interest is the victor himself. 
If there was no Prince Filiberto of Austria, then who was this man? The suf-
fix ‘of Austria’ obviously implies membership of the House of Habsburg, but 
there were no Habsburgs named Filiberto. Besides, Habsburgs tended to be 
either archdukes or infantes, or possibly simply ‘don’, like that other famous 
vanquisher of the Ottomans, Don Juan de Austria – not princes. The princely 
title was reserved for the heir to the Spanish throne, and we know of no heirs 
called Filiberto. So who was this man?

To some degree, we are dealing with a case of mistaken identity. Prince 
Filiberto of Austria was in fact not normally called ‘of Austria’; although 
this little pamphlet is not alone in calling him thus,2 he was more commonly 
known as Emanuele Filiberto of Savoy (de Saboya; di Savoia) (Fig. 0.1). He 
was born in 1588, the third son of Duke Charles Emmanuel of Savoy. He 
was styled ‘prince’ because he was a son of a ruling duke.3 Filiberto held sev-
eral offices on behalf of the kings of Spain: he was grand prior of Castile and 
León in the Order of St John, admiral of the Mediterranean fleet and viceroy 
of Sicily. While holding office in the Spanish monarchy did not automatically 
lead to presumed membership of the dynasty, this does seem to have been the 
case for Filiberto. Apart from the few, possibly misguided, references to him 
as ‘of Austria’, the court addressed him with titles that were meant to mark 
his belonging to the dynasty (‘His Highness’ – the details and implications of 
this style are explained in Chapter 6). And when he died, Philip IV ordered 
him to be buried in the dynastic crypt in the Escorial, next to Charles V, 
Philip II and Philip III, with the ceremony normally reserved for a Spanish in-
fante (see Chapter 3). Even in his guise as ‘Filiberto di Savoia’, then, the kings 
of Spain unmistakably considered our Filiberto to be part of their family.

So how does a Savoyard princeling become an ‘Austria’, and thus, a 
Habsburg4 – not just in the pamphlet of an Andalusian printer but even in 
the eyes of the kings of Spain? The easy answer to this question is genealogy: 
his mother was a Spanish princess, the Infanta Catalina Micaela of Spain, 
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2  Introduction

younger daughter of Philip II. This made Filiberto a grandson of Philip II, 
nephew of Philip III and cousin of Philip IV. But none of this erased his 
identity as a son of Duke Charles Emmanuel of Savoy and grandson of Duke 
Emmanuel Philibert – after whom he was named. And none of this deter-
mined that he should be loyal to the Spanish Habsburgs either. His elder 

Figure 0.1  Emanuele Filiberto of Savoy (1588–1624), by Anthony van Dyck (1624). 

Source: Alamy.
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brother Vittorio Amedeo, who obviously shared Filiberto’s pedigree, became 
a staunch ally of France, Spain’s greatest rival; Vittorio’s spouse Christine 
was Louis XIII’s younger sister. Pedigree alone hardly solves the puzzle of 
Filiberto’s Habsburgness.

This book is about finding the complicated but more truthful and com-
pelling answer to the question how someone like Filiberto of Savoy became 
a Habsburg – and in the process, to examine how the Spanish Habsburg dy-
nasty was shaped by the dynamics among its actual and aspiring members. 
The answer involves much more than genealogy. As I will argue, Filiberto’s 
role within the Habsburg dynasty as a viceroy had come about as a result 
of socialisation (as a teenager, he spent several years at the Spanish court), 
as well as geopolitics (he received favours so that his father would remain 
loyal to Spain and to ensure the Alpine roads in and out of Italy stayed 
open to Spanish troops) and family conflict (if Charles Emmanuel was lost 
to France, the Spanish king wanted to make sure the next generation of rul-
ers of Savoy would be loyal). But that is only the Spanish perspective. The 
House of Savoy had something to say on the matter as well. At their end, 
Filiberto’s Habsburgness was a result of desperation-fuelled determination 
(could the king of Spain not share some of the burden of providing for five 
sons and four daughters?), as well as appeals to honour (should not the 
king of Spain make sure that his grandchildren were properly taken care 
of?) and of status rivalry (were the Savoyard nephews not entitled to the 
same treatment as earlier generations of nephews, like Archduke Albert of 
Austria who had become a cardinal, an archbishop, a viceroy and even a 
sovereign lord of the Low Countries?). In short, complicated dynamics be-
tween relatives, which played out over several generations and were made 
up of equal parts affection and distrust, determined who was considered to 
be a Habsburg and thus – as this book argues – dictated the shape of the 
Spanish Habsburg dynasty.

New Dynastic History

This work belongs to the field of dynastic history, a field which has seen 
vigorous renewal over the past years. Older works on dynasties often focus 
on the sequence of rulers, devoting chapters to successive men or women 
in power.5 Compared to this type of ‘old dynastic history’, we can confi-
dently argue that the field is in the process of reinventing itself, offering us 
a ‘new dynastic history’ characterised by a focus on family networks, self-
fashioning, cultural representation and the reciprocal roles of both men and 
women. New dynastic history focuses on individuals – not just male rulers 
but also every other type of person imaginable – as part of groups that are 
no longer identified exclusively with a particular state but rather with family 
interests. Many rivers flow into the delta that we can call new dynastic his-
tory, among them court studies, gender studies, state formation studies and 
the history of the family.
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A better understanding of dynasties is not only relevant for how we think 
of the Spanish Habsburgs, or any other dynasty, but also for how we see 
the territories they ruled. Dynasties and states existed in a form of symbiosis 
throughout the early modern world – neither seemingly able to exist without 
the other before the age of republics.6 This was particularly true for so-called 
‘dynastic agglomerates’, or composite monarchies: monarchies that consisted 
not of one cohesive territory but of a cluster of realms and lordships. If there 
was little else but the ruling dynasty to hold such clusters together, the shape 
this dynasty took and the internal dynamics that made it operate became 
highly relevant to the workings and the survival of the monarchy as a whole.7 
Piecing together the inner workings of dynasties thus belongs to the realm of 
state formation studies as much as it is a field in its own right.

The re-evaluation of the role of dynasties in state formation owes a great 
deal to German historiography on princely ruling houses. While state forma-
tion historians have always assigned considerable agency to rulers, dynasties 
were rarely the centre of attention. How kings dealt with their relatives might 
seem irrelevant to the development of a territorially cohesive state like, say, 
France. But the Holy Roman Empire is a different case. The Empire was 
home to innumerable principalities governed by endless numbers of dynas-
ties that had the habit of dividing into countless branches, all ruling their 
own minute portion of the patrimony. How such partitions were organised 
and whether patrimonies managed to be reunited again became a topic of 
research in the late 1980s, since this area of history was key to understanding 
how princely states turned out. Because primogeniture was only introduced 
in many of the German principalities towards the eighteenth century, ques-
tions about marriages, inheritance practices, partitions, family treaties and 
the position of younger sons were quite relevant even from a strict state for-
mation perspective.8

Such a focus on dynasties long clashed with traditional European-centred 
state formation narratives, which focused on institutional developments 
(bureaucracies, fiscal apparatus and armies)9 and which only used the term 
‘dynastic states’ as a periodisation (to refer to a post-feudal but pre-nation 
state period),10 or to indicate that they were ruled by hereditary monarchs.11 
But under the influence of anthropology, the state formation field moved 
away from strictly institutional perspectives and started to focus on the social 
groups and power networks that characterised these institutions.12 This has 
brought social networks and the practices that shaped them into focus. One 
of the social settings where these processes took place, the court, has been the 
focus of an extensive historiography since the 1970s.13

The aristocratic and royal power networks at the centre of early modern 
states that became evident when scholars started examining courts were of-
ten family based and constructed by marriages. This has highlighted the role 
of women and gender. Attention to the role of women in the operation of 
such networks and to the gendered aspects of court society in general has led 
to a thorough revaluation of the part played by princesses, queens, consorts 
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and female regents as power wielders, which in turn has resulted in a more 
corporate view of monarchical power.14 Rulers were not alone: they had their 
courtiers, favourites, mistresses and dissidents, but also their spouses, moth-
ers, siblings and legitimate children, as well as their in-laws and their bas-
tards. They governed in a shifting and complicated force field of interests 
and relationships. Theresa Earenfight has characterised rulership therefore 
as a ‘flexible sack’ that allows space for the ruler and any of his immediate 
‘co-workers’, who were his partners in rule.15 Rule is no longer seen as an in-
dividual affair, and while a ruler’s ‘co-workers’ are not necessarily part of his 
family, relatives and their interests can no longer be seen as separated from 
the act of ruling. Even increased state centralisation in the seventeenth cen-
tury had to come at the expense of – and thus to some degree with the agree-
ment of – relatives, who were forced to renegotiate their roles within more 
absolutist states. While such relatives eventually lost much of their political 
autonomy, negotiations with them remained an essential part of rule.16 This 
holds true not just for ruling houses. A common view of the people (such as 
nobles, courtiers or diplomats) who were shaping and manning the state in 
the early modern period is that they were not serving the abstract interests 
of the state, but rather the interests of their own families, making govern-
ment ‘dynastic’ at all its levels.17 Against this background, it seems logical to 
consider ruling families also as groups working to further dynastic interests, 
instead of merely a sequence of individual rulers succeeding each other.

One final voice adding to the choir that makes up the new dynastic history 
is the history of the family. It provides a periodisation for the emergence of 
aristocratic family groups that were cohesive enough to be considered dynas-
ties. Older views on aristocratic families posited that they developed between 
1000 and 1300 from a broad kinship group to smaller patrilineal groups 
governed by primogeniture. More recent studies, however, situate this devel-
opment in the period stretching from the post-Carolingian era into the sev-
enteenth century, and really taking off between 1400 and 1700.18 This would 
lead us to argue that the kind of family groups that were cohesive enough 
to have shared interests and even, perhaps, a shared identity, and enough 
internal discipline to manifest themselves as a unit, emerged somewhere be-
tween 1400 and 1700 as well.19 ‘Dynasty’ as a cohesive family group is an 
early modern phenomenon. While dynastic history can be approached from 
a national perspective, the field lends itself well to transnational approaches20 
and has, more recently, even taken an increasingly global turn.21

Because of this renewed interest in dynasties, the concept of ‘dynasty’ 
appears to be having its defining moment in history writing as well; quite 
literally, since ever more historians are concerned with providing a clear defi-
nition of the concept. The most prominent criticism levelled at scholars who 
have engaged with dynasties in the past is that they used the term quite un-
critically and in very different ways. Many authors seem to assume that we 
already know what a dynasty is and that the term therefore does not need 
definition or problematisation. Whereas abundant conceptual work exists on 
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such notions as the court, patronage, networks, the nobility and so on – all 
creditable works on these subjects start with some form of definition – ‘the 
dynasty’ has long been left strangely un-conceptualised, as if it were an un-
changing and unproblematic term.22 We need not review decades of histori-
ography to bring some of these differences to light; a brief discussion of some 
recent works will suffice.

Natalia Nowakowska recently explored the etymology of the term 
‘dynasty’, tracing it back to Aristotle, who used the term to denote ‘power, 
lordship or dominion, with the implication of arbitrary rule by “an extreme 
oligarchy” of aristocrats or top property owners’.23 The term is still in use 
in American sports with this meaning: when, say, the Boston Red Sox win 
the Major League Baseball World Series a few times in a row, the team be-
comes a ‘dynasty’.24 But in more general usage, and certainly among histori-
ans, the term changed meaning in the course of the eighteenth century, when 
the Encyclopédie defined it as ‘a line of princes from the same lineage who 
reigned over one country’. While words changing meaning is nothing new, 
it is of course relevant to the field of dynastic history that those of us who 
focus on the period before 1750 do not possess a contemporary definition of 
the phenomenon we study. In her analysis, Natalia Nowakowska identified 
at least three ways the term dynasty has been used. Firstly, some researchers 
use the term dynasty to indicate a monarchical regime, turning ‘dynasty’ into 
‘an umbrella term for early modern monarchy’. Secondly, she notices how 
the term is used to describe succession regimes, or the politics of succession. 
A third use of the term is as self-fashioning discourse, focusing on dynastic 
self-awareness and identity, which highlights the fact that dynasties are fami-
lies.25 When we consider some recent works on dynasty, we easily recognise 
these three tendencies.

Nowakowska identifies one of the modern benchmarks of dynastic stud-
ies, Jeroen Duindam’s Dynasties. A Global History of Power,26 as falling in 
the first category. Under the rubric of dynasty, Duindam offers a breathtak-
ing, anthropologically inspired overview of kingship in Afro-Eurasia between 
1300 and 1800, focusing primarily on similarities and constants. Defining 
dynasty briefly as a ‘family in power’, Duindam goes on to discuss a set of 
concentric circles, sketching the ideal of the ‘ruler’ at the centre and analysing 
how individual rulers lived up to the ideal. A second circle is made up of the 
ruler’s wider family, from which a successor is recruited. The court in which 
the ruler is embedded constitutes a third circle. A final circle is formed by 
peripheral elites to which the ruler is connected in various ways. The inclu-
sion of courts and peripheral elites means that Duindam’s idea of ‘dynasty’ 
is considerably wider than just ‘a family in power’, but perhaps it also shows 
that his interest lies mainly in how this family constructed and maintained its 
power position – he discusses the mechanics of ‘dynastic rule’ rather than the 
dynasty at the heart of it.

Duindam’s view of and approach to dynasty appear to have little in com-
mon with John Morrill’s recent contribution to the field, which is a prime 
example of the second category, the politics of succession. In the recent 
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collective volume Monarchy Transformed. Princes and Their Elites in Early 
Modern Western Europe,27 he argues forcefully for the importance of dy-
nastic developments and accidents – births, marriages and deaths – for the 
formation and consolidation of conglomerate, or agglomerate, states in early 
modern Europe. Morrill places dynastic life cycle events at the heart of state 
formation. Closely related in approach is Robert Bartlett’s recent work on 
dynastic politics in medieval Europe, in which he, too, highlights the impact 
of dynastic life cycle events on politics and successions.28 In both these works, 
we can see how dynasty is to a high degree equated with succession regimes – 
dynasties are relevant to the extent that they determine who sits on which 
throne.

A compelling work analysing self-fashioning strategies (the third category) 
is Sue Broomhall and Jacqueline van Gent’s Gender, Power and Identity in 
the Early Modern House of Orange-Nassau,29 which shows how the Orange 
identity was shaped and kept alive over several generations of women by 
the strategic deployment of objects, which were often inherited in the female 
line, and certain styles of representation, like including orange trees in por-
traits. The objects, portraits and correspondence allowed female descendants 
to uphold a clear Orange identity and pass this on to their own children, 
complementing these children’s paternal dynastic identities. Seen from the 
perspective of these daughters and granddaughters of the princes of Orange, 
dynastic belonging was something to be cultivated, not something merely de-
termined by birth or marriage. Apart from showing the versatility of dynastic 
identity, it also questions an all too patrilineal approach to the concept of dy-
nasty itself. Dynasty is here considered to be a social and cultural construct, 
potentially quite divorced from succession and rule.

The works cited here bring out the various uses of ‘dynasty’ as an ana-
lytical term. The differences between these authors’ views on dynasty can 
be ascribed to the different sources they use: inventories of Nassau grand-
daughters’ possessions will yield different results than royal testaments. This 
attempt to highlight the differences between these works should therefore 
not be taken as a criticism of their scholarly value. They merely illustrate 
the diversity in historians’ use of the term ‘dynasty’. But for all these diverse 
ways in which we use the term, ‘dynasty’ has in fact been defined. The defini-
tion that is used most widely, including by myself, was offered by Wolfgang 
Weber in 1998, and it weaves together several of the usages Nowakowska 
sketches. He argues that a dynasty was

an optimal manifestation of the family, that marks itself through a 
heightened sense of identity and definition to the outside world; a col-
lection of assets that form an expressly collective possession, such as 
territories, rank, rights and offices; marriages and inheritance practices 
that are intended to pass on the patrimony undiminished or enhanced; 
and an increased sense of historical continuity. Both the formation and 
the consolidation should be seen as the result of conscious actions, ac-
cording to certain elements and patterns.30
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In focusing on the transgenerational transfer of resources, Weber captures 
the succession politics view of dynasties, while his focus on a family identity 
points towards the importance of self-fashioning and the resulting sense of 
the dynasty as a group. In bringing in marriages, he even covers the topic 
of life cycle events. This definition has, however, been seen as problematic 
because it focuses rather too much on the agnatic family, leaving little space 
for the women who marry into it, or outside of it, and the resulting connec-
tions to other dynasties.31 Natalia Nowakowska considers this definition to 
have issues as well. She found that, on closer inspection, the Jagiellonians 
which were at the centre of her own research project did not call themselves 
Jagiellonians at all; individuals might present themselves as belonging to ei-
ther their father’s family or their mother’s family; in their self-fashioning they 
might emphasise their office or monarchy rather than their family (referring 
to themselves as prince/princess of Poland instead of N. Jagiellon); and their 
awareness of who else were members of the same family could be hazy.32 
Hardly an ‘optimal manifestation of the family’, indeed.33

The case of the Jagiellonians might make one wonder if dynasties existed 
at all in the eyes of the people on whom we would like to stick this label. It 
certainly challenges historians not to take anything for granted. Rather, it 
shows that the extent to which ruling families considered themselves to be a 
group is an open question that needs to be answered for each family that we 
might hypothesise to be a dynasty. But there are few reasons to doubt that 
the Habsburgs did indeed see themselves as a family. We are quite aware that 
no one called the Habsburgs ‘Habsburgs’ in the early modern period – this 
nineteenth-century invention has become so entrenched in modern scholar-
ship that I have decided to refer to them by this name nevertheless – but 
a family identity as the House of Austria was firmly established even so. 
This is perhaps demonstrated most clearly by the fact that those among the  
Habsburg bastards who were recognised as members of the family were 
awarded the moniker ‘of Austria’ – an ultimate marker of belonging. Charles 
V’s son Don Juan of Austria is the best-known example, but there were many 
more. Even Filiberto was marked as a Habsburg by calling him ‘of Austria’. 
And during the early modern period a veritable avalanche of genealogies was 
published referring to the ‘Domus Austriae’ (see Chapter 2).

Still, this family group is not unproblematic either. When we focus on the 
historical narratives of the House of Austria in genealogies, the family group 
that emerges is very different from another, equally real family group: the co-
eval relatives including cognatic nephews and bastards who worked together 
in governing the Spanish Habsburg monarchy. Among the ranks of the latter, 
we find Don Juan of Austria and Filiberto ‘of Austria’, both as admirals and 
governors, whose monikers obviously mark them as Habsburgs – but they 
are often omitted from the genealogies. What can we make of this? Clearly, 
genealogical narratives constructed one dynasty, while participation in rule 
constructed another. These two groups overlap to a certain extent – a ruler’s 
children might be members of both – but are quite simply not the same, as 
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the omission of Filiberto and Don Juan from most genealogies shows. My 
problem with Weber’s definition therefore is not that an ‘optimal manifesta-
tion of the family’ called the House of Austria did not exist, but rather that 
this family manifested itself in different guises dependent on the context in 
which it operated, and dependent on how, and by whom, it was constructed.

I would argue that the differences between authors like Duindam and 
Broomhall and Van Gent in their concepts of dynasty are only partly due to 
the different sources they used, and thus what they found in them – it is more 
than that. Genealogies are not only a source on dynasties but also a means 
of constructing them by including some individuals and excluding others and 
by presenting the dynasty either as a continuation of the medieval Habsburgs 
or of the medieval kings of Castile. Appointment to certain offices is another 
such means. For instance, the estates of the Low Countries had forced the 
king to appoint only close family members as their governor, which meant 
that the king was careful to present his appointees as his relatives. Appoint-
ments confirmed relatives’ membership of the House of Austria. In contrast 
to genealogical narratives, this was not a historical construction: the indi-
viduals appointed were contemporary kinsmen and kinswomen of the ruler, 
who belonged to his horizontal family. But if they were cognates or bastards 
they might not show up in genealogies. Therefore, a focus on either genealo-
gies or appointments will not merely illuminate different aspects of the same 
phenomenon but will rather bring to light altogether different constructions 
of dynasty. The real question that should concern us is what dynamics drove 
the construction of dynasty.

Reconstructing the Spanish Habsburg Dynasty

This book is about the Spanish Habsburg dynasty in the two centuries be-
tween 1500 and 1700, as it ruled its enormous monarchy. The focus of this 
work is neither on Habsburg rulers nor on individual non-ruling Habsburgs – 
male or female – but rather on the group as a whole, and how it was shaped 
and how it operated during a period of two centuries. The main assumption 
of this book is that ‘dynasty’ is not something that is a simple, biological 
reality – a line of descent from one ruler to another – but something that 
is socially constructed.34 Kinship and life cycle events are of course hugely 
important in dynastic matters,35 so this is not to dismiss biology. But biology 
merely supplies the ‘hardware’ – people – while identity, socialisation, ne-
gotiation and representation provide the ‘software’ – a sense of belonging.36 
This is particularly the case for individuals who, unlike rulers, are not obvi-
ous members of dynasties, but who are further removed from the dynastic 
centre or have become potentially detached from it: married or widowed 
sisters, independent brothers, illegitimate offspring, nephews, nieces, cousins, 
etc. The focus lies on the horizontal family group, as opposed to the vertical 
line of rulers, with particular attention to its fringes – where the demarcation 
line between insiders and outsiders can be assumed to lie.
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The Spanish Habsburg dynasty is a particularly rich case to study since 
it needed so many of its members. The nature of the Spanish Habsburg 
monarchy – a conglomerate of territories each with their own political 
structures – meant that the king could not be present in all political centres 
at once.37 Certain territories, like the Low Countries, Castile and Portugal, 
required royal governors in his absence. Since the king could not rule this 
monarchy alone, many other Habsburgs, sometimes quite ‘obscure’, had an 
essential role to play. A string of formidable women governed the Low Coun-
tries in the ruler’s absence, starting with Charles V’s aunt Margaret of Austria 
and including his sister Mary of Hungary – both important patrons of the 
arts and more than competent governors.38 They were followed by a host of 
nephews, like Alessandro Farnese and Archduke Albert of Austria, who was 
governor of Portugal before transferring to the Low Countries.39 The few 
younger sons born to the kings of Spain were appointed to territorial gover-
norships, while also serving in offices like the archbishopric of Toledo and the 
grand priorate of Castile in the order of St John.40 Relatives did not merely 
take care of the practicalities of rule; they were buried alongside the kings of 
Spain in the Escorial, they were mentioned in genealogies, and in some cases, 
they were even part of the more far-fetched and unlikely succession scenarios 
laid out in testaments.41 But for many of them, this was not given. Neph-
ews or widows could not automatically lay claim to a dynastic office or a 
Habsburg burial. Their role was a result of negotiations and family dynamics.

In this book, I will analyse four different dynastic constructions: dynasty 
as a genealogical narrative, as a community of heirs, as a community of the 
dead and as a ruling family group. The four constructions not only illumi-
nate different aspects of dynasty but also represent the different temporal 
dimensions in which it existed. The various constructions of dynasty could 
come about concurrently: in 1578, one nephew of Philip II was buried in the 
Escorial, while he appointed another as governor in the Low Countries, his 
eventual heir was born and the Brabantine painter Pieter Baltens was at work 
on his Les genealogies et anciennes descentes des forestiers et comtes de Flan-
dre.42 Yet dynasties transcend time as well: genealogies create a dynastic past, 
while testaments, while their succession clauses, set parameters for possible 
futures. Appointments are responses in the present, while burial sites repre-
sent accumulated individual ‘presents’ that have over time fossilised into a 
collective past. Focusing on these different temporal dimensions means cap-
turing the dynasty on various temporal planes of existence.

To understand the family dynamics that shaped the constructions of the 
Habsburg dynasty, I will make use of the theoretical concept of social insti-
tutionalism,43 which assumes that certain uncodified roles and practices were 
the result of expectations and dynamics that were developed over time. For 
this research, it means that the relationship between a king and his relative 
was never purely individual. It rested on the examples of previous relation-
ships, which set the parameters of the new relationship without determining 
it. Over and over again, kings and their relations showed the world how 
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things were done within the Spanish Habsburg dynasty, and by whom, 
which in turn created hopes, aspirations and obligations: the career of a royal 
nephew like Albert of Austria offered a blueprint of what was possible both 
to the next generation of nephews and to a new crop of royal brothers-in-law. 
This is one of the reasons why it is imperative to take a long-term perspective 
if we wish to understand the shaping and workings of the Spanish Habsburg 
dynasty. Family heads were among the most powerful actors shaping these 
roles and expectations – in the Habsburg case, this was the king of Spain. As 
the one with most decision-making power, he could determine the fates of 
his kinfolk. But the other relatives were not entirely powerless. They could 
refuse to take on certain roles (as bride, as governor) or could manoeuvre 
themselves into the right position to attempt to follow in the footsteps of 
relatives whose dynastic belonging had already been established. A constant 
pulling and pushing characterised the relationship between the family head 
and his relatives; the result of this dialectic was the family group that was dis-
cussed in genealogies, that held dynastic offices and that lies buried together 
in dynastic crypts.

Methodologically, I focus on dynastic markers. The kings of Spain had 
several ways of marking out those whom they considered part of the dynasty: 
inclusion in genealogies or testaments, or eligibility to become governor of 
the Low Countries, to enter the Descalzas monastery or to be buried in the 
Escorial. Not all these honours were exclusive to members of the Habsburg 
dynasty – the duke of Alba became governor of the Low Countries and the 
Descalzas was populated by a host of aristocratic ladies who laid no claim 
to Habsburgness – but this book argues that these elements, in combina-
tion with titles and styles, and ceremonies at death, were dynastic markers. 
Whether or not an individual attained these markers depended on the two-
way interaction that we sketched for Filiberto above: a cocktail of kinship, 
socialisation and geopolitics, as well as the outcome of negotiations between 
family heads and relatives about their status. Moreover, the ‘road to Habs-
burgness’ was different for male and female relatives, adding gender to the 
mix as well.

The sources that I have used in this book can best be described as various 
forms of group representations, which I have used to reconstruct the Spanish 
Habsburg dynasty, that is sources that discuss or represent the dynasty as a 
group. Such sources include testaments, genealogies and burial sites. Sources 
that focus on individuals, like portraiture, have been deliberately left out. 
The dress of the sitter, the props and furnishings on display, as well as the 
composition and style of the painting, all potentially express dynastic belong-
ing, but a consideration of individual self-fashioning would have broadened 
the scope of this work far too much. My aim is not to analyse how individu-
als were represented as Habsburgs, but rather to analyse how the group as a 
whole was constructed.

The different sources are explored in the following seven chapters. The 
first chapter uses testaments to examine the dynasty as a community of heirs: 
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how were inheritance and succession arranged, who was thought eligible 
to take the reins of the monarchy? The second chapter is based on a set of 
genealogies and examines how the dynasty was constructed in genealogical 
narratives: what origins were ascribed to the dynasty, how were the various 
branches dealt with and how did potential outsiders like cognates and illegiti-
mates fare in dynastic narratives? The third chapter turns to burial arrange-
ments, reconstructing the dynasty as a community of the dead, mainly based 
on testaments, reports of ceremonies and correspondence: how did the great 
dynastic crypt of the Escorial come about and how inclusive was it? The final 
chapters are based on a more eclectic set of sources, mostly correspondence, 
and examine the dynasty as a ruling group in various periods: who could 
participate in dynastic rule and what dynamics made them eligible? Taken 
together, these chapters show how the Habsburgs ‘made’ the Spanish Habs-
burg dynasty.

On Names

I generally follow the convention of referring to crowned heads by translated 
names (Charles V, Charles Emmanuel of Savoy) and using names in the ver-
nacular to refer to others (Don Carlos, Filiberto). All medieval Austrian dukes 
and archdukes were officially rulers, so they are referred to by their translated 
names (Frederick of Tyrol), and I have continued this practice for early mod-
ern Habsburgs (Archduke Ernest). However, in some cases I have followed 
other historians when they have deviated from this convention: Philip II’s 
sister is often called Empress Maria instead of Empress Mary (which also 
makes it easier to distinguish her from her aunt Mary of Hungary), and the 
dowager duchess of Mantua will be referred to as Margherita instead of 
Margaret. I have also chosen to call the grand duke of Tuscany Ferdinando II 
to distinguish him from his uncle Emperor Ferdinand II. Alessandro Farnese 
and Vittorio Amedeo of Savoy are mentioned mostly when heirs, and for 
consistency’s sake they retain their untranslated names even after they as-
cended their ducal thrones.
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This chapter traces the distribution of the patrimony among the Spanish 
Habsburgs and their main predecessors. The purpose of this chapter is to 
chart how and why the distribution of the dynasty’s assets changed over time. 
This analysis will serve as a baseline for the following two chapters, which 
focus on cultural and social formations of the dynasty in both genealogies 
and burial arrangements. Taken together, these chapters bring the process 
of dynastic centralisation into focus: the process which allowed the emer-
gence of dominant family heads, who managed to claim a greater share of 
the dynasty’s patrimony and (thus) could subordinate their male relatives in 
terms of political power; who also gained the power to limit the social role 
of relatives within the family group and in the wider ‘society of princes’ by 
limiting their possibilities to marry or pursue an independent foreign policy; 
and who, as a corollary of their greater political and social pre-eminence, 
became dominant in the cultural representation of the family as well. This 
chapter also traces the construction of the dynasty as a community of heirs.

First, I will briefly sketch the situation in the Middle Ages to provide the 
context for the changes in our main research period: what did succession 
law and actual successions look like in the three main constituent parts of 
the sixteenth-century Habsburg monarchy, Austria, Burgundy and Castile? 
What solutions were found for the perennial problem of providing for many 
sons? Robert Bartlett has recently dealt at length with how this question 
was addressed by the dynasties of medieval Europe.1 Options for providing 
for younger brothers were, for instance, to endow them with lands acquired 
through conquest or marriage, i.e. not belonging to the original paternal 
patrimony; to allow them to acquire a foreign crown themselves; to endow 
them with an appanage in the realm of their elder brother; or to divide the 
paternal patrimony among all brothers. Most of these options were explored 
by the late-medieval predecessors of the Spanish Habsburgs as well.

After considering the situation in the Middle Ages, I will trace the devel-
opment of succession law and succession attitudes throughout the sixteenth 
and seventeenth centuries. Finally, I will discuss its impact on the position of 
younger sons and daughters.

Dynastic Centralisation
Tradition and Transformation in 
Habsburg Succession Practices

1
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Medieval Archdukes, Infantes and Princes

Austria

Let us turn first to the medieval dukes and archdukes of Austria. Over the 
past decades, much research has been conducted on the ways in which 
German dynasties divided their patrimonies among their descendants.2 The 
Holy Roman Empire, to which the Habsburg territories belonged, was an 
area of partible inheritance, which means that all sons had a right to inherit 
part of the patrimony, while women were mostly excluded. How such parti-
tions were enacted was often a matter of negotiation: the list of German fam-
ily pacts stipulating exactly how patrimonies were to be divided is endless. 
Several options existed. The patrimony might be divided among all brothers, 
who thus became independent princes. Alternatively, the heirs might rule col-
lectively. Collective rule could entail a less formalised division into governing 
spheres, or the identification of one ‘executive’ ruling brother and others who 
ruled formally, but not in practice. The deals struck between brothers, cous-
ins or uncles and nephews were often temporary, granting ruling or usufruct 
rights for a set period, after which the deal should be renegotiated.3 This was 
helpful when some brothers were still to achieve adulthood and could not yet 
be included in any deal, or simply to agree on a temporary status quo if a per-
manent settlement was out of reach. Some houses placed their younger sons 
in the Church, but this was not common among the medieval Habsburgs – a 
clerical career was apparently considered for a son of Albert I, but never 
materialised.4 Partition arrangements only started to disappear when primo-
geniture made its entrance, which happened from the later sixteenth century 
onwards in most houses.

The Habsburgs’ political ascent within the Holy Roman Empire really 
took off at the end of the thirteenth century, when Count Rudolf of Habs-
burg (1218–91) was elected king of the Romans (1273) and invested both 
his sons, twenty-seven-year-old Albert I (1255–1308) and twelve-year-old 
Rudolf II (1270–90), with the vacant duchies of Austria and Styria (1282).5 
While power would in practice lie with the mature Albert, the collective en-
feoffment of both sons was meant to ensure that both they and all their male 
offspring would have inheritance rights.6 This procedure was common in the 
Empire and ensured that the male descendants from any existing or future 
branch of the family would take precedence over women in the line of suc-
cession, not just the male descendants of a single first fief-holder – a precau-
tion against extinction since female succession was extremely uncommon in 
the Empire.7 It was also the basis for the right of all males of the House to 
carry the title ‘duke of Austria’, later ‘archduke of Austria’. However, at that 
time, collective enfeoffment was not yet common in Austria and Styria and 
the local estates objected to being required to swear fealty to two lords. Giv-
ing in to these protests, King Rudolf agreed to exclude the younger son from 
the inheritance only a year later. This deal would be voided if his father did 
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not manage to recompense him with some other patrimony.8 In the end, this 
other patrimony was never secured, but neither did the younger son regain 
his rights to Austria and Styria. This might have led to conflict between the 
two brothers, but conflict was averted because Rudolf II died at only twenty 
years of age. The little son he left behind, John, was also frozen out of the 
inheritance, which famously led him years later to assassinate his uncle, earn-
ing him the nickname John the Parricide.9

This first experiment with primogeniture was clearly a failure due to the 
lack of possibilities for the disinherited younger brother. A second attempt 
failed as well. In 1298, Albert I, the sole ruler of Austria and Styria, decided 
to invest all his five sons collectively with his duchies, securing their suc-
cession.10 But a year later, he resolved that only his eldest son Rudolf  III 
should rule these lands and his younger sons would receive a maintenance 
according to their status – an arrangement which was part of the eldest 
son’s marriage treaty with a French princess and contingent upon the couple 
producing offspring.11 His younger sons, all below the age of ten, officially 
renounced their rights. But the bride died only a few years later, and no 
children survived the marriage, so the deal was voided before any of the 
younger brothers, on the brink of adulthood, could stir up trouble.12 It is of 
course an open question whether they would have accepted the renuncia-
tion they had made when they were still children, or whether they would 
have insisted on the rights they derived from the original collective enfeoff-
ment. In 1306, Rudolf III was invested with the crown of Bohemia, which 
had become vacant after the death of its king. This increase in territory 
allowed him to leave the government of the duchies to his next younger 
brother. Thus, as the patrimony expanded, providing for the younger sons 
became easier.

After these early experiments, the Habsburgs would decide to rule jointly, 
even if the eldest brother would have the right to ‘represent’ the younger 
brothers in government. Younger brothers were regularly placed in charge of 
Further Austria, the scattered ancestral lands of the Habsburgs in the west of 
the Empire (also known as the Vorlande), as regents on behalf of the entire 
House. But not all younger brothers were happy with this. In 1326, four sons 
of Albert I remained: Frederick, Leopold, Albert and Otto. Frederick had 
contested the election of Emperor Louis the Bavarian, throwing himself into 
warfare, spending some years in captivity but eventually settling on co-rule 
with his rival – becoming ‘Emperor Frederick III’ in many Habsburg gene-
alogies. During these years, he left the government of the Austrian duchies 
mainly to his brothers Leopold (who died in 1326) in the western territories 
and Albert in the east, while Otto, the youngest, played a minor role along-
side Albert.13 After Leopold’s death, Frederick returned to Austria and took 
up the reins of government, which meant that Otto’s role was further dimin-
ished. But it was precisely Otto who was the first of the brothers to become 
the father of a legitimate son. The child’s mother was a Bavarian princess 
whom Otto had married in 1325. In her family, partitions were common, 
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and this may have led Otto to claim his own share of the Habsburg patri-
mony as well.14 Otto informed Frederick and Albert that he wanted to be 
‘dominus and princeps’ in the territories he governed.15 Initially, his brothers 
refused, but as Otto got the rivalling kings of Bohemia and Hungary involved 
on his side, the elder Habsburg princes were forced to deal with Otto’s wishes 
and he was granted Further Austria.16

The split turned out to be temporary: Otto’s first son was soon joined 
by a younger brother, but both boys died in their teens and the territories 
reverted to the House.17 Since Frederick had already died in 1330, Albert II 
was the only remaining Habsburg after the death of Otto and his sons. He 
stipulated collective rule for his own four sons.18 The two eldest of this 
foursome died in their twenties. When only the two younger sons remained, 
the youngest of the two, Leopold III, challenged the collective arrangement, 
which led to the first formal partition of the patrimony in 1379.19 This 
resulted in two branches until 1457, when the elder branch died out. This 
elder branch ruled Austria proper, while the other branch ruled the rest: 
Styria, Carinthia, Carniola and the Windic March (together known as Inner 
Austria), and Further Austria. In the senior branch, generally only one son 
was available for the inheritance, thus precluding any conflicts. In the junior 
branch, disputes were avoided when Tyrol was acquired and a further parti-
tion could be enacted.

In terms of formal arrangements, younger archdukes could hope to ac-
quire some parts of the patrimony or be recognised as co-rulers. However, 
achieving the status of independent prince became harder along the way, and 
relations among archdukes correspondingly became more fractious. Emperor 
Frederick III (or IV, according to Habsburg genealogies), eldest son in the 
Styrian branch in the middle of the fifteenth century, was reluctant to share 
the patrimony with his younger brother Albert VI and had to deal with a lot 
of opposition as a result.20 Albert VI was given Further Austria, a traditional 
enough arrangement. However, this area had become increasingly unruly and 
would soon be lost to the Swiss Confederacy, which meant Albert VI was 
not the kind of ‘dominus and princeps’ in the area that Otto had been. He 
tried everything to gain more promising parts of the patrimony – particularly 
after the extinction of the other branch of the house in 1457.21 Conflicts 
only ceased after Albert’s death. This did not stop Frederick and later his son 
Maximilian from also trying to push their cousin Sigismund of Tyrol out of 
power. Peace among brothers, or among cousins, was never easily achieved, 
and the fifteenth-century heads of the House seem to have been rather more 
ruthless in this matter than their predecessors.

Throughout the entire period, the family’s women were effectively ex-
cluded from the inheritance, only having the right to succeed when there 
were no males at all. This was equally true for regencies, which happened 
rather regularly. Uncles rather than mothers served as regents, which served 
to heighten cohesion within the House, but also tensions between regents 
and (former) wards.22 In the late sixteenth century this tradition was so deep 
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rooted that the widowed Maria Anna of Bavaria, mother to nine archdukes 
and archduchess below the age of thirteen, was prohibited from governing 
Styria on behalf of her eldest son and had to accept the government by two 
of her deceased husband’s nephews instead.23

Karl Vocelka was right that collective rule was ‘programmed to be prob-
lematic’.24 Within this system, eldest brothers certainly had an advantage 
over their younger siblings, but younger brothers who felt they were treated 
unfairly had an array of possibilities to further their interests: they could 
claim to rule as a regent somewhere on behalf of the House, or to receive an 
outright share of the patrimony. But ongoing conflict ensued as well. At the 
end of the fifteenth century, however, only one male Habsburg was left, Em-
peror Maximilian I, who thus united all the patrimony in his own hands, to 
leave it at his death to his two grandsons Charles and Ferdinand. They would 
embark on the usual round of negotiations to determine how the patrimony 
would be divided between them.

Castile

The ‘birth’ of the crown of Castile is often situated around 1230, when 
the crowns of Castile and Leon were united, never to be separated again. 
Shortly after, the Cortes of both kingdoms started to meet in joint sessions, 
welding the two realms together even more strongly. In stark contrast to 
the Habsburg patrimony in Austria, Castile was, of course, a kingdom – a 
structure which precluded any partitions because it implied the succession 
of one king after another,25 which also meant that co-rule was unlikely. 
However, this did not mean that relations between rulers and their broth-
ers were any easier. Succession law was codified in the thirteenth century. 
King Alfonso X the Wise (r. 1252–84), second king of the Castilian-Leonese 
union after his father Ferdinand III (1199/1201–1252), produced a legal 
code named Las siete partidas, in which he stipulated male-preference pri-
mogeniture and the indivisibility of the united Castilian crown.26 This con-
formed largely to the existing law, but one new element was introduced: in 
contrast to previous succession practices, the King stipulated that the right 
of representation should be observed. The right of representation meant 
that a primary heir’s heir might ‘represent’ the rights of the primary heir. 
Previously, the nearest male relative of a monarch had had the right to suc-
ceed, which meant a son always outranked a grandson. But under the right 
of representation, a deceased elder son’s son, representing his father’s rights, 
would outrank a living younger son. Thus, a grandson might precede his 
uncle as heir to his grandfather.

By removing any ambiguity or uncertainty about the identity of the right-
ful heir, primogeniture has been associated with smooth transitions and long, 
stable reigns.27 However, primogeniture did not determine the role of younger 
sons, nor their rights to a certain level of maintenance. Castilian kings often 
had several brothers who, excluded from the succession, depended on the 
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crown to provide them with incomes and status (Fig. 1.1). Efforts to provide 
for younger sons outside the realm were few and far between, and gener-
ally unsuccessful. Early in our period, we see an attempt to provide for a 
son abroad: Ferdinand III sent his second son Fadrique to the Holy Roman 
Empire to try to claim the inheritance of his mother, Beatrice of Swabia. 
The prince failed to acquire any patrimony, and upon his return, his father 
endowed him with lands in Castile instead. We must wait until the begin-
ning of the fifteenth century to find a younger son who had success outside 
Castile: Ferdinand (1390–1416), the second son of John I (1358–90) and the 
Aragonese princess Eleanor, managed to acquire the throne of Aragon after 
the childless deaths of two of his uncles.28 But he was a unique case.

Lacking possibilities outside of the realm, younger sons or brothers were 
normally endowed with dazzling landed wealth within Castile, turning them 
into powerful subjects.29 The same Infante Ferdinand who won the crown of 
Aragon had been endowed as a child with lordships and titles that made him 
one of the richest magnates in the country. Apart from income, he acquired 
prestige: created duke of Peñafiel, he was the only duke within the kingdom 
of Castile, and his title of ‘lord of Lara’, an ancient title carrying much sym-
bolic capital, placed him squarely at the head of the realm’s aristocracy.30 
Primogeniture hardly meant destitution for the younger sons.

It was such generous endowments that made younger brothers quite dan-
gerous rivals to their ruling brothers and nephews. Several successions were 
contested, and brothers regularly rebelled against the king. Alfonso X had 

Figure 1.1  Castilian kings and their brothers.



Dynastic Centralisation  25

to contend with a noble uprising in which his brother Philip was involved.31 
At the end of his reign, his second son Sancho (1258–95) deposed him and 
pushed his nephews – sons of his deceased elder brother – aside to take the 
throne himself, making a mockery of Alfonso’s attempts at establishing the 
right of representation.32 Peter I (1334–69), nicknamed either the Cruel 
or the Just, was murdered by his illegitimate half-brother Count Henry of 
Trastámara (1334–79), who took over the throne and started the Trastá-
mara period.33 The man responsible for this fratricide was the eldest son of 
Alfonso XI’s concubinage with a Castilian noblewoman. He and his many 
younger brothers received extensive grants during his father’s reign.34 Indi-
vidually, these grants were not so sizeable as to pose an immediate threat to 
the King, but taken together they created a powerful network of illegitimate 
brothers who helped Henry II take the throne when Peter I alienated the 
nobility.35

The Infante Ferdinand (later king of Aragon), whom we just mentioned, 
took a quite different route. When his elder brother Henry III died, he de-
clined the opportunity of taking the throne himself, even though the Castilian 
Cortes would have supported him, serving instead as regent to his underage 
nephew John II.36 After taking the throne of Aragon, he set up his own teen-
age sons as powerful magnates in Castile, who would dominate the next 
reign and became known as the ‘infantes of Aragon’, while his daughters 
married the kings of Castile and Portugal.37

This history of fraternal conflict and the multigenerational consequences 
of Ferdinand’s endowments caused John II, once he had grown up, to strike 
an agreement with the Cortes of Castile to forbid any further alienations 
of the crown domains.38 John II’s second son, Alfonso, went on to become 
master of the military order of Santiago and constable of Castile.39 This did 
not, however, prevent young Alfonso from being used by a restless aristoc-
racy as a challenger to the new king, his older half-brother Henry IV. At age 
twelve, the young prince was declared to be king while his elder brother was 
deposed – a deposition that was not accepted by most of the aristocracy, 
and Henry regained the throne, but only on the condition that Alfonso be 
recognised as his heir instead of his daughter Juana, whose paternity was 
disputed. The whole affair came to be known as the ‘Farce of Ávila’.40 When 
Alfonso died soon after, his full sister Isabella – the Catholic – assumed his 
rights as heiress to the throne, although she would have to fight for them 
after Henry IV’s death. Isabella herself would have only one son, who pre-
deceased her, and a string of daughters, who would be married to crowned 
heads abroad. The inheritance eventually fell to her second daughter, the 
famous Johanna the Mad, who would have two sons of her own – Charles 
and Ferdinand.

Quite a few Castilian kings were blessed – or cursed – with many sons. 
Only Ferdinand IV and Henry II were survived by a single son; all other kings 
had more, leaving their successors to deal with numerous brothers. With few 
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(successful) efforts made to provide for these princes outside of Castile, the 
vast majority remained at home, a thorn in the side of their ruling brothers. 
Peter I had to contend with no fewer than six half-brothers and did not sur-
vive the contest. Castilian succession law clearly stipulated that the crown 
should fall to the eldest, but as we have seen, this hardly meant that there 
were no conflicts. Castilian infantes became an object of fear. When Charles 
and Ferdinand were still young children, Ferdinand’s candidacy for the 
grandmastership of the Spanish Military Orders was resolutely shot down by 
Margaret of Austria, who was in charge of raising Charles and governed the 
Low Countries on his behalf (and was the widow of the Castilian heir Prince 
Juan), stating that giving Ferdinand this position ‘would suffice to deprive 
Prince Charles of the kingdom of Spain’.41 A few years later, among the first 
things Charles did after arriving in his kingdom was to send away his brother 
Ferdinand, who was born and raised there. Considering the precedents, this 
was probably a wise precaution.

Burgundy

We might argue that part of the reason why Castilian princes were consid-
ered to be such a threat was that the Castilian kingdom could not be par-
titioned. Their energy and power could not be channelled into independent 
authority, but always came at the expense of the king’s position. The situa-
tion was different within the Burgundian domains, which were, like Austria, 
a conglomerate consisting of a string of principalities in the Low Countries, 
as well as the duchy of Burgundy and Franche-Comté more to the south.42 
During the relatively brief rule of the Valois dukes (and one duchess) of Bur-
gundy, from 1363 to 1482, younger sons were fortuitously rare: Philip the 
Bold, the first Valois duke, was himself the fourth son of John II of France 
and had been endowed with the duchy of Burgundy as his appanage. He 
had three sons – John, Anthony and Philip – but his successors as duke of 
Burgundy all had only one legitimate son. Philip was succeeded by his eldest 
son John, who was succeeded by Philip the Good, Charles the Bold and Mary 
the Rich in turn.

In gauging how the Valois handled younger brothers, we need only turn 
to the testamentary stipulations formulated by Philip the Bold and his spouse 
Margaret, who was countess of Flanders and Artois in her own right. When 
Philip drew up his first testament in 1386, he still only had two sons, fifteen-
year-old John and two-year-old Anthony. He intended to divide his territo-
ries between them ‘to preserve the peace and love among my children and the 
good governance of my and the duchess’s territories and lordships’.43 Their 
eldest son John had already received the county of Nevers in appanage and 
had been promised the duchy of Burgundy and Franche-Comté in his mar-
riage contract with Margaret of Bavaria, a princess of Holland. He was also 
to receive the duchy of Brabant after the death of his father and the county 
of Flanders after the death of his mother. Anthony would receive the county 
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of Artois (again, after his mother’s death), Rethel and Nevers and the barony 
of Donzy (part of John’s appanage, which he would be forced to renounce). 
This constituted a decidedly uneven partition, which would nevertheless se-
cure aristocratic status for Anthony. The patrimony consisted of both a pa-
ternal and a maternal inheritance, but both were divided between the two 
brothers.

The conglomerate nature of the domains helped the parents provide for 
their sons. Some years after this testament, a third son, Philip, was born. 
When this boy had reached his teens, Philip the Bold updated the partition 
arrangement (1401).44 The new arrangement did not imply equality, either. 
John, the eldest, was to receive Burgundy, Franche-Comté, Flanders and 
Artois – the core of both his father’s and mother’s patrimonies; he would 
renounce his appanage Nevers. Anthony received Brabant and Limburg, 
after the death of its duchess, an aunt of Margaret of Flanders. If the aunt 
had not yet died upon the deaths of his parents, Anthony would receive 
Artois, so that he would not be left (temporarily) empty handed. But he 
would give up Artois again, to John, once he received Brabant and Lim-
burg, and would be required to renounce his appanage Rethel in favour 
of his younger brother Philip immediately after his parents’ death. Philip 
would thus receive his brothers’ appanages of Nevers and Rethel, as well 
as Etampes, which would be inherited from the duke of Berry (a brother of 
Philip the Bold) if he had no sons of his own.45 Interestingly, the patrimony 
to be divided consisted in part of principalities that had yet to come into 
the family’s possession.

All portions were legated to the relevant son ‘and his heirs’. But Philip the 
Bold and Margaret could not dispose of their patrimony quite that freely. 
They were bound by local inheritance practices, and these were not the same 
everywhere. In the donation of Burgundy to Philip the Bold, his father John 
II merely stressed the fact that only legitimate heirs of his body could inherit 
the duchy, without setting any other boundaries – opening the door to fe-
male inheritance.46 In the maternal inheritance, Flanders and Artois, matters 
were different. Flemish and Artesian succession law did not accept the right 
of representation. This was relevant for the Burgundian succession since in 
1401 Philip the Bold’s eldest son John (the Fearless) was already married and 
had a son of his own (Philip the Good). This meant that if John the Fearless 
predeceased his father, his son Philip the Good could become his grandfa-
ther’s heir by representing his father’s rights in some of the territories, but not 
in Flanders and Artois. There, the grandson could not step into his father’s 
shoes. Instead, if John predeceased Philip the Bold, the new heir would be 
Anthony, since he was now the eldest surviving son. This difference in suc-
cession law is reflected in the many scenarios Philip the Bold and his spouse 
developed for their successions, which included scenarios in which Burgundy 
and Flanders were divided among different heirs. This rather contradicts the 
argument made by some historians that Philip the Bold set out to provide his 
eldest son with a viable state with Burgundy and Flanders as its nucleus.47 
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Philip may well have hoped that his eldest son would remain a power player 
in French and Netherlandish politics by legating the core of his territories to 
him, but it clearly was not entirely up to him.

When Philip the Bold died in 1404 and his wife Margaret in 1405, the 
three sons each took over their stipulated parts of the inheritance.48 It was an 
unequal partition. Robert Stein has calculated that the revenues of the eldest 
son would be six times higher than those of the youngest and were also likely 
to be much higher than those of the middle brother.49 Such unequal parti-
tions were further seen among the descendants of Anthony and Philip, who 
both had two sons. Anthony’s second son is known as Philip of St Pol, which 
implies he inherited his mother’s county of St Pol, which was a fief of the 
county of Artois (itself officially a fief of the kingdom of France). This meant 
that Philip’s status was decidedly lower than that of his elder brother, who 
succeeded as duke of Brabant and Limburg, both imperial fiefs.50

In spite of the partition, the lands held by the three brothers have been de-
scribed as a ‘dynastic union’, characterised by close cooperation, particularly 
in the Low Countries.51 When Anthony died on the battlefield of Agincourt in 
1415 leaving two underage sons, his elder brother John immediately tried to 
become guardian and regent for his eldest nephew to secure the family’s posi-
tion in the duchies. But he was forcefully rebuffed by the Estates of Brabant, 
who intended to take this role upon themselves and were wary of losing their 
independence to the growing Burgundian conglomerate.52 John’s successor 
Philip the Good was also heavily involved in dynastic politics in the Low 
Countries, arranging for his Brabantine cousin to marry Countess Jacqueline 
of Holland and Hainaut – hoping to create a dynastic union including Bra-
bant, Limburg, Holland, Zealand and Hainaut. While Philip was after domi-
nation in the Low Countries, he never challenged his cousins’ rights to their 
own principalities – but as luck would have it, both of Anthony’s sons died 
without legitimate male heirs, leaving the field open to Philip’s accession in 
their conglomerate, while he also dispossessed Jacqueline in order to expand 
his territories in the Low Countries even further.53

Younger brothers posed much less of a problem to the rulers of the Bur-
gundian conglomerate: most dukes did not have any brothers, and for those 
brothers and cousins who did exist, the Low Countries, with its plethora of 
independent principalities, offered plenty of possibilities for advancement. 
Struggles about the succession were few and far between. After a long period 
of brotherless dukes, Philip the Handsome (1478–1506), son of Mary the 
Rich and Maximilian of Austria, left a pair of sons at his death: Charles and 
Ferdinand (Fig. 1.2). In stark contrast to Philip the Bold’s detailed succes-
sion scenarios outlining exactly what portion each of his sons was to receive, 
Philip the Handsome merely stated that each of his sons should succeed to 
‘that part and to those positions that they should inherit and succeed to ac-
cording to the customs of the areas where my possessions are situated’ – a 
likely reference to both the Low Countries and Castile, whose king Philip 
also was.54 This implied some sort of partition, of course, but he gave no 
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details about how to divide the patrimony. A division of the Low Coun-
tries themselves seems not to have been contemplated.55 After Philip’s death, 
Franche-Comté did manage to escape from the clutches of his father Maxi-
milian, who was expected to take charge of the county again, by offering 
sovereignty to Philip’s sister Margaret. She was sworn in on 17 April 1509.56

Each of the main parts of the monarchy thus had its own troubled his-
tory in providing for younger brothers. The fact that all these patrimonies 

Figure 1.2 � Maximilian I with his wife Mary of Burgundy, his son Philip the Fair, his 
grandsons Ferdinand I and Charles V, and Louis of Hungary, by Bernhard 
Strigel, circa 1515–20. 

Source: Alamy.
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ended up in the hands of Charles V, who only had his brother Ferdinand to 
contend with, created new challenges but also solved many problems. The 
monarchy was now so large that neither the Low Countries nor the Austrian 
duchies would have to be partitioned to provide Ferdinand with an income, 
and nor would he have to receive extensive landed wealth in Castile. Ferdi-
nand’s fate did not need to be an internal question for any individual part 
of it. This also meant that conflicts with local elites could be avoided. These 
were territories whose leading elites were cooperating ever more closely and 
who therefore might not be interested in being broken up again. Maximil-
ian had, both as ruler of Austria and regent in the Low Countries, presided 
over the tightening of relations between the constituent parts of those two 
conglomerates: in Austria, he had tried to foster institutional unification, for 
instance, by promulgating identical laws in his various territories and stand-
ardising the procedures of the representative organs,57 while the beginning 
of the reign of Mary of Burgundy saw a unified effort by the Low Countries’ 
estates general to maintain the internal coherence of the lands. As Block-
mans and Prevenier put it: the ‘delegates [of the estates] themselves sought 
unification’.58 Such internal unifying processes limited possibilities for parti-
tion: at first Charles planned to give Ferdinand only five Austrian duchies, 
while he intended to keep Tyrol and Further Austria – the western-most part 
of the patrimony – for himself. But he relented because the representatives 
of the duchies themselves objected to being divided. As a result, Ferdinand 
received all of Austria.59 Likewise, there are no traces of Ferdinand being 
mentioned as heir to parts of the Low Countries. Instead, Charles was im-
mediately considered his father’s succession in all the principalities.60

Luckily, the question of providing for both brothers could be resolved 
without breaking up any of the constituent parts, but instead by distribut-
ing complete units among them. In 1521, the brothers settled on a parti-
tion according to which the newly elected Holy Roman Emperor Charles 
would receive the Burgundian and Trastámara inheritances, while Ferdinand 
received the Austrian lands – a rather unequal partition in the mould of the 
Burgundian tradition with which Ferdinand was not too happy, but through 
his marriage to the sister of the king of Bohemia and Hungary, he could hope 
to acquire those thrones one day.61 While the Austrian legacy – its name and 
its traditions of dealing with the family – remained very much present in 
Charles’s branch, the ‘Spanish’ Habsburg monarchy, to which we turn now, 
would not include any of the lands ruled by Maximilian I and his predecessors.

The Early Modern Community of Heirs

The partition of 1521 is generally seen as the moment when the Habsburg 
dynasty split into a Spanish branch, headed by Charles, and an Austrian 
one, headed by Ferdinand. From now on, this chapter focuses on the Span-
ish branch. But which parts of the patrimony would constitute the ‘Spanish’ 
monarchy – that is not just Spain but all the territories under the authority 
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of the king of Spain – remained an open question even after the partition of 
1521. There were some new additions to the patrimony, like Milan, that Fer-
dinand had an eye on, but which ended up staying in the Spanish branch.62 
There were also the Low Countries, which might be transferred to the Aus-
trian branch as the dowry of a Spanish princess marrying an Austrian cousin. 
And there was the imperial title – technically not part of the patrimony, 
of course, but there was still much discussion as to whether Ferdinand or 
Charles’s son Philip should be put forward as Charles’s successor. Such issues 
were the subject of constant negotiation between the brothers and led to con-
siderable tensions in the 1550s, when the succession strategy for the Empire 
was hammered out.63

The succession to the monarchy as a whole could of course be a subject 
of negotiation because there was no overarching succession law to guide it – 
neither for the Trastámara-Burgundian-Austrian conglomerate that Charles 
and Ferdinand divided among themselves, nor for the resulting separate 
conglomerates ruled by each brother (Trastámara-Burgundy and Austria-
Bohemia-Hungary). Such an overarching succession law did not come into 
existence during Charles’s reign either, but the Emperor did make efforts to 
streamline future successions in the various constituent parts of his realm, 
Castile-Aragon and the Low Countries.

Such efforts invariably hinted at a single heir. As we have seen, the succes-
sion to the kingdoms of Castile was laid down in a number of decrees and 
laws, foremost among these being Alfonso X’s Siete Partidas.64 The succes-
sion laid down here – male-preference primogeniture with the right of repre-
sentation – had been first codified during a session of the Cortes of Castile in 
1253.65 From the early sixteenth century onwards, the Siete Partidas, which 
dealt with many other issues besides the succession, was confirmed in several 
new codification projects. The ‘Laws of Toro’ of 1505 assembled a great 
body of Castilian law, with particular emphasis on laws concerning entails 
(mayorazgo), and while it did not devote any section explicitly to the succes-
sion to the throne, it did confirm the Siete Partidas, thus also confirming its 
section on the succession. Another compilation of laws, called Nueva Reco-
pilación, was published in 1567. While obsolete laws had been deleted from 
the collection, the Siete Partidas in general was confirmed, again without 
altering or highlighting the succession law in any way.66 These confirmations 
of the Siete Partidas in the context of mayorazgo law resulted in the Castilian 
realm becoming increasingly equated with a mayorazgo. Aragonese succes-
sion law was less codified than in Castile, depending on unwritten customary 
law, precedents and royal testaments.67 But male-preference primogeniture 
was the norm, so as long as the ruler had a son – as all Spanish Habsburg 
kings except Charles II did – he was the undisputed heir in both Castile and 
Aragon.68

Streamlining was underway in the Low Countries as well. As we have 
seen, the succession laws in the various principalities of the Low Countries 
varied, particularly concerning the right of representation. In 1549 Charles 
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agreed a new succession law, called the Pragmatic Sanction, for all the Low 
Countries with the local Estates General.69 The memory of the complicated 
succession mathematics of Philip the Bold’s testament may have played a role, 
but perhaps also Charles’s own succession: in 1549 he had a son, Philip, who 
already had a son of his own, Don Carlos. But he also had two daughters. 
If Philip predeceased him, who would become the next heir – his grandson, 
as would be customary in Holland and Brabant, for instance, or his remain-
ing eldest child, as was customary in Flanders?70 This remaining eldest child 
would be his daughter Maria, who had just been denied the Low Countries 
as her dowry when she married her cousin Maximilian (1548), much to the 
chagrin of her husband.71 Maria and Maximilian might very well claim their 
rights if Philip were to die prematurely. The Pragmatic Sanction stipulated 
that all the Low Countries would always accept the same heir and that the 
right of representation would be observed everywhere – which would make 
Don Carlos the heir in the hypothetical case of Philip’s early demise. This 
ensured the lasting unity of the Low Countries but did not forestall its sepa-
ration from the overarching monarchy. Since the Pragmatic Sanction did not 
include a clause about primogeniture, a younger brother might very well 
become the independent lord of the Low Countries, as was indeed considered 
on several occasions.72 When the Low Countries were ceded to Philip II’s 
daughter and son-in-law in 1598, the act of cession confirmed the Pragmatic 
Sanction and the indivisibility of the Low Countries, but added a provision 
of primogeniture.73

Such codifying of succession laws did not happen at the level of the 
monarchy as a whole. The succession to the whole patrimony depended al-
most entirely on royal testaments, which were based on law,74 testamentary 
precedents75 and dynamics within the family.76 Even here, we see that pri-
mogeniture and the indivisibility of the monarchy – characteristic traits of 
mayorazgos – were gaining ground.77 On the whole, the Spanish kings were 
quite explicit in their listing of the line of succession, which started off with 
their universal heir. Many others were mentioned, but only in case the univer-
sal heir failed. Reflecting the general tendency in Castile to equate the realm 
with a mayorazgo, the Spanish kings emphasised ever more the indivisible 
nature of the entire Spanish monarchy in their testaments: it should be kept 
intact and passed on to a single heir. This drive towards primogeniture was 
at first partly a result of demography: Charles V had only one son to suc-
ceed him when he died, and so did Philip II. From Philip II onwards, the 
monarchs forbade any alienations.78 Of course, Philip II himself went against 
this stipulation by endowing his daughter Isabella with the Low Countries 
when she married her cousin Albert.79 But after this date, there were no more 
exceptions and the monarchy was considered an entail.80 When Philip III died 
leaving three sons, he was very explicit in denying the younger ones any share 
of the territory.

But the testaments mentioned more family members than just the uni-
versal heir. Others were included in a hierarchical order – which I will go 
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into in detail because it is here that we can identify the community of heirs. 
Both inclusion and exclusion processes were at play. Normally, the second-
ary heirs mentioned were the king’s children (first any other sons and their 
descendants, then the daughters and theirs), except for daughters marrying in 
France, who renounced their rights.81 Generally, kings also mentioned their 
siblings and their descendants. The main group of heirs thus usually consisted 
of the direct descendants of the testator’s predecessor. So Charles V men-
tioned his brother Ferdinand and his descendants (all Philip I’s descendants), 
but Philip  II left them out, only including Charles V’s descendants.82 Only 
Philip IV mentioned some of his cousins, the children of his aunt Catalina, 
duchess of Savoy.83 The only one to exclude even his siblings was Philip III.

Mentioning or omitting secondary heirs such as cousins did not imme-
diately impact their succession rights – if some epidemic should wipe out 
most of the Spanish royal family, the unmentioned surviving cousins could 
certainly have made a claim. Therefore, the limited list of heirs mentioned 
should not be seen as an exhaustive list of all possible heirs. Why then men-
tion some and not others? Perhaps not mentioning them might have harmed 
their claims: without the deceased king’s express approval, their succession 
could be contested more easily. In the same vein, mentioning them served to 
confirm their rights and establish them as members of the family circle. This 
was the group of individuals who were foremost in the testator’s thoughts: 
the circle of people with whom he wanted his crown to end up, or who he 
could imagine one day taking over the throne. They were part of the imag-
ined future of the monarchy. It is as much a social construction as a legally 
exhaustive list of all possible heirs.

Since royal testaments tended to follow the precedents set by predeces-
sors quite closely, it is an interesting question why Philip III diverged from 
the testaments of his father and grandfather in omitting everyone except his 
own descendants. It was not for lack of siblings. Philip drafted his testament 
between April and late July 1619.84 At that time he had one living sister, 
Isabella, sovereign lady of the Low Countries (who would outlive him), who 
was childless. Philip’s other sister, Catalina, had died in 1597, but eight of her 
children were still alive in 1619. As the following chapters show, Philip was 
very close to some of these children, particularly his nephew Filiberto, Cat-
alina’s second surviving son.85 But his relationship with others was frostier. 
In February 1619, Vittorio, Catalina’s eldest surviving son, heir to the Savo-
yard duchy and thus first in line for the Spanish throne if Philip’s bodily heirs 
failed, had married a French princess as part of his father’s anti-Spanish poli-
tics. The marriage was a clear indication of the animosity between Philip and 
the duke of Savoy. This never hurt Philip’s relationship with Filiberto, and 
one suspects that Philip would gladly have accepted this favourite nephew 
as a possible heir. But Filiberto’s elder brother obviously preceded him, and 
his succession was rather the stuff of nightmares. Moreover, Filiberto was 
likely to be pushed further down the order of succession by Vittorio’s soon-
to-be born, half-Bourbon children. Philip might well have excluded all his 
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Savoyard nephews to weaken Vittorio’s chances of taking possession of the 
throne if push came to shove.

Generally, however, we might say that there was a clear view of the dynas-
tic community of imagined heirs: all the descendants of a ruler’s predecessor, 
that is, his children, siblings and nephews and nieces. As the explicit inclu-
sion of the House of Savoy in Philip II’s and Philip IV’s testaments indicates, 
members of his group of heirs need not be Habsburgs – either Spanish or 
Austrian. In fact, the other, Austrian branch of the House was not notably 
privileged in these testaments.86 Only when Austrian Habsburgs happened 
to be descended from Spanish princesses – a not on the whole uncommon 
occurrence – were they included, but clearly simply as ‘sibling’s descendants’, 
just like the princes of Savoy, rather than a class of backup heirs based on 
their common descent from Philip I. Habsburgs who were not descended 
from Charles V in some way make no appearance in the testaments of his 
successors. Neither do illegitimate children. Charles V mentioned his daugh-
ter Margaret, but only to state that he had given her a suitable dowry so that 
Charles’s successor was not obliged to provide for her; he made no mention 
at all of Don Juan.87 Philip IV did mention his Don Juan, but not among the 
heirs: he asked his successor to treat this half-brother well.88 Bastards were 
thus emphatically not part of the Habsburg community of heirs.

Hypothetical Partitions and Hypothetical Younger Sons

By focusing on a universal heir and gradually forbidding any alienations, the 
royal testaments display a growing tendency towards the indivisibility of the 
patrimony, a tendency which was aided by a dearth of excess male heirs. But 
all Spanish kings had several sons during their lifetimes, or sketched scenar-
ios in case they were to leave several sons.89 Furthermore, they had daughters, 
who might hope for a territorial dowry – or at least their intended husbands 
did. We can thus trace what the careers of such hypothetical younger princes 
and heiresses may have looked like and see when primogeniture and indivis-
ibility really became part of succession thought in the monarchy. Taking the 
perspective of scenarios rather than realities, partitions become a surprisingly 
common element in the Spanish Habsburg monarchy.

The Low Countries were the most obvious territory to be separated from 
the monarchy to benefit a younger son, or a daughter in the shape of a 
dowry.90 Isolated from the Iberian and Italian parts of the patrimony, there 
were always worries about their vulnerability.91 One of the driving forces 
behind the continued partitions – or talk of this – was the local powers. 
For instance, when Margaret of Austria, governor of the Low Countries, 
congratulated her nephew Charles on the birth of his second son (1529), she 
immediately expressed the wish that the boy might be her ‘stick in old age’, 
her successor.92 She would go on to own two portraits of this little boy, but 
not of his older siblings – another expression of her high hopes for his future 
in the Low Countries.93
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Local elites were equally rather interested in having their own prince. This 
sentiment was strong everywhere. Towards the end of his reign, Philip III 
travelled to Portugal and was advised there to appoint a governor of royal 
blood – preferably the crown prince.94 Such suggestions were repeated when 
Philip IV ascended the throne. Among the desired candidates was his sister, 
Infanta Maria.95 In the Low Countries as well, noble elites often expressed 
their preference for a local prince. This heavily urbanised territory had a long 
history of rebellion,96 and, in the eyes of contemporaries, the presence of a 
high-ranking and locally born member of the dynasty was one of the main 
prerequisites to keep it in check.97 During the Revolt of the Netherlands, 
some sections of the local nobility thus suggested that Philip II give the Low 
Countries to his second son – whom he had at the time – or as a dowry to his 
daughter if she married one of her Austrian cousins, in order to restore or-
der.98 In the treaty of reconciliation between Philip II and several of the Low 
Countries (1577), Philip promised to consider sending one of his children as 
a successor there to be educated locally.99 That was hardly a firm commit-
ment to a second-son succession, but if more than one of Philip’s five sons 
had survived into adulthood, it seems highly likely that such a second son 
would have been given his share.

The Habsburg family heads were less concerned with local identity and 
autonomy than with the security of their patrimony. The military threat 
from France was always acute, and dowry plans were often offered as a 
solution. The testaments of both Charles V and his spouse Empress Isabella 
indicate that not only a second son but also a daughter might inherit the 
Burgundian patrimony. In a testament dated March 1529, Empress Isabella 
referred to a future second son who might inherit the Low Countries.100 If 
this son were to be born (she was indeed pregnant and would give birth to 
a boy in November) and go on to inherit the Low Countries, her daughter 
Maria should be compensated. This implies that Maria was thought of as 
the heir to the Low Countries in the absence of younger brothers. Indeed, in 
a letter to Charles from 1531, when the son born in 1529 had already died, 
Empress Isabella suggested that Charles had chosen Maria to succeed him 
in the Low Countries at this point. Concretely, the Empress argued against 
a marriage between Maria and the dauphin of France, since ‘according to 
the arrangement of the succession to the Low Countries which Your Maj-
esty made’, that scenario would mean these territories would be united with 
France. Although in practice this would turn the Low Countries into Maria’s 
dowry, the formulation suggests that Maria was thought of as the future 
lady of those lands regardless of her marriage.101 Charles later reiterated his 
and Empress Isabella’s wish to leave the Low Countries to Maria if no other 
son were born.102

But as in the case of Maria’s possible marriage to the French dauphin, 
the line between inheritance and dowry was often blurred. In 1539, Charles 
wrote in an instruction to his son that both he and Empress Isabella had stip-
ulated in their testaments that if they were to die without a second son, Maria 
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should receive the Low Countries and marry an Austrian cousin.103 While a 
number of candidates were considered in negotiations for Maria’s marriage 
over the years, she was indeed betrothed in 1548 to her Austrian cousin 
Maximilian, Ferdinand’s eldest son. The pair might be forgiven for counting 
on inheriting the Low Countries. However, the situation had changed. By 
now, Charles’s son Philip had a son from his first marriage, three-year-old 
Don Carlos, and he might have more sons in the future. With a new genera-
tion of hypothetical second sons in mind, Charles decided not to give Maria 
the Low Countries but to save it for a future second son of Philip.104 When 
Philip married Mary Tudor, queen of England, in 1553, their marriage con-
tract stipulated that any child born from the union – boy or girl – would 
inherit both the English throne and the Low Countries.105 Charles V made the 
same provision in his final testament (1554).106 Thus, Philip II took posses-
sion of the Low Countries after Charles’s abdication (1555) (Fig. 1.3). Over 
the next years, the new king would not sire any sons in addition to the one 
he had, but he did have daughters. Throughout the 1570s, the French court 
proposed several marriages between a French prince and a Spanish princess, 
which included the Low Countries as a dowry.107 Philip’s eldest daughter 
Isabella never married a French prince. Like her aunt Maria, she married an 

Figure 1.3 � Allegory on the Abdication of Holy Roman Emperor Charles V in Brussels, 
by Frans Francken II, circa 1630–40. 

Source: Alamy.
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Austrian cousin, Albert, in 1598, but in contrast to her aunt, she did receive 
the Low Countries as her dowry.

Rather than being an anomaly in a dynastic history which was otherwise 
characterised by primogeniture and state building, the secession of the Low 
Countries as an infanta’s dowry had been on the cards for decades. It really 
is a testament to how long even the Spanish Habsburgs were comfortable 
with the idea of breaking up their monarchy to provide for younger sons 
or daughters. However, almost immediately after the alienation of the Low 
Countries in 1598, this practice came to an abrupt stop. Not for lack of local 
desire for a prince of their own: when the Estates of the Low Countries swore 
fealty to Philip III as presumed successor to the childless Isabella and Albert, 
some delegates asked the King to designate one of his younger sons as their 
future ruler.108 But Philip III, who stood to regain the Low Countries after the 
death of Archduke Albert, would be very clear in his testament that no part 
of the monarchy was to be alienated for any reason, not even to provide a 
livelihood for his two younger sons. His experience of being deprived of part 
of his inheritance may very well have played a crucial role.

What is important to note in any case is that there was no law governing 
the succession of the monarchy as a whole, while local succession law did 
not necessarily prohibit the succession of a younger child. Local elites appear 
quite happy to forego the firstborn and settle for a younger child if it meant 
they would have their own prince. The Habsburg rulers toyed with such a 
scenario constantly: they obviously did not see the entire monarchy as one in-
divisible unit whose integrity must be safeguarded by a clear succession law. 
However, while sixteenth-century kings might have been amenable to nego-
tiating the partition of the monarchy, they never had more than one son at 
their deaths, so the matter was mostly academic. Not until 1621 was a king 
mourned by more than one son, but by this time, things had changed. There 
were no negotiations about the inheritance, which was to go in its entirety to 
the eldest of the three princes. Over the century, views on the succession to 
the entire monarchy had changed rather markedly.

Younger Brothers after 1621

As the succession of the entire monarchy became increasingly guided by 
primogeniture and indivisibility of the patrimony, the roles of potential 
younger sons became less clear. Whereas any surviving younger sons of 
Charles V or Philip II would almost certainly have received the Low Coun-
tries, Philip III was adamant that this should not happen. When this king 
died in 1621, he had three sons: Philip IV (b. 1605), Carlos (b. 1607) and 
Fernando (b. 1609). No parts of the patrimony were to be alienated to ac-
commodate them, and the younger sons were always to show strict obedi-
ence to their elder brother.109 Philip III thus envisioned a new sort of prince, 
a subordinated one with no independent authority. Where did these novel 
ideas come from?
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The late sixteenth century saw the emergence of the principles of reasons 
of state (Machiavellianism reworked in a more moral frame), and Philip III 
had read the works of men like Justus Lipsius, Giovanni Botero and Jean 
Bodin as part of his education.110 All these authors placed the state at the 
centre of their analyses and taught their students to take its interests as their 
starting point, not the dynasty’s. Central to this line of thinking was that the 
conservation of royal power and the safeguarding of the position of the king 
as head of state were among the primary interests of the state. Power shar-
ing, let alone partitioning the patrimony, was quite antithetical to this. This 
new approach to politics seemed particularly necessary since a sense of crisis 
prevailed during the first years of Philip III’s reign:111 Castile, which bore the 
heaviest fiscal burden and thus financed much of Spanish Habsburg politics, 
was going through an economic crisis, and its interests needed to take prec-
edence over any others. A series of memoranda making policy suggestions 
about how to strengthen the monarchy were sent to the King – penned by a 
group of authors called arbitristas.112 Gradually, the solution was sought in 
closer military cooperation among the monarchy’s different territories (cul-
minating in the ill-fated unión de armas), which also argued against future 
partitions.113 In this context, the separation of the Low Countries in 1598 
was seen as a terrible precedent that weakened the monarchy and was not to 
be repeated.114

Both new political ideologies and the monarchy’s perceived strategic de-
mands now argued against alienations of the patrimony to accommodate 
younger sons. This created what many historians refer to as ‘the problem of 
the infantes’.115 If these infantes were not allowed to play a role which had 
traditionally been envisioned for younger princes, then what role would they 
play? And how were they prepared for it? It is not the aim of this chapter 
to give a thorough account of the younger princes’ upbringing,116 but some 
elements may be highlighted. Of the two infantes, Don Carlos has impressed 
historians the least. He has been described as docile, or even possibly re-
tarded (but also ‘prudent’), while his younger brother Fernando is credited 
with a strong personality, ill-suited as it was to the clerical career towards 
which he was directed: he became a cardinal and an archbishop at not yet ten 
years old.117 The brothers undoubtedly each had their own personalities, but 
it is also true that Carlos was not nearly as independent as Fernando. Philip 
and the two younger princes had always shared a household, but Fernando 
was given his own household upon becoming a cardinal. While clearly subor-
dinated to his elder brother and directed away from a role as a secular prince, 
he grew up a little master in his own environment and was socialised into 
an independent role of authority – for instance, when learning to perform 
religious duties.118 Carlos, however, continued to share Philip’s household, 
even well after Philip had become king, without being assigned any role, 
but simply serving as Philip’s companion.119 Not allowed to develop his own 
independent authority and sharing daily activities and meals with the crown 
prince and later king obviously placed Carlos in a much more subdued role.
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The younger princes were thus not exactly groomed to become independ-
ent, secular rulers, but this did not diminish their high birth, nor the rights 
and expectations that came with it – traditional notions of the entitlements 
of royalty had not been suppressed entirely by reasons of state. When dis-
cussing the future of these princes, courtiers were aware of the importance of 
providing for them according to their station. Some models were at hand.120 
During the two generations before Carlos and Fernando became adults, 
some nephews, cousins and bastards had taken on roles as ‘surrogate second 
sons’  – a process which will be analysed in depth in Chapters 4–7. Their 
roles had centred on territorial governorships, headship of religious-military 
orders and the admiralty of the Mediterranean fleet. The new role of Carlos 
and Fernando within the monarchy might easily be modelled on these exam-
ples. However, there was a distinct difference in status between these prede-
cessors and the infantes: Carlos and Fernando were first and second in line to 
the throne before the birth of Philip IV’s children, unlike the rightless bastard 
Don Juan and the nephews who were themselves younger brothers frozen 
out of their paternal patrimonies.

The infantes’ status made them more dangerous than other royal relatives, 
certainly in the eyes of powerful ministers like the count-duke of Olivares. As 
Alicia Esteban Estríngana has argued, all persons of royal blood (other than 
the ruler) were thought to possess royal charisma, which meant that they 
could better represent the ruler and were entitled to share his sovereignty.121 
This meant Don Carlos and Don Fernando were considered entitled to a po-
sition of authority directly below the king, as ordained by providence.122 This 
providential claim to authority might encourage local elites, who, as we have 
seen, often expressed their desire to have their own prince, to make use of the 
presence of a royal prince and break away from the monarchy – something 
which was much less likely under the leadership of a more distant nephew 
who might not even belong to the House of Austria.123 The prospects and ex-
pectations of royal princes were nothing like those of cousins and nephews. 
Yet not employing the king’s closest relatives, who had been given their high 
status by providence, could be seen as depriving them of what was rightfully 
theirs, which, apart from potentially causing them to rebel and stir up trou-
ble, would dishonour them.124

So how did Philip IV and his ministers solve the ‘problem of the infantes’? 
Already during Philip III’s lifetime, Carlos’s name had come up in all sorts of 
dynastic schemes, which placed him on a path towards independence outside 
of Spain. His father tried to set him up as a future emperor by presenting him 
as the successor to Archduke Albert – one of the childless archdukes who 
could aspire to succeed his equally childless imperial brother one day.125 As 
a second son he was also a natural option for the Low Countries: he could 
marry a French princess who would join him there – a scheme with firm roots 
in sixteenth-century practice and thought.126 Or he could marry an heiress, 
for instance, the daughter of the duke of Lorraine, or the heiress of Mantua. 
However, these possibilities were all discussed during the prince’s childhood, 
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when royal children were frequently mentioned in all sorts of plans for the 
distant future.

Philip IV started to discuss the future of his brothers more seriously in 
1626, when he ordered a junta to be convened to this end. The junta was 
led by Olivares, who was adamant that the princes should leave Spain; in an 
earlier memorandum he had argued that the Habsburg monarchy should not 
be dismembered because the different parts were linked strategically together 
and could not sustain themselves separately.127 In addition, the minister saw 
Fernando in particular – the brother with the strongest personality – as a 
threat to his own position.128 Marriage was a logical option for Carlos, but 
Olivares could not see many suitable candidates. The daughters of the Em-
peror would not bring a large dowry. Other girls had limited possibilities of 
actually bringing territories to the marriage (such as the sister of the child-
less but still young duchess of Lorraine, or the heiress of Mantua whose 
pretensions were, on closer inspection, quite uncertain) – and being a ruler 
of such a small principality was hardly commensurate with Carlos’s status 
as a Spanish infante129 – or were members of close but suspect family, such 
as the princesses of Savoy, sisters of the French-leaning Vittorio.130 Olivares 
also suggested providing financial income for the prince, a household and 
a posting to Sicily as viceroy, with an instruction that prevented his taking 
over that kingdom.131 Carlos’s own children could be married off to Italian 
princesses and heiresses without prejudice to Philip’s position.132 In the short 
term, Olivares saw Carlos as a Habsburg viceroy in Italy, and in the long run 
his descendants would become Italian princelings – a strategy followed by the 
Spanish Bourbons in the eighteenth century. For Fernando, an archbishop, 
no marriage was contemplated.133 Olivares thought he might be encouraged 
to eye the papacy. Fernando might also pursue a career in the Empire, per-
haps as a spiritual elector of Trier or Mayence. To facilitate this transition, 
Fernando, who was still only seventeen in 1626, could be sent to the imperial 
court for his education.134

The position of the princes became critical briefly in 1627 when Philip 
fell gravely ill. At that point, he had no children, although the Queen was 
expecting.135 But the couple’s three previously born daughters had all died 
in infancy, so expectations for the pregnancy were low and many courtiers 
looked at Carlos as the imminent heir.136 The whole episode set the courtiers 
around Carlos and Fernando scheming to get rid of Philip’s favourite, Oli-
vares, which fuelled his suspicion against them.137 In the testament that Philip 
drew up during his illness, he designated the Queen as regent in case he died 
and the child survived – and if it was a girl, she should marry Carlos. The 
princes would help the Queen in the regency, while Olivares would educate 
the new monarch – a scenario designed as much to safeguard Olivares’s posi-
tion in the new reign as to provide for a smooth transition.138 Once restored 
to health, Philip probably reached a decision about the future careers of the 
princes, namely that they be appointed governors of Portugal and the Low 
Countries, respectively.139 But he did not make any concrete provisions for 
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his brothers until 1629, when Philip’s first son was born.140 Still, they were 
not sent on their way. Portugal had been clamouring for a royal governor 
once more and might have welcomed Carlos,141 but the widowed Infanta 
Isabella still resided in the Low Countries. Over sixty years old by now, she 
had been assured of a lifelong tenure as governor in the lands she had previ-
ously ruled as a sovereign princess. Her succession was a sensitive issue and 
complicated further by the fact that the war between the Spanish Low Coun-
tries and the rebellious Dutch Republic was still in full swing – if a prince was 
sent, it would have to be done in a way that did not undermine the infanta’s 
authority.142 In 1631, the decision was finally made to send the infantes to 
their posts; however, Carlos died before he reached Lisbon.143

It is curious to note that Olivares never once took Carlos’s position as 
possible heir to the throne into account in any of his memoranda. Carlos’s 
position was obvious – particularly during the scare of 1627 – but the minis-
ter never allowed it to become a part of his plans, for instance, by arranging 
for a marriage to secure Carlos’s line. It is hard to argue that the succes-
sion of Philip’s own offspring seemed secure: the offspring from his marriage 
to Isabella of Bourbon had the second-highest mortality rate of all Spanish 
royal marriages, and this fact was not lost on contemporaries.144 Instead of 
the collaborative spirit of the sixteenth century, when (hypothetical) younger 
princes would easily find a role as independent ruler of the Low Countries, 
it seemed like infantes were to be feared again, as they had been (quite right-
fully) during the Middle Ages.145 The minister probably ignored Carlos’s role 
in the succession out of fear for his own position: like in the royal testa-
ments, any mention of the succession rights confirmed those rights and might 
embolden the mentioned heir. Reasons of state and the monopolisation of 
power by the great favourites of the seventeenth century thus conspired to 
turn Philip III’s younger sons into servants instead of co-heirs.

Conclusion

Princes, Testaments and Dynastic Centralisation

The Spanish monarchy was not identical to the kingdom of Castile, and nei-
ther were its succession laws. Primogeniture in the one did not preclude par-
titions and shared power in the other. Primogeniture did not even preclude 
the alienation of large, landed holdings to younger sons within Castile. When 
looking at the provisions for younger brothers in the three main constituent 
parts of the Habsburg monarchy, we can conclude that younger brothers 
were always well provided for, but that central powers considered them to 
be more and more of a threat. Already in the fifteenth century, both John II 
of Castile and Frederick III in Austria tried to limit the territorial power of 
younger sons or siblings. The union of the dynastic blocks in the hands of 
Charles V meant that none of the territories had to support both the Emperor 
and his brother Ferdinand. Instead, each brother ruled one or two ever more 
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unified parts of the patrimony. In the sixteenth century, we can almost detect 
a perceived need to partition the monarchy. Male heirs must be provided for, 
but in the absence of a younger son, the Low Countries should be given to a 
daughter.

Both princesses in line for the Low Countries – Charles V’s daughter Maria 
and Philip II’s daughter Isabella – were married to men who were nephews 
of their fathers-in-law and thus themselves part of a select group of named 
heirs. This group tended to consist of the testator’s predecessor’s children. 
Marriage wove this group together, but the renunciations of infantas mar-
rying French kings show that marriage could also lead to exclusion. As the 
following chapters show, the community of mentioned heirs overlapped to a 
large degree with the dynastic ruling group: those relatives who were eligible 
to take up positions, for instance, as territorial governors in the monarchy. 
But not entirely: among governors, we will also find bastards, who were 
quite explicitly excluded from the community of heirs. Also excluded were 
those who were of close kinship but had drifted away politically: Vittorio 
Amedeo of Savoy forfeited his position in this select company when he ‘be-
came Bourbon’. This community, then, was composed of individuals whom 
the testator could imagine ruling the monarchy in the future.

This monarchy became increasingly indivisible. Under the influence of the 
notion of reasons of state and of favourites out to monopolise royal power 
for themselves, the early seventeenth century saw a wholesale disinheriting of 
daughters and particularly younger sons. They could now merely hope to be-
come governors on the ruler’s behalf at best, even if such appointments caused 
considerable anxiety among courtiers. The disinheriting of younger brothers 
had far-reaching consequences. Careers as governors meant younger princes 
still held positions of power and authority and they continued to hold succes-
sion rights, but they no longer received a share of the family patrimony, al-
lowing them to become independent rulers. Neither did they found their own 
collateral lines. A career in the Church required celibacy, which obviously 
got in the way of marriage (although not of fathering children, as Cardinal-
Infante Fernando did). For secular younger sons, a lack of independent re-
sources made marriage almost impossible as well. After all, limited prospects 
of independent income meant a required princely lifestyle could not be guar-
anteed, either for the bride or for her children, which made fathers hesitant 
to marry off their daughters to second sons. Politically and socially, they be-
came subordinated to their ruling brothers. But they did not disappear. They 
were rather forced to become a subordinated member of their ruling sibling’s 
House. New succession practices thus not only influenced the power of rulers 
and their siblings – strengthening one and weakening the other – but also cre-
ated larger dynastic groups of which juniors remained part. The construction 
of this larger group, with its changed balance of power, was accompanied 
by new internal dynamics and relationships. Before we focus on those (in 
Chapters 4–7), we will now first turn to the construction of dynastic groups 
in genealogies (Chapter 2) and burial sites (Chapter 3).
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This chapter is one of the two that focuses on the formation and representa-
tion of the Habsburgs as a group (see Fig. 2.1 below for a modern family tree, 
which is in use on Wikipedia). The present chapter discusses genealogies, 
while the next chapter focuses on communal burial sites. The aim of these 
chapters is to explore the construction of the Spanish Habsburg dynasty 
as a genealogical narrative and as a community of the dead. Both chapters 
are based on group representations: collective family histories (genealogies) 
and clusters of physical remains (burial sites). In this way, we can get the  
Habsburgs as a group of people into focus.1 After all, dynasties were groups 
and focusing on them as such captures one of their essential characteristics.2 
Genealogies and burial sites have in common that they served to create a 
memory of the (deceased) family members; they can both be seen as belong-
ing to memoria practices, the purpose of which was to connect deceased 
family members to present generations and create the illusion that the dead 
continued to belong to the realm of the living.3 While burial monuments 
tend to play a large role in memoria research, genealogies served the same 
purpose. By constructing ‘a community of the entire clan that presents the 
deceased head ancestor as a presence among the living’, genealogies, too, 
evoked the presence of deceased forebears, and rights or prestige could be de-
rived from them.4 Both genealogies and burial sites constructed diachronous 
social groups, connecting the long dead, the living and the as yet unborn,5 a 
particularly powerful way of suggesting dynastic continuity.

Burial sites and genealogies thus had a common purpose, but there are 
also important differences between them. Whereas we might argue that bur-
ial sites were always rooted in the biological bodies of the deceased, genealo-
gies were literary productions that could take great freedom in including or 
excluding individuals as family members. Genealogical groups were highly 
malleable. The constructive element in genealogies is captured well by Evia-
tar Zerubavel, who recently argued that ‘not only are genealogies more than 
mere reflections of nature, they are also more than mere records of history. 
Rather than simply passively documenting who our ancestors were, they are 
the narratives we construct to actually make them our ancestors’.6 Uncon-
strained by ‘biological hardware’, genealogical narratives constructed family 
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groups, freely adding never-existing figures or quite unrelated individuals as 
(mythical) ancestors, and omitting very real people, including most cognatic 
relatives and illegitimate offspring.7

In this chapter, I have chosen to focus on a sample of forty texts, which 
have been selected to cover both a long period of time and a wide geographi-
cal area. This approach differs from the more usual approach of analysing the 

Figure 2.1 � A modern family tree of the Habsburgs (Wikipedia), based on one in use 
on Wikipedia in 2023.
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discursive aspect of a single genealogy8 – how was the preeminent position of 
the Habsburgs in Europe legitimised? Most modern scholarly works on ge-
nealogies focus on one or maybe a few genealogical texts.9 The advantages of 
such an approach are obvious: a small sample allows close reading of the text, 
distilling its historiographical and philosophical underpinning, highlighting 
the author’s intentions and even reconstructing the production of knowledge 
that went into it.10 Each genealogy indeed deserves to be given that thorough 
treatment. However, my quantitative approach will, I hope, do justice to the 
unfathomable diversity of Habsburg genealogies: the Habsburgs ruled territo-
ries all over Europe for many centuries, and certainly dozens, but more likely 
hundreds, of genealogies were written about them all over Europe.

The forty genealogies of my sample represent of course a highly random 
and incomplete selection (see the Appendix for a list of the genealogies I 
consulted). They were written between c. 1500 and 1680, spanning most of 
the period during which the Habsburgs ruled Spain. The authors were based 
both in and outside Habsburg territories: Spain, Austria, the Holy Roman 
Empire, the Low Countries, Naples, Milan, France and Switzerland. Since 
the Spanish and Austrian Habsburgs had a common medieval family tree 
and authors do not normally distinguish sharply between the two branches, 
both branches will feature in this chapter. Most genealogies consist of writ-
ten accounts of the family, with biographies of individual Habsburgs. Some 
also include visual materials, like family trees. I have traced the formation of 
the family group in them, sacrificing thoroughness along the way but hopeful 
that this will let me sketch a broad picture of the early modern construction 
of the House of Austria.

Considering that genealogies were literary constructions rather than an ac-
tual assembly of physical persons (as burial sites were), we can expect a great 
deal of flexibility in how these narratives were shaped, which was connected 
to why a genealogy was produced. A general reason for producing genealogies 
was to assert hereditary rights to a certain territory or status. For instance, 
to gain access to certain clerical positions or for a marriage to be consid-
ered ebenbürtig (between partners of equal birth), one had to prove one’s 
nobility over several generations.11 In some cases, rulers themselves commis-
sioned genealogies to extoll their lineage.12 But there could be other reasons 
as well: some of the authors that we will discuss below seem to have been 
driven by purely commercial motives, simply trying to sell as many copies  
as possible.13 Yet other genealogies were published to celebrate weddings, for 
instance, that of Joanna of Austria and Francesco de’ Medici in 1565, and 
that of Emperor Leopold I and the Infanta Margaret of Spain in 1666.14 An-
other reason could be to defend the honour of a dynasty against attacks on 
its worthiness, as happened when an anonymous French author challenged 
the claims of a pro-Habsburg genealogist who had extolled the Habsburgs at 
the expense of the French.15 At the turn of the seventeenth century, we even 
see the emergence of genealogy as a scholarly pursuit, where source-based 
historical accuracy became an end in itself.16 In most cases, genealogists had 
only indirect and loose ties to the people they wrote about: often, the author 
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merely lived in territories governed by the dynasty he described, and some-
times not even that. The resulting genealogies vary greatly: they were writ-
ten by different authors, with different objectives, in different periods and 
in different territories of the monarchy. While genealogical narratives thus 
indisputably construct diachronous social groups, we should not see them as 
an expression of a dynastic identity adopted by the Habsburgs themselves, 
but rather as an expression of the identities that the genealogists projected 
onto the Habsburgs. Each portrait added to the generally available images of 
the dynasty, reflecting and propagating the existing ideas of what and who 
constituted the House of Austria, in different times, places and contexts.

In the following three sections, I will focus on three different themes that 
the genealogies dealt with and that are all closely connected to the shaping 
of the family group: the dynasty’s earliest origins, its various branches and 
its ‘current’ generation (at the time of writing, of course). The focus on these 
three themes will shed light on the dynamics that shaped dynastic narratives. 
First of all, the discussion on the dynasty’s earliest origins will show how the 
dynasty itself quickly lost control of its own genealogical narratives. Discuss-
ing origins was primarily a scholarly affair, conducted generally by learned 
men with very little connection to any of the Habsburg courts. The second 
section, on the House’s various branches, shows how the House of Austria – 
multi-branched as a result of its partible inheritance practices – became 
unilinear in hindsight: junior branches and childless ancestors, however pow-
erful and prestigious in their lifetimes, simply disappeared from view. Over 
time, the Habsburgs became a patrilineal and unilineal house, showing us 
that this vertical conception of the dynasty was a historical construction. This 
point will be reinforced in the third section, where we discuss how genealo-
gists dealt with the dynasty’s current generations – the ‘living memory’ of the 
House, as it were. This section shows how the Habsburg dynasty took on 
different shapes in different contexts, since local memories of who had been a 
member of the House could differ. The contemporary dynasty was far more 
inclusive than the historical one, including illegitimate and cognatic relatives.

The Origins of the House of Austria

One of the main objectives of genealogical narratives is to exalt and honour 
the lineage.17 Inherent to genealogies is that this is achieved by constructing 
the most prestigious ancestry available. Medieval and early modern genealo-
gists tended to do this by starting the genealogy off with culturally significant 
personalities: the Greek and Roman heroes of Virgil’s saga, primordial kings 
such as Merovech, or Biblical characters like Noah and any of his sons and 
grandsons – but other mythical or semi-mythical characters that were sig-
nificant in local contexts could also serve as the family group’s ‘big bang’ 
moment, blasting it into being. The reconstruction of such origins can be con-
nected to a general competition about status in medieval and early modern 
Europe.18 One of the Habsburgs most concerned with such questions of sta-
tus was Emperor Maximilian I,19 who took a personal interest in genealogy 
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and put a team of scholars to work on the origins of his family. Maximilian, 
however, was an exception. Other Habsburgs do not seem to have become 
quite as involved. Instead, a host of scholars, often with rather limited con-
nections to the court, took up the debate. From being a court-sponsored 
status-oriented endeavour, the search for the dynasty’s origins turned into a 
scholarly debate. This debate became so heated and intricate that most non-
scholarly genealogists decided to pass over the controversy altogether. In the 
course of the seventeenth century, the origins debate lost its salience, and 
Habsburg courts appeared to lose interest in it. We will analyse the develop-
ment of the origins narrative in the thirty genealogies in our sample that deal 
with it.

Emperor Maximilian I is rightfully famous for his attention to geneal-
ogy. One of the pressing issues his genealogists had to grapple with was 
the absence of a clear founding ancestor, a ‘Spitzenahn’. Devising narratives 
that took care of this lacuna was of utmost importance, since the origin of 
a lineage was generally meant to distinguish it from, and exalt it over, other 
lineages.20 Not surprisingly, it was during Maximilian’s reign that one of the 
great narratives about the origins of the Habsburgs was created by court ge-
nealogists like Johannes Trithemius and Jakob Mennel (Manlius). This nar-
rative centred on a French descent from Merovech – an ancestor of Clovis, 
the first king of the Franks to be baptised. According to the narrative, Clovis’s 
son Chlotharius divided his domains among his sons, one of whom was Sige-
bertus, who received Austrasia. Some generations later, this line would pro-
duce Othobertus (whose father was either called Odobertus, Theodobertus 
or Sigebertus II), the first count of Habsburg. Sigebertus I was therefore a key 
ancestor who connected the Habsburgs with the Franks and with Merovech, 
while Count Othobertus became the Habsburg Spitzenahn (Fig. 2.2).

This view of the dynasty’s origins was quickly picked up by several  
authors with various connections to the court. Of the genealogies in our  

Figure 2.2  Merovingian descent.



The Trunk and the Foliage  57

sample – which starts with texts produced after Maximilian’s death – 
Gebweiler is the first to adopt this narrative.21 A humanist and schoolmaster 
in Hagenau,22 it is unknown whether he had any connection to the court, but 
he clearly knew the latest genealogical works. He devoted his ‘liber primus’ to 
tracing the lineage from Noah via Priam of Troy and Francus to Pharamund – 
the latter two being mythical French kings – and in his ‘liber secundus’ he 
traced the line onwards from Pharamund to Sigebertus, Othobertus and fi-
nally King Rudolf, the first Habsburg to be elected king of the Romans 
(1273). Only a few years later, the Brabantine engraver Robert Péril produced 
a spectacular engraving of the Habsburg family tree, starting with Pharamund 
and also including Sigebertus and Othobertus. A near-contemporaneous and 
very similar painted manuscript traced mostly the same line, except that it 
started with Noah.23 Péril can be placed in proximity to the Habsburg court 
in Brussels. His works show his particular connection to Margaret of Austria, 
Maximilian’s daughter and governor of the Low Countries until 1530. In 
addition, his engraving explicitly states that he had worked with several high-
ranking bureaucrats, theologians and courtiers while devising the genealogy – 
among others the chancellor of the Order of the Golden Fleece, who might be 
expected to have considerable genealogical knowledge.

We also encounter Sigebertus and Othobertus in an Italian text of 1561. 
Girolamo Bossi’s work is an epic poem in ten cantos, the first nine of which 
relate the tale of Heliodoro and Marfisa, mythical ancestors of the Habs-
burgs. In the tenth canto, Bossi gives a genealogy of the House of Austria. It 
starts with Zeus and Alcmena, parents of Hercules, and Hercules’s son Aven-
tino. Then a long line of kings follows, which includes people like Priam and 
Francus, onwards to Meroveo and Lothario, whose second son Sigeberto was 
‘king of Austria’,24 followed by Oberto. Bossi obviously confounds Austrasia 
and Austria (he would not be the last to do so) and goes on to state that the 
heirs to the ‘kingdom of Austria’ held the title of count of Habsburg.

The most authoritative author to espouse the Merovingian narrative was 
Wolfgang Lazius, a well-known humanist at the court of Ferdinand I.25 We 
can tell he was authoritative because quite a few later authors refer to him. 
His authority rested on the quality of his work, but undoubtedly also on 
his close ties to the Habsburgs. He had written the work as Emperor Ferdi-
nand I’s court historian and curator of the imperial collections, and as such 
he had ample access to sources. His main work on the House of Austria 
was published in two parts: one was a visual family tree, and the other was 
the associated commentary.26 The work was published in 1564, the year in 
which Ferdinand I died. The visual tree had clearly been finished before Fer-
dinand’s death, since it still depicts him as emperor and his son Maximilian 
only as king. The text was dedicated to both Ferdinand and Maximilian. 
The work started with a discussion of authors; then it dealt with the kings 
of Austrasia, from which not only the Habsburgs descended but also the 
houses of Brabant, Lorraine, Bouillon and Luxemburg. Then the connec-
tion between the kings of Austrasia and the house of Austria was developed; 
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Lazius strengthened the connection by also stating that Austrasia and Austria 
were really interchangeable, speaking of the ‘Austriae sive Austrasiae reges’ 
(the kings of Austria or Austrasia).27 The origins of the House of Austria were 
traced back to Sigebertus, who was reported to be a son of King Theodeber-
tus of Austrasia.28

Whereas Lazius had made painstaking efforts to prove that his view on 
the dynasty was correct, authors in the second half of the sixteenth century 
would largely take his view for granted. We find much less discussion about 
it. It seems the narrative had become rather firmly established. In 1565, 
Francesco Sansovino wrote a work celebrating the ancestry of Archduch-
ess Joanna of Austria, who married Francesco de’ Medici. In his work he 
simply states that ‘I say that your House of Austria … is descended from the 
ancient kings of France. They trace the line back either to Francus …, or to 
Pharamund’,29 after which he sketched a line from Pharamund via Sigebert 
to King Rudolf. Authors at the end of the sixteenth century, like Morigi, 
Haubenreich of Hirschhorn and Heuterus, and at the beginning of the seven-
teenth century, like Hosmann and Piespordius, all adopted the Merovingian 
perspective, while dealing with the exact connection between Pharamund 
or Clovis, Sigebertus and King Rudolf of Habsburg in more or less sketchy 
detail.30 The Merovingian descent would remain popular in the seventeenth 
century. Ortensio Palacivino also presented the genealogy from Pharamund 
via Sigebertus to the Habsburgs, while Lázaro Díaz del Valle, Dauber and 
Franz Adam von Brandis followed suit. Schönleben’s work was really de-
voted to all the saints the House of Habsburg had produced. In his brief over-
view of Habsburg descent, he, too, traces a line from Meroveus to Sigebertus 
‘a quo communis opinio derivat Habspurgicos’ (from whom the Habsburgs 
are commonly known to descend).31 Clearly, throughout our sample and 
throughout the sixteenth and seventeenth centuries, this Merovingian de-
scent narrative was amazingly popular and stable.

Still, the narrative came under threat from two sides. Firstly, some authors 
chose to overlook the French connection and focused instead on a Roman 
origin, which we might call the Anician narrative. Cornelio Vitignano pub-
lished a work in Naples in 1599, in which he traced the Habsburgs back to 
the kings of Troy and Aeneas. From Aeneas descended the Roman House of 
the Julii, which was later known as the House of the Anicii and even later as 
the Perleoni, who were counts of the Aventine. According to this narrative, 
members of the House of Perleoni conquered ‘Habsburg’ during the reign 
of Emperor Frederick I, around 1160. After this conquest, they took the 
name Habsburg. One Pietro Perleoni was the father of Albert of Habsburg 
and the grandfather of King Rudolf (Fig. 2.3).32 Admittedly, this narrative 
was far less popular than the Sigebertus/Othobertus narrative. We can find it 
again in the work of Johannes Seifridus and Cirpriano Boselli, who accord-
ingly adorned King Charles II with the following list of adjectives: ‘Carlo II 
Hispanico Burgundico Austriaco Habsburgese Pierleone Olibrio Probo Fla-
vio Anicio Giulio Romuleo Eneada Troico’.33
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This approach had the advantage of connecting the Habsburgs with 
Aeneas, but the disadvantage of giving them a very long Italian history before 
they suddenly burst onto the Austrian scene a generation or two before King 
Rudolf. The authors who espoused this view were mostly Italian; on balance, 
the French origin narrative was far more popular – at least in the present 
sample.

Both the Merovingian and Anician viewpoints, however, would come un-
der scrutiny from antiquarian scholars.34 They were part of a new wave in ge-
nealogy writing that required knowledge to be source based.35 In the sample, 
Johannes Rasch was the first to cast doubt on both lines of reasoning from 
this new perspective. He based his work on a Swiss chronicle whose author, 
Johannes Stumpf, had had access to the chronicles of the monastery of Muri 
in Aargau. That monastery, founded by an early Habsburg, actually held the 
earliest documents that mention the Habsburgs by name. Here, then, we have 
an attempt at reconstructing the Habsburg origin based strictly on sources. 
Rasch discussed a list of older genealogists and historians who had traced 
the Habsburg origin to Aventinus, the Scipiones, Perleones, Japhet and even 
Mars,36 but took issue with their interpretations. His own sources showed 
that the very earliest proto-Habsburg was a man named Gontramus, who 
was mentioned as the grandfather of Rapoto (Radbot), who founded Muri 
Abbey and probably built Habsburg Castle. Although Rasch added that the 
Roman coins that had been found in the vicinity indicated a Roman ancestry 
for Gontramus and Rapoto, he did not engage in speculation and started his 
genealogy with Gontramus.37 Rasch’s scepticism about the Habsburg origin 
myths was in no way inspired by any anti-Habsburg feeling. He dedicated 
his work to Archduke Matthias, who was governor of Further Austria at the 
time – the region closest to the Swiss Confederacy. Instead, Rasch insisted 
that he wanted to add to the Habsburg greatness and to persuade all the 

Figure 2.3  Anician descent.
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‘anti-Austrians, who out of suspicion of the current much-blessed condition 
of the world, plot its downfall’, of the error of their ways.38

Franciscus Guillimannus followed suit. In his work, first published in 
Milan in 1605, he complained about the great number of authors who con-
tradicted each other.39 In the first book of his work, he discussed both the 
Anician and Merovingian origin narratives and rejected both. Instead, he 
presented a pre-Habsburg history consisting of the counts of Windisch, in 
the Aargau region, who later became the counts of Altenburg and then of 
Habsburg. That the town of Windisch was located on the site of an old 
Roman castrum indicated a Roman descent for its counts, but this did not 
persuade Guillimannus to adopt the Anician narrative.40 Guillimannus’s 
Windisch origin would later be copied by Caspar Schoppe for his collection 
of fourteen family trees.41

Dominicus Tschudi, an abbot of Muri Abbey, devoted his entire work to 
the genealogical connection between Gontramus and Albert I, son of King 
Rudolf and first Habsburg duke of Austria. He argued that Lazius was una-
ware of the true origin of the House (absolving him from his myth making), 
while he lauded Guillimannus for exploring the archives of Muri. However, 
Tschudi lamented that Guillimannus wrote his genealogy as if the Habsburgs 
had become extinct, presumably because he had ended his work with King 
Rudolf – Tschudi himself ended his work only one generation later with 
Rudolf’s son Albert, but did add that ‘ab hoc Alberto Cesare deinceps ordine 
recto Duces Austriae descendunt’ (the dukes of Austria are descended from 
this Emperor Albert in a straight line).42 After these preambles, he launched 
into his genealogical narrative, starting with Guntrannus ‘Comes de Alten-
burg cognomento Dives’ (the count of Altenberg, known as the Rich).

The works written by antiquarian genealogists mentioned archaeological 
finds, like Roman coins, which seemed to favour the Anician narrative. While 
neither Rasch nor Guillimannus explicitly championed it, they did hint at 
it. But as Gerard de Roo remarked, the Anician myth implied that Anician 
descendants had come to Austria only two generations before King Rudolf I 
(see Vitignano and Boselli), while the Muri documents allowed for possibly 
as many as ten generations between Rudolf and Gontramus. The Anician 
myth did not square with the sources!

This scholarly discussion found some supporters among more courtly 
authors. Wolfgang Kilian, for instance, explicitly omitted myths about the 
Habsburg origin, whether Roman or Merovingian.43 In 1669, Claude DuBosc 
de Montandré wrote ‘I would like to give you the ancestors of this first for-
tunate one [King Rudolf of Habsburg], but since I cannot give you anything 
but uncertainties and chicanery, I have wanted to spare you the bother of 
reading them and the risk of not being at all satisfied’.44 Many other authors 
ignored the scholars and stuck with the mythical origin narratives, but with-
out taking sides between the Anician and Merovingian schools. This stance is 
illustrated by the captions, now vanished, that were (possibly) placed under 
a series of portraits of the counts of Tyrol in the ‘Spanish Hall’ of Ambrass 
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Castle outside Innsbruck – a project which was fostered by De Roo. They 
read: ‘You, Habsburgs, whether the ancestor of your lineage is Anicius the 
Roman, or whether royal French blood course through your veins, you rule 
beautiful Tyrol.’45 Perhaps these authors realised that the debate could not be 
solved one way or another – after all, no firm basis of evidence existed for 
either mythical interpretation. But we might also consider that both interpre-
tations gave the Habsburgs what they wanted: an old and highly prestigious 
pedigree, either through the Merovingians or the Julians, which placed them 
at the apex of medieval and early modern society.46 Conversely, we might 
argue that the antiquarians’ search for sources on the Habsburg origins only 
resulted in the Habsburg ancestors becoming ever more obscure, making this 
approach less appealing to courtly authors. Surely this fellow Gontramus 
could not compete with the Merovingians! Therefore, it did not really matter 
which mythical origin was propagated. And since Habsburg rulers sponsored 
authors who advocated both versions, they did not take sides either.

Politically, the Merovingian descent narrative caused friction with French 
authors. On the French throne, Merovech’s line had been usurped by the 
Carolingians, who in turn lost their power to the Capetians, from whom the 
Valois and Bourbons were descended. The Habsburg claim to be descendants 
of Merovech through the male line would mean they had a stronger claim 
to the French crown than the current Capetian kings, a conclusion which 
was not lost on the French. Even though the Merovingian descent narrative 
had existed for decades, it was Piespordius’s work from 1617 which drew 
several furious responses from French authors, for instance, an anonymous 
author writing in 1624.47 In this work, the anonymous author criticised fel-
low historians who constructed ancient genealogies for their monarchs with 
no basis in facts or sources (such as charters, funerary monuments, seals and 
coins). The author argued that Habsburg claims to Merovingian descent were 
just that, claims, and he set out to undermine these claims by exposing ten 
‘nullitéz’ in Piespordius’s work. These irregularities ranged from the use of 
modern authors instead of contemporaneous sources (for example a Merov-
ingian-era author like Gregory of Tours never mentioned any Othobertus), 
to lack of agreement among authors (Mennel had already been criticised by 
his competitors/colleagues in Maximilian’s service), to genealogical inaccura-
cies (one of the Merovingian ancestors that Habsburg authors hail as a king 
of Austrasia was in fact a bastard and could thus not have been a king) and 
other inconsistencies (Piespordius mentioned counts of Habsburg long before  
Habsburg Castle was even built). Interestingly, the French ‘Anonymous’ 
traced the Merovingian genealogy of the Habsburgs explicitly back to the 
coterie of authors that worked for Maximilian, confirming the importance of 
their work for later genealogical narratives, while he used Franciscus Guil-
limannus to undermine these arguments.

The Spanish author José Pellicer de Ossau meddled in this discussion, 
suggesting that several Frenchmen had accepted the Habsburg claim. He re-
counted, for instance, that Piespordius’s work had been offered to Louis XIII 
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when he married the Spanish Infanta Anna – and he had presumably ac-
cepted the gift and thus the veracity of its contents. Others simply failed to 
refute it effectively. He mocked Scipion Dupleix, a historiographer of France, 
who sought to undermine the Habsburgs’ Merovingian descent, but who 
could only trace Louis XIII’s ancestry back to Louis VI the Fat – a Capetian 
king – thus tacitly agreeing that the Bourbons had no connections to the 
Merovingians. To drive the point home, Pellicer de Ossau proceeded to pre-
sent a genealogy from Pharamund via the Merovingians to Rudolf I, and then 
onwards to the Habsburgs of his day.48

While Pellicer de Ossau y Tovar and another Spanish author, Lázaro Díaz 
del Valle (1653), championed the Merovingian descent narrative, earlier 
Spanish authors included in the sample of genealogies had actually not en-
gaged in this discussion. After all, the Merovingian myth explains the origins 
of the Habsburgs, whose rule of Spain was not established until 1516. Until 
the early seventeenth century, indigenous genealogical myths concerning the 
medieval kings of Castile were still in vogue and genealogies took the form 
of kings’ lists: connecting, say, Philip IV to his medieval Trastámara prede-
cessors in Castile rather than his Austrian medieval ancestors. Taking this 
perspective, Spanish authors from Alonso de Cartagena (died 1456), Antonio 
Gómez de Montemayor (writing in the last quarter of the sixteenth century) 
and Pedro Salazar de Mendoza (1618) onwards drew a straight line from 
Tubal, a grandson of Noah, to the later Visigoth kings and the houses which 
engaged in the Reconquista. But as Spanish genealogists made the switch 
from kings’ list to patrilineal (Habsburg) lineage, the Tubal narrative became 
unfashionable and Spanish genealogies become ‘habsburgified’.

Of all the authors we have mentioned in this section, only a handful can 
be placed in the entourage of a member of the Habsburg family. Of Lazius, 
Piespordius and Gerard de Roo we know that they held some sort of office 
at a Habsburg court. Lazius was a physician and keeper of Emperor Ferdi-
nand I’s collections and Gerard de Roo was Archduke Ferdinand II of Tyrol’s 
court historian, while Piespordius worked as a secretary in Archduke Albert’s 
German chancellery. Others, such as Péril, can be placed in contact with the 
court. But a large majority of our authors had no such connections. Instead, 
they were local scholars and publicists, driven by scholarly or political inter-
ests. The dynastic origin narrative, which had clearly been important to Em-
peror Maximilian I, was perhaps shaped first by courtly genealogists, but very 
soon became a subject of a debate waged far beyond the court. The debate 
had two dimensions. First, authors had to choose between the Merovingian  
and Anician narratives, but it is clear that many later authors preferred to 
sit on the fence. The need to establish exactly which origin narrative was 
the correct one was not felt so keenly in the seventeenth century. Second, all 
‘myth-based’ narratives came under attack from antiquarian scholars. Al-
though it seems that the myths were convincingly exposed as having no basis 
in the sources, they easily survived this challenge until the end of Habsburg 
rule in Spain. Maybe the Merovingian narrative was just too enticing, or 
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maybe scholarly standards were not deemed applicable when dealing with 
sensitive matters of dynastic honour.49 What is clear, however, is that the 
Habsburgs themselves very soon lost control of the narrative.

Branches: Alberts, Ferdinands and Philips

In modern historiography on early modern Europe, the two-branched nature 
of the House of Austria is taken for granted. After 1521, or perhaps 1558, 
the ‘Spanish Habsburgs’ and the ‘Austrian Habsburgs’ are a given. But as 
this chapter shows, the fact of several branches often posed a challenge to 
genealogists, who favoured straight patrilineal lines and uncomplicated se-
quences of rulers. This section focuses on the representation of the various 
branches of the dynasty, both the medieval Albertine, Leopoldine and Tyro-
lean branches, and the early modern Spanish and Austrian branches. How 
were dynastic dead-ends woven into the genealogical narratives, and how 
was the problem of a two-branched dynasty solved? How was one group 
constructed out of a fragmented collection of ancestors?

As Chapter 1 points out, the thirteenth- and fourteenth-century Habs-
burgs had tried to co-rule their patrimony, although some members of the 
House managed to obtain sole control of their own part of it. In the fifteenth 
century, there were efforts to effectively bar younger brothers from the in-
heritance – in particular, Emperor Frederick III tried to exclude his younger 
brother Archduke Albert VI (1418–63) from their paternal inheritance 
(allowing him to usurp parts of their cousin’s paternal inheritance instead), 
which led to incessant warfare between them. Nevertheless, throughout the 
medieval period, co-rule offered male Habsburgs enough material security 
and status to be able to marry. Only Emperor Rudolf II, who ruled during 
the last decades of the sixteenth century, managed to keep some of his broth-
ers unwed and excluded from the patrimony. What is more, it was not at 
all uncommon for a Habsburg duke or archduke to have around four sons 
who reached adulthood. In this marriage-happy and fecund medieval con-
text, we would expect numerous different branches within the House. That 
did not happen. It was often the case that only one of the Habsburg broth-
ers would produce sons of his own; the others would remain childless or 
have only daughters, who were barred from inheriting the patrimony. Only 
on three occasions did the dynasty split into several branches. Albert  III 
and Leopold III, the two younger sons of Albert II (1298–1358), founded 
a branch each, known as the Albertine and Leopoldine branches after the 
deaths of their elder brothers (Fig. 2.4). The Albertines would be a lean 
branch, producing one adult male per generation (Albert IV, Albert V and 
Ladislaus, who died in his late teens but was king of Hungary from birth). 
Leopold III had four sons. Of the four, only two produced sons, splitting the 
Leopoldine branch into a further two branches, the Leopoldine main branch 
and the first Tyrolean branch (there would be a second Tyrolean branch in 
the seventeenth century). Of the three branches, the Albertines may well be 
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considered the senior branch, while the Tyroleans ranked lowest. Albert IV, 
for instance, was known as Mirabilia Mundi, while his cousin Frederick 
of Tyrol had the questionable nickname ‘with the Empty Pockets’ (mit der 
leeren Tasche). Albert V married into the House of Luxemburg, which sup-
plied the emperors at the time, which led to his own accession to the impe-
rial throne as Albert II (leading to some confusion about this Albert V/II) as 
well as to his succession to the thrones of Hungary and Bohemia. If his son  
Ladislaus had not died as a youth, this branch would undoubtedly have re-
mained the senior branch. However, since both the Albertine and Tyrolean 
branches failed, in 1457 and 1496, respectively, the early modern Habs-
burgs were descendants of the Leopoldine branch.

Since we do not have any fifteenth-century genealogies in our sample, it is 
impossible to say here how contemporaries represented the various fifteenth-
century Habsburg branches. We can only analyse how our sixteenth- and 
seventeenth-century authors dealt with them. The first thing to note is that 
a good many genealogies in our sample did not reference the Albertines and 
Tyroleans at all because they were not interested in the medieval Habsburgs. 
Those focusing on the rulers of Spain or Flanders naturally ignored them, 
since the medieval Habsburgs had no business appearing in such works.50 
Authors only focusing on the patrilineal descent line ignored these collateral 
branches as well.51 Some later authors in our sample chose not to go back 
further in time than c. 1500, starting their genealogies with either Maximil-
ian or his son Philip I, which also excluded the medieval Habsburgs.52

To those genealogists that did include them, the Albertines presented 
something of a problem to be dealt with. Generally, the genealogists in the 

Figure 2.4  Albertine, Leopoldine and Tyrolean branches.
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sample do not like ‘dead-ends’ but rather wish to focus on the uninterrupted 
line of individuals from ancient times to the present – the suggestion of conti-
nuity was after all an important aspect of legitimising strategies. Hieronymus 
Gebweiler, the schoolmaster of Hagenau,53 was the earliest author in our 
sample to deal with the various branches of the dynasty, and in doing so, he 
set a pattern. In both the German and Latin versions of his work he presented 
the medieval Habsburgs essentially as a unilineal dynasty.54 He did this by de-
voting chapters to single Habsburg males and their immediate offspring. Of 
most generations of brothers, only one managed to produce male offspring 
himself, so the next chapter focuses on this one brother and his offspring, 
while the non-reproducing males were discussed as part of their father’s bi-
ography. In this way all males were mentioned, but most were relegated to 
a subordinate position as children of their father, regardless of birth order 
and regardless of their position of power in life. Even an ancestor as prestig-
ious as Frederick the Fair (1289–1330), who was elected anti-king of Ger-
many and whom Habsburg genealogists often proudly counted as Emperor 
Frederick III (and thus the conventionally accepted Emperor Frederick III as 
Frederick IV), was only briefly mentioned in his father’s entry.

Gebweiler decided to deal with the entire Tyrolean line in the same vein. 
Leopold III’s younger son Frederick of Tyrol was not given a chapter of his 
own, even though he had a son Sigismund; instead, both he and his son were 
‘buried’ in the entry on Leopold III. Likewise, Gebweiler discussed Albert III 
and Albert IV in the chapter on their ancestor Albert II. The entire Albertine 
line represented perhaps too many generations to be subsumed into Albert II’s 
chapter, or (more likely), Emperor Albert V/II was rather too prestigious to be 
dealt with in this unceremonious way. However, Albert V/II did not receive 
a chapter of his own either. We find him in a following chapter dedicated to 
his second cousin, Ernest the Iron (the elder son of Leopold III and propaga-
tor of the main line). Here we encounter, after entries on Ernest’s children, 
the children of Albert IV, that is Albert V/II and his sister Anna, followed by 
Albert V’s children, including Ladislaus. Why were they discussed as part of 
Ernest’s entry? There was probably a generation strategy at play: Albert V 
was of the same generation as Ernest’s children (see Fig. 2.4). What we find in 
Gebweiler is a slightly awkward combination of ‘compressing’ collateral lines 
into one entry on their ancestor, while also gathering the members of genera-
tions together under the same heading. Both strategies would be reproduced 
by future genealogists. In any case, by dealing with collateral lines under the 
headings of the dynasty’s main propagators (Albert II, Leopold III and Ernest 
represented the straight line of descent leading to Maximilian I), Gebweiler 
created a unilineal narrative of the Habsburg House.

Robert Péril’s engraving of 1535 adopted Gebweiler’s compression ap-
proach. On Péril’s tree Gebweiler’s chapter protagonists were the ones 
occupying a spot on the main trunk, representing a continuous line from 
Pharamund to Charles V. Other Habsburgs, including their descendants, 
were represented as branches growing out of the trunk. Whereas the trunk 
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Habsburgs were given a portrait in a circular vignette placed on the trunk, the 
others were generally represented only with their name, set in a less ornate 
circle. By stressing the continuous line, the essentially multi-branched nature 
of the house was downplayed. When dealing with the Albertines, Péril’s ap-
proach became somewhat awkward. As explained, Albert II and his descend-
ants formed the senior branch of the Habsburgs as long as it existed, a line 
which, moreover, encompassed no fewer than four generations. Albert V/II 
in particular was problematic because, as emperor and king, he outshone his 
Leopoldine contemporaries in every respect. The paradox of his prestige in 
combination with the subordinate status (in hindsight) of his line was solved 
by Péril by placing Albert in an especially elaborate vignette, which included 
his portrait, but was still next to, rather than on, the main trunk (Fig. 2.5).55

Other sixteenth-century authors used Gebweiler’s strategy of discussing 
the whole Albertine line along with its founder. Girolamo Bossi’s epic poem 
was not as strictly ordered into chapters as Gebweiler’s works. But still, he 
wrote of Leopold III that he ‘must happily continue the main line, but be-
fore I speak of him, I wish to speak of his [Albert II’s] other sons’.56 Among 

Figure 2.5 � Péril, leaf 12. The leaf shows Duke Albert II on the main trunk. Imme-
diately to his left are the small circles depicting Albert III and Albert IV, 
followed by Albert IV’s children Anne and Albert V/II in a vignette which 
is almost as elaborate as the trunk vignettes. 

Source: Rijksmuseum, Amsterdam.
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these other sons were the childless Rudolf and Frederick, who were dealt 
with swiftly: ‘See here Rudolf, and see here Frederick, both ended their days 
without any offspring’57 Albert III, Albert IV and Albert V, however, brought 
great honour to the Habsburgs, as Bossi recounts in a number of strophes, 
after which he resumes his account of the ‘linea dritta’ (straight line). Bossi al-
lowed for a second digression to account for the Tyrolean line, after which he 
again returned to the ‘main’ line represented by Ernest the Iron, ‘who will be 
the greatest son of Leopold, and his successor’.58 This meandering narrative 
thus also managed to focus attention on the main line by dealing with dead-
end lines all at once and clearly identifying the propagators of the main line.

Wolfgang Lazius seems to have taken the generation approach, group-
ing together individuals belonging to the same generation regardless of the 
branch they represented. When he discussed the sons of Albert II, he men-
tioned Albert III briefly but skipped over the rest of the Albertines to continue 
with Leopold III, Albert II’s other son. He dealt with Leopold’s sons William, 
Leopold and Frederick under their father’s heading, while for the moment 
omitting Ernest, the son who would continue the Leopoldine line. Frederick 
was the son who was given Tyrol. He and his son Sigismund were also in-
cluded in Leopold’s chapter. So far, it seemed thus that all the childless sons 
of Leopold were dealt with as part of Leopold’s biography, as well as the 
entire, compressed Tyrolean branch. All the dead-ends had been mopped up. 
The next chapter does not discuss Ernest, the propagator of the line; instead, 
Lazius chose to jump to his cousin Albert IV and his descendants, the Alber-
tines, first, compressing the rest of the Albertine branch into this chapter. He 
focused on Albert V/II and particularly on the latter’s son Ladislaus, the last 
of this line, and the civil wars that wrecked the house of Austria during his 
minority. After having discussed the Albertine branch, Lazius finally turned 
to Ernest. In this rendering of the various branches, Lazius thus used both 
the compression and generational strategies: he compressed the Tyrolean line 
and parts of the Albertine lines. But if we look at the chapter protagonists, 
we see that he first discussed the brothers Albert III and Leopold III, and then 
the cousins Albert IV and Ernest. Clearly, the Albertine line was considered 
to include too many generations to simply compress into one line, and neither 
would that have done justice to the glories of Albert V/II, or the eventful – if 
short – life of Ladislaus. The Tyrolean line, on the other hand, consisting only 
of Frederick IV and his son Sigismund, neither of whom was particularly dis-
tinguished, was summarised in one paragraph. Gebweiler had set a pattern 
which we encounter again in the work of Sansovino and Rasch, and even in 
the sequence of engravings produced by Wolfgang Kilian.59

Two texts in our sample depart most notably from Gebweiler’s model. 
The first was a work by Markus Henning about the counts of Tyrol in 1599. 
The body of the work consists of brief biographies followed by an engraving 
of each of the counts, from Albert, a pre-Habsburg count who was recorded 
as number 1, to Emperor Rudolf II in Henning’s present day.60 Focused as 
it was on Tyrol, the Tyrolean branch was for once not half-overlooked, but 
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rather the main line in this work: Leopold IV was succeeded not by Ernest 
but by Frederick IV (of the Empty Pockets). Ruling counts as well as regents 
for underage successors were included – which meant that characters like 
Archduke Ernest and Emperor Frederick III were mentioned as short-term 
rulers for an underage brother (Ernest for Frederick of the Empty Pockets) 
or cousin (Emperor Frederick III for Sigismund). If the Tyroleans were finally 
given their due in this work, the superiority of the Albertines was also made 
clear, nevertheless. Between count number 16, Ernest the Iron (who only held 
the county for a year or so) and count number 17, Frederick IV, we find an 
unnumbered ‘count’ who is none other than Albert V/II. He was given an 
engraving and biography, which said that ‘he possessed neither Tyrol, nor 
any other provinces of his lineage, except Austria’.61 Clearly, Albert V is in-
cluded as one of the most prestigious Habsburgs, but not placed in the order 
of Tyrolean counts; neither were any other members of the Albertine line 
mentioned. Albert V/II had become a stand-alone star ancestor.

Another slightly deviating work is that of Caspar Schoppe (1619). In this 
work, he presented a collection of family trees that showed many different 
descent lines of the seventeenth-century Habsburgs – among them their de-
scent from Hugh Capet and the Merovingians (through the Burgundian in-
heritance, not through ‘Count Othobertus’), as well as from the royal lines 
of the Norman kings of England, Austria, Castile and Aragon. In the Aus-
trian line of descent, the Albertines were visualised as a collateral branch of 
the family. The Tyrolean branch, on the other hand, was omitted entirely. 
The goal here appears not to have been to give a complete overview of the 
medieval Habsburgs, but rather to include those members of the dynasty 
that had been most prestigious. This idea is further corroborated by the fact 
that Schoppe also included Frederick the Fair, the sonless Habsburg anti-king 
whom many genealogists presented as Emperor Frederick III. The texts of 
Henning and Schoppe show how star ancestors could be remembered cen-
turies after their death, but how lesser dead-ends would be included only in 
those works that somehow focused on them: if the office they had held was 
the central subject of the genealogical work. Somehow, the Habsburg House 
with all its independently governing males was squeezed more and more into 
a unilineal narrative.

Then, of course, there were those authors who simply could not keep track 
of the sequence of Alberts. Georg-Johann Haubenreich von Hirschhorn, an 
extraordinarily sloppy author, normally started every little biography by say-
ing whose son or brother his subject was, but he does not do so in the case of 
either Albert IV or Albert V/II,62 indicating that he was not sure. He clearly 
mixed up Albert IV and Albert V/II, both of whom he described as married 
to Elisabeth of Bohemia (only Albert V/II’s spouse was called so). He also 
followed Albert IV’s biography by those of George and Ladislaus, who were 
actually sons of Albert V.63 The Neapolitan author Cornelio Vitignano was 
equally confused about the Alberts. He focused strictly on the patriline lead-
ing up to Philip III (1599). Naturally, this led him to ignore the Albertines, 
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who were not patrilineal ancestors of this king. However, he did manage to 
incorporate an emperor Albert II, whom he presented as a son of Albert I and 
father of Leopold III. Clearly, he was confusing Archduke Albert II and Arch-
duke Albert V/Emperor Albert II, which conveniently allowed for a unilineal 
representation of the house while still including the star ancestor.64

But more and more, we see that the Albertines, as well as the Tyrolean line, 
disappear from the genealogies as the narratives became more patrilineal.65 
As time went on, the medieval Habsburgs remained of course historical an-
cestors, but they lost relevance relative to the more recent ancestors. All those 
Habsburgs who were not connected directly to the present-day Habsburgs 
tended to fade away in the mists of time, no matter how important they had 
been in their own day. The Albertines managed to hold on to a place in the 
narratives a little longer than the Tyroleans, no doubt because of the glory 
and prestige of Albert V/II. But with the steady flow of emperors produced 
by the Habsburg dynasty since (the conventional) Frederick III, there was less 
and less need to highlight the medieval emperors. The Tyroleans lacked such 
a member and were forgotten even more quickly.

There is even a visible trend to forget all the medieval Habsburgs. From 
around the 1640s, we can see several works that do not go very far back in 
history. Wurffbain (1645) only takes his various genealogies back five gen-
erations. His work constituted essentially an Ahnenprobe of the Emperor, 
the king of Spain, other kings in Europe and the temporal electors of the 
Empire. An Ahnenprobe was a proof of nobility for, in this case, all sixteen 
great-great-grandparents, which was often a requirement for noble office in 
the Empire.66 For the Habsburgs, this meant that the descent of Ferdinand III 
and Philip IV was traced back to the generation of Philip I the Handsome. 
Wurffbain may have stopped with Philip I because the Ahnenprobe did not 
require any more generations, but Philipp Killian also stopped at him in his 
work, written in honour of the marriage between Leopold I and Margaret of 
Spain (1666). In this case, the objective was no doubt to trace the lineages of 
both the bride and groom back to their most recent common, male ancestor: 
Philip. Both works accorded the status of Spitzenahne to Philip the Hand-
some, even though this prince, who died young, can hardly be considered a 
star ancestor. His only merit was to have been the father of both Charles V 
and Ferdinand I, but precisely because of this he became of paramount im-
portance for the conceptualisation of the Habsburgs as a two-branched dy-
nasty in the sixteenth and seventeenth centuries.

The medieval branches had disappeared through extinction. During the 
early modern period, two new branches appeared: the well-known Span-
ish and Austrian branches, the latter of which divided into several branches 
again over two periods in the sixteenth and seventeenth centuries (Fig. 2.6). 
These branches offered new challenges, since they existed at the time our 
genealogists wrote their texts and thus could not that easily be hidden from 
view. The earliest genealogies in the sample tend to position Charles V and 
Ferdinand I sequentially, granting precedence to one of the brothers and not 
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yet representing them as the founders of two more or less equal branches. 
Which brother was granted precedence depended on the vantage point of the 
genealogist: Gebweiler, who had dealt with members of the same generation 
under the same heading, abandoned this structure in the last chapters of his 
work, where he discussed the two brothers each in their own chapter.67 In 
this sequence, Ferdinand, the younger brother, took up the final chapter and 
is thus presented as the culmination of the house. This was undoubtedly be-
cause the author was based in Further Austria, where Ferdinand ruled from 
1522, and Gebweiler dedicated the work to Ferdinand. There, Ferdinand was 
Charles’s successor, rightfully taking up the last pages of the genealogy. In the 
two 1535 family trees (Péril and Anonymous), Ferdinand and his children 
were relegated to a distinctly secondary position, like the one occupied by the 
Albertine and Tyrolean branches. He was not integrated into the trunk of the 
tree, but pictured in a large vignette with his portrait. This signalled that his 
branch was considered subordinate to his elder brother’s, which continued 
on the trunk. That was the Netherlandish view. Wolfgang Lazius, writing in 
Austria, portrayed his patron Ferdinand as Charles’s successor, but then as 
emperor, visually depicting the younger brother and his living offspring as the 
final stage of the family tree.68 These authors presented the brothers either in 
sequence – with Ferdinand as the heir to Charles – or as differently ranked 
family members, with Charles outranking his brother.

The Italian author Paolo Morigi avoided the issues of the hierarchy be-
tween the brothers and their branches by presenting a decidedly hotch-
potch version of the Habsburg dynasty, barely distinguishing between the 
two lines at all. He dedicated his work to Empress Maria. As a daughter 

Figure 2.6  Spanish, Austrian and Styrian branches.
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of Charles V, sister of Philip II, spouse of the Austrian Habsburg Emperor 
Maximilian II and mother of numerous Austrian Habsburgs, two of whom 
married into the Spanish line again (which made her both aunt and grand-
mother to Philip III), she virtually embodied the connection between the 
two branches. Morigi’s aim was to laud the Catholicism of the Habs-
burgs. Although such religious narratives were obviously connected to the 
Habsburgs’ legitimacy as rulers, his primary focus was not on the suc-
cession to the thrones of Spain or the Holy Roman Empire. Rather, he 
expressly wished to include the family’s pious women, whether they had 
married or not, to extoll their virtue and thus to legitimise the position of 
the entire dynasty at the apex of European Catholic society. Since piety 
takes pride of place instead of succession, no specific order can be found 
in the description of sixteenth-century Habsburgs. Morigi jumps from 
Charles V to his youngest daughter Juana and then to his illegitimate chil-
dren (who were not normally included in genealogical narratives), onwards 
to Charles’s brother Ferdinand, Ferdinand’s married daughters and then to 
the houses of Bavaria and Lorraine (connected to the Habsburgs through 
marriage), and back to Ferdinand’s daughters who became nuns. Then he 
discusses Ferdinand’s sons, including Emperor Maximilian II, his wife Ma-
ria and two of their daughters (Margaret and Elisabeth, who had both 
become nuns), their son Emperor Rudolf II and then finally Charles V’s 
son Philip II. Even if we account for his focus on piety rather than succes-
sion, it is still quite striking that Morigi did not even try to present the two 
branches as separated or ordered hierarchically.

But as the generations wore on and the branches became more distinct, 
genealogists found a way to present the two branches as basically equal. 
The Spanish author Lázaro Díaz del Valle who gave the Austrian Emperor 
Ferdinand III pride of place offered an interesting model.69 Starting with 
Adam, he presented a direct line running from him to the seventeenth-century 
Habsburg rulers of Spain and the Empire. Each lineal ancestor was placed in 
a circle with a short biography, leaving aside other descendants, while each 
generation was numbered. After generation 119 (Philip the Handsome), the 
genealogy split into two lines, one descended from Charles and the other from 
Ferdinand (both generation 120). From then on, the pages in the manuscript 
are split horizontally: the upper half is dedicated to the Spanish line, while the 
lower half discusses the Austrians. Generation 121 is represented by Philip II 
(Charles V’s eldest son) and Charles of Styria, who was Ferdinand’s third son, 
but only his line would survive into the seventeenth century. In generation 
123 we find Philip IV and Ferdinand III, while generation 124, which should 
present their successors, is shown as empty and merely expresses the hope of 
succession. The text mentions that Ferdinand III (generation 123) had mar-
ried the Infanta Maria of Spain and that he had two sons and a daughter, 
who was ‘now’ queen of Spain (Mariana; the marriage took place in 1649). 
Not only does Díaz del Valle present the two branches as virtually equal 
(one could see the Spanish branch, placed in the upper half of the page, as 
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outranking the Austrian branch), yet strictly separated, but he ends his work 
with a sort of unification of the branches around 1650.70

Díaz del Valle’s work was undoubtedly connected to the marriage between 
Philip IV of Spain and the Austrian Archduchess Mariana in 1649. Such mar-
riages tended to inspire works that focused on the relationship between the 
branches. The 1649 marriage also sparked the work of Ortensio Palavicino, 
while the marriage between Emperor Leopold I and Infanta Margarita led to 
Philipp Kilian’s work of 1666.71 In these works, Philip the Handsome gained 
relevance as a ‘second founder’ of the House of Austria, mainly because he 
was the last male-line ancestor that both branches had in common.

The two branches were sometimes nicknamed the Philips and the Ferdi-
nands. For the Spanish branch this makes sense, seeing that Charles V was 
succeeded by three Philips. For the Austrians this implies a link between 
Ferdinand II and his grandfather Ferdinand I, which was constructed as 
rather more direct than it had been in reality, omitting as it did Maximilian II, 
Rudolf II and Matthias. Here we see, in fact, a certain tension between a 
lineage-based narrative (Ferdinand II as son of Charles of Styria and grandson 
of Ferdinand I) and a list of emperors (Ferdinand as successor to Matthias, 
Rudolf, Maximilian II and Ferdinand I).72

This new way of presenting the two branches as equal and separate, yet 
united, also led to a novel way of depicting the old Albertines. Palavicino pre-
sented a number of descent lines of Mariana of Austria, for instance, through 
the French kings since Pharamund, and various imperial and royal lines. 
These lines are strictly patrilineal except where the descent line ran through 
a woman, which means all collateral lines are omitted. However, he ends the 
work with a list of Habsburg emperors, starting with Rudolf I and ending 
with Mariana’s father Ferdinand III. In this list, Albert V/II finds a place as 
well, of course, as do other emperors who were not Mariana’s direct ances-
tors (Maximilian II, Rudolf II and Matthias). Interestingly, Palavicino also 
added little sections about the genealogical connections between the emper-
ors, who were not always fathers and sons, and in this light, the connection 
between Albert V/II and his successor Frederick III is of interest. They were 
third cousins. For the first time in our written genealogical narratives, we see 
the Albertines and Leopoldines visualised next to each other (Fig. 2.7).

We normally only see this representation for the early modern branches, 
the Philips and the Ferdinands (see next page), and Palavicino’s rendering 
was undoubtedly influenced by the fact that he rendered the Philips and 
Ferdinands in exactly this way many times in his work. But it is still striking. 
Listing the Albertines on the left, he even seems to accord them the superior-
ity over the younger line which was their due, but which they never received 
from other authors, who generally depicted Leopold III and his descendants 
as the main line or trunk. Finally, it seems, the issue of the branches had been 
solved.

All in all, it is quite clear that the multi-branched nature of the medieval 
Habsburg dynasty was problematic for genealogists, and so were the two 
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branches of the early modern period until authors invented the parallel ge-
nealogy which we see in later works. In hindsight, genealogists were keen to 
present a patrilineal and unilineal dynasty, compressing collateral branches 
and mopping up dead-ends – such efforts were also required to represent 
the Austrian Habsburgs, split into three lines after Ferdinand I, as a uni-
lineal sequence of ‘Ferdinands’. These constructions have undoubtedly had 
a great impact on modern historians’ views on dynasties, but the difficulty 

Figure 2.7 � Palavicino’s tree of the Habsburgs, unilineal until Philip I and then the 
two branches. 

Source: Palavicino, pp. 21–22.
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genealogists had in constructing them shows that they hardly conformed to 
historical reality. The patrilineal constructions really are trying to shape a 
group of people into something they had never been in practice. This is high-
lighted in the next section, when we discuss how genealogists dealt with con-
temporaneous family members. Once genealogists were confronted with the 
current reality of dynasties – for instance, that the Emperor had a brother, 
that the King’s sororal nephew was a local governor or that his sister wielded 
power from her monastery – the construction of the dynastic group changed 
dramatically.

Local Dynastic Narratives and Local Dynastic Memory

Among the most interesting sections of genealogies is the representation 
of the current generation of the family. The mythical and historical ances-
tors were increasingly presented in a patrilineal fashion, excluding younger 
siblings and often women. Bastards were normally not included at all, al-
though the Flemish genealogies were rather generous towards them. Cog-
natic relatives – descendants from the family’s women – were included only 
very rarely. But all this changes when we look at the current generation. 
The inclusion of relatives in the current generation was less bound by the 
standard rules of genealogy, and there was more room for local influence. 
Two elements come into play when we focus on these youngest generations. 
Firstly, unlike in the discussions on the dynasty’s origins, authors did not 
have any recourse to previous authors. When reconstructing the current 
family members, often including young children, authors could not rely on 
previous genealogies since older authors had not had a chance to include the 
newly born yet, and they thus had to rely instead on their own knowledge. 
This knowledge was often locality bound and could be quite faulty when 
discussing contemporaneous Habsburgs in other regions of Europe. A prime 
example is offered by Abraham Hossmann, who discussed the marriage be-
tween Infanta Isabella and Archduke Albert, in reality a childless pair, who 
ruled the Low Countries, and their ‘three sons’!73 This means that authors 
are particularly prone to making mistakes when discussing current fam-
ily members. Secondly, in presentations of the current dynasty, individuals 
who would normally not be a part of genealogical narratives but still had 
an important role to play in governing the monarchy (mainly bastards and 
cognatic relatives) often found themselves included, but only if they were 
(or had been) prominent enough to gain a place in (local) dynastic memory. 
It seems that dynastic narratives were slightly less malleable when discuss-
ing the current generations, since they involved people who were either still 
alive or part of living memory – making it harder to omit individuals. That 
means that the representation of current generations in genealogies was 
more strongly rooted in physical bodies than the representation of previous 
generations (let alone mythical ancestors). These two aspects of the con-
temporary parts of genealogies – possible knowledge gaps and dealing with 
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biological realities – highlight the role of local knowledge and memory in 
the formation of the dynastic group.

Robert Péril’s engraving of the Habsburg family tree was dated 1535. 
Many aspects of this genealogy betray the artist’s local affinities. At the time 
the family tree was produced, Charles V, his siblings and their children formed 
the current generations of the lineage. Charles’s aunt Margaret of Austria had 
died rather recently, in 1530. Thrice widowed but childless, this lady played 
no role of significance in any genealogy in the sample, but Péril treated her 
much like he had treated Albert V/II: she was pictured not on the trunk but 
alongside it, in an ornate circle with a text vignette which was larger than 
any other in the engraving – it held more text than the vignette of her brother 
Philip I the Handsome, in a telling contrast to his favourable treatment in the 
seventeenth century. To Péril, Margaret was clearly of utmost significance as 
the previous governor of his natal Low Countries. She was the predecessor 
of his patron Mary of Hungary and may well have been the original commis-
sioner of his work.

Péril honoured all the sisters of Charles and Ferdinand with portraits in 
circles. Three of the four sisters – Eleanor, Mary and Elisabeth, but not Cath-
erine – had grown up in the Low Countries and were thus well known to 
him. At the time of writing, Mary was serving as governor. Elisabeth had 
married the Danish King Christian II, who had been deposed, after which 
the family went into exile in the Netherlands, where she died in 1525. Her 
children grew up in the Low Countries – her son Hans died in 1532, and her 
two daughters, Dorothea and Christina, had only just left Brussels for their 
marriages, in 1534 and 1535, respectively (more on them in Chapter 4). Péril 
would inevitably have known about them. Elisabeth was pictured like her 
sisters, in a circle with a block of text to her right. The circle was placed next 
to the trunk, which displayed the name of her brother Charles. Apart from 
a circle with her portrait, she was also given a block of text mentioning her 
marriage to Christian II – but without mentioning his deposition and their 
exile – and that she had had three children with him. Of Hans it was said that 
‘he died while he travelled with his uncle Emperor Charles V to go against the 
Turks’.74 It also mentioned Dorothea’s marriage to Count Palatine Frederick 
and Christina’s marriage to the duke of Milan (the engraving was finished 
before her marriage to the duke of Lorraine) and that Elisabeth was buried in 
St Peter’s Church in Ghent. Although this may not seem to be all that much, 
Gebweiler’s practically contemporaneous German genealogy, first produced 
in around 1527, mentioned Elisabeth and her marriage, but had nothing to 
say about her children. It is surely not a coincidence that a Netherlandish 
engraving should pay more attention to the children than a German text, 
considering that the children had grown up there. In later texts, the Danish 
branch received even more limited attention. We do not find references to the 
children in any other genealogies of the House of Habsburg. That serves to 
show how patrilineality determined the way royal houses were generally con-
ceptualised. This usually left room for the dynasty’s women, but only rarely 
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for their children – except if those children had a special connection to the 
author of the work. Hans, Dorothea and Christina were real-life Habsburgs 
for an author like Péril, but not for any of the other authors in our sample.

Charles’s youngest sister Catherine had been born and raised in Castile, 
sharing the captivity of her mother Joanna ‘the Mad’ and marrying the king 
of Portugal. Péril mentioned her marriage, as well as some of her children: 
‘Emanuel, Philippe, Marie, Ysabeau’.75 In including Philippe, Péril showed 
himself to be quite up to date, since this prince was born in 1533. But in 
including Ysabeau, he showed himself misinformed, since this infanta had 
died already (other children who had already died were not included). This 
sketchy grasp of young children who were born far away is also on display 
in Péril’s treatment of Charles V’s own legitimate children, who were born in 
Castile. Here he mentioned two sons, Philip and Ferdinand, and two daugh-
ters, Ysabeau and Jehanne.76 But there had never been an Ysabeau (Isabella/
Elisabeth). The children’s mother was called Isabella, but the eldest daughter 
was named Maria. That news had clearly not really reached the engraver.77 
Although Charles’s illegitimate daughter Margaret, who had also grown up 
in the Low Countries, was already in her early teens and engaged, as Marga-
ret of Austria, to the duke of Florence, she was omitted from the tree.

Péril’s depiction of Charles V’s children illustrates the fact that most of 
those children grew up in Spain and were thus much farther from him ge-
ographically. Yet even when dealing with them we can see Péril’s Nether-
landish bias. For instance, he mentioned Ferdinand as Charles’s second son 
(a boy who had already died by the time of writing, as Péril acknowledged) 
and styled him ‘conte de Flandres’. Charles’s eldest son Philip was styled ‘roy 
Despaigne’. Both titles were still firmly held by Charles himself, so instead 
of a reality, they reflected ideas about the future succession: Péril clearly ex-
pected a second son of Charles to inherit the Low Countries, a hope that had 
been pointedly shared by Margaret of Austria.78

A generation later, when the Viennese humanist Lazius published his ge-
nealogy and family tree, we see other echoes of the generation of Charles V. 
The final sheet of the family tree presents the latest generations of the fam-
ily, starting with Philip the Handsome and Joanna of Castile, followed by 
their children and grandchildren. The ruling couples Philip and Joanna, 
Charles and Isabella of Portugal, and Ferdinand and Anna of Hungary are 
depicted in a vertical sequence from the bottom of the page up, supported 
by a trunk. Their children feature on branches extending to the left and right 
of the trunk. All Philip and Joanna’s daughters are pictured to the right of 
their parents as crowned queens – Elisabeth, Mary, Eleanor and Catherine. 
While three of these queens had children, only Elisabeth is accompanied by 
two of hers: Dorothea and Christina. Her son Hans is absent, as are Cath-
erine’s Portuguese children (who were all dead in 1564, but her grandson 
Sebastian was alive) and Eleanor’s daughter, who was still alive. Here, we 
may detect Lazius’s German bias: Dorothea was the Electress Palatine, clearly 
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a well-known figure in the Empire. Christina is evidently less known, she 
features as ‘N. Dorotheae soror’ (‘unknown sister of Dorothea’), duchess 
of Lorraine – neatly highlighting Lorraine’s liminal position in the Empire 
(Fig. 2.8).79

The influence of locality on the position of collateral relatives can also be 
shown by focusing on some cognatic family members who we know played 
an important role in Habsburg rule, like Filiberto of Savoy (1588–1624), 
a grandson of Philip II, younger son of Philip’s daughter Catalina and the 
duke of Savoy (for his involvement in rule, see Chapter 6).80 As a junior Sa-
voyard prince, we would not expect Filiberto to show up in many Habsburg 
genealogies, yet he does. Three authors mention him:81 Paolo Morigi (1593), 
whose work was published when Filiberto was five years old; Pedro Salazar 
de Mendoza, whose work saw the light in 1618 when Filiberto was arguably 
at the height of his power; and lastly José Pellicer de Ossau y Tovar, writing 
in 1641, when Filiberto had been dead for almost twenty years.82 None of 
the descriptions is very elaborate. Morigi and Salazar de Mendoza merely 
mentioned him as one of the children of Catalina and the duke of Savoy. Pel-
licer de Ossau y Tovar mentions Filiberto’s offices in the Spanish monarchy, 
as well as those of his siblings Marguerite and Tommaso (both still alive at 
the time of writing). They are not explicitly called members of the House, but 
their inclusion indicates that Catalina’s children (and the children of other 
Habsburg women) were worth mentioning. These mentions may not seem 

Figure 2.8 � Lazius’s family tree depicting Dorothea and Christina of Denmark. Wolf-
gang Lazius, Arbor genealogiae Austriacae (Vienna, s.a.). ÖNB/Wien.
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to amount to much, but in fact it is more than what most collateral relatives 
could hope for. Péril, who mentioned the Danish Habsburgs, and these three 
authors are in a minority. In Filiberto’s case, the authors’ local roots must 
also have played a role: two were Spanish and one Italian, which were the ar-
eas where Filiberto was most visible and best known as a Habsburg nephew. 
As a Savoyard prince, an admiral of the Mediterranean fleet and later also 
viceroy of Sicily, Italy and Spain was where he operated and thus was best 
remembered.

We should add here that Salazar de Mendoza was very generous to col-
lateral offspring. He dwelt on the grandchildren of Charles V through his 
daughter Maria at length as well – somewhat more extensively than Filiberto 
and his siblings. Of course, Maria had married her cousin Maximilian of 
Austria so these children were also Habsburgs. But more important was the 
fact that many of them would go on to spend time in Spain, where they 
became well known to courtiers and authors alike. These were the children 
Salazar y Mendoza mentioned most prominently: the eldest daughter Anna, 
who would marry her uncle Philip II; the two elder sons Rudolf and Ernest, 
who spent time at Philip’s court in their youth, and particularly their younger 
brother Albert, who merits quite a long entry which includes his education in 
Spain, the many offices he held in his uncle’s service and his marriage to his 
Spanish cousin Isabella.83 In prioritising those of Maria’s children who had 
a clear connection to the Spanish court, Salazar y Mendoza illustrates again 
how the author’s locality and his personal knowledge, or the local memory, 
influenced the way in which he portrayed the dynasty and allowed family 
members who might not normally warrant a place in genealogical narratives 
to be included.

Where the author was based thus somehow shaped his view of who were 
part of the dynasty. Such local bias might not only benefit collateral relatives 
but also illegitimate ones, who normally had no place in genealogies at all. 
Margaret of Parma, Charles V’s illegitimate child, is a case in point. She had 
been omitted from Péril’s work, which is not likely to have been because the 
author did not know her. Her illegitimate birth likely played a larger part. 
She was, however, not overlooked at all by Girolamo Bossi (1560), who 
displayed his own local ‘interpretation’ of the dynasty. When he discussed 
the current Habsburgs, he stated that Charles V had two daughters, Maria 
and Margaret. Although both were indeed Charles’s daughters, there was a 
third, Juana, who was a legitimate child. Bossi did not merely mix up the 
names of Margaret and Juana, because he described Margaret as married 
to Ottavio Farnese, her second husband and current husband at the time of 
writing, thus identifying her quite accurately. He simply omitted Juana com-
pletely. Locality can explain it. Between 1533 and 1556 Margaret lived in 
Italy, first as fiancée of the duke of Florence, later as his wife and widow, and 
even later as spouse of Ottavio Farnese, who was a scion of a powerful papal 
family. Margaret lived mostly in Rome, in a palazzo that is still named after 
her (Palazzo Madama), and may be said to have represented the Habsburg 
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House there. Her inclusion at the expense of her half-sister Juana, who never 
left the Iberian Peninsula, is most likely a reflection of Bossi’s local back-
ground, since he must have been very well aware of Margaret’s prominent 
position, in spite of her illegitimate birth, but may not have known much 
about Juana.

That Bossi was motivated by an Italian bias can be corroborated by other 
sections of his work. In canto 5 he sings the praises of Philip II and pre-
dicts that he will dominate the entire world, with the aid of his lieutenants. 
These lieutenants are a whole list of Italian noblemen and condottieri – like 
his cousin Emmanuel Philibert of Savoy (‘del Rè cugino’, grandfather of the 
Filiberto we mentioned earlier); Francesco Ferdinando d’Ávalos d’Aquino, 
marquis del Vasto then governor of Milan; Cesare and Andrea Gonzaga, who 
were commanders of Spanish troops; and Gianbattista Castaldi, a condot-
tiere, member of the government of Milan and captain general of Milan.84 
Surely it is no coincidence that they were all mainly active in northern Italy, 
near Milan, Bossi’s hometown, which, incidentally, bordered on the duchy of 
Parma, where Margaret was duchess. Salazar y Mendoza, too, included Mar-
garet, although he gave even more attention to Charles’s other illegitimate 
child, Don Juan, and to Margaret’s son Alessandro, who seem to have been 
more important to the author.85

But local knowledge may not have been the only reason for such variations 
in dynastic narratives. Another author who sketched a very particular picture 
of the present-day house of Austria was Caspar Schoppe, who published a 
collection of fourteen family trees to show the various lines of descent of the 
Habsburgs. He included in the first one (the Windisch-Laufenburg-Habsburg 
line, mentioned earlier) not only Philip IV as a member of the thirty-first 
generation, but also Duke Ranuccio Farnese of Parma – great-grandson of 
Charles V through Margaret of Parma – and on the Austrian side, not only 
Rudolf II, Matthias and Ferdinand (II), but also Duke Ferdinand of Mantua, 
great-grandson of Ferdinand I through his daughter Eleanor.86 This is a rather 
puzzling selection. Why would Vittorio Amedeo of Savoy, a grandson of 
Philip II and also a member of generation 31, be excluded? Or any of the 
other princely grandsons of Ferdinand I, like the duke of Bavaria? Why would 
the offspring of an illegitimate daughter be preferred over those of legitimate 
daughters? Why would daughters (Margaret and Eleanor) be preferred over 
sons in the first place? It is all rather striking. The solution, however, lies in 
the biography of the author. Schoppe was a convert to Catholicism and had 
worked directly for the future Emperor Ferdinand II. While travelling in Italy 
on Ferdinand’s business, he received a pension from Duke Ferdinand II of 
Mantua – which he presumably ‘repaid’ by including him in the Habsburg 
family tree. Local patronage thus also guided the inclusion and exclusion of 
family members.

When we take a look at how genealogists dealt with the current genera-
tions of the dynasty – individuals who were still present in living memory – a 
very different picture emerges to the one we sketched in the previous section. 



80  The Trunk and the Foliage

Multiple branches, cognatic offspring and even extramarital family members 
were just as much part of the narrative as the patrilineal line of Habsburgs. 
In contemporary contexts, dynasties were horizontal family groups – in stark 
contrast to historical contexts, in which genealogist went to a great deal of 
trouble to present a unilineal and patrilineal narrative. We might conclude 
that such patrilineal genealogies are quite simply constructions after the fact 
and do not reflect what we might call everyday dynastic realities.

Conclusion

Taken together, this chapter has shown that the Spanish Habsburg dynasty 
itself was hardly in control of its ‘image’. What we are analysing when we 
analyse genealogies is, of course, the genealogists’ view. What their narra-
tives tell us is that the patrilineal and unilineal dynasty is a construction 
that required considerable intellectual gymnastics. It served to make sense of 
the historical dynasty, narrowing it down considerably. Genealogists had a 
more inclusive and diverse view of the current and local incarnations of the 
dynasty. The dynasty was not the same in Milan as it was in Castile or the 
Low Countries, but everywhere, the view of the family in living memory was 
much broader than only that line of males who had sons and heirs. Taken 
together, the dynasty was shaped as a long historical trunk with most of its 
twigs removed that blossomed into rich and varying foliage once we arrive at 
the present day. Dynastic histories may have been unilineal and patrilineal, 
but the everyday reality of dynasties was that they were, and were seen as, 
horizontal groups, not vertical ones.

The construction of a dynastic group in genealogies was in fact more than 
just a literary construction – although much of it was just that. Those ille-
gitimate, cognatic and female relatives who came to the fore as part of the 
current generation were individuals who might not have had any rights to 
the succession, but still played an active part in governing the monarchy: 
they were governors, admirals and viceroys. Their inclusion in genealogies 
is an immediate result of their role in the ruling family group, which will 
be analysed in greater detail in Chapters 4–7. The patrilineally constructed 
slimmed-down, vertical ‘trunk’ reflected the channel through which rights 
and entitlements had been passed down to the present-day Habsburg rulers, 
while the multifaceted, horizontal foliage represented all those individuals 
who had a stake in upholding and exercising those rights.
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The previous chapter discusses how the House of Austria was constructed 
as a group in genealogical narratives. One of our main conclusions was that 
family members themselves hardly had any control over such narratives. Only 
rarely did members of the House commission genealogies. Instead, all man-
ner of scholars, local authors and commercial hacks shaped them. Another 
conclusion was that genealogies tended to reflect the ruling family group 
when dealing with the current generations of the dynasty, featuring widowed 
aunts, illegitimate brothers, sororal nephews and others who did not have a 
place in patrilineal narratives but were remembered locally as governors. We 
might say that the representation of recent Habsburgs was more firmly based 
upon biological hardware than more historical parts of genealogies, which 
were relatively malleable literary constructions including fictional and mythi-
cal ancestors. This chapter focuses on burial sites, a vehicle for dynastic con-
struction that was even more expressly rooted in physical bodies: thousands 
of genealogies can be written about one family, but each member can only 
be buried in one spot, and it was the family itself that decided where to bury 
its members.1 Dynastic burial sites thus present much more unambiguous 
insights into the construction of the dynasty by the dynasty.

Many royal burial sites are approached from an art historical perspective – 
more attention is usually paid to tombs and their cultural trimmings than 
to underground crypts and their inhabitants.2 Since royal monuments often 
exemplify a high artistic standard, and legitimacy, power and dynasty were 
represented through sculpture, heraldry and architecture, this makes perfect 
sense. Indeed, a person’s remains need not even rest within a specific monu-
ment for the monument to proclaim her status in life. Among the best-known 
Habsburg monuments is Maximilian I’s cenotaph in Innsbruck, but as the 
term ‘cenotaph’ suggests, his remains do not rest there. Another way of look-
ing at burials is through funerary ceremonies – great occasions of ‘theatre of 
state’ which combined religious and dynastic markings of status and power 
to both local subjects and the wider society of princes.3

This chapter takes a different approach. Rather than analysing the exter-
nal features of monuments or funerary rituals, the chapter focuses on the de-
mographics of burial sites: who was buried where and why? Whose remains 
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rested together and who decided where people would be buried? What does 
this tell us about the post-mortem construction of dynasty? Burial practices 
in both Spain and Austria culminated in the giant dynastic vaults in the Esco-
rial and the Kapuzinergruft, respectively, where dozens of members of the 
House of Habsburg (and Bourbon in Spain) now rest – an ultimate expres-
sion of family unity, at least after death, and a testament to the longevity of 
power.4 But the road leading to the emergence of these two sites was long and 
winding. This chapter analyses how burial practices changed in the course 
of the sixteenth and seventeenth centuries, and what this tells us about the 
internal structure and dynamics of the Habsburg dynasty.

Arnoud-Jan Bijsterveld noticed in his overview of royal burial practices 
in early modern western Europe how ‘the concern to have all members of 
a royal house buried or interred in the same church or at the same spot, is 
mostly an early-modern one’.5 He also noted how dynasties strove to connect 
their present members to the past by rearranging older tombs or transferring 
the remains of predecessors to new burial sites, as well as connecting them 
to the future by creating space for the burial of many more family members 
in the future. All these processes are clearly on display in the Escorial, as 
we will discuss below. While Bijsterveld focuses mostly on monarchs and 
their spouses, the Escorial would also house the remains of non-ruling rela-
tives. This makes its crypts even more inclusive: it is not just the long line 
of monarchs who are all resting together, but also their children, siblings 
and other relatives – creating an image not just of a powerful line of kings 
but of a much wider, powerful family group. In adding such deceased rela-
tives to their burial sites, family heads exalted their dynasty rather than their 
kingship.

One of the main arguments of this chapter is that the ability to make deci-
sions about the burial of others (one’s children or spouse, and later on also 
one’s siblings, cousins, etc.) indicates authority over them. The emergence of 
the Escorial as a site of mass burial, and the concomitant disappearance of 
individual burial sites, really means that the authority to decide on burials 
became increasingly concentrated in the heads of the family, and individual 
family members had less and less scope and resources to decide upon their 
own burials. Two intra-dynastic dynamics brought about these changes: pull 
factors, which led family heads to draw as many family members into their 
burial crypts as possible; push factors, which led relatives to want to be bur-
ied along with their family head. In claiming the authority to ‘gather’ their 
relatives around them, family heads exercised their growing power within the 
entire dynasty. Burials sites, thus, illuminate not only legitimising strategies, 
but also intra-dynastic power dynamics.

This chapter places the emergence of the Escorial as a dynastic burial site 
in a long context of burial practices in Austria, Castile and the Low Coun-
tries. This will show which established practices and traditions were avail-
able to the Spanish Habsburgs, and thus how the emergence of the Escorial 
broke with them. The first section accordingly discusses the respective burial 
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traditions in Castile, Austria and Burgundy. The second section focuses on 
changes during the reign of Charles V, who pioneered a different grouping of 
relatives compared to earlier traditions but stayed within traditional Castil-
ian burial spaces. The third section focuses on the emergence of a new burial 
space: the Escorial, developed by Charles’s son Philip II. The fourth section 
focuses on the new family dynamics – first introduced by Charles V – which 
informed the demographics of the new crypt at the Escorial. In the conclu-
sion, I connect these changing burial practices to the changing dynamic 
within the dynastic family group.

Traditions: Castile, Austria and Burgundy

What practices guided the burials of monarchs, their spouses, but also their 
young children and adult relatives – categories of relatives who would be 
united in the Escorial – in the predecessor principalities of the Spanish Habs-
burgs? This section answers this question for Austria, Castile and Burgundy. 
These areas have been chosen because the early Habsburg kings of Castile – 
Philip I and Charles V – both referenced the Low Countries (and Burgundy) 
and Castile in their testaments as possible burial sites.6 Since neither of them 
ruled directly in Austria, they did not mention any possible burial sites there. 
But still, internal family dynamics, which were characterised until the early 
seventeenth century by a measure of equality among all the dynasty’s males 
(see Chapter 1) and which also influenced burial practices, were an Austrian 
legacy. Other sites or traditions – Aragonese, imperial and Neapolitan – went 
unmentioned. Taken together, it is the Austrian, Castilian and Burgundian 
legacies that shaped the way the Habsburgs would be buried, and thus how 
the post-mortem family group was constructed in the early modern period. 
I will trace burials back to the thirteenth century in Castile and Austria, 
corresponding to the reigns of King Rudolf I of Germany (r. 1240–91) and 
St Ferdinand III of Castile (r. 1217–1252), and to the late fourteenth century 
in the Low Countries, when Philip the Bold of Valois was invested with the 
duchy of Burgundy.

Austria

Brigitta Lauro’s Die Grabstätten der Habsburger gives an overview of all 
Habsburg burial sites, from that of the eleventh-century count Radbod to 
that of Zita, the last empress of Austria, who died in 1989. Here, we will 
start with King Rudolf I of Germany, probably the most important ancestor 
of the Habsburg House. The Habsburgs practiced partible inheritance, or 
shared inheritance (as we have seen in Chapter 1). This meant all males were 
essentially equals and equally entitled to rule all or part of the patrimony. To 
what sort of burial practices did this lead?

There were twenty-eight adult Habsburg dukes and archdukes between 
Rudolf I and Maximilian I at the beginning of the sixteenth century. Since 
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they officially ruled collectively, there is no real distinction between ruling 
and non-ruling brothers, but we can distinguish between the males, their 
spouses and their young children. The medieval Habsburgs represent a rather 
scattered group (see Table 3.1). Rudolf I had been elected king of Germany 
and chose to be buried with his predecessors in that office, in Speyer, as did 

Table 3.1  Habsburg rulers and their burial places 

Ruler Last resting place Comments

Rudolf I Cathedral of Speyer King of the Romans
Albert I, son of Rudolf I Cathedral of Speyer Holy Roman 

Emperor
Rudolf II, son of Rudolf I St Vitus Cathedral, Prague
John, son of Rudolf II Unknown
Rudolf III, son of Albert I St Vitus Cathedral, Prague
Albert II, son of Albert I Carthusian monastery Gaming
Leopold I, son of Albert I Königsfelden Monastery
Frederick I, son of Albert I Carthusian monastery 

Mauerbach
Otto IV, son of Albert I Cistercian monastery Neuberg Also underage sons 

Frederick II and 
Leopold II

Rudolf IV, son of Albert II Herzogsgruft, St Stephen’s 
Cathedral, Vienna

Leopold III, son of Albert II Gruftkapelle, Burg, Wiener 
Neustadt

Frederick III, son of Albert II Herzogsgruft, St Stephen’s 
Cathedral, Vienna

Albert III, son of Albert II Herzogsgruft, St Stephen’s 
Cathedral, Vienna

Albert IV, son of Albert III Herzogsgruft, St Stephen’s 
Cathedral, Vienna

William I, son of Leopold III Herzogsgruft, St Stephen’s 
Cathedral, Vienna

Leopold IV, son of 
Leopold III

Herzogsgruft, St Stephen’s 
Cathedral, Vienna

Ernest I, son of Leopold III Cistercian monastery Rein
Frederick IV, son of 

Leopold III
Stams, Tyrol

Albert V, son of Albert IV Székesfehérvár Cathedral Emperor Albert II
Sigismund, son of 

Frederick IV
Stams, Tyrol

Albert VI, son of Ernest I Herzogsgruft, St Stephen’s 
Cathedral, Vienna

Frederick V, son of Ernest I St Stephen’s Cathedral, Vienna 
(not crypt)

Emperor Frederick III

Maximilian I, son of 
Frederick V/III

St George Chapel, Burg, 
Wiener Neustadt

Source: Brigitta Lauro, Die Grabstätten der Habsburger. Kunstdenkmäler einer europäischen 
Dynastie (Vienna, 2007).
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his son and successor Albert I. Two of Rudolf’s younger sons (one died in in-
fancy and the other in his late teens) and his wife were buried in the Minster 
church in Basle. Another son, Rudolf II, the second surviving son, had been 
excluded from the Habsburg patrimony but had married into the Bohemian 
royal family. He died while in Prague and was buried there in St Vitus Ca-
thedral. John, Rudolf II’s son, famously murdered his uncle Albert I. The 
monastery of Königsfelden was erected at the spot of the crime, and several 
of Albert I’s daughters and childless sons were buried there. However, the 
location was very remote; Albert himself was buried in Speyer, and several of 
his more successful sons established their own individual burial sites.7

Albert I’s sons Albert II and Frederick I both established Carthusian foun-
dations. Albert II would be buried there with his wife and daughter-in-law, 
while his sons opted for burial elsewhere. Frederick I was buried alone – even 
his wife had chosen another place – although one daughter was later laid to 
rest with him. Clearly, these two foundations were individual affairs and the 
number of burials was limited.8 Another monastery was founded by Otto, 
Albert I’s youngest son, who was buried there along with his wives and two 
sons who died in their teens.9

The sons of Albert II (1298–1358) would continue the line by fathering 
sons who survived into adulthood. The eldest son, Rudolf IV, created a crypt, 
the Herzogsgruft, in the Viennese church of St Stephen’s.10 From 1362 on-
wards, many Habsburgs were buried here: Rudolf and two of his three broth-
ers, Frederick III and Albert III (but not Leopold III); Albert IV, only son of 
Albert III; William and Leopold IV, sons of Leopold III; and Albert VI, a 
grandson of Leopold III (via his son Ernest, who was not buried in the crypt) 
(Fig. 3.1). Rudolf IV’s spouse also rested with them, and George, a son of 
Albert V (himself buried elsewhere) who had died in infancy.11 Renate Kohn 
has argued that this meant a clear break with earlier Habsburg burial tradi-
tions, which had seen more individual burials among spiritual communities.12 
She noted that the crypt’s function as a dynastic crypt was upheld until the 
second half of the fifteenth century, when Habsburgs from both the Leopol-
dine and Albertine branches who died in or near Vienna were buried there.13

Figure 3.1 � Descendants of Albert II. Individuals buried in the Herzogsgruft are 
underlined.
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Albert III and Leopold III had formally divided the patrimony between 
them, with Albert taking Austria proper and Leopold the rest.14 Albert and 
his descendants thus ruled Vienna, explaining their presence in the crypt. 
Does the presence of Leopold’s descendants there as well mean the crypt was 
truly dynastic? Not necessarily. The dynasty was plagued by minorities in the 
generations of the fourteenth and fifteenth centuries. When Leopold III died, 
he left only underage sons. They accepted their older cousin Albert IV as their 
guardian until the latter’s death. Then it was the turn of Leopold’s sons to 
serve as guardians to Albert IV’s underage son, Albert V. Two of them, Wil-
liam and Leopold IV, both died as Albert V’s guardians and thus as de facto 
rulers of Vienna. It is therefore no coincidence that they were buried in crypt. 
And as further evidence that the Viennese crypt was not necessarily dynastic, 
we may point to Leopold III’s other sons, Ernest and Frederick IV. Albert V 
had long since come of age and become Vienna’s ruler by the time they died. 
Ernest was buried in a monastery he had founded himself, while Frederick, 
who had ruled Tyrol, had chosen the burial site of the county’s pre-Habsburg 
counts in Stams. His son Sigismund would be buried there as well. Rather 
than dynastic unity, then, the burial of so many Habsburgs in the Viennese 
crypt was linked to the fact that they all ruled there – either as hereditary 
duke or as regent.

What we may conclude is that Vienna had its rulers’ crypt, and so did 
Tyrol in Stams. The other ‘hereditary lands’, Further Austria and Inner Aus-
tria, did not have such a site, at least not one that was used by the Habsburg 
rulers. Habsburgs who died while ruling these areas simply founded new 
monasteries. These foundations had a lot to do with the independent position 
of the Habsburg males. When Otto, the youngest son of Albert I, founded 
his monastery, he made the connection to independent rule explicit: ‘thus we 
have firmly followed in the footsteps of our forefathers and the most illustri-
ous lord, Frederick king of the Romans, our lord and most beloved brother, 
who in the hope of divine recompense founded monasteries from his inherit-
ance’ (my emphasis).15

The crypts in Vienna and Stams and the various monastic foundations 
were used by Habsburgs who held titles no loftier than duke (later archduke). 
We already saw that the Habsburg emperors Rudolf I and Albert I were bur-
ied alongside other emperors in Speyer. Emperor Frederick III, another regent 
and then ruler of Austria, did decide on a burial in Vienna. He was buried in 
the church of St Stephen, but not in the crypt. An elaborate monument to him 
was erected there. Albert V – Emperor Albert II and also king of Hungary – 
ended up buried in Székesfehérvár.

What most of these burial sites had in common was that non-ruling rela-
tives normally found no place there. Speyer and Prague were for emperors 
and kings, not for their family members. Even in the Herzogsgruft in Vienna, 
the only non-ruler is little George, firstborn son of Albert V/II – and it is rather 
doubtful whether the remains ascribed to him are in fact his.16 (All other non-
ruling relatives are children of Maximilian II who died in the second half of 
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the sixteenth century.17) Family members were more typically buried in mon-
asteries, although not necessarily with their parents. Many children of both 
Rudolf I and his son Albert I were buried in Rudolf’s foundation at Tulln, 
while the children of Ernest the Iron were buried together in a crypt in the 
cathedral in Wiener Neustadt and those of Emperor Frederick III in Wiener 
Neustadt’s Neukloster.18 Rule, rather than dynasty, was also the reason the 
ducal crypt in St Stephen’s became the final resting place for many Austrians. 
We find little precedent for a dynastic crypt which housed all family mem-
bers: rulers and non-rulers, males and females, adults and children.

Castile

Whereas kings in France and England were being buried at one single loca-
tion from the thirteenth century onwards,19 members of the Castilian royal 
houses, from Ferdinand III to the Catholic Monarchs, were buried in over 
twenty different locations. There were twelve ruling monarchs between Fer-
dinand III (d. 1252) and Isabella of Castile (d. 1504) (see Table 3.2). The first 
two (Ferdinand III and his son Alfonso X) were buried in Seville, the town 

Table 3.2  Castilian monarchs and their burial places 

Monarch Final resting place Earlier resting places

Ferdinand III, 1199–1201 Cathedral of Seville, 
Capilla Real

Alfonso X, 1221–1284 Cathedral of Seville, 
Capilla Real

Sancho IV, 1258–1295 Cathedral of Toledo
Ferdinand IV, 1285–1312 Cathedral of Córdoba
Alfonso XI, 1311–1350 Cathedral of Córdoba First Jérez de la Frontera, later 

cathedral of Seville
Peter I, 1334–1369 Monastery of Santo 

Domingo el Real, 
Madrid (1446)

Castle of Montiel after death, 
moved to Puebla de Alcocer at 
an unknown date. After the 
demolition of the monastery 
of Santo Domingo, moved 
first to Museo Arqueológico 
Nacional (1869) and then to 
Cathedral of Seville (1877)

Henry II, 1334–1379 Cathedral of Toledo
John I, 1358–1390 Cathedral of Toledo
Henry III, 1379–1406 Cathedral of Toledo
John II, 1405–1454 Carthusian monastery 

Miraflores
Henry IV, 1425–1474 Royal Monastery of 

Santa María, 
Guadalupe

Isabella, 1451–1504 Capilla Real, Granada

Source: Ricardo del Arco, Sepulcros de la Casa Real de Castilla (Madrid, 1954).
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Ferdinand had conquered from the Almohads.20 Their successor Sancho IV 
was buried in Toledo,21 while Ferdinand IV chose Córdoba. Alfonso XI died 
and was initially buried in Jérez de la Frontera, but his remains were later 
relocated first to Seville and then to Córdoba. His successor was Peter I, who 
was deposed and murdered by his illegitimate half-brother Henry II. Peter 
was initially buried in the castle where he was murdered, but was later moved 
to a monastery in Madrid, where his granddaughter was abbess. Henry II and 
his successors John I and Henry III would all be buried in a new chapel in 
Toledo’s cathedral. John II opted for the Carthusian monastery of Miraflo-
res,22 while Henry IV, who had been involved in civil wars with his half-sister 
and eventual successor Isabella, was buried in a monastery in Guadalupe. 
Finally, Isabella herself erected a cathedral in Granada, which she had con-
quered, and was buried in an adjacent chapel there, the Capilla Real. All in 
all, these twelve monarchs are buried in seven different locations. But nine of 
them rested in one or other of the great cathedrals of the realm, connected 
to the Reconquista of the Peninsula: the cathedrals of Sevilla, Córdoba and 
Toledo were all built on the sites where the main mosques had been located, 
while Ferdinand III and Isabella the Catholic were buried in the towns they 
had reconquered themselves.23

Usurpation was another reason for the selection of new or different burial 
sites. Both Sancho IV and Henry II had deposed their predecessors, and Isa-
bella had been at war with her predecessor. Since it was the obligation of 
monarchs to bury their predecessors, engaging in this sort of sovereign behav-
iour could bolster a usurper’s legitimacy and strengthen their position.24 At 
the same time, usurpers might feel uneasy being buried alongside the usurped 
predecessors, since this would highlight their own shaky rights to the throne. 
This may have led Sancho IV and Henry II to choose to be buried in a differ-
ent place to their predecessors, obstructing the development of truly dynastic 
mausoleums in both Seville and Córdoba.25 Reconquista and usurpation thus 
caused Castilian rulers to be scattered across many burial sites.

But where were other family members buried – rulers’ adult siblings and 
young children? In theory, Castile was a primogeniture monarchy. Most non-
inheriting sons were endowed with rich lordships, or they married an heir-
ess, or a combination of the two. This meant that they essentially entered the 
highest echelon of the aristocracy.26 Adult royal relatives were not normally 
buried in proximity to their ruling brothers or father, but mainly in convents 
and monasteries that were royal foundations, as in Austria, or in prominent 
churches of their own lordships.27 The very few sons who entered the clergy 
were buried in their own church. The royal archbishop of Toledo was buried 
in his cathedral; the infante who became the master of Santiago was buried in 
a foundation connected to the order.28 Princesses who married would normally 
be buried along with their husbands in their new homeland. Princesses who 
entered the Church were usually buried in the monasteries where they had 
professed, like Ferdinand III’s daughter Berenguela, who was a nun in Burgos. 
Royal siblings thus awaited the resurrection in a myriad of different places.
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The same is true of royal children who died young: they rest scattered 
among a host of monasteries and convents. They were normally buried in 
whatever religious house was near their place of death, which, consider-
ing the peripatetic nature of medieval courts, might be anywhere. González 
Jiménez notes, for instance, the death of a very young ‘infantita’ in 1235 who 
was buried in the convent of San Isidro in León, ‘which seems to indicate that 
the little infanta died while the monarchs were in that city’.29 Throughout the 
Middle Ages, monarchs made no efforts to gather these dispersed children in 
one place. Instead, they all remained where they were, often clearly marked 
as royal offspring but resting in isolation from their families. Evidently, me-
dieval Castile was no place for a royal necropolis, understood as a burial 
ground for kings only, let alone for dynastic crypts, where all family mem-
bers found their last resting place.30

Burgundy

The third, and briefest, tradition available to the Spanish Habsburgs was 
the  Valois tradition in Burgundy and the Low Countries. The cenotaphs 
for the dukes and their burial chapel at the Carthusian monastery of 
Champmol have received much interest from art historians.31 Valois rule in 
Burgundy was relatively short, lasting until the death of Charles the Bold in 
1477. His great-grandfather Philip the Bold had received the duchy of Bur-
gundy in appanage of his father, John II of France, in 1363. The previous rul-
ing house of Burgundy, which had ruled the duchy since 1032, had died out 
in the male line only a few years earlier. In 1378, a son of Philip died in child-
hood and was buried in Cîteaux, the old ducal burial site.32 But a few years 
later, Philip would start work on a Carthusian monastery in Champmol, out-
side Dijon, which would develop into a ruler’s crypt: Philip the Bold, his son 
John the Fearless and grandson Philip the Good, all dukes of Burgundy, were 
buried there. When the latter’s son Duke Charles the Bold died, the French 
king took advantage of the fact that he left only a daughter, Mary, as heir to 
reincorporate the duchy within the French crown.33 This meant that Charles 
the Bold and his successors could no longer be buried in Champmol. Still, 
both Philip the Handsome (Charles’s grandson) and Charles V (his great-
grandson) explicitly mentioned Champmol as their preferred burial site in 
their testaments.34 Their wish to be buried with their ancestors was not very 
realistic but shows the importance they attached to the Burgundian legacy 
and indicates their belief that they were still the rightful dukes of Burgundy – 
even though Charles V accepted its loss in 1529.35

At first sight, it appears that the Champmol crypt was more than a ruler’s 
crypt. A manuscript drawing based on a sketch made during a visit of the 
prince of Condé, governor of Burgundy, to the crypt on 22 July 1766 shows 
eight coffins.36 They belonged not only to the three dukes but also to Philip 
the Bold’s daughter Catherine, duchess of Austria, John the Fearless’s spouse 
Margaret of Bavaria, his two daughters Isabelle countess of Penthievre and 
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Jeanne, Philip the Good’s second spouse Bonne of Artois and his third spouse 
Elisabeth of Portugal. The presence of several daughters shows that the crypt 
was not exclusively meant for rulers and their spouses. Catherine, duchess 
of Austria, was buried there at her own request, after her Habsburg brother-
in-law had confiscated her dower.37 The other daughters died in childhood. 
However, none of the three children of Philip the Good who died in child-
hood made it into the crypt. Most daughters who married into other families 
were buried elsewhere, as is to be expected. Likewise, neither of Philip the 
Bold’s other two adult sons were buried in the crypt, since they acquired their 
own patrimonies. Philip was buried in a monastery in his county of Rethel,38 
while Anthony rests in the St John the Evangelist Church of Tervueren out-
side Brussels, the capital of his duchy of Brabant.39 In Tervueren, both of 
Anthony’s sons (who both succeeded him as duke), his young daughter and 
spouse rested alongside him.40 Their absence from the crypt in Champmol in-
dicates that it was closely tied to the Burgundian ducal title and not meant as 
a burial site for the entire House. Notably, Philip the Bold’s spouse Margaret 
of Male, as countess regnant of Flanders, was buried along with her parents 
in St Peter’s Church in Lille.41

Two spouses of Charles the Bold, as well as Philip the Good’s first wife, 
were buried in churches in the Low Countries, in Brussels and Ghent.42 They 
were buried close to where they died. That did not necessarily mean they 
were never to be transferred to Champmol, but the loss of Burgundy after 
Charles the Bold’s death made that impossible. Philip the Good’s son Josse 
was born in Ghent and died when only a few weeks old. He was embalmed 
by an ‘épicier’ (grocer) of Ghent,43 and, as we might expect, was buried there 
as well, in the church of St John.44 The same may go for Josse’s elder brother 
Antoine, who died in the same year, also in Ghent.45 In any case, as in Austria, 
younger sons who received their own patrimony chose to create their own 
burial sites, while as in Castile, children would often be buried near to where 
they died.

After Mary of Burgundy had been critically wounded by a fall from her 
horse, she had time to compose a detailed testament before succumbing to 
her injuries. She chose the church of Our Lady in Bruges.46 Perhaps strangely, 
in the light of the later testaments of Philip the Handsome and Charles V, 
she made no mention of Champmol, apparently reconciled to its loss. On 
the other hand, she was very adamant that she wanted a monument, which 
her father and grandfather did not have at the time.47 Bruges seems to have 
been a personal choice: it was an important city in the Low Countries and 
was where her son had been born. The specific church may have been cho-
sen because of its connection to the Order of the Golden Fleece: in 1468 a 
chapter had been held there. Furthermore, she was a patron of the Church 
and considered the Virgin Mary, her namesake, as her special protectrix.48 
The presence of other relatives was clearly not on her mind. Charles the Bold 
never found his way to Champmol. Having died in battle, his corpse was 
only found days later and then buried in Nancy by his enemy, the duke of 
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Lorraine.49 There he remained, until his great-great-granddaughter Christina 
of Denmark, duchess of Lorraine, had his coffin transported to Bruges in 
1550.50 He was then interred in the church of Our Lady in Gent, next to his 
daughter Mary.

The pattern emerging from all of these medieval practices in Burgundy, 
Castile and Austria is as follows: rulers were buried at significant sites con-
nected to their rule, usually along with their spouses, but not necessarily all 
at the same site. Their relatives were buried at sites which were significant 
for them – their own monastic foundations, preferably in their own lord-
ships. Younger children were normally buried locally, which because of the 
peripatetic nature of courts meant that their remains were scattered far and 
wide across their parents’ territories. Although some royal crypts came into 
existence – a development which was much less pronounced in Castile and 
Austria than in England and France – these reflected a vertical dynasty (suc-
cessive rulers), while the horizontal dynasty (all contemporaneous relatives) 
found no expression at burial sites. The Escorial broke with all of these tradi-
tions, becoming a gathering place for the horizontal dynasty as well as the 
vertical dynasty. How did that happen? And what did that mean for the 
formation of the dynasty as a family group?

Innovations: Charles V and the Capilla Real

The Habsburgs first ruled over Castile from 1504 to 1506, when Philip the 
Handsome (1478–1506) followed his Trastámara mother-in-law Isabella 
the Catholic on the throne. He was co-ruler with his mentally unstable 
wife Joanna ‘the Mad’, who would live a long life mostly in seclusion in 
Tordesillas, dying only in 1555. Philip’s reign was brief and did not extend to 
the other part of the Trastámara empire, Aragon, where Philip’s father-in-law 
Ferdinand the Catholic continued to rule until his death in 1516. Philip died 
suddenly in 1506, at only twenty-eight years old. His eldest son, Charles, 
inherited the throne but only took possession of it in 1516, when he was 
sixteen years old and his grandfather Ferdinand of Aragon had also died.

According to their testaments, both Isabella of Castile (died 1504) and 
Philip the Handsome were to be buried in the Capilla Real in Granada. The 
Cathedral in Granada and the chapel were nowhere near finished by the time 
they died, and both were temporarily buried elsewhere: Isabella in a Fran-
ciscan convent in Granada and Philip in the church of St Clara in Tordesil-
las, near his widow Joanna. While Ferdinand of Aragon may have seemed a 
logical candidate to arrange for the cathedral’s completion and his wife and 
son-in-law’s burials, he instead embarked on a second marriage to Bianca 
Sforza, jeopardising the union of the crowns, since a male heir stood to in-
herit Aragon. (A son, John, was indeed born from the marriage, but lived 
only a few hours.) Under these circumstances, the completion of the funerary 
monuments in Granada fell mainly to Charles. He ordered the work to begin 
in 1518 while planning for it to be finished within two years.51 This deadline 
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was not met, but in 1525 the remains could be placed in the crypt of the 
Capilla Real.52

While the Capilla Real was initially intended for Isabella the Catholic and 
Philip the Handsome, the chapel became a more inclusive burial site during 
the course of Charles’s reign. Among the first deaths Charles mourned were 
those of two of his children: his sons Fernando in 1530 and Juan in 1538. In 
line with dynastic burial practices in all the families who were Charles’s fore-
bears, these infants were buried close to where they died: Fernando died in 
Madrid and was buried in the monastery of San Jerónimo el Real, and Juan 
died in Valladolid and was buried in the convent of San Pablo.53 In 1539, 
Charles’s spouse, Isabella of Portugal, died. She left her place of burial up to 
her husband,54 but she had indicated in previous testaments that she wanted 
to be buried in Granada.55 Instead of depositing her remains in Toledo, where 
she died, Charles had her immediately transported to the Capilla Real.56 Bur-
ying his wife in Granada was in line with the stipulations of his own testa-
ment, which said that he should be buried there if he died in Spain. So far, 
Charles was following established paths.

But in the late 1540s, he started to change tack. In 1545, Charles’s 
daughter-in-law Maria of Portugal, wife of his son and heir Philip, gave birth 
to Charles’s first grandson, named Carlos.57 Tragically, the young mother 
did not survive the birth, dying of a haemorrhage. She was buried where she 
died, in Valladolid, like Charles’s young sons a decade earlier. But in contrast 
to the young boys, Princess Maria had just given birth to a possible heir. 
Notwithstanding the fact that she would never reign, she might still end up 
being the spouse and mother of future kings of Spain. Her dynastic rank was 
therefore much higher than that of her deceased little brothers-in-law. In fact, 
her potential status was rather similar to that of the Empress Isabella, whom 
Charles had so swiftly had buried in Granada. And like her mother-in-law, 
Maria had stipulated in her testament that she wanted to be buried along-
side her husband.58 Perhaps it is therefore not surprising that Princess Maria 
would not remain in Valladolid forever. Indeed, in 1549 Charles ordered his 
regents in Spain to move her remains to the Capilla Real, as well as those of 
Charles’s young sons.59 Maria’s reburial was staged like a regular burial, as 
a relación of the event shows. She took centre stage, while the two young 
infantes only show up in the relación at the very end, when the remains were 
placed in the crypt.60 These reburials were a significant deviation from estab-
lished traditions. In burying Maria in Granada, Charles expressed an implicit 
expectation that his son Philip would also be buried there, since she wished 
to be buried alongside her husband. In a sense, Charles took this decision 
for Philip, who, as a future sovereign, surely should have been expected to 
make it himself. If Philip had followed Charles’s plan, it would have brought 
the number of generations of Spanish monarchs in the Capilla Real to four – 
more than any other burial site in Castile.

But the most innovative element in the 1549 reburials was the moving of 
the remains of Charles’s sons. As the previous section showed, young children 
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had always been buried close to their place of death and simply remained 
there. By reburying the children in Granada, Charles made a conscious, and 
costly, effort to gather all his dead family members in one place. He included 
these little children in the post-mortem family group, which had previously 
only consisted of rulers and their spouses. The Capilla Real was on its way 
to becoming a real dynastic crypt, with space for both ruling and non-ruling 
relatives, both adults and children. Thus it was Charles who took the first 
steps towards the creation of a true Habsburg community of the dead.

Why was this decision taken in 1549? These years were important years in 
which Charles settled his inheritance: he married his eldest daughter Maria 
to his eldest nephew Maximilian, appointed the couple governors of Castile 
(1548), but denied them the Low Countries – where he instead sent his son 
Philip to be sworn in as heir and for whom he wrote his final political testa-
ment (see Chapter 1).61 Finally, Charles started to hammer out the succession 
to the Empire with his brother Ferdinand. In short, he was setting his house 
in order, making provisions for the future of his children and the patrimony. 
We may well include the reburials of 1549 in this impressive catalogue of 
decisive action, since through them Charles shaped the post-mortem destinies 
of his family members for decades to come. Indeed, in his final testament, 
signed in 1554, Charles settled definitively on Granada as his burial place, to 
the exclusion of Champmol or other locations in the Low Countries.62 Philip 
followed suit: in his own testament written in 1557, Philip also stipulated 
that he wanted to be buried in Granada, with his first wife, his mother, his 
brothers, his grandparents and great-grandparents.63

But Charles’s innovations do not stop there. Two more unusual individu-
als were buried in the Capilla Real alongside him: his widowed sisters Mary 
of Hungary and Eleanor of France. Mary had served as governor of the Low 
Countries from 1531 to 1555, and Eleanor had joined her in Brussels after 
the death of her husband Francis I of France, in 1547. When Charles abdi-
cated his thrones in 1555–56 in Brussels, both were present and both decided 
to follow Charles to Castile, presumably foregoing any burial in the lands of 
their husbands. All three died in 1558, but Eleanor was the first. She left the 
choice of her burial up to her two siblings: the official record of her burial 
in 1558 states that Mary of Hungary consulted with Charles after opening 
the testament to decide on a place where Eleanor’s remains could be placed 
to decompose, until both siblings decided on a permanent place of burial.64 
They decided to temporarily bury their sister close to where she had died, in 
Mérida – until ‘something else will be decided’, as Charles reported to his 
son.65 Mary, who wrote her last will in September 1558, some months after 
Eleanor’s death, expressed her wish to be buried with her sister.66 The lack 
of any specific spot indicates that Eleanor’s remains had not been assigned a 
permanent resting place yet. This then indicates that Mary left her place of 
burial essentially up to Charles, the remaining sibling, who was to choose 
Eleanor’s last resting place (she also named Charles her universal heir, giving 
him theoretically the financial wherewithal to arrange her burial). There is 
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no explicit record of Charles deciding that they should rest alongside him 
in Granada, but that is implied by the fact that Philip, king of Castile since 
1556, ordered his sister, regent in Spain at the time of Mary and Eleanor’s 
deaths, to see if their aunts could be brought to Granada.67

So, concerned with preserving his legacy after 1547, Charles took an active 
interest in the family burials. He broadened the group of people that might 
expect burial in a dynastic crypt, as young children were now to be included. 
He also ‘appropriated’ his daughter-in-law’s remains and thus strongly hinted 
that Philip should choose the Capilla Real as well – essentially stretching 
his authority as a family head to decide even on the burials of his sovereign 
successor. Charles was starting to ‘pull’ more and more relatives into his dy-
nastic crypt. His sisters show another developing trend: rather than capitalis-
ing on their independence as royal widows and commissioning an individual 
burial somewhere (as their aunt, Margaret of Austria, had famously done 
by constructing a splendid burial monument for herself and her husband 
in Brou68), they were happy to delegate the choice of where to be buried to 
the family head. Leaving the choice up to Charles, they implicitly accepted a 
subordinate position in their brother’s family crypt. Financial reasons prob-
ably played a role. Mary had always had trouble securing income from her 
Hungarian dower and had been dependent on a salary during her tenure as 
governor of the Low Countries. She later received a yearly allowance from 
Ferdinand, but taken together, these revenues had never been enough even 
to cover her day-to-day costs.69 Eleanor had received the duchy of Touraine 
after her husband’s death, but the new king, her stepson Henry II, confis-
cated her dowry, so she might well have been short of funds to finance any 
individual tomb.70 (Their aunt Margaret, on the other hand, held dower in-
comes from rents and lands after two of her marriages and had in the course 
of her governorship of the Low Countries acquired, among other smaller 
lordships, the Franche-Comté, Charolais and Malines.71) In addition, Eleanor 
and Mary’s relatively weak loyalty to their marital dynasties probably played 
a role. Mary had remained childless; Eleanor only had a daughter from her 
Portuguese marriage. While Mary had preserved the memory of her heroic 
husband Louis II, the traditional burial site for Hungarian kings was at the 
time of her death firmly in Ottoman hands.72 By the time the choice had to 
be made – after their deaths in 1558 – Charles had himself abandoned his 
authority as family head, so it was Philip who decided that the three siblings 
should be united in death, but all three had made their wishes known quite 
clearly. In any case, both Charles’s ‘pulling’ and his sisters’ discrete ‘pushing’ 
for a burial at his side led to the formation of quite a large post-mortem fam-
ily group.

A New Site: The Escorial

Charles had remained faithful to the Catholic Monarchs’ burial chapel in 
Granada, linking himself powerfully to his Trastámara grandparents and 
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predecessors, and also the final resting place of his father – the Emperor had 
mentioned all of them explicitly in his testament of 1554. His son Philip 
would ‘habsburgify’ burial arrangements by constructing a whole new bur-
ial site, the royal monastery of San Lorenzo de El Escorial (Fig. 3.2).73 The 
Escorial, built between 1563 and 1584, was a huge complex that included 
a basilica, monastery, seminary, library and royal palace. The foundation 
charter of the monastery notes that Philip intended the Escorial to serve as a 
mausoleum for his father and himself, separating Charles from his immedi-
ate ancestors. The complex was further intended to express gratefulness to 
God for a victory over the French, which Philip had achieved in 1557, on 
St Lawrence’s Day.74

Work on the Escorial began in 1563. Among the first parts to be finished 
was the Hieronymite monastery. In the early 1570s, Philip started to gather 
the remains of many relatives in the monastery church – not to be confused 
with the complex’s main basilica.75 This was the group of people Charles had 
already gathered around him in Granada – reburying the Emperor entailed 
reburying all of them, or disregarding Charles’s and their last wishes – plus 
the relatives who had died since 1558. In 1586, when the main basilica was 
consecrated, they were relocated to their final resting place.76 This was a 

Figure 3.2  San Lorenzo de El Escorial. Artist: Anonymous. 

Source: Alamy.
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small underground vault directly below the basilica’s altar, since Charles had 
stated in his codicil that he wanted to be buried under the feet of the officiat-
ing priest.77 By 1586, the group of corpses consisted of sixteen individuals: 
Charles, his spouse Isabella, his sisters Mary and Eleanor, his sons Fernando 
and Juan, and the illegitimate Don Juan († 1578); Philip II’s first wife Maria 
of Portugal and her son Don Carlos († 1568); his second wife Isabella of 
Valois († 1568); his third wife Anna of Austria († 1580) with four children, 
Fernando († 1578), Carlos Lorenzo († 1575), Diego († 1582) and Maria  
(† 1583); and his nephew Wenceslaus († 1578). Two spaces were left vacant 
for Charles’s living children, Philip himself, who would die in 1598, and 
Charles’s eldest daughter Maria, who had returned to Spain after becoming 
a widow and would die in 1603.78 Conspicuous by her absence was Charles’s 
younger daughter Juana († 1573), who was buried in her own monastery of 
Las Descalzas in Madrid. This group of people represented a much more in-
clusive dynastic group than any that had been gathered in a Habsburg, Tras-
támara or Valois-Burgundian crypt before, shaping the Habsburg dynasty in 
a truly innovative way.

The ‘audience’ for this dynastic representation was limited, since access to 
the crypt was restricted after the translation ceremony. Only the monastery’s 
prior and the first sacristan held the keys, and they were to admit people only 
with Philip’s express permission.79 However, there were parts of the burial 
site that were meant to be seen, namely the cenotaphs for Philip and Charles, 
which were placed on both sides of the main altar of the basilica.80 Here, 
too, we encounter an inclusive port-mortem family group, although less so 
than in the crypt itself. Two statue groups depict Charles and Philip, respec-
tively, kneeling in prayer with a selection of the family members who were 
buried in the crypt: Charles with his wife, his sisters and daughter Maria (not 
yet deceased) at the side of the Gospel (to the left, when facing the altar); 
Philip with three of his four wives and his son Carlos at the Epistle side (to 
the right).81 Charles’s young sons Fernando and Juan had been included in 
the plans for the cenotaphs in 1591, but were eventually excluded.82 The 
other small children as well as the illegitimate Don Juan and the nephew 
Wenceslaus were never part of the plans. The two rulers took up a privileged 
position, but their direct family members, at least the adults, were also very 
clearly represented. In a way, the Habsburg dynasty was now represented by 
a wider family group than ever before.

The group of corpses only increased, of course, as more and more rela-
tives died, and the Escorial became the default burial place for them. The 
increase in the number of coffins led to some transformations of the burial 
site. Philip III and Philip IV chose another subterranean chapel to house the 
coffins of their relatives and gave the site its modern appearance. A space ear-
lier designated as a chapel was now transformed into the Panteón de Reyes – 
the pantheon of kings (Fig. 3.3). This implied a new destination not only for 
the kings but also for the other relatives, who were placed in a new Panteón 
de Infantes – the pantheon of princes and princesses. The new pantheon of 
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kings was larger, grander and seemingly more accessible to a wider pub-
lic. For instance, whereas guardsmen had carried royal coffins into the old 
crypt, grandees took them into the new Panteón.83 There are also a number 
of travel journals describing the Panteones.84 The new Panteón de Reyes was 
finished in 1654, and the bodies could (again) be moved. The Panteón de 
Reyes became the final resting place of Charles V, Philip II, Philip III and the 
wives who had given birth to their successors. Philip IV’s first wife, Isabella 
of Bourbon, was also buried here. The Panteón de Infantes would house the 
bodies of all the other members of the dynasty: those already mentioned pre-
viously, an additional twelve children of Philip III and Philip IV (including 
two illegitimate sons), and some more distant relations, a brother of Queen 
Margaret of Austria and three princes of Savoy (Fig. 3.4).85 The change in the 
architectural environment and the treatment of the corpses meant that the 
dynasty – a group which had grown to be very large – was now represented 
as a historical sequence of rulers in one pantheon, and as a very large family 
group in the other. No longer would Charles V be surrounded by his wife, 
sisters, children and grandchildren, but by the three kings who succeeded him 
and their spouses. While this might seem like a return to the medieval situa-
tion, the difference is that there were no other Habsburg burial sites anymore: 

Figure 3.3 � The Panteón de Reyes, showing three rows of coffins of kings. Charles V, 
Philip II, Philip III and Philip IV on the far right. 

Source: Alamy.
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even if attention was focused on the patriline, in fact all the royal siblings and 
children were neatly gathered together, only out of sight. The new pantheons 
thus had the effect of elevating the kings and queens over their non-ruling 
relatives, much more so than had been the case in the sixteenth-century crypt: 
the dynasty had become larger, more inclusive, but also more stratified.

Pull

When examining Spanish Habsburg burial practices, certain social dynamics 
come into view that give a clear insight into how the whole group functioned. 
These dynamics can be divided into ‘push’ and ‘pull’ factors, already briefly 
touched upon above. Spanish kings became ever bolder in burying relatives 
in the Escorial who had expressed other wishes. For example, Philip II’s son 
and heir Don Carlos died in 1568 at the age of twenty-three. He had writ-
ten his testament in May 1564, some weeks before his nineteenth birthday. 
He was obviously old enough to write his own will, and although his later 
mental state might have cast doubts on his capacity to testate, Philip had not 

Figure 3.4 � The modern, nineteenth-century Panteón de Infantes, showing the cof-
fins of Maria of Portugal, Archduke Wenceslaus, Prince Diego (son of 
Philip II), Filippo Emanuele of Savoy, Archduke Charles of Styria, Infante 
Carlos (son of Philip III), Prince Baltasar Carlos (son of Philip IV) and 
Queen Maria Anna of Neuburg, spouse of Charles II. 

Source: Alamy.
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yet given up on him in 1564.86 The Escorial was already under construction, 
but the Prince stipulated a burial in the Toledan monastery of San Juan de los 
Reyes instead. This monastery had been founded by Isabella the Catholic to 
commemorate her important victory over her rival for the throne, her niece 
Juana ‘la Beltraneja’, to celebrate the birth of her son Prince Juan and to 
serve as her own burial site – a motivation not unlike Philip II’s reasons for 
building the Escorial.87 Maybe it was Don Carlos’s way of connecting himself 
to his predecessor as prince, or to his Trastámara ancestors more generally 
(he mandated 10,000 masses for the souls of the deceased kings in all the 
monasteries of Toledo as well).88 It was certainly not unheard of for a crown 
prince to be buried separately from his ruling parents, since Prince Juan had 
also been buried individually in the monastery of Santo Tomás in Ávila.89 
However, when Don Carlos died, his father ignored these testamentary stipu-
lations and had him temporarily buried in the monastery of Santo Domingo 
el Real in Madrid, until the Escorial was ready to receive his remains.90

Even though ignoring an adult heir’s testament is a particularly forceful 
example of Philip’s ‘pull’ on his relatives, it is not the only one. On 22 Sep-
tember 1578, Wenceslaus died. Wenceslaus was Philip’s nephew – son of 
his sister Maria – and died when he was at the Spanish court, being edu-
cated along with his brother Albert. The very next day, the King signed an 
order arranging his burial in the monastic crypt in the Escorial, where all 
the other royals rested,91 and not, for instance, in the nearby San Jerónimo 
monastery in Madrid where a young nephew of Charles V had been laid to 
rest in 1535.92 It is of course unthinkable that Philip could have consulted 
Wenceslaus’s Austrian family at such short notice (his mother Maria had not 
yet arrived in Spain). Instead, Philip clearly took matters into his own hands. 
What is more, he signalled his plans for Wenceslaus’s permanent burial. His 
remains were placed in the monastic crypt at the Escorial ‘until he will be 
buried and placed in the main church in the place which we will indicate’.93 
This stipulation meant that Wenceslaus’s remains were treated identically to 
all the other royal corpses that were deposited in the crypt in the monastic 
church, waiting to be transferred to the crypt in the basilica. That that place 
would be Wenceslaus’s final resting place is corroborated by the fact that the 
wording of the order is identical to the one Philip unfortunately had to issue 
a mere month later, after the death of his eldest son and heir. If the same rules 
applied to Wenceslaus as applied to the royal heir, that must mean his burial, 
too, was meant to be permanent and that his remains were to rest in the main 
dynastic crypt. It is noteworthy that Philip felt free to make this choice, dis-
regarding any thoughts that Wenceslaus’s elder brother Emperor Rudolf II or 
his mother might have on the matter.

Future kings would go even further in pulling in their relatives. An excel-
lent example is given by Philip III. Between 1603 and 1606, the three eld-
est sons of his sister Infanta Catalina and the duke of Savoy stayed at his 
court for their education. In 1605, the eldest prince, Filippo Emanuele, fell 
ill with smallpox and succumbed.94 Everyone took the death hard. Just like 
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in Wenceslaus’s case, the King, Philip III, immediately arranged for Filippo’s 
burial in the Escorial. As the Savoyard ambassador pointed out in his letter 
to Filippo’s father, the Duke might be ‘quite opposed to the thought of hav-
ing him here [in Castile]’, but he need not be, since Philip III had honoured 
the young prince as a son: he had been transported to the Escorial with the 
honours due to a royal prince who was not the heir, that is an infante.95 The 
King was not inclined to let Filippo be returned home: two weeks after the 
funeral, the ambassador reported to Charles Emmanuel that Philip III in-
tended it to be a ‘sepoltura e non deposito’ (burial, not a repository).96 We 
might argue that Philip II’s easy appropriation of Wenceslaus’s remains was 
due to the fact that Wenceslaus had been more or less marooned in Castile 
after his father’s death, and his brother Rudolf had been more than happy 
to abdicate financial responsibility for his youngest brother to the Spanish 
king, but such was not at all the case with Filippo. This prince’s father was 
exceptionally fond of his children, took a very active role in their upbringing 
and was genuinely heartbroken after Filippo’s death – and was quite bluntly 
told that his remains would stay in Castile. Filippo’s burial in the Escorial, 
with the honours of an infante, made a strong statement about which dynasty 
Philip felt the boy belonged to – the House of Austria. Philip IV was just the 
same. He would show himself willing to take unilateral decisions about fam-
ily burials. His brother, the Cardinal-Infante Fernando, died as a governor in 
the Low Countries but had stipulated in his will that he wished to be buried 
in the cathedral of Toledo (his archbishopric). Philip had him buried in the 
Escorial instead.97 Comparing Philip II, III and IV, it seems that the Spanish 
kings grew only more assertive in pulling in their relatives.

Push

But not everyone was reluctant. The pull dynamic refers to family heads ap-
propriating the remains of their relatives and taking the initiative to bury 
them in the dynastic crypt. The push dynamic refers to relatives abandoning 
any thought of erecting individual monuments but instead seeking burial in 
the dynastic crypt. There is plenty of evidence of individuals leaving their 
place of burial up to the family head. This is, for instance, obvious (but not 
very surprising) when we look at spouses, who had always been mostly likely 
to be buried alongside their husbands. We already saw that Charles V’s wife 
stipulated in her testament that she wished to be buried next to her husband, 
wherever he decided that may be. Philip II’s first wife, Maria of Portugal, left 
her burial place up to her husband as well, by stating she wanted to be buried 
next to him and that he could bury her wherever he saw fit if she died before 
the time of his own death.98 (Of course, it was initially Charles who made the 
choice for her.) Philip’s other wives repeated these statements. Philip II’s third 
wife Isabella of Valois was clearly influenced by the marital hierarchy which 
had reigned between them in life: she left the choice of her burial site up to 
Philip ‘because just as I was obedient to him in life, so I wish to be in death’.99 
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Having died in 1568 before the Escorial was ready to receive her remains, she 
was temporarily deposited in the Descalzas monastery.100 Philip’s third wife, 
Anna of Austria, wrote in her testament that she left the choice up to her 
‘lord and husband’, adding that she wished to be buried in the same church 
and chapel he would be buried in. Instead of marital hierarchy, she pointed 
to marital harmony: ‘Like I have kept him company in life with such love and 
harmony, I would like my remains to keep his company after I am dead’.101

Such deference to the family head was not limited to spouses. Charles 
himself, who had left various specifications about his preferred burial sites in 
his wills, attached a codicil after his abdication stating that his son Philip II 
should have the last word. He explained his reasons for doing so as follows: 
‘Because I renounced my kingdoms in favour of King Philip after I granted 
the said testament, I now see fit to leave it [place of burial], as I leave it, up 
to the King, my son’.102 He only insisted on being buried together with his 
spouse and gave some specifications in case Philip should decide to bury his 
parents in the monastery in Yuste. But the main impression given by Charles’s 
codicil is that the former emperor, having abdicated his thrones to his son, 
clearly no longer considered himself to be the head of the House. This was 
now Philip, and therefore Philip should decide where Charles should be bur-
ied. If anything, that sentiment speaks volumes about how Charles saw the 
authority of the family head. Building a funerary site for one’s own family 
and determining the last resting place of others therefore indicated the lofty 
status of the builder and the subordination of all those who were buried there 
alongside him.

The willing submission to the authority of the family head – if only in 
matters related to burial! – can also be discerned in other family members, 
who would traditionally not be buried alongside rulers. We have noticed how 
Charles’s sisters had pushed for a burial close to their brother. Another exam-
ple is offered by Philip II’s illegitimate half-brother, Don Juan. Don Juan died 
while serving as governor in the Low Countries in 1578. As an extramarital 
son, he had not been able to inherit and was dependent on his brother. At 
his deathbed, Don Juan conveyed his wishes to his confessor: ‘With regards 
to my corpse, I want to ask you [confessor] to request in my name that the 
King, mindful of … the willingness with which I have served him, grant me 
this favour, that my remains be placed somewhere near those of my lord and 
father’.103 Philip II acceded to this request and had Don Juan’s remains trans-
ported to Castile and buried in the Escorial.

As far as I am aware, no previous extramarital child had ever received 
this honour. A mere decade before Don Juan’s death, at the end of 1557, 
Leopold de Austria, a bastard son of Emperor Maximilian I, had died as an 
archbishop of Córdoba (more on him in the next chapter). The cathedral of 
Córdoba housed the tombs of several kings of Castile, and one administra-
tor of the diocese consulted the royal court about the most suitable place of 
burial for Leopold: in the royal chapel with these kings, reflecting his high 
birth, or in between the two choirs. The response from Philip II was clear: 
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Leopold was to be buried in a suitable place anywhere in the cathedral but 
not in the royal chapel.104 This shows that, even though Charles V had started 
to gather a broader group of relatives than before, illegitimate offspring were 
as yet not considered eligible for burial in the proximity of kings, but when 
Philip had to decide about his bastard brother a decade later, he had changed 
his mind. Don Juan’s wishes and fate illustrate both pull and push factors: an 
increased desire on the part of peripheral relatives to be buried along with the 
family head at the dynasty’s central burial site, and an increased willingness 
of family heads to admit ever more relatives into this inner sanctum.

Don Juan’s wishes and actions were mirrored a generation later by those 
of Emanuele Filiberto of Savoy, a nephew of Philip III. As a teenager, he had 
spent some years at his uncle’s court (along with Filippo Emanuele, who died 
so tragically), and he had since embarked on a long career of service to his 
uncle Philip III and cousin Philip IV (see Chapter 6). In his testament, he did 
not make provisions for his own burial, even though he had been granted 
the appanage of Oneglia, and neither did he leave his burial to his immediate 
dynastic superior (his father, Duke Charles Emmanuel of Savoy). Instead, he 
left it up to Philip IV.105 Philip was only too happy to oblige and arranged 
for Filiberto’s burial in the Escorial. Filiberto died as a viceroy on the island 
of Sicily. His burial in the Escorial was thus not simply a matter of conveni-
ence, taking the remains from the court in Castile to the nearby Escorial, but 
entailed a long sea journey from Palermo. It was generally rather unusual for 
a male dynast to choose burial in a cousin’s crypt, but this path had of course 
been opened by Philip III when he buried Filiberto’s brother in the Escorial. 
Filiberto’s express wish that Philip decide on his burial seems, in any case, 
quite a clear indication of where Filiberto’s primary dynastic loyalty lay: with 
the Spanish Habsburgs. In the same year Filiberto died, Philip IV lost another 
relative: his uncle, Archduke Charles of Austria, who had travelled to Madrid 
to take up the government of Portugal, only to die shortly after his arrival.106 
He, too, was quickly buried in the Escorial after leaving his place of burial up 
to his royal nephew. Neither Filiberto nor Charles expressly wrote that they 
wished to be buried in the Escorial, because this was obviously not some-
thing they could decide independently. It was up to the King. But leaving the 
choice up to the King signalled their wishes equally clearly. In any case, their 
pushing for burial in the Escorial led to a great change in the demographics 
of Spanish royal burial sites – from scattered bodies to a highly centralised 
community of the dead.

Why did peripheral relatives want to be buried in the Escorial? First, it 
probably mattered that the Escorial existed in the first place. Supply could 
very well create demand. And since the Escorial also included a monastery, 
prayers for the deceased’s soul were assured, making it a fortuitous place 
from the perspective of salvation. Furthermore, the prestige of the place and 
of the other deceased resting there (most importantly, Emperor Charles and 
the kings of Spain) made for a socially very desirable location. In the early 
eighteenth century, Johann Christian Lünig would ‘codify’ this sentiment in 
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his Theatrum Ceremoniale, noting that: ‘It is an honour and, depending on 
the status of the involved persons, a favour when a foreign prince or high-
ranking person is buried in the crypt of the lord at whose court he dies, pro-
vided that the rank of the deceased is lower than that of the ruler of the court, 
in whose dynastic crypt [Erb-Begräbniß] he is granted a place’.107 Burial in 
the Escorial thus bolstered the honour of people like Don Juan and Filiberto 
of Savoy, while also reinforcing their subordinate status relative to the kings 
of Spain.

But when we look at all the unlikely relatives who ended up in the Esco-
rial, it also appears that a combination of a sense of dynastic loyalty and 
resources was at play – two matters that were intimately connected. Charles’s 
widowed sisters likely felt very little connection to their countries of mar-
riage. Eleanor’s relationship with her husband’s successor was icy. Mary of 
Hungary had not set foot in Hungary for thirty years when she died. Once 
in Brussels and later Castile, they became financially dependent on their 
brother. People like Don Juan, Filiberto of Savoy and Archduke Charles the 
Posthumous had no great patrimony of their own either and were financially 
largely dependent on their Habsburg kinsmen. For Archduke Charles, his 
penury was among the reasons he had travelled to Spain in the first place 
(more on him in Chapter 6). Their main resource may well have been their 
service and loyalty to the Spanish crown, or at least to the family head, which 
might be rewarded post-mortem by a spot in the dynastic crypt – granting 
them an honourable burial, with masses said for their souls, and solidifying 
their membership of the family for all eternity. Their pushing to be buried 
in the dynastic crypt illuminates their lack of independent agency and their 
subordination to the Habsburg family head. Taken together, pull and push 
dynamics led to many more relatives being buried together; dynastic crypts 
would no longer be limited to rulers and spouses, but also included siblings, 
young children, illegitimate family members and even more distant relatives. 
Family heads and peripheral family members seemed to work together to 
strengthen the family head’s authority within the family group.

A Female Alternative: The Descalzas

So far, we have mainly discussed male relatives, apart from Charles V’s sis-
ters. Philip II had two sisters, Maria (1528–1603) and Juana (1535–1573), 
who followed a markedly different path. In contrast to their aunts, neither 
would be buried alongside the King in the Escorial. Both returned to Castile 
as widows and spent their final days in the Descalzas convent. Juana, the 
younger sister, had founded the monastery in 1557. She signed her testa-
ment on 30 August 1573, about a week before her death. She was actually 
at the Escorial during her final days – she both signed her testament and died 
there108 – which makes it almost ironic that she mentioned neither it nor her 
brother in the testament.109 She was very clear that she intended to be buried 
in her own foundation. She indicated the exact place where she wanted to 
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be buried (a small chapel which she used as her oratory) and left a model of 
the tomb to be erected.110 If burial in the Descalzas turned out to be impos-
sible, she wanted to be buried in whatever Franciscan monastery was nearest 
to her place of death – which again explicitly excluded the Escorial, which 
only housed a Hieronymite monastery. She left a lot of money to the convent, 
which allowed it to bear the costs. As a widowed princess of Portugal, she 
had the independent agency and resources to make it happen.111 There is no 
sign that Philip ever tried to change her mind.

The picture is slightly more complicated for Maria. She had had a hard 
time making up her mind about her place of burial. Apart from her testa-
ment, dated 1581, she left several codicils, dated 1589, 1594 and 1600. The 
testament was written when she was already widowed – her husband Maxi-
milian had died in 1576 – but still in Vienna, although planning to travel 
to Spain. Accordingly, she decided that she would be buried in the Chapel 
of Saint Wenceslaus, in St Vitus Cathedral in Prague, close to the graves of 
her husband and father-in-law, if she was still in Austria.112 But if she died 
in or on her way to Spain, she wished to be buried in her sister’s convent 
of Las Descalzas Reales.113 In a codicil drafted in 1589, Maria, by now in 
Spain, stated that she had told her confessor where she wanted to be buried 
and that he would communicate her choice to the King.114 Her next codicil, 
dated 25 February 1594, mentioned the Escorial as her preferred place of 
burial. However, to console her daughter Margaret, who had travelled with 
her to Spain and had become a nun in Las Descalzas, Maria wished her coffin  
to remain at the Descalzas convent until Margaret’s death, only to be taken to  
the Escorial later.115 In 1600 she changed her mind again and settled on the 
Descalzas convent as her permanent resting place.116 Yet two days after her 
death, Philip III ordered her remains to be transferred to the Escorial, after 
lying in state a few days in the Descalzas. However, when this order arrived, 
Maria had already been interred in the monastery’s church.117

We may cautiously draw the conclusion that Philip II put some pressure 
on her. He signed his own last testament on 7 March 1594, only weeks after 
Maria’s codicil naming San Lorenzo as her burial place, which suggests there 
was some coordination going on between the drafting of the two testaments. 
There are also other indications that Philip at least assumed his sister would 
be buried in the Escorial. A drawing in Fray Juan de San Gerónimo’s manu-
script displaying the crypt in 1586 shows open spaces for both Philip II and 
Maria.118 Furthermore, in 1591 a final decision was taken on the composition 
of the statue groups to be executed by Pompeo Leoni, and Maria was to be 
included.119 Her inclusion in the statue groups indicated that Philip expected 
her to be buried in the Escorial, since any important family members who 
were not actually buried there were not depicted in the statue groups either 
(like their sister Juana or Philip’s second wife Mary Tudor120). Maria’s codicil 
of 1589 did not specify a burial place, but it was probably not the Escorial. 
If it had been, the 1594 codicil would have been unnecessary. That she kept 
her preferred final resting place a secret might indicate that she did not want 
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to openly put a spoke in the wheel of Philip’s plans, which were reaching 
completion during the 1590s. One almost gets the impression that Maria 
only felt free to make her own choice after her brother’s death in 1598, opt-
ing for the Descalzas monastery again in her 1600 codicil. This codicil may 
have remained a secret. When she died, her grandson Philip III agreed to 
‘deposit’ her remains temporarily at the convent, but also expressed his inten-
tion to transfer her remains to the Escorial, ‘as his father and grandmother 
agreed’.121 This sounds of course like a reference to the 1594 codicil, not the 
final one from 1600. Philip III tried to have his grandmother transferred to 
the Escorial some years later, but pressure from Sister Margaret, Archduke 
Albert and Emperor Rudolf, as well as the fact that Maria had made it very 
clear herself that she preferred the Descalzas, dissuaded him – he did, how-
ever, move her to a more prestigious place within the monastery.122

Dynastic considerations did not enter into Maria’s choice of burial – and if 
they did, her concern was for her daughter Margaret and not for her brother 
or the wider family. While Maria’s financial position was not much better 
than her aunts’ since her penury was one of the reasons she had travelled 
to Castile in the first place,123 her sister’s monastery obviously provided a 
financially viable alternative to the Escorial. In any case, these two widowed 
sisters refused to go along with Philip’s plans for a dynastic burial, and as 
long as they had their independence as widows, all the King could do was 
respect their wishes. Clearly, not all relatives were pushing for a burial in the 
Escorial!

Juana and Maria did not only choose to be buried in the Descalzas mon-
astery, they had also chosen to live there, and this set a precedent for future 
generations of royal women. After Maria’s death, her daughter Margaret 
remained in the monastery. Margaret would assemble further female rela-
tives around her who dominated the Descalzas monastery until the early 
decades of the eighteenth century: her illegitimate niece Ana Dorotea (illegiti-
mate daughter of Rudolf II); her young cousin Catalina d’Este of Modena, 
daughter of Isabella of Savoy and granddaughter of the Infanta Catalina; 
and two other young illegitimate girls, Mariana and Margaret, daughters 
of the Cardinal-Infante Fernando and Philip IV’s illegitimate son Don Juan, 
respectively. Since all of them were either nuns or novices when they died, 
we may assume that all of them were buried at the monastery. If we think of 
people like the two Don Juans, Filiberto of Savoy and Archduke Charles the 
Posthumous as their male counterparts, a clear gender divide emerges: male 
relatives ended up in the Escorial, females in the Descalzas.

To every rule, there must be an exception. In this case, it is Margherita of 
Savoy, sister of Filippo and Filiberto, cousin of Philip IV and last Habsburg 
vicereine of Portugal. After the loss of Portugal (1640), she spent most of her 
years at the Descalzas as well, although not as a nun. When she died in 1655, 
we might have expected her to find her final resting place there along with 
her relatives. However, she died on her way to Italy, having left the Descalzas 
and while preparing to leave the country altogether. Death surprised her in 
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the town of Miranda de Ebro, near Burgos. The Madrid-based journalist 
Barrionuevo expected her remains to be taken to the Escorial, the usual des-
tination for deceased relatives – alongside her two brothers.124 But instead, 
Philip IV ordered her to be taken to the monastery of Las Huelgas, outside 
Burgos (about ninety kilometres from Miranda de Ebro).125 There, the ab-
bess arranged a funeral, celebrated by the archbishop of Burgos and attended 
by the chapter and the city authorities. There were signs of royal status:  
Margherita’s coffin entered the monastery through the ‘puerta real’ (royal 
gate), which gave access to the cloistered area and which was only used by 
kings, queens and other royal persons. Since none of bearers was allowed to 
pass through it, the coffin was placed on the shoulders of several of the nuns 
once it passed the threshold. The nuns placed the remains close to the tombs 
of Alfonso VIII and his spouse, the founders of the monastery, in the nuns’ 
choir.126 While this burial was a novelty, Philip IV followed royal tradition 
in disregarding her testament, which had stipulated a burial in Mantua (and 
the Duchess was reported to carry such wealth with her that this would have 
been financially possible). It is hard to say why she was not taken to the Es-
corial. Las Huelgas was nearby, and proximity had traditionally determined 
the place of burial and would lower the costs. But the reason that she had 
left the court and was on her way to Italy may have constituted a severing 
of ties with the dynasty that essentially disqualified her for an Escorial, or 
Descalzas, burial.

Independence

Not all relatives were equally exposed to royal pull dynamics or were enticed 
to push for a burial in the Escorial. For these dynamics to work, the individu-
als subjected to them needed to be dependent to a certain extent on the king 
of Spain. More independent relatives might make other choices. One of Don 
Juan’s successors as governor of the Low Countries was Alessandro Farnese. 
Alessandro died in the Low Countries in 1592, while serving as governor. But 
he was also a ruling prince in his duchies of Parma and Piacenza. After his 
death, his corpse was dressed in a monk’s habit and taken to the church of 
the abbey where he had died. Once embalmed, the remains were taken first to 
Brussels and then to Parma, where Alessandro was interred in March 1593, 
in the small capuchin church of Santa Maria del Tempio, next to his wife who 
had predeceased him in 1577. All of this was according to his wishes.127 Even 
if he had spent the larger part of his life in Habsburg service and had never 
in practice governed his own duchies, as an independent prince he insisted on 
being buried in his own state. The church would serve as the dynastic burial 
site of the dukes of Parma until 1812.128

Alessandro’s successor was Archduke Ernest, who also died while in of-
fice (1595). He was an independent prince-in-waiting: as the second-born 
archduke in the Austrian branch, he could not boast any independent patri-
mony, but he was the main heir to his childless elder brother Rudolf II and he 



112  Communities of the Dead

was soon to marry his Spanish cousin Infanta Isabella, who would bring the 
Low Countries as dowry. However, the marriage had not been concluded yet 
when he died, and he was still merely a governor. His testament was unclear 
about his wishes: he enigmatically left the decision up to God’s will.129 His 
mother, Empress Maria, would have preferred a burial in Prague, alongside 
his grandparents and father.130 But Ernest’s immediate dynastic superior, his 
elder brother Rudolf II, did not want to bring his brother home because of 
the costs this would entail. Instead, he asked his ambassador in Spain to 
discuss with Philip II if he wanted Ernest’s remains to stay in the Low Coun-
tries or be moved elsewhere.131 The Emperor may have had the Escorial in 
mind, the last resting place of the previous governor Don Juan as well as 
Ernest’s brother Wenceslaus. Although an immediate response from Philip II 
is not known, it was apparently decided not to bring him to the Escorial – 
otherwise one assumes that would have happened.

Ernest’s remains stayed in the Low Countries. Only two months after 
Ernest’s death (and only weeks after the news had arrived in Castile), Philip 
decided that his younger brother Albert would be his successor – as governor 
of the Low Countries but in the longer run also as Isabella’s groom.132 Albert 
was included in the talks on Ernest’s burial, since he was in Madrid at that 
time.133 Over the next years, Albert would have a sumptuous monument built 
for his brother in the Low Countries that harked back to the monuments of 
the later dukes of Burgundy – for instance, in the use of black marble from 
Dinant, which also had been used for the monument of Philip the Bold in 
Champmol.134 Albert possibly made the decision to build the monument in 
1599.135 If so, the decision was taken after his marriage with Isabella had 
been concluded and he had in fact become the new sovereign lord of the Low 
Countries. As such, he may have felt it was his responsibility as a sovereign 
prince to bury his predecessor, and doing so would underline his own au-
thority and independence. Dynastic independence, or its promise, thus drove 
princes away from dynastic crypts.136

Conclusion

By 1700, the crypts in the Escorial were the final resting place of dozens of 
Habsburgs: ten in the pantheon of kings and a further thirty-four in the pan-
theon of princes. Such a population was enormous compared with medieval 
royal tombs, which held only a few individuals each. Not just the numbers 
but also the categories of relatives had changed: kings and queens, princes 
and princesses, young and old, legitimate and illegitimate all rested together. 
Little ‘infantitas’ would no longer be buried wherever they happened to die, 
and the remains of some unlikely candidates for royal burials – a bastard, a 
cognatic cousin – would travel many miles to reach their final destination. 
The post-mortem Habsburg dynasty included all those individuals who were 
mentioned in the final sections of genealogies, dealing with the dynasty’s cur-
rent generations and thus representing the horizontal dynasty alongside the 
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vertical dynasty. The early modern Habsburg community of the dead that 
had started to take shape from the 1540s was a far cry indeed from the 
fragmentation we saw among the medieval Habsburgs, Trastámaras and the 
Valois of Burgundy; it had become centralised and stratified.

From both ends of the dynastic spectrum – centre and periphery – we see 
powerful tendencies towards centralisation. Kings pulled in their relatives, 
and more and more relatives were eager to oblige. On the whole, the so-
cial dynamics shaping the demographics of the Escorial reveal the increasing 
power of the family head. The result of his greater power was a more unified 
dynastic front after death: the community of the Habsburg dead in the Esco-
rial radiated a powerful image of cultural and social unity, and it constructed 
the dynastic family group in a radically new way compared to medieval prec-
edents. While even sisters were well represented during Charles V’s early en-
deavours to expand the post-mortem dynastic group, the population of the 
crypts in the Escorial would become more and more skewed towards male 
relatives, since female relatives tended to be buried in the Descalzas.

If we combine our insights from Chapter 1 with our present conclusions, 
we might argue that the tendencies towards the expansion of the dynastic 
community of the dead were rooted in the distribution of power and re-
sources within the family. The relative freedom granted to family members to 
choose their own place of burial was quite closely linked to the resources at 
their disposal, and these were increasingly curtailed. The emergence of those 
splendid family mausoleums in the seventeenth century really tells a story of 
lost independence, lost agency and a greater centralisation of power within 
the family. The onset of primogeniture in both branches effectively deprived 
family members of independent resources and agency, as well as the author-
ity to erect an individual tomb for themselves. Those who still boasted such 
independent means invariably arranged for their own burial. Widows – or 
should we say, some widows – also enjoyed this independence, as Juana and 
Maria showed. But it was not just a case of the kings of Spain imposing their 
will on their relatives. Impecunious relatives were at the same time willing to 
accept a place in the dynastic crypt, which gave them honour and ensured 
that prayers would be said for their salvation: dynastic centralisation was a 
two-way street.
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In the previous chapters we met Habsburg relatives like the illegitimate Don 
Juan or the Savoyard heir Filippo Emanuele whose appearance in genealogies 
or whose burial in the dynastic crypt seems unconventional. That they were 
there nevertheless has to do with their role as members of what we might call 
the Habsburg ruling family group: those relatives who were deemed close 
enough to the family head, by both the family head himself and local elites, to 
be able to represent him and govern in his name as a royal relative. They were 
necessary to fill a number of offices and governorships that were traditionally 
held by close relatives of the ruler, like the governorships of the Low Coun-
tries1 and Castile2 (and to a lesser extent of Portugal and Sicily). For each 
Habsburg monarch, we can point out a right-hand man or woman who filled 
such offices and played a dominant role in his reign: Charles V was flanked 
by his sister Mary of Hungary; Philip II by his nephew Albert of Austria; 
Philip III by Filiberto of Savoy; Philip IV by his cousin Marguerite of Savoy-
Mantua – a rather less successful story – and Charles II by his half-brother 
Don Juan. Phrased like this, we can even see a pattern emerging: widows 
dominating early on during Habsburg rule, but later being overtaken first by 
nephews, then by cousins, while during the final decades of Habsburg rule 
there was really only one possible candidate for any sort of position, namely 
the King’s illegitimate half-brother.

Such an overview obscures many other members who played similar roles 
or who might have played them if they had lived longer. But it also gives 
us an idea of the sort of relatives that made up the ruling group: siblings, 
nieces/nephews and cousins. In addition, this short list of ‘star relatives’ in-
dicates that different rulers employed different kinds of relatives: Charles V 
had nephews and cousins as well, but he was aided by his widowed sister; 
Philip II had widowed sisters too, but he chose his nephews. Clearly, we 
cannot take the practices of one reign to be typical of the entire period of 
Habsburg rule. Widowed sisters did not always govern the Low Countries, 
and neither did nephews. As always, demography was a factor in the shifting 
roles of Habsburg relatives. Philip II and Charles II had illegitimate half-
brothers whom they could rely on, but Philip III and Philip IV did not – as 
far as we know, at least. But the following chapters argue that there is more 
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at play than mere demography. Over time, certain roles were created for 
certain types of relatives, and the careers of previous generations created pos-
sibilities and even expectations for the next. Philip II’s nephew Alessandro 
Farnese paved the way for future royal nephews, making it easier for them 
to follow in his footsteps, and even giving them the feeling of being entitled 
to that. Meanwhile, Infanta Juana changed the way Habsburg widows exer-
cised power – no longer in the council chambers but from the cloister – and 
thereby handed a blueprint to her successors in that role. The ‘nephew role’ 
and ‘widow role’ became socially institutionalised. To identify the dynam-
ics that went into institutionalising such roles, we must consider Habsburg 
relatives’ roles in governing over a longer period. This is what the following 
chapters will do. The present chapter focuses on Charles V’s reign; the next 
will concern itself with Philip II’s reign and Chapters 6 and 7 deal with the 
seventeenth century.

This chapter has been titled ‘A Widow’s World’ since the mere thought of 
Habsburg rule in the sixteenth century invokes a procession of strong-willed 
women: Margaret of Austria, Mary of Hungary and Margaret of Parma as 
governors of the Low Countries, as well as Empress Isabella and Infanta 
Juana holding the fort in Castile. Of these women, Mary of Hungary best en-
compasses all that historians like to ascribe to Habsburg women: willpower, 
competence, loyalty, a streak of open-mindedness with regard to Luther’s 
new ideas and a steady hand as an art patron and collector.3 But were they 
typical of Habsburg rule? Was their role typical for the women of this fam-
ily? If we focus on dynastic women after 1560, another image appears: pious 
widows and spouses seeking out monastic spaces, in the Descalzas in Madrid 
or at their courts in Brussels. Seclusion (recogimiento) is perhaps more typi-
cal of these women than the governors’ public role. Furthermore, many suf-
fered occasionally from ‘melancholy’; we can find mental health problems 
among both Habsburg men and women.4 If we count seclusion and depres-
sion among the characteristics of Habsburg women, we should perhaps even 
consider Joanna ‘the Mad’ as a sort of ‘trendsetter’ for Habsburg females. 
Maybe that is taking this thought experiment too far. Yet it is important not 
to see the roles of the triummulierate of Low Countries’ governors as the 

Figure 4.1  Dramatis personae.
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norm; rather, they represent an early phase of Habsburg dynastic rule that 
was followed by other phases, which offered rather different roles to the dy-
nasty’s women.

Parents, Consorts and Heirs

The Habsburg dynasty went through several phases of demographic drought. 
The later fifteenth century was one such period. The generations born then 
were tiny: a brother-and-sister pair was all that stood between power and 
extinction in both Maximilian I’s generation (whose sister Kunigunde mar-
ried the duke of Saxony) and that of his children, Philip the Handsome and 
Margaret.5 Problems were compounded when early deaths meant precarious 
regency periods. In 1482, Philip the Handsome was only four years old when 
his mother’s death turned him into the new lord of the Low Countries. When 
he died himself, in 1506, his eldest son was only six. This lack of adult rul-
ers led to a need for governors. But that this governor should be a dynastic 
widow was far from clear. The story of the legendary Habsburg women in 
charge as governors in the monarchy’s core territories begins, of course, with 
Archduchess Margaret of Austria (1480–1530), daughter of Mary, the last 
Valois duchess of the Low Countries, and Maximilian of Austria. Childless 
after three marriages, she retired to her native country and became its gov-
ernor on behalf of her father and her little nephew Charles of Luxemburg, 
revered by the local elites. But this story is mainly a construction after the 
fact. Margaret’s road to power was in fact rocky.

When Duchess Mary died in 1482, the Low Countries embarked on a 
troubled history with its governors. Maximilian, Mary’s widower and father 
to the new toddler duke Philip (born 1478), intended to take power but was 
unable to establish his authority against the interests of such powerful towns 
like Bruges and Ghent, who refused to recognise him as regent for his son.6 
Maximilian’s own appointee as regent, his cousin Albert of Saxony, had to 
reconquer parts of the country in order to exercise Maximilian’s authority.7 
His regency has been called a ‘period of violent power struggles’.8 While 
Maximilian came out on top, the power of the local towns and estates caused 
young Philip, once he had grown up and taken control himself, to govern 
consensually, always making sure to keep the estates happy.9 When he be-
came heir to the crown of Castile by right of his spouse Joanna of Castile and 
travelled there in 1504 and again in 1506, he appointed loyal local noblemen 
as his governors: in 1504, Engelbert of Nassau took the honours; in 1506, he 
appointed William of Croÿ-Chievres.

Philip did not consider his sister, who had become a widow in 1504, at 
all for the governorship at this time. When he was preparing for his second 
journey to Castile in 1505, his sister Margaret had travelled to Cleves to meet 
him with the intention of remaining in the Low Countries as governor.10 But 
the siblings could not reach an agreement and Margaret returned to Savoy.11 
Instead of appointing his sister governor, Philip started negotiations with 
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Henry VII Tudor about a fourth marriage for her – dynastic women’s pri-
mary job.12 However, Philip died in the middle of the negotiations, and since 
Margaret was reluctant to go through with it, Henry graciously bowed out.13

With Philip gone, sovereignty over the Low Countries was again embod-
ied in a child, the very young Charles. This created a power vacuum that 
needed to be filled. The local estates saw no alternative to offering the regency 
to his grandfather Maximilian.14 Unable to take up the regency personally 
and unwilling to leave the country in the hands of some local nobleman, 
Maximilian summoned his daughter Margaret to join him in the Low Coun-
tries and become his representative in the regency.15 However, this did not 
indicate complete trust in the widow yet: Maximilian floated the possibility 
of appointing the elector of Trier, a second cousin, as co-regent or at least 
her chancellor16 – which would have left Margaret serving more as a figure-
head flanked by a high-ranking churchman than an independent governor. 
However, Margaret managed to establish her independence as governor until 
Charles came of age in 1515. At this point, the local aristocrats remembered 
their role during previous minorities and convinced the teenaged ruler to 
dispense with Margaret’s services.17 When Charles travelled to Castile for the 
first time in 1516, Margaret was not reinstated as sole regent, but instead be-
came part of a larger regency council, while Henry of Nassau – nephew and 
heir of the erstwhile governor Engelbert – was made commander-in-chief of 
the army.18 However, her authority was expanded after Charles’s election to 
the imperial title – and his realisation that he could not return to govern the 
Low Countries himself.19 Now she could finally develop the role of governor 
in the ruler’s absence, instead of his minority, that would become a bench-
mark for her successors. After 1519, Margaret’s governorship essentially be-
came a permanent fixture and was no longer a stopgap measure to bridge the 
few years until the ruler’s maturity.

The governors of Castile in the 1520s and 1530s never took on such a per-
manent mantle; rather, they only covered for a ruler who, when on the scene 
himself, would take over the reins of government again. The governorship 
role would consist of a female figurehead flanked by churchman, the female 
figurehead preferably being a consort.20 Shortly after Charles came of age, 
his Aragonese grandfather Ferdinand, who had also controlled Castile, died 
(1516). The young ruler made plans to travel to Spain to take charge of his 
Iberian kingdoms. Before Charles’s arrival in Castile, the kingdom was gov-
erned jointly by two cardinals: Cisneros, the archbishop of Toledo, who had 
served as governor on previous occasions, and Adrian of Utrecht, Charles’s 
preceptor, whom he had sent ahead as his envoy.21 While Cisneros held great 
authority in the kingdom as a previous governor and as archbishop of Toledo, 
Adrian held far less authority and represented the fateful Flemish ‘vultures’ 
who descended on Castile to take up the best positions, poisoning relations 
between the new king and the local elites. Furthermore, among Charles’s first 
actions upon arrival was to send his younger brother Ferdinand, born and 
raised in Spain, to the Low Countries.22 The Castilian Cortes were nervous 
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lest they be left without any backup to the King: they had pleaded with him 
not to send Ferdinand away before he had married and produced an heir. 
Ferdinand’s absence did not leave Charles as the sole representative of the 
new dynasty, since his eldest sister Eleanor had joined him on his journey. 
However, she, too, soon left to marry the king of Portugal,23 causing much 
dismay again among the Castilians, who could hardly count on their new 
king remaining there permanently. The local elites were adamant that either 
an heir or a spouse should be available in case the King departed.

A surrogate ‘spouse’ was soon at the scene. Eleanor’s marriage to the Por-
tuguese king lasted only until the latter’s death in 1521. Charles immediately 
negotiated with the new king for her return.24 While her use as a marriage-
able princess – she was still only twenty-four years old – was most likely 
Charles’s main motivation, she could also represent the dynasty in Castile. 
After her return from Portugal, Eleanor played an important role as leading 
lady at her brother’s court. She entertained the court and spread joy; Charles 
visited her every evening.25 In short, Eleanor served the social functions that a 
queen consort might otherwise have performed. When Charles left the coun-
try to go to war against France in 1522 and 1523, he appointed his sister as 
regent in Castile.26

But sisters might be married off (Eleanor would marry the king of France in 
1530) so the Castilian Cortes kept pushing for a real consort. After Charles’s 
disastrous first years in his new kingdom, when he gave all the best jobs to 
his Netherlandish courtiers and managed to provoke a widespread rebellion 
against foreign rule, the local Cortes pressured him to marry an Iberian bride. 
They suggested Isabella of Portugal, daughter of King Manuel I and Maria 
of Aragon, and thus a granddaughter of the Catholic monarchs.27 That she 
would be a suitable governor if he should leave the country was part of her 
appeal.28 When Charles did again leave in 1529, Isabella indeed remained as 
governor, but – like Eleanor – flanked by the president of the Council of Cas-
tile, the archbishop of Santiago (and future archbishop of Toledo and cardi-
nal) Juan Pardo Tavera.29 That female governors were essential to Habsburg 
rule had become quite obvious during these first decades of the sixteenth cen-
tury, but that such governors should all follow in Margaret’s footsteps and 
develop into independent-minded stateswomen was less obvious. Eleanor 
and Isabella of Portugal offer alternative scenarios. The Castilian regency 
was headed by the ruler’s consort, but the task of governing was left primar-
ily to the kingdom’s cardinals – Fonseca and Tavera.

However, while Isabella initially served as a figurehead, she gained more 
autonomy as she accumulated experience.30 In this sense, the regencies of 
the 1530s took on ever more characteristics of Aunt Margaret’s tenure. This 
image is reinforced by Margaret’s successor in the Low Countries, Charles’s 
other sister, Mary of Hungary. The queen of Hungary was widowed in 
1526 and remained in Hungary for some years to consolidate her brother 
Ferdinand’s succession and serve as his regent.31 Even before Margaret of 
Austria’s death (in 1530), Charles had sounded Mary out about the Brussels 
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posting. As always, several candidates were floated as successors to Marga-
ret, among them Charles’s aunt Catherine of Aragon.32 This suggestion was 
actually made by some cardinals in Rome, who undoubtedly thought it might 
be a good solution to the matter of Henry VIII’s divorce.33 Catherine’s pur-
ported candidacy shows that the women of the family were by now natural 
candidates for such a position – even in the eyes of foreign observers who 
were interested in getting rid of troublesome characters. However, the pri-
mary mission of dynastic women was still marriage. While Charles’s eldest 
sister Eleanor was floated as a possible regent of the Low Countries in 1528, 
this was in the context of marriage negotiations with the Elector Palatine 
Frederick; in the same letter, a marriage between his younger sister Mary 
and the Scottish king was suggested – and rejected so as not to alienate the 
English.34 Mary, however, took the Brussels post, and, as Geoffrey Parker 
contends, she was the first dynastic governor to be groomed personally by 
Charles before taking on her demanding new role.35 Instead of putting Mary 
under the tutelage of a few local lords, he reorganised the local administra-
tion into three councils and gave her broad powers.36

If Isabella became the true consort while other women, like Margaret after 
1519 and later her successor Mary of Hungary, played the role of consorts in 
other localities, we can also see how not only Charles’s son Philip but also his 
brother Ferdinand played the role of son/heir. Once a son was available, he 
was always the preferred governor – as we saw in Chapter 1, sons were often 
requested by elites in both the Low Countries and Portugal. After Isabella’s 
death in 1539, an eleven-year-old Philip was left as a figurehead governor 
of Castile, under the guidance of Tavera again.37 To bolster the authority of 
Charles’s brother Ferdinand as his lieutenant in the Empire, he was elected 
king of the Romans in 1531. Here as well, being the heir provided the best 
credentials for serving as governor, certainly in the eyes of local elites. As 
further evidence to back up this impression, we might consider the fact that 
Philip II chose to cancel his proposed journey to the Low Countries in 1568 
after the deaths of both his consort and his heir, leaving no one to take charge 
of Castile in his absence.38 However, while we will encounter male governors 
later on in the sixteenth and seventeenth centuries, they were normally not 
heirs – with, perhaps, the exception of Ernest and Albert. Indeed, the employ-
ment of princes close to the succession, like Philip IV’s brothers, was deemed 
problematic precisely for that reason and only became an option after the 
birth of an heir of the King’s body who displaced them. It seems there was a 
desire to avoid having the heir to a territory govern that territory.

The Others

We can argue that the ruling family group around Charles V consisted of his 
inner circle of siblings, spouses and children, who all served in the role of 
either ‘consort’ or ‘heir’. Such a use of relatives was quite traditional in late-
medieval and early modern monarchies on the Iberian Peninsula.39 But we 
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met other types of relatives in the previous chapters: bastards and nephews 
who earned their place in genealogies and in the dynastic crypt. Charles had 
such relatives as well but chose not to employ them. That indicates that their 
place in the dynasty and the monarchy changed over the sixteenth century. 
To establish a baseline, we will discuss how Charles treated the illegitimate 
children of Maximilian I, and his cognatic and agnatic nieces and nephews.

At the beginning of the early modern period, the House of Austria was 
represented by two young men, the brothers Charles and Ferdinand. But they 
were not the only male descendants of Maximilian I at the time. The Em-
peror had fathered several bastards during his final years, who were around 
the age of Charles and his siblings.40 These bastards represent something of 
a puzzle: since not all of them were acknowledged, it is hard to know how 
many of them there were and historians cannot quite agree on their number 
and names.41 While it is clear that the old Emperor had left both girls and 
boys behind, only three of Maximilian’s bastard sons – George, Leopold and 
Cornelius – are named in the correspondence of their nephews Charles and 
Ferdinand.42 Some historians assume that these three imperial bastards were 
raised alongside the legitimate Habsburg children, at the court of Margaret, 
their aunt or half-sister.43 However, Le Glay, editor of Maximilian’s corre-
spondence with his daughter Margaret, mentions a letter from 8 February 
1519 – barely a month after Maximilian’s death – in which a certain ‘Graff 
Bal’ recommends two of the boys, George and Leopold, to the Archduchess, 
asking her to accept Leopold at her court, and to send George to Archduke 
Ferdinand, who was also residing in the Low Countries at the time.44 This 
would indicate that the two boys had not been at Margaret’s court until 
then, and if they arrived in 1519, most of the legitimate imperial children 
had already left the coop. The letter suggests, furthermore, that the boys’ 
putative father was Guillaume du Guislain (Pingeon), who was Maximilian’s 
‘varlet de chambre et garde de[s] robes’ – and thus that their real identities 
had been secret until then, at least officially.45 The date of the letters suggests, 
of course, that the children’s identities, and perhaps even their existence, only 
came to light after their father’s death.

Once their existence came to light, the little group of young bastard aunts 
and uncles, ranging from infants to adolescents, became the financial respon-
sibility of Charles and Ferdinand. 46 George, whose birth is dated around 
1505, was probably the eldest of the set.47 When Cornelius was mentioned, 
he was often called ‘the brother of George’, putting him in a subordinate 
position vis-à-vis George.48 This formulation may also indicate that George 
and Cornelius – but not Leopold – shared a mother, who may have been 
from Salzburg, where Cornelius was born.49 Leopold’s year of birth is of-
ten given as between 1513 and 1515, but his funerary slab mentions that 
he died in 1557 at the age of fifty-three50 – which would put his birth in 
1504 and make him older than George. It is quite possible that the funerary 
slab gets it wrong. When we analyse the family correspondence during these 
years, it becomes clear that George was the first to be taken care of, which 



130  A Widow’s World

again suggests he was indeed the eldest. His destiny lay in Castile, where he 
arrived in 1522, while the other boys and ‘les filles’ remained in the Low 
Countries the next few years, at the expense of Ferdinand.51 Soon after his 
arrival, George was rumoured to receive the co-adjutorship of the archbishop 
of Toledo, the richest see in Spain.52 The see of Toledo had just become vacant 
due to the death of William of Croÿ, himself rather controversially appointed 
as a twenty-year-old Burgundian foreigner because he was the nephew of 
Charles’s favourite courtier. Considering the outrage young Croÿ’s appoint-
ment had caused in Castile, George’s appointment seems like a particularly 
insensitive suggestion, so, perhaps wisely, George let it be known that he 
wished to dedicate himself to his studies before taking on such a responsibil-
ity.53 Surely, George would be seen just as much as a foreigner as Croÿ (and, 
indeed, as Charles himself), since as a bastard son of the Austrian Maximil-
ian, he had no ties whatsoever to Castile. It turned out to be difficult to place 
George in any diocese in Castile. In 1525, Ferdinand advised Charles to ap-
point George to another diocese in Castile. He also suggested that George 
join Charles’s court – the Emperor was also in Castile at the time – where he 
could get to know all the local grandees and become acquainted with state 
business so that ‘he might all the better serve in whatever role you com-
mand’54 – and become a more acceptable choice for any of the kingdom’s 
dioceses, no doubt. However, George would fail to secure the see of Burgos 
some years later.55

Despite these early failures, Castile might still have been a better place 
to look for clerical careers for the bastards than elsewhere. As Ferdinand 
would remark later, it was even more difficult for Maximilian’s bastards to 
build a career in the Empire because of the strong stigma attached to bas-
tardy there.56 Indeed, an effort to place the younger brother Cornelius in a 
church office in Klosterneukirch was rejected by the local chapter.57 Nev-
ertheless, George would find his first appointment in the diocese of Brixen 
(Bressanone, in the Habsburg county of Tyrol), initially as an administrator 
for a period of five years, but he remained there until 1538.58 In that year, 
George renounced Brixen and became archbishop of Valencia. Some years 
later, in 1540–41, Charles forced the chapter of Liège to accept George as co-
adjutor to its bishop.59 The current bishop renounced his see in exchange for 
a generous pension, and in 1544 George was invested.60 The later appoint-
ments were certainly made more palatable to the local church authorities by 
George’s rising stature as a loyal Habsburg servant. He could often be found 
in Brussels, where he supported Mary of Hungary in diplomatic missions.61 
He also met with the Emperor regularly and was interred in the cathedral 
after his death.62 A testament to George’s renown is his capture by the French 
king Francis I in 1541, as he travelled through France to the Low Countries. 
Holding bishoprics in Tyrol, Valencia and the Low Countries, George had a 
transnational career worthy of his Habsburg birth.

While George seems to have been rather active in imperial politics, his 
brothers had a decidedly less high political profile. Leopold makes few 
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appearances in the sources. He had become the responsibility of Ferdinand, 
receiving funds from the Vienna treasury. He studied in Padua and then em-
barked on a clerical career in the Low Countries, where he held a position in 
Tournai.63 In 1541, he was appointed to the diocese of Córdoba, among the 
richest of the Iberian Peninsula, and he seems to have indulged in a luxury 
lifestyle in his diocese.64 He left a young son at his death – Maximiliano, 
illegitimate of course – who could not inherit from his father, but was still 
taken care of by the court: he was given a household in Alcalà along with 
Don Juan, Don Carlos and Alessandro Farnese and was later appointed to 
the bishoprics of Cádiz, Segovia and Santiago de Compostela.65 The third 
brother, Cornelius, had also been destined for a clerical career, but had let it 
be known that he was not inclined to such a life. Instead, like Leopold, we 
find him studying in Padua in 1523. He remained the financial responsibility 
of Ferdinand because he drew an income from the lordship of Enns, outside 
of Linz. In 1527, Ferdinand told him to go and study in Vienna, which is 
when we lose track of him in the sources.66

While we see no trace of any marriage plans for them and they were clearly 
steered towards celibacy, Pope Clement VIII (Medici) did propose George or 
Cornelius as a bridegroom for one of his kinswomen, the idea being they 
could then be invested with the duchy of Milan, which had reverted to the 
Empire after the death of its last duke in 1535.67 While it seems unlikely 
that a bastard would have been invested with an imperial fief (considering 
the scandal this would cause among the imperial princes), one understands 
the Pope’s reasoning: in the 1530s, the bastard uncles were the only male 
Habsburgs of marriageable age who could be considered for a Medici bride. 
However, Milan was far too strategic a territory to hand over to one of the 
bastards. Ferdinand pleaded with Charles to receive it himself, but Charles 
chose to invest his son with it.68

The fact that two of the bastards ended up in a clerical career was nothing 
out of the ordinary, particularly when seen in the light of dynastic traditions 
in the Low Countries, where several ducal bastards had served as bishops. 
Charles V himself had appointed a bastard of his great-great-grandfather 
Philip the Good as bishop of Utrecht in 1517. A comparable tradition ex-
isted in Aragon.69 Around the same time, Alonso of Aragon (1470–1520), 
a bastard of Ferdinand the Catholic – and thus another uncle – served as 
archbishop of Zaragoza and viceroy of Aragon. The see of Zaragoza had 
previously been held by an illegitimate uncle of Ferdinand the Catholic, and 
Alonso was succeeded in that office by two of his own illegitimate sons.70 (In 
fact, in 1575, when the incumbent archbishop, the younger son of Alonso, 
was already well into his seventies, Khevenhüller mentioned the post for 
Archduke Albert.71) Several illegitimate daughters of Ferdinand the Catholic 
also found religious careers, as nuns and abbesses in the convent in Madri-
gal de las Altas Torres, outside Madrid.72 No such tradition seems to have 
existed in Castile. Apart from a few Castilian and Aragonese infantes who 
had been archbishops of Toledo in the thirteenth and fourteenth centuries, 
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there really was no tradition of royal bishops in Castile; neither did one exist 
in Austria, where the stain of bastardy was a more formidable barrier. After 
initial doubts, both George and Leopold were accepted in Castile. In fact, 
their careers served as a blueprint again for Charles’s own illegitimate son, 
Don Juan, whom the Emperor intended for a clerical career too as late as the 
mid-1550s.73 When discussing these bastards, we can clearly see that Charles 
and Ferdinand, as the new family heads, felt a keen obligation to provide for 
their family members, but no obligation to place them in any high-ranking 
governing position. We can hardly argue that these uncles played a significant 
role in governing the Habsburg monarchies; bastards quite simply did not 
form part of the ruling family group.

Cognatic Nieces and Nephews: Denmark and Savoy

Another category of relatives who were present in genealogies and in the 
crypt was that of sororal or cognatic nephews, born of the ruler’s sisters – 
people like Archduke Albert and Prince Filiberto of Savoy. Before Charles 
and Ferdinand were married and started families themselves in the 1520s, 
their sisters had already started to give birth to a new generation of relatives 
who were strictly speaking not Habsburgs. But Charles showed a keen inter-
est in them. In 1519, his eldest sister, Eleanor, had married the king of Portu-
gal and given birth to a son (named Carlos), who did not survive long, and 
a daughter. When her husband died in 1521, Charles first worked towards 
Eleanor’s return to Castile, against the wishes of the new king of Portugal, 
who considered marrying her.74 But it was not just Eleanor herself who was a 
target for Charles, her little daughter Maria was too. Left with an inheritance 
worth 600,000 ducats, the Emperor would have liked to bring her to Castile 
as well – no doubt as a future spouse for either another Habsburg or an ally.75 
However, he was rebuffed by the new king of Portugal, the girl’s half-brother, 
who managed to hold on to this dynastic pawn himself.

But other young nieces and nephews did find their way to Charles’s 
courts in Castile and the Low Countries. Among them were Prince Hans of 
Denmark and his two sisters (Fig. 4.2). They were children of Elisabeth of 
Austria, the second oldest sister of Charles V. Born in 1501, she had married 
the Oldenburg Christian II, king of Denmark, Norway and Sweden, in 1514 
and gave birth to their first child, Hans, in 1518. This boy was the very first 
child born in the next generation. Several more children were born in the 
years that followed, among them the very Habsburg-named twins Philip 
and Maximilian, who died young, and two daughters Dorothea (1520) and 
Christina (1521). In 1523, Christian II lost his thrones and was forced to 
leave Denmark. The Low Countries was a logical destination for the exiled 
family and Elisabeth and the children returned ‘home’.76 While Elisabeth 
and Christian travelled around Europe to gain support for their cause, the 
children stayed in Malines, Aunt Margaret’s residence.77 Hans’s future lay 
in Denmark: Christian was focused on regaining his throne with Hans as 
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his presumed heir,78 while Charles and Ferdinand, meanwhile, intended for 
the boy to be elected king as successor to the elderly usurper, his great-uncle 
Frederick, the duke of Holstein, bypassing his father.79

As long as the children’s parents were alive, they decided on the children’s 
futures. But in January 1526, Elisabeth died, still only twenty-four years old. 
By this time, Christian had made himself very suspect in Habsburg eyes by 
seemingly adopting Lutheranism and supporting Lutherans in the Low Coun-
tries.80 This spurred Charles to take firm control of the children,81 since his 
position was that the entire dynasty should support the Old Church.82 This 
would apply to the Oldenburg children as well; whether their futures were to 
be in Scandinavia or elsewhere in Europe, as Habsburg dynastic pawns their 
religious orthodoxy would be a matter of great importance. Furthermore, in 
January 1526, the young Danes were still the only representatives of the new 
Habsburg generation, and Hans was the only boy; neither Charles nor any 
of his siblings had any children yet, except Eleanor who had a little daughter 
(Maria, 1521–1577).83 This made particularly Hans a hugely important heir 
to the Habsburg thrones – if disaster struck and Charles and Ferdinand died 
suddenly (like their father, who died after physical exertion in the Castil-
ian heat at age twenty-eight), he could claim large swathes of the Habsburg 

Figure 4.2 � Dorothea, Hans and Christina of Denmark, by Jan Gossaert aka Jan 
Mabuse, 1526. 

Source: Alamy.
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patrimony. So intertwined reasons of religion and dynasty compelled Charles 
to order his aunt Margaret to gain custody of them after Elisabeth’s death.84 
Naturally, Christian was not prepared to relinquish control of his children 
quite that easily. He set heavy demands, for money and troops,85 and Mar-
garet had to put a lot of pressure on him before they reached a compro-
mise:86 Margaret agreed to pay the expenses Christian had incurred in the 
Low Countries, including the costs of his wife’s burial, and in exchange she 
could take custody of the children. As she wrote to Charles, this meant that 
the Emperor now had to be ‘pere et mere’ (father and mother) to them.87 The 
three young Danish royals were to be raised in the Low Countries by their 
Catholic maternal family.88 Margaret appointed preceptors whose Catholi-
cism was beyond reproach,89 while trying to keep Christian (still exiled and 
looking for support) at arm’s length.90

This intervention to take control of the Danish prince and his sisters shows 
clearly enough how valuable they were to Charles and, indeed, that their 
uncle saw them as part of the Habsburg family. He had taken responsibility 
for them and would act as their dynastic superior from now on. In a letter 
of 1545, he expressed his attitude towards them as one of ‘paternelle amyté’ 
(paternal friendship).91 From Castile, Charles’s spouse Isabella sent regular 
gifts of clothing to her nieces as well.92 Throughout the 1520s, the Emperor 
charged Margaret with furthering Hans’s cause as future king of Denmark. 
As a son of a king (the main selection criterion), the young prince might still 
be elected as successor to the usurper (his great-uncle Frederick), to the great 
benefit of his maternal family.93 Nothing would come of this, and as the pros-
pect of a Danish restoration faded, their status as Habsburg relatives started 
to outweigh their Oldenburg identity. This was underlined by the role Hans 
played after Margaret’s death in 1530. The Danish prince was the senior 
kinsman present in the Low Countries at the time, and it was therefore he 
who, in January 1531, led the cortège escorting the Archduchess’s coffin to 
her temporary resting place in Bruges.94

However, in August 1532, the fourteen-year-old boy died while travelling 
with his uncle Charles to Hungary. The Emperor wrote a plaintive letter to 
Mary of Hungary, the Danish children’s new foster mother. The letter, solely 
dedicated to this piece of bad news, was written in his own hand, reporting 
that Hans had died after suffering from ‘le flus de vientre’ (diarrhoea) for 
eight days. The uncle was distraught: ‘It has been as great a sorrow to me as 
could be, because he was the prettiest little boy. I’ve suffered as much grief as 
I did after the loss of my son, because I knew him better and he was already 
bigger, and I considered him to be a son’. The Emperor even expressed a sense 
of guilt for having taken Hans on his travels: ‘Even though one must accept 
the will of God, and I know very well that He could have ordained Hans’ 
death anywhere, I still regretfully wonder if, had I left him in the Low Coun-
tries, this might not have happened’. Hans’s remains were taken to Ghent, to 
rest alongside his mother.95 Hans’s death seemed to alter his sisters’ destinies 
as well: ‘I write to my little nieces as well, as you will see, to comfort them. 
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I am sure that you will do the same. There is no other remedy than to find 
them two husbands’.96

Such affectionate sentiments were reserved for the family’s boys (as we will 
see when discussing other nephews). This tender Uncle Charles was nowhere 
to be found when deciding on the future of the girls. As noted, the death of 
Hans led to an increased interest in marrying the girls off. Christina was the 
first to be married, and her groom would be the duke of Milan. But, as an 
alarmed Mary of Hungary wrote to Charles (moved by ‘my conscience and 
the love I have for the child’), the marriage contract stipulated an immedi-
ate consummation of the marriage, which went against natural law, since 
Christina was not yet twelve years old and ‘she is in no way a woman yet’.97 
Charles dismissed these concerns, as well as Mary’s suggestion that the girls’ 
father perhaps should have a say in it, since Christian was ‘in such a state 
that he is more dead to them than if he were deceased’.98 The marriage would 
not last long – about two years later, the duke of Milan died99 and Christina 
returned to the Low Countries.100

A little over a year after Christina’s marriage, her elder sister, fourteen-
year-old Dorothea, born 1520, married the Count Palatine Frederick, who 
was already in his fifties and would be Elector Palatine from 1544 onwards.101 
Despite the age difference, Mary of Hungary did not seem quite as horrified 
by this marriage.102 After Hans’s death, Dorothea had become the repository 
for hopes of regaining the Danish crown for a Habsburg candidate. This 
marriage enjoyed the particular support of Ferdinand, who hoped that Doro-
thea’s chances would improve if Count Palatine Frederick could be presented 
as a future king.103 At the same time, the bonds between the Palatine Wit-
telsbachs and the Habsburgs would be strengthened, bolstering Ferdinand’s 
own position in the Empire.104 However, Frederick could not count on a lot 
of support in Denmark,105 and by October 1536, when Copenhagen was 
taken by the elected king Christian III (or ‘the duke of Holstein’, as he was 
called in Habsburg correspondence), Dorothea’s cousin Charles lost hope of 
recovering the Danish crown for her. Furthermore, the new usurper-king of 
Denmark had much support among the Lutheran princes in the Holy Ro-
man Empire, a group that Charles did not wish to antagonise. It was best to 
reach some kind of accord.106 While there would be no more efforts to put 
Dorothea on the throne in Copenhagen, Charles had certainly done his best 
to ensure Dorothea and Frederick’s future as monarchs, and he also stepped 
in to prop up Christina’s position as duchess of Lorraine after her husband’s 
death.107 In the marriages of his nieces, Charles clearly usurped paternal au-
thority, even brushing aside any notions that their father might be involved, 
but showed himself also a loyal, fatherly figure.

During the years the young Danes spent in Brussels, another young 
nephew travelled to a Habsburg court: Lodovico of Savoy, eldest son of 
Duke Charles  III of Savoy. Connections between the House of Savoy and 
the imperial couple were quite tight. Duke Charles was younger brother 
and heir to Philibert of Savoy, who had been Archduchess Margaret’s final 
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husband – their marriage had been an important step in an increasingly Span-
ish orientation for the Savoyard duchy.108 His spouse and Lodovico’s mother 
was Beatrice of Portugal, daughter of Emanuel III and Maria of Aragon, 
cousin of Charles V and sister of Empress Isabella. Lodovico, born in 1523, 
was a sororal nephew of the Empress and Charles’s second cousin. Beatrice’s 
marriage to the duke of Savoy was intended to solidify the alliance between 
Savoy and the Habsburgs, and Beatrice would be an advocate of this alliance 
throughout her life.109 The two sisters were close.110 After the duke of Savoy 
had declared an alliance with Emperor Charles, the two men, most likely on 
the instigation of Duchess Beatrice, decided that Lodovico should be sent to 
Castile to be educated with Prince Philip, who was only a few years younger 
than Lodovico.111 Beatrice had planned to join him and visit her sister, but 
pregnancy prevented her from travelling.112 So Lodovico, not yet ten years 
old, set out on his own in 1533, joining the Emperor’s court at Genoa.113 Un-
fortunately, we know very little about Lodovico. We only get a few glimpses 
of him while he was at the imperial court. During the brief stay at Genoa, 
the Savoyard envoy at Charles’s court described the favourable impression 
Lodovico made, but otherwise he is silent on him.114 Lodovico was never 
mentioned either in the correspondence regarding Beatrice’s return home.115 
Nor does he appear in the correspondence of the Empress Isabella, in which 
she does occasionally mention her own children and, for instance, her visiting 
brother Don Luis.116 We know that his father employed him as a go-between 
to defend the Duke’s rights to Montferrat, in 1534,117 and that he served 
as godfather to Charles’s second daughter, Juana, along with the eight-year-
old Prince Philip a year later in 1535.118 In the same year Lodovico was the 
captain of one of two jousting teams during a tournament held in Charles’s 
presence.119 When commenting on the health of the members of the imperial 
family or their activities, Prince Philip’s ayo (tutor) never mentioned him.120 
This probably indicates that Lodovico did not live in the household of either 
Philip or the Empress, but had his own separate establishment. All we can say 
about him is that he seems to have made a favourable impression at court.

The only time when Lodovico appears in any of the correspondence left 
to us was when he was at death’s door. Despite enjoying robust health which 
was the envy of the Castilian court, Lodovico suddenly fell ill in December 
1535.121 On 23 December, Isabella wrote to Charles to tell him of a bout of 
illness that Prince Philip had overcome, and reported that even Lodovico 
seemed to be on the mend – but he died two days later, on Christmas Day, 
having turned thirteen only a month earlier.122 He was laid to rest in San 
Jerónimo church in Madrid, alongside the Infante Fernando, a son of Charles 
V.123 His exequies were celebrated with the same honours as the Empress’s 
brother’s a year before, putting him on a par with a royal prince – that is, 
a Portuguese royal prince.124 Charles heard the news of Lodovico’s death in 
Naples, about which he was ‘merveilleusement marry’. The Savoyard cour-
tier Lambert wrote in his memoires that ‘I don’t think I have ever seen him 
as sorrowful about anyone’s death as he was for this little prince, and rightly 
so, because he was a young prince who held such promise in arms, letters and 
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virtues that his actions were seen as miraculous, considering his tender age, 
since he was not even thirteen years old yet’.125 Apart from the solemnities in 
Madrid, Lambert reports that Charles also had masses sung in Naples, where 
he and others wore mourning. Lodovico still rested in San Jerónimo in Ma-
drid in 1571 (never making the transition to the Escorial) when his younger 
brother Duke Emmanuel Philibert asked the Pope to allow him to increase 
the number of holy offices to be performed there for Lodovico’s soul.126 As 
the duchy of Savoy was hard pressed by French forces, Beatrice expressed 
once more her wish to travel to Castile, this time accompanied by her remain-
ing son, but nothing came of this.127

Political circumstances – a father’s deposition, a duchy under threat of in-
vasion – led to these two young princes travelling to Habsburg courts. Hans’s 
case in particular shows that distrust of the father need not have any negative 
consequences for the son. Rather the contrary, Charles had showed himself 
willing to take charge of the young relatives precisely because he did not 
trust their father. But the fact that both died during their stay clearly affected 
the Emperor. In 1537, two of Ferdinand’s courtiers discussed plans to send 
one of ‘our princes’, Ferdinand’s sons, to Charles’s court. Charles, one of the 
courtiers reported to the other, did not plan to ask for any of the sons himself, 
‘because he thinks he is cursed in this regard, since two of his nephews, the 
one of Denmark and the other of Savoy, died’.128

Although neither of these young nephews ever played any serious role in 
the monarchy, the example of the favour they had enjoyed and the apparent 
promise of patronage this entailed did not escape contemporaries and would 
become a pillar of future inter-dynastic dynamics. After the death of Empress 
Isabella, in 1539, when Charles appeared disinclined to marry again, Aus-
trian courtiers discussed the opportunity of sending some of ‘their’ princes 
to Castile.129 Although he would not ask for this, Charles did express a wish 
to have the ‘señor infante’ – undoubtedly Archduke Maximilian, Ferdinand’s 
eldest son – in his and Prince Philip’s presence, and Salinas, Ferdinand’s en-
voy in Castile, begged his master to agree because only good things could 
come of it. He had seen Lodovico and Hans at court and was certain ‘that if 
death had not overcome them quite so soon, their affairs would have ended 
well’.130 If the succession did not fall to young Maximilian, there were cer-
tainly other rewards to be reaped. Already Ferdinand, or at least his ambas-
sador, was becoming more calculating about such formative visits, and in 
1544, Maximilian and his younger brother joined Charles’s court, for a stay 
that would last four years.131

The experiences of Hans and Lodovico showed two things: first, family 
affection and loyalties did not follow the patrilineal line. Children of sisters 
may not have played any role in succession schemes (as Maximilian did, but 
Lodovico of Savoy did not), but they were still very clearly included in the 
family network. This shows that as a social group, the dynasty was wider 
than only the patrilineal line, or the community of direct heirs. Secondly, the 
family head had taken his responsibility for these youngsters seriously. The 
two nieces, Christina and Dorothea, had made marriages commensurate with 
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their status – something that may have been unattainable if they had only had 
their imprisoned father to provide for them. Dorothea’s Palatine marriage 
was quite in line with Danish royal marriage patterns,132 while Christina’s 
two Italian marriages were like the ones contracted by her Austrian cousins, 
Ferdinand’s daughters.133 For the boys, their stay at court had not actually 
led to any major advancement or appointment, but contemporaries seemed 
certain that Charles would have taken good care of them as well. Maybe no 
precedents were created, but the appetites of other parents who hoped to 
provide for their own brood had certainly been wetted.

Habsburg Nephews

While the bastards had dutifully been taken care of and the cognatic nieces 
and nephews had been welcome guests at the imperial courts, Charles and 
Ferdinand were ultimately most excited about the birth of their own children, 
the future generation of Habsburgs and heirs to the patrimony. When Ferdi-
nand, who was the first to marry, had been married a good half year, Charles 
already wanted to know whether his new wife was pregnant.134 When a first 
son was born to Ferdinand in 1527, only a few months after the birth of 
Charles’s own first son Philip, the Emperor wrote that he had been overjoyed 
with the news ‘of the birth of Prince Maximilian, your son, which has caused 
me just as much joy as that of the Prince, my son, because I hold Maximilian 
to be my own son and esteem him as such. So now I have another son that 
I did not have before, which is not a little delight, but such a great one that 
it is impossible to put into words’.135 And even when Ferdinand’s wife gave 
birth to a daughter in May 1531, who was by now his fifth child and third 
daughter, Charles wrote: ‘I don’t want to neglect to congratulate you with the 
birth of my little niece, your daughter, of which I have received great pleas-
ure, both for our common good and the growth of our lineage, which is so 
necessary and important to us, and because of the good and the contentment 
of our territories’.136

Ferdinand would go on to have three sons who survived into adulthood: 
the future Emperor Maximilian (1527–76), Archduke Ferdinand II of Tyrol 
(1529–95) and Archduke Charles of Styria (1540–90). The youngest son was 
only born in 1540 – too young to play any role in the dynastic plans of 
Charles’s reign, which ended when Charles of Styria was still in his mid-
teens. Most effort was put into keeping Maximilian in Charles’s good graces. 
As we saw, suggestions for Maximilian to join Charles’s court date back to 
1539, when he was twelve years old. Charles V took both Maximilian and 
Ferdinand into his household as young men in 1544. While Maximilian cam-
paigned with him, Ferdinand spent time in Brussels with his aunt Mary.137 
Both archdukes received their own households; Maximilian’s was of a clear 
Spanish complexion (he had a Spanish mayordomo, for example), which may 
indicate that Charles was already grooming him for a regency in Spain or a 
marriage to his daughter.138
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Charles’s prioritising of Maximilian can also be seen when his brother 
asked him to send one of his sons home, to become his representative in 
Bohemia. Charles preferred to keep Maximilian and let the younger son 
Ferdinand go instead.139 Some years later, Charles pushed for Maximilian’s 
marriage to his eldest daughter Maria (and not the younger brother Ferdi-
nand, as their father had suggested) and for the couple to be styled king and 
queen of Bohemia, although Maximilian had to promise not to interfere in 
the kingdom during his father’s lifetime.140 Through this marriage, Maximil-
ian also became Charles’s heir should Prince Philip and his newborn son die, 
since in that case, Maria would be the heir. Immediately after the marriage, in 
1548, Maximilian travelled to Spain to meet his wife and serve as regent there 
together with her. But he did not foresee a Spanish future for himself – he 
intended to have a future in the Empire, preferably as emperor. This appoint-
ment, therefore, did not please him very much, but made him instead anxious 
about his position in Germany: he was made regent because the serving re-
gent, Philip, was to travel to the Empire to shore up his own chances of one 
day being elected emperor. To safeguard Philip’s position in the Netherlands, 
Charles also refused to appoint Maximilian as governor there, even though 
Maximilian wished this.141 Maximilian returned to Germany in 1550 to be 
present at the negotiations between Charles and Ferdinand about the future 
of the Empire. When he was ordered to resume the Castilian regency after 
the negotiations ended, he refused and only travelled back to Spain to pick 
up his wife and children.142

Young Ferdinand (born June 1529), second son of Ferdinand, would not 
become a fixture in Charles’s patrimony either. He was mentioned as a can-
didate to receive Milan after it had reverted to the Empire.143 But after his 
childhood, he disappeared from Charles’s orbit. His father created the office 
of governor of Bohemia in October 1547 and appointed the eighteen-year-
old prince to it.144 Ferdinand would go on to serve in this position for twenty 
years – throughout his father’s lifetime and even for a few years thereafter. 
He only left this position to take charge of his inheritance, the county of 
Tyrol and Further Austria, which he then governed until his death.145 While 
Maximilian was reluctantly drawn into his uncle’s orbit, Ferdinand had a 
role to play as lieutenant to his own father.

But what happened is not the whole story. Scenarios that were imagined 
but never came true are telling as well. Charles’s group of inner circle sur-
rogates was long lived and stable, serving in their governorships for long 
stretches of time. But this group aged along with the Emperor himself and 
a changing of the guard would become imminent as the 1550s approached. 
The individuals suggested to fill the highest offices in the monarchy were all 
recruited from among the individuals we have discussed so far in this chapter. 
In 1547, Mary of Hungary first expressed a wish to leave the government 
of the Low Countries. From her correspondence with her advisor, Nicholas 
Granvelle, it becomes clear that she intended to suggest either Archduke 
Maximilian or her sister Eleanor, the recently widowed queen of France, for 
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the job. Although Granvelle pointed out that Charles would soon bring his 
son Philip to the Low Countries (which happened in 1548–49), he also felt 
that Charles would prefer to have Maximilian as his governor, especially if 
the marriage with Maria was concluded, rather than Eleanor. And Eleanor 
would probably not want to take on an office that Mary wanted to quit.146 
Maximilian and Eleanor were thus considered appropriate candidates for the 
governorship in Brussels, but the new generation appeared to have a slightly 
better chance. Some years later, in 1551, Mary suggested that she leave the 
Low Countries again, this time proposing Archduke Ferdinand as her re-
placement – perhaps Maximilian, who felt Charles was trying to keep him 
from becoming emperor and who had just abandoned the Castilian regency 
without permission, was considered too hostile at that time, or perhaps Mary 
had grown fond of Ferdinand when he had visited her some years earlier.147 
When she was finally allowed to leave her office, three non-Habsburgs were 
considered for the office: the local aristocrat, the prince of Orange – heir 
to Engelbert and Henry of Nassau, and thus of the now obsolete tradition 
of aristocratic governors – the Italian general Ferrante Gonzaga – who had 
been forced out of his post of governor of Milan by court intrigues and for 
whom particularly Charles V and Mary of Hungary sought a new honour-
able position148 – and finally, Emmanuel Philibert of Savoy, younger brother 
of Lodovico, with whom Philip II had grown up (and who likely would have 
been the main contender himself, had he lived). But by this time, Charles had 
abdicated his thrones and the choice fell to the new ruler, Philip II. He chose 
the duke of Savoy.149

Conclusion

When we analyse the formation of a ruling family group during the reign 
of Charles V and compare the family members that were included in this 
group to the relatives that the Emperor provided for somehow, we can draw 
some interesting conclusions. It was mainly the Emperor’s inner circle who 
played a role in governing his monarchy: his ‘consorts’ and ‘heirs’. Other 
relatives were not called upon, nor did they press the Emperor for employ-
ment. The bastard members of his lineage played no great role. In Aragon, 
Alonso de Aragon, an illegitimate son of Ferdinand the Catholic, had served 
as a governor, but he was appointed by his father. Charles appointed no ex-
tramarital relatives to such a position. He had at least three bastard uncles, 
two of whom ended up in the Church. While George, the eldest, was active 
as a diplomat, he plays a very muted role in historiography on the Habsburg 
monarchies during Charles’s reign. The other uncle in the Church, Leopold, 
was confined to Castile, and the third uncle, Cornelius, quickly disappears 
from view altogether.150 It mattered that these were sons of Maximilian and 
uncles of Charles. While the young nephew felt a sense of dynastic obligation 
towards them, he might not have felt strong ties of affection – as we have 
seen, the bastards were most likely not raised alongside their legitimate nieces 



A Widow’s World  141

and nephews in Malines. Still, they trod a path that Charles envisioned for 
his own male bastard: a lucrative bishopric which would provide income and 
impose celibacy. None of the uncles was ever considered for a governor’s 
post. Habsburg bastards were clearly not of the appropriate rank to govern 
Habsburg territories; they were in fact excluded from the ruling group.

There were also two types of nephews. While Charles employed his ag-
natic nephew Maximilian and Archduke Ferdinand’s name came up when 
contemplating candidates for governorships, such was not the case for oth-
ers. Lodovico of Savoy – sororal nephew of Charles’s spouse – and Hans 
of Denmark – his sister’s son – might well have embarked on a glittering 
career, but they both died young. In practice, agnatic nephews were thus pre-
ferred over cognatic ones, and Maximilian in particular (the most reluctant 
of them all) was pulled into the Emperor’s orbit. Perhaps one needed to have 
some rights of inheritance to the patrimony to be seen as a suitable candidate 
(another ‘heir’), or perhaps the moniker ‘of Austria’ played a decisive role. 
Yet the promise of Lodovico and Hans does seem to have played a role in 
Ferdinand’s efforts to have his sons placed at Charles’s court. Speculations 
about their fate, had death not intervened, fed ambitions elsewhere. While 
we cannot argue that cognatic nephews were part of Charles V’s dynastic rul-
ing group, the path of the next generation of cognatic nephews was cleared, 
ready to be taken advantage of during the next reign.
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If Charles V’s dynastic ruling group consisted of ‘consorts’ and ‘heirs’, this 
chapter shows that Philip II expanded it to include individuals who clearly 
fell outside of those categories: cognatic nephews, illegitimate siblings and 
cousins. We briefly noted that Charles had personally groomed his sister 
Mary of Hungary for her role as governor of the Low Countries. Here, too, 
Philip is shown to expand the scope: he appointed younger relatives who 
had spent several years at his court, rather than just receiving a few weeks 
of intensive talks. His nephew Albert in particular enjoyed great success, be-
coming archbishop of Toledo, governor of Portugal, son-in-law to his uncle 
and eventually heir to the Low Countries. Albert’s career was so glittering 
because he combined offices that had previously been held by different kinds 
of relatives: clerical offices had normally gone to illegitimate sons, territo-
rial governorships to siblings and, as Chapter 1 has already shown, the Low 
Countries had often been considered as an inheritance for a hypothetical 
second son. Albert took on all these roles.

But Albert’s ascent had been made possible by the new choices Habsburg 
women were making: not Albert, but his mother Maria was first choice 
for the government of Portugal – a choice that conformed to the practices 
of Charles’s reign. But she declined the post, instead preferring life in the 
Descalzas monastery, founded by her younger sister Juana in 1559. If not 
for this choice, Maria would have been vicereine of Portugal and the domi-
nance of Habsburg widows would have continued. Maria’s choice for the 
monastery fits with the return to a more contemplative ideal for widow-
hood among Habsburg women.1 Juana and Maria shaped a new role for the 
dynasty’s women in rather the same way that Albert did for the dynasty’s 
young men.

The changing roles for relatives took shape against the background of 
changes in the monarchy itself. Charles V abdicated his thrones between late 
1555 and 1558, leaving the Low Countries, the Iberian kingdoms and Italian 
domains to his son, but the imperial crown to his brother. No longer would 
the head of the House need a lieutenant in the Empire. And shortly after the 
start of his reign, Philip would remove the need for regents in Castile as well 

The Advent of the Arch-Nephew 
and the Infanta Monja
The Ruling Family Group in the 
Late Sixteenth Century

5

https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003309307-6


The Advent of the Arch-Nephew and the Infanta Monja  151

by moving his court there more permanently.2 This left the Low Countries as 
the only major territorial governorship in his monarchy. After the appoint-
ment of the King’s cousin Emmanuel Philibert of Savoy instead of a local 
aristocrat, the post’s dynastic connotation was affirmed and this was further 
codified in the Union of Arras (1579), through which several provinces of the 
Netherlands were reconciled to the Habsburg monarch after the first years 
of the Dutch Revolt.3 The treaty obliged the King to appoint a relative as his 
governor there.4 The ongoing troubles in the Low Countries gave extra sali-
ence to the appointment, which became a heavily debated topic at the Span-
ish court. Well remunerated5 and with a tradition of long-term tenure, the 
Low Countries offered the potential of a lifetime career in governing for any 
lucky kinsman or woman. The monarchy would undergo a profound change 
again after 1580, when Philip succeeded in gaining the crown of Portugal, 
which would become another possible dynastic posting. The estates of Portu-
gal had agreed to Philip’s accession as their king on the condition that a royal 
relative (or a Portuguese national) be appointed viceroy (1581).

The following sections focus primarily on the Low Countries. From Philip’s 
reign onwards we have the deliberations of the Council of State regarding 
appointments of governors to the monarchy’s territories. They provide in-
teresting insights into which people were considered for these posts – they 
were apparently counted as sufficiently dynastic to hold such offices – and 
why some of them were rejected. This gives us an overview not only of the 
incumbents but also of all the candidates that were considered. Questions of 
legitimacy and illegitimacy, whether the candidate bore the name of Austria, 
as well as experience and controllability, were all part of the equation. Such 
discussions thus weigh structural elements of dynastic belonging (name, legit-
imacy) against conjectural ones (experience). As such, they give us profound 
insights into how the dynastic ruling group was conceived and formed. While 
we could categorise Charles’s more remote relatives into distinct groups, for 
example bastards and nephews, who embarked on different careers (or po-
tential careers), Philip would blur these distinctions – in part because it suited 
his political needs, but also on the prompting of the relatives involved: his 
bastard half-brother quite simply refused a clerical path.

However, like his father, Philip’s first instincts were always to employ his 
nearest kin – his sisters. While still a prince, he was himself governor of 
Castile, but when he had to leave his post, he appointed his youngest sister 
Juana as his replacement. Juana had applied for the position: after her hus-
band’s death, Juana sent a letter to Philip stating that she could serve him the 
same way her sister Maria had, that is as regent. The regency offered her an 
honourable excuse to return to Castile.6 But when Philip returned to Castile 
and took up the reins of government himself, Juana decided not to accept 
any governing roles elsewhere. With one sister married in the Empire and the 
other insistent on withdrawing to a contemplative life, Philip was soon out 
of options and forced to think outside of the box.



152  The Advent of the Arch-Nephew and the Infanta Monja

The Last Widow

The year 1559 would be a significant year for the Habsburg dynasty and its 
internal dynamics. Philip II, head of the House since 1556, left the Low Coun-
tries and returned to Castile. This meant both that a new governor needed to 
be selected to take charge of the Brussels government and that his younger 
sister Juana would be discharged as governor of Castile. She could embark on 
her lifetime achievement: the foundation of the Descalzas monastery. These 
two events in the Low Countries and Castile profoundly changed the role of 
the dynasty’s women, and as a consequence, that of its men (Fig. 5.1).

Brussels had been the scene of a veritable family reunion during the 1550s. 
Not only Charles V and the governor Mary of Hungary, but also the wid-
owed queen of France, Eleanor, and the new king of England, Philip, were 
frequently there. In addition, other relatives were there as well: the displaced 
duke of Savoy Emmanuel Philibert of Savoy commanded the Habsburg ar-
mies, along with Christina of Denmark, widowed duchess of Lorraine, whose 
son was held by the French, and Margaret of Parma, Charles’s illegitimate 
daughter, and her son Alessandro Farnese.7 Most of them would leave at the 
end of the decade: Charles, Mary and Eleanor went to Castile, and Emma-
nuel Philibert to his own states. When Philip himself prepared to leave, intent 
on taking young Alessandro with him, Christina and Margaret of Parma 
became contenders for the governorship.

Christina clearly felt she was a good candidate. She had served the dynasty 
as a child-bride to the duke of Milan in the 1530s and as consort of Lor-
raine; she acquired government experience there as regent for her young son 
after her husband’s death in 1545. The French king invaded Lorraine and 
took custody of her son in 1552, which drove her to the Habsburg court in 
Brussels. There, she became a regular at court festivities, travelling to Eng-
land with Philip’s court. But most importantly, she played a decisive role in 
the negotiations between the French and the Habsburgs that led to the peace 
of Cateau-Cambrésis (1559).

However, the choice fell on Margaret of Parma (Fig. 5.2). She had been 
born in the Low Countries in 1522 to a local mother and the Emperor, be-
fore his marriage to Isabella of Portugal. She was raised there, but she was 

Figure 5.1  Dramatis personae.
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Figure 5.2  Margaret, duchess of Parma, by Anthonis Mor, 1562. 

Source: Alamy.
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kept apart from the Danish trio that resided in Malines during her early 
years.8 In accordance with dynastic traditions for illegitimate daughters, she 
had served as the bride in marriage alliances with several minor allies.9 At 
eight years old, she had married Alessandro de’ Medici. The marriage ended 
with Alessandro’s assassination in 1537. A year later, now sixteen, Marga-
ret married Ottavio Farnese, heir to the duke of Parma and Piacenza. The 
power base of the family was in Rome: the family rose to prominence during 
the reign of Pope Paul III Farnese (r. 1534–49) and had been headed since 
then by the Pope’s grandson, the all-powerful Cardinal Alessandro Farnese, 
Margaret’s brother-in-law. Residing in the Eternal City, she became a Roman 
aristocrat if anything.

The relationship between Charles V and the Farnese family was difficult. 
Pope Paul III had created his son Pier Luigi Farnese, Ottavio’s father, duke of 
Parma and Piacenza in 1545, against the wishes of Charles V since the two 
territories were situated close to Habsburg Milan. When Pier Luigi was as-
sassinated in 1547, the Habsburg governor in Milan quickly took over the 
duchies. This led to trouble with the Pope and the French, who supported the 
Farnese against the Emperor.10 Ottavio, the new Farnese duke, managed to 
wrest Parma from the imperial forces, but could not regain Piacenza. After 
the war between the Habsburgs and the French was temporarily settled in the 
truce of Vaucelles (1556), Ottavio made a deal with Philip II to regain Pia-
cenza as well. In return, the Spanish king would station a garrison in its for-
tress.11 Another condition of the handover of Piacenza was that Alessandro, 
Ottavio’s only child, be sent to Philip’s court for his education.12 This is why 
Margaret and young Alessandro were in the Low Countries from 1556 and 
became part of the court life centred on Philip II and Christina of Denmark.13 
Margaret was thus also well known to the Low Countries’ elite when she was 
appointed governor, which counted in her favour. In addition, her husband 
Ottavio had been manoeuvred into a position of weakness vis-à-vis Philip II, 
which meant she would serve loyally to improve Ottavio’s position.14 All of 
this made her a good candidate in her brother’s eyes. Margaret would serve 
in the position until 1567 and would be considered for reappointment a few 
times.

The appointment came at the expense, and to the considerable dismay, of 
his legitimate cousin Christina. While there is little trace that Christina ever 
actively sought the governorship of the Low Countries, there is nevertheless 
quite strong evidence that she expected to be appointed to the post. For one, 
she was so angry about missing out on it that several diplomats commented 
on the fact.15 There were possibly arguments against her; according to a Vene-
tian ambassador she was considered to lack experience and energy,16 but this 
was in comparison with Mary of Hungary, with whom no one could compete 
in terms of experience. Indeed, Mary had been the primary candidate for the 
post until her death in 1558. But, with Mary no longer in contention, why 
should Christina be rated less than someone like Margaret of Parma? She 
made her annoyance known to the court, to the point where an exasperated 
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Granvelle, Philip’s primary advisor on Netherlandish affairs, grumbled that 
she should stop complaining about it. As a gesture, Philip offered her the 
possibility of retiring to the Apulian town of Lecce in the kingdom of Naples, 
where she would be comfortable and able to live according to her station,17 
but Christina chose to return to Lorraine instead.18 Philip’s efforts to provide 
for Christina demonstrate his sense of obligation towards her – as his cousin, 
his peace negotiator or perhaps because he felt guilty. That this place of re-
tirement was offered outside of the Low Countries was no coincidence either: 
Granvelle thought it best to put some distance between Margaret of Parma 
and Christina at the end of 1559, because of the ‘emulacion’ – best translated 
as rivalry or competition in this context – between the two.19

The local elites were not happy about it either. The fact that they knew 
the new governor did not necessarily endear her to them; the English am-
bassador reported to his home court that they felt Margaret was unworthy 
of the regency because of her illegitimate birth.20 The same English ambas-
sador added that there were rumours that the prince of Spain would soon 
come – no doubt wishful thinking on the part of the disgruntled locals and 
an expression of the sort of person whom they considered most appropriate 
for the regency, namely the heir. Clearly, not only members of the family like 
Christina harboured expectations about appointments, but so did local elites. 
In one of his first appointments, Philip all but erased the boundary between 
bastard and legitimate Habsburgs, pulling his half-sister into his governing 
clique and changing all the rules.

Infanta Monja

Returning to Christina’s retirement options, it is interesting to note that there 
was no mention of a convent. Some distance from the monarchy’s centres of 
government was required – Lecce was no Madrid – but she could live there 
as a quite independent and worldly noblewoman. She was expected to retire, 
but not to forsake the world for a monastery. Until then, very few Habsburg 
widows had become nuns, so it should not surprise us. Instead, their widow-
hood had made them all the more useful as governors, since it gave them the 
required gravitas, exclusive loyalty to their natal family and some financial 
independence.21 Still, this presents a striking contrast to the actions of her 
cousin Juana, princess of Portugal, who set out to establish the monastery 
of the Descalzas at exactly the same time. In a departure from the forceful 
widow governors of the earlier reign, Juana became a model for widowed 
piety.22

After Philip’s return to Castile, Juana left her position as governor. We al-
ready mentioned that Juana founded a monastery of Poor Clares, commonly 
known as the Descalzas, using the funds left to her by her mother Empress 
Isabella and her dower.23 She never professed as a nun (she did become a 
Jesuit), but she gained extensive privileges to come and go as she pleased in 
the cloistered parts of the monastery, and she had her own quarters there. She 
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also remained an active participant in court life, serving as a kind of foster 
mother to the heir, Don Carlos, and as a mentor to the new and very young 
queen, Isabella of Valois, who came to Castile in 1559.24 Essentially, Juana 
created a secondary, pious court space in her monastery that would be used 
frequently during the following decades.25 Part of her new life was her refusal 
to either marry or serve as governor again.26

While the Descalzas foundation could be seen as an individual affair cater-
ing to Juana’s piety and salvation, it soon became a meaningful space for the 
entire dynasty. Over the following decades, the royal children would often 
spend the night there when their parents were away. Queen Anna, a daugh-
ter of Empress Maria who married Philip II in 1570, visited almost daily to 
hear mass and have lunch with Juana and the nuns. She brought her young 
stepdaughters along with her. In this sense, Juana provided a strong female 
role model for her eldest niece, Isabella Clara Eugenia, who, upon becoming 
a widow herself, had planned to retire to the Descalzas, but instead joined a 
monastic order in Brussels.27 During the years Philip II spent in Portugal after 
acquiring that crown, his teenaged daughters also stayed at the monastery.28 
But more permanent dynastic additions were considered as well: almost as 
soon as Juana had taken up residence in her monastery, the possibility of the 
arrival of foster daughters was discussed. The first young girls whose possible 
stay at the Descalzas was discussed were not meant to become nuns there 
but rather to be educated there before their marriage. The very first to be 
mentioned was Elisabeth, Maria and Maximilian’s second daughter, and thus 
Juana’s niece, for whom a marriage in Portugal with Juana’s son Sebastian 
was being negotiated in the early 1560s. In January 1562, Philip II conveyed 
to his sister Maria how happy both he and Juana would be if Elisabeth were 
to come over.29 The option was quite realistic since the Viennese court had 
recently decided to send Elisabeth’s two eldest brothers to Spain for their edu-
cation – sending Elisabeth along would not require many extra preparations. 
Maximilian, however, felt she was too young for the long journey (she was 
about eight years old).30 Maria was more inclined to agree to the journey, 
but insisted the marriage be finalised first.31 However much Philip impressed 
upon his cousin and sister that Juana really wanted the girl to come, the par-
ents could not be persuaded.32

Still, it reflected a wish on Juana’s part to have her own little ‘nun-niece’ to 
nurture. The idea would never quite go away again, even though Juana was 
not destined to become a foster mother. The situation arose anew when Em-
press Maria, widowed, managed to travel back to Spain in 1582. She forced 
the issue and undertook the journey against the wishes of her son Rudolf, the 
new emperor. Her intention was to retire to the Descalzas monastery, even 
though her brother insisted that she take up the governorship of Portugal, 
which had only been incorporated a few years earlier and where Philip had re-
sided ever since.33 Going against the wishes of all her male relatives, she took 
up residence in the Descalzas monastery, accompanied by her youngest daugh-
ter, Margaret. Margaret would become rather famous as Sister Margaret of 
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the Cross, and many historians have ascribed a strong religious vocation to 
her, arguing that she refused to marry her uncle and become a queen.34 While 
this may well be true, any marriage was also resolutely blocked by her mother 
Maria, since she felt Margaret was unfit for marriage – describing her appear-
ance in some rather unflattering terms.35 The added bonus was of course that 
Maria would have the company of her daughter in the monastery. Margaret 
would profess as a nun and become Sister Margaret of the Cross, held in high 
regard by relatives and diplomats alike as ‘la infanta monja’, ‘the princess-
nun’. Just as Juana had tried to have the company of young Habsburg girls, 
so Sister Margaret would work on perpetuating the dynastic presence in the 
monastery, as we discuss in the next chapter.

Juana, Maria and Margaret set a powerful precedent. Hagiographic biog-
raphies were written of both Juana and Sister Margaret after their deaths.36 
In life, Paolo Morigi dedicated his Historia brieve dell’augustissima casa 
d’Austria (1593) to Maria, since she was ‘the most worthy and foremost’ of 
all those members of the dynasty that lived particularly Catholic and pious 
lives.37 But Morigi also discussed Juana, Maria’s daughters Margaret and 
Elisabeth (who had remained in Austria but had also entered a convent) and 
other Habsburg women. Clearly, in choosing this sort of life, the women 
contributed to the pious reputation of the entire dynasty.

Bastards and Nephews

As the widows’ world changed from government halls to the cloister, the 
kings of Spain had to explore other options when filling posts like the gov-
ernorship of the Low Countries. A look at the candidates discussed for the 
Brussels post in the 1570s will highlight the change: a lone sister (Margaret of 
Parma) was massively outnumbered by a large group of young men, includ-
ing Habsburg and non-Habsburg cognatic nephews, and both paternal and 
maternal cousins, stained in various degrees by the impurity of bastardy: Don 
Juan, Alessandro Farnese, Ernest and Albert of Austria, as well as archdukes 
Ferdinand of Tyrol and Charles of Styria, and the duke of Savoy. We have 
already met the older generation of candidates, of whom one had already 
served in the office and another, Ferdinand of Tyrol, had been mentioned 
by Mary of Hungary. Of greatest interests to us here are the younger can-
didates: Don Juan, Alessandro Farnese and the sons of Maximilian, Ernest 
and Albert. How had they come into play? I will introduce them here before 
analysing the appointment of governors to the Low Countries in more detail.

Margaret of Parma’s crossing the line between bastard and legitimate may, 
for instance, have opened doors for her youngest brother, Charles’s other 
natural child Don Juan, born 1547.38 As we have seen in the previous chapter, 
the common career for male bastards was the Church, and Charles suggested 
just such a career for Don Juan in a number of codicils to his testament.39 But 
since Don Juan was still only twelve years old when Charles died, it would be 
up to Philip to decide on his future. At the King’s return to Castile in 1559, 
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the younger boy was ceremoniously presented to the regent Infanta Juana 
and the heir Don Carlos, and thus to the entire court, as the Emperor’s son.40 
His belonging to the Habsburg dynasty was further cemented by the fact that 
he took an oath of allegiance to the heir, Don Carlos, in Toledo, along with 
the rest of the court and the assembled Cortes, being announced to all and 
sundry as ‘Don Juan de Austria’.41

Regarding Don Juan’s future, it must certainly have been of some con-
sequence that Philip decided to educate Don Juan along with his own son 
Don Carlos, and later on Alessandro Farnese.42 This young triumvirate, all 
born in 1545 or 1547, became inseparable, and growing up alongside two 
companions who were both heirs to their fathers’ states must have given Don 
Juan ideas about his own future which had very little to do with the Church. 
Instead, he intended to follow a military career, which would put him on 
the same path as Cornelius, Maximilian’s bastard, who likewise declined a 
clerical career. In 1565, aged about eighteen, he escaped from court to join 
the fighting at Malta, where the Ottomans were besieging the headquarters 
of the Order of St John, although he did not quite make it that far. Don Juan 
fell ill during the dash to Barcelona and missed the galley, which departed 
without him. He returned to court to be reprimanded by the King, who, how-
ever, also quickly forgave him.43 Philip agreed to allow Don Juan to explore 
military options, giving him certain high-profile commands, which set him on 
a course to become one of the most famous commanders of his age: he was 
appointed general of the army sent to quell the uprising of the Alpujarras 
(1568), and he would become an international hero of Catholicism as one of 
the commanders of the Holy League against the Ottomans, scoring a famous 
victory at Lepanto in 1572.44 While his strictly military role and Philip’s stub-
born refusal to grant him any higher style of address than ‘Your Excellency’ 
distinguished him from legitimate royal brothers, it was certainly a departure 
from the much more muted careers of earlier royal bastards.45 While Philip 
had broken new ground with Margaret of Parma’s appointment, it was Don 
Juan himself who stretched the possibilities for male bastards even further, 
pushing for higher level appointments than previous bastards could have 
hoped for. Don Juan’s exceptional status came to the fore when the Spanish 
Council of State discussed the appointment of new governors of the Low 
Countries during the 1570s and he was floated as a candidate.

Alessandro Farnese

The emergence of illegitimate relatives in high-ranking dynastic positions 
was certainly one novelty of Philip’s reign. Another was the profound at-
tention he paid to many of his nephews, among them Alessandro Farnese, 
son of Margaret (Fig. 5.3). As a youth, Alessandro spent several years at his 
uncle’s court, arriving there – as we saw – with his mother in 1556.46 Philip 
had determinedly pulled this boy into his orbit. His position at Philip’s court 
has been interpreted as that of a hostage to ensure his parents’ loyalty, but 
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Figure 5.3  Alessandro Farnese, by Anthonis Mor, 1557. 

Source: Alamy.
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it has also been seen in the context of the travels and educational stays at 
foreign courts that Italian aristocrats organised for their sons.47 However, his 
fate also reminds us of how Charles had taken control of his Danish nephew 
and nieces when their father had gone beyond the Emperor’s control. Rather 
than framing his stay at court as a hostage situation or more gently as part 
of a typical Italian princely Grand Tour, I would argue that Philip was simply 
drawing Alessandro into his family group, attempting to instil a lasting sense 
of loyalty to the Habsburg dynasty in him through education and socialisa-
tion – Habsburgifying him. He was not the first to undergo this process, nor 
was he the last.

Alessandro remained in Brussels until 1559, educated by his own tutor, par-
ticipating in court life and activities such as hunts, and making an altogether 
favourable impression (which, one must say, seems to be a bit of a trope 
when the court childhoods of high-ranking children are discussed!). Then he 
travelled to Castile along with Philip II.48 There, he became close to the royal 
family. Philip was reported to love Alessandro as a son, and Don Carlos, to 
whom Alessandro became a companion, also became very fond of him.49 Ac-
cordingly, Alessandro was present at many courtly spectacles. He might have 
attended one of the first grand-scale court festivities of the new reign: the 
presentation of Don Juan as the natural son of Charles V.50 In descriptions of 
such events, he is not always identified as the King’s nephew, but sometimes 
merely as the prince of Parma, emphasising his paternal heritage.51 At court, 
Alessandro also became fast friends with Don Juan, united in their common 
interest in military affairs.52 Around November 1560, Don Carlos, Don Juan 
and Alessandro made their way to the university town of Alcalà, where they 
received private lessons.53 They were not treated as equals. Don Carlos and 
Don Juan had their lodgings in the episcopal palace, while Alessandro rented 
a house in town. And while Don Carlos and Don Juan remained in Alcalà 
until the end of 1564, Alessandro returned to the court as early as July 1562 
– accompanied by Don Carlos who returned temporarily to court to recover 
from serious injuries he had sustained that year – and accompanied his uncle 
wherever he went.54 While Don Carlos went back to Alcalà in October 1563, 
Alessandro remained at court, only going back for brief visits.

Throughout Alessandro’s years at the Spanish court, his future marriage 
was always very high up on his parents’ agenda, since it was a precondition 
for his return to Parma.55 Ottavio’s security was on Margaret’s mind as well – 
the thought that he might be murdered horrified her (her first husband had 
been assassinated), but above all it made her fear that Alessandro would lose 
his patrimony. A good marriage and a return home (and a new generation 
of Farneses) would make that outcome less likely.56 Connecting Alessandro’s 
marriage to his departure from court placed Philip firmly in control of the 
choice of bride, since Alessandro could hardly marry someone against his 
uncle’s wishes while he was in his custody.

Discussions about Alessandro’s marriage started back in 1557, barely a 
year into his stay at the court. Ottavio suggested an alliance with the papal 
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Caraffa family,57 and one involving a Mantuan princess. Ottavio was clearly 
after an Italian alliance that would secure his position in Parma.58 But Philip 
was suspicious of such alliances and instead aimed for a marriage with a 
bride in his dynastic network, for instance, one of the Austrian archduch-
esses.59 This was blocked by Emperor Ferdinand, the girls’ grandfather, citing 
Alessandro’s descent from two bastards (his mother and paternal grandfa-
ther) which would be unacceptable in the Empire – the fact that he was a 
grandson of an emperor would not help his cause, just as it had not helped 
Maximilian I’s bastards.60 So Philip turned to Portugal. In early 1564, the 
Portuguese court agreed to the marriage between Alessandro and Princess 
Maria, daughter of the Infante Duarte, who was a brother of Empress Isa-
bella.61 It is relevant to note that the correspondence between Philip II and 
Alessandro’s parents was dominated by his marriage but betrays no interest 
in offices or other advancements within the Spanish monarchy. This makes 
sense considering how vital Alessandro’s presence in Parma was to the fam-
ily’s security there, but is in striking contrast to later generations of nephews.

Alessandro travelled to Brussels in April 1565 to marry Princess Maria of 
Portugal (the marriage took place in November) – missing Don Juan’s Malta 
escape! – where he made a decidedly ‘Spanish’ impression on local elites.62 Ac-
cording to plan, Alessandro returned to Parma after his sumptuous wedding, 
where he arrived in June 1566.63 There, he remained idle – even though he 
tried to gain some military command in Philip’s service, either serving directly 
under his mother in the Low Countries or later under Don Juan’s command.64 
Efforts to join the war against the Moriscos in the Alpujarras fell through, 
but he got another chance when Don Juan was put in shared command of the 
fleet of the Holy League against the Ottomans.65 He joined Don Juan’s entou-
rage and remained there until 1572, when he returned to Piacenza. The two 
princes kept in touch during the years that followed, as Don Juan remained in 
Italy. When Don Juan planned to besiege La Goletta in the summer of 1574, 
he invited Alessandro to join him.66 After 1566, Alessandro received no com-
mands from Philip II. Instead, we might say in hindsight that the foremost re-
sult of Alessandro’s stay at court was his friendship with Don Juan, enabling 
him to benefit from Don Juan’s subsequent military career.

The Princes of Bohemia

In the 1570s, Alessandro drifted away from Philip II’s orbit. By then, other 
young relatives had succeeded the prince of Parma at the Spanish court: be-
tween 1561 and 1563, Philip corresponded about the arrival of Archdukes 
Rudolf and Ernest, the eldest sons of Philip’s sister Maria and her husband 
Maximilian, then king of Bohemia (the boys were known as the princes of 
Bohemia).67 After several years of planning and negotiation, they arrived in 
1564, then ten and eleven years old. Even their cousin Don Carlos, increas-
ingly troubled after his injuries of 1562, was ‘nuer freundtlich und woll’ 
(only friendly and kind) to his young cousins.68 Among the reasons for their 
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arrival was a measure of distrust of their father, who had dangerous Lutheran 
leanings. Sending his heir to the Spanish court would prevent him from ever 
really abandoning the Catholic Church and would also guarantee that his 
sons received a thoroughly Catholic upbringing.69 This was even more im-
portant because of the boys’ closeness to the succession in Spain: they were in 
line after Don Carlos, Philip’s only child, whose suitability for kingship was 
increasingly in doubt.70 Again, the King had pulled his nephews into his orbit 
in order to socialise them into becoming ‘good Habsburgs’. The difference 
between Rudolf and Ernest on the one hand and Alessandro on the other was 
that the archdukes’ mother was wholly in favour of their Spanish sojourn: a 
staunch Catholic herself, she trusted her brother much more with her chil-
dren’s upbringing than her husband (whom she otherwise clearly loved and 
respected), and rather than clamouring for her sons’ return, as Alessandro’s 
parents did, she would lobby for them to stay as long as possible.

In Alessandro’s case, we found no trace of discussions about employment 
for the young prince. This aspect played a more palpable role when the Aus-
trian nephews were at court. In 1563, Rudolf and Ernest had four younger 
brothers and two sisters, who all needed to be supported from Maximil-
ian’s limited patrimony.71 A host of little archdukes and archduchesses were 
thus hopeful of their uncle’s patronage.72 Indeed, the marriage of Maximil-
ian’s daughters was mentioned along with the journey of their brothers – we 
have already learnt of the marriage plans for Elisabeth.73 The future of their 
younger brothers was sometimes alluded to as well. A mere three or four 
months after his arrival on Iberian soil, the imperial ambassador Dietrich-
stein mentioned to Emperor Maximilian that the Castilian kings had always 
appointed a younger son to the archiepiscopal see – something which had 
indeed happened in thirteenth and fourteenth centuries, but not since – and 
that while Philip II only had one son, Maximilian and Maria had many, 
implying that one of them could take this role.74 Maximilian allowed the 
ambassador to bring the matter up with Philip, but only as if it was his own 
idea.75 The fact that Maximilian would not endorse these thoughts as his own 
idea indicates that Dietrichstein had not been ordered to be on the lookout 
for offices. It is also well known that Maximilian did not want his sons to 
become clerics. There is no trace of this suggestion in the correspondence 
between Philip and Maximilian, and Dietrichstein did not suggest any other 
postings in the years after his Toledo letters – perhaps Philip still had his ille-
gitimate brother Don Juan in mind for the post, although Don Juan’s martial 
aspirations would soon set him on a military career.76 Yet the future of the 
younger sons was clearly on Dietrichstein’s mind, and he was not afraid to 
explore their possibilities within the Spanish monarchy.

Without getting into specifics, Dietrichstein used the occasion of the birth 
of another son to Maximilian and Maria in 1565 (a boy named Charles, who 
would die before his first birthday) to point out to Philip that the Emperor 
had many sons to provide for, but that he was sure Philip would care for his 
nephews as if they were his own children. Philip responded by asking the 
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boys’ ages, particularly Wenceslaus, the next youngest son, who was four 
and a half years old at the time.77 This may indicate that Philip already had 
his young nephew in mind for a clerical career. The fate of the younger sons 
was also a concern to Maximilian: when the Emperor suffered a bout of ill 
health in 1567, the Spanish ambassador in Vienna reported how worried he 
had been about his many sons and his limited means of providing for them.78

It was in fact not just the imperial ambassador in Madrid who inquired 
about possibilities for the younger sons. The Spanish ambassador in Vienna 
also harassed Maximilian, often in poor health, about his sons’ futures. In 
the early 1570s, there were only plans for Rudolf (to be crowned king of 
Hungary and Bohemia, and elected king of the Romans as soon as possible) 
and Ernest (to be elected to the kingdom of Poland).79 Even during Maximil-
ian’s lifetime, Rudolf and Ernest had roles to fulfil within their paternal pat-
rimony, as governors of Bohemia and Hungary, for instance, but the others 
did not.80 Maximilian did not seem to have any plans for the younger boys; 
maybe the age gap between Ernst (born 1553) and the next brother Mat-
thias (born 1558) meant that he felt there would be time to take care of the 
younger sons. The Spanish ambassador recommended clerical careers for two 
of the Emperor’s younger sons, whichever showed most inclination for that, 
so that they could become spiritual electors, but Maximilian – with all his 
Lutheran leanings – was very resistant to such ideas.81 Sending two more sons 
to Spain, along with their sister, who would marry Philip, was in itself a solu-
tion to this problem, since Philip promised to take care of the costs.82 Rudolf 
and Ernest returned home in 1571, after their sister and younger brothers 
Albert and Wenceslaus had arrived in Spain, and set out to carve roles for 
themselves in their father’s service.

If we should ascribe any motive to the royal upbringing at the Habsburg 
court, it is certainly to socialise sons of suspect fathers and turn them into 
Habsburg loyalists – nothing as sinister as hostage-taking, but nothing as 
non-committal as a Grand Tour either. That anyone expected this to lead to 
office-holding in the monarchy cannot be deduced from the experiences of 
Alessandro, Rudolf or Ernest, who were all future rulers in other patrimo-
nies. But in contrast to Alessandro, Rudolf and Ernest had a flock of younger 
brothers whose futures were a cause for concern. We will find the future 
‘arch-nephew’ among their ranks.

A Nephew for the Low Countries?

Now that we have introduced the young men in Philip II’s kinship network, 
we can turn to the question of the governorship of the Low Countries. In 
1572, the duke of Alba had governed the Low Countries for several years, 
provoking such protest and ill-feeling by his heavy-handed suppression of the 
Revolt that he would never be able to re-establish peace there again. After 
these disastrous years, the need for a governor of royal blood was keenly 
felt and was widely discussed.83 Philip’s sisters were not in the mix: Juana’s 
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reluctance was well known and she died in 1573, while Maria was (until 
1576) a married woman, an empress no less. Margaret had left the position 
after Alba’s arrival in 1567. In 1572, Philip hinted to Maria and Maximilian 
that he was considering one of their sons for the job. The only thing that could 
stand in the way of appointing the second-born Ernest (recently returned to 
Vienna) was his possible election to the Polish throne.84 But even though the 
Polish election fell through, Ernest was not appointed at this point. Instead, 
Philip turned to a childhood companion, Luis de Requesens, as a successor 
to Alba. Maximilian and Maria did not show their disappointment, but the 
Spanish ambassador in Vienna knew they had heard so many rumours point-
ing towards Ernest’s appointment that he felt it necessary to tell them that the 
situation in the Low Countries was so dangerous that it would hardly have 
been a favour to send him.85 The ambassador also suggested to Maximilian 
that he send Ernest to the Low Countries at the head of an army to aid in the 
fight against the rebels. Being on the scene with his own army would have put 
Ernest in a position to vie for the governorship in the future, but Maximilian 
would have none of this.86 Violet Soen has argued that the appointment of 
Requesens might have been intended to pave the way for another governor of 
the blood, Don Juan, with whom Requesens had shared command both dur-
ing the Alpujarras campaign and at the head of the maritime Holy League.87 
If this is true, the choice had fallen in the meantime on Philip’s brother, by 
now a seasoned general, but Don Juan was not appointed yet either.

The governorship of the Low Countries certainly remained a topic of dis-
cussion at the Spanish court, and in late 1574 Philip asked the opinions of 
several courtiers on the matter, indicating that Requesens’ tenure was not 
meant to last very long. Joachim Hopperus, a lawyer from the Low Countries 
who had served in Madrid for several years, suggested a son or brother of 
Emperor Maximilian II (the son was surely Ernest; the brother mostly likely 
the oft-mentioned Ferdinand of Tyrol but perhaps Charles of Styria) and 
Margaret of Parma, but he preferred Don Juan. It is not entirely clear why he 
preferred Don Juan to the imperial candidates, but he certainly preferred a 
male governor over a woman – presumably because he would be better able 
to command the armies, which was Don Juan’s forte. The duke of Alba sug-
gested the same individuals, but added the duke of Savoy, who had served 
in the position previously.88 The imperial ambassador Khevenhüller reported 
a slightly compressed shortlist to Maximilian in late 1575 that consisted of 
Archduke Ernest, the duke of Savoy and Margaret of Parma.89 While the ap-
pointment of Don Juan had been rumoured for some time, his exclusion from 
this shortlist indicates that Philip intended to keep him in Italy, or at least 
that he was not an immediate candidate for the Brussels post.

Don Juan was indeed tied up in Italy for the moment, and Requesens re-
mained in office. However, the governor became mortally ill in 1576, which 
put the matter of his succession high on the agenda. At this point, the Council 
of State reviewed candidates in greater detail.90 The aspects of legitimacy, 
inheritance, experience and gender were all taken into account. The duke of 
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Alba spoke first and dismissed both Margaret of Parma and her son. Neither 
Margaret’s illegitimacy nor Alessandro’s Farnese identity was seen as an issue, 
rather the fact that Margaret was a woman and thus could not take charge 
of the war efforts, while Alessandro was too inexperienced. The other can-
didates were tied up: Don Juan was unavailable because he could not leave 
Italy, and the Emperor’s brothers Ferdinand and Charles would not leave 
their states because of the Ottoman threat. Alba preferred the duke of Savoy, 
who had experience in the Low Countries and was of royal blood, but might 
not want to leave his states either, in which case only Archduke Ernest could 
be counted on. The Inquisitor General brought up the matter of dynastic 
identity: he was opposed to the duke of Savoy because he did not belong to 
the House of Austria (despite being a full cousin of the King), while sending 
an archduke might mean that the Austrian branch gained control of the Low 
Countries (how would they get an archduke to leave again?). This presented 
a tricky dilemma: non-Habsburg kinsmen were not Habsburg enough, but 
Habsburg kinsmen had too much legitimacy!91 He preferred Don Juan, who 
was of course the only candidate to belong to the House and bear its name 
without actually having any rights – the benefits of bastardy. This benefit was 
rejected by Don Antonio de Toledo, prior of Castile, who objected to Don 
Juan’s candidacy because he was a bastard and added that he, too, might be 
impossible to dislodge, since he had already acted with great independence in 
Italy. Despite an unprecedented number of candidates, or perhaps because of 
it, the councillors could not reach agreement and the session was suspended.

When they reconvened two days later, Alba suggested Albert for the first 
time; he had arrived at court in 1570 and was sixteen years old in 1576. Al-
bert was something of a compromise candidate: a legitimate Habsburg but 
under the King’s control. Alba argued against Ernest because he would come 
from Vienna, which meant that Maximilian would interfere with the retinue 
that would be sent along with him; Philip could on the other hand send 
whomever he wished along with Albert since he would be departing from the 
court in Madrid. Don Antonio still preferred Ernest, with Albert in second 
place, and he continued to argue against Don Juan. The Inquisitor General, 
on the other hand, insisted on Don Juan, dismissing both Ernest and Albert. 
The marquess of Aguilar settled on Albert, a young and easily controllable 
candidate. After two days the councillors had not come much closer to agree-
ing on a candidate, but at least some had been rejected: the non-Habsburg 
candidates (the duke of Savoy and the Parmas) were out of contention, and 
the contest was between Don Juan and one of the archdukes. Hopperus, 
when asked to comment on the question separately, dismissed Margaret of 
Parma with some regret and suggested first Don Juan, then Albert and lastly 
the duke of Savoy.92 Such disunity among his councillors ultimately meant 
that Philip had to choose himself. He decided on his brother, who was, after 
all, a seasoned commander, which neither Ernest nor Albert was. That Don 
Juan would be easy to dislodge because he had no dynastic rights cannot 
have played a role in Philip’s thinking: it was well known that Don Juan was 
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a bit of a loose cannon precisely because he had no rights and thus needed to 
create his own destiny. And he lived up to his reputation: while in the Low 
Countries he planned to launch an invasion of England, depose its Protestant 
queen and marry the Catholic pretender. His experience and Habsburgness – 
he was, after all, Don Juan de Austria – did the trick. Don Juan had now truly 
rewritten all the rules for Habsburg bastards.

But a nephew would still end up governing in Brussels. When rumours 
started that Don Juan would be sent to the Low Countries as the new gover-
nor, Alessandro hoped that his friend would take him with him.93 Don Juan, 
equally eager to continue their collaboration, did not disappoint him.94 When 
he had been serving as governor of the Low Countries for a few months, he 
asked for Alessandro, which Philip, after long deliberation, agreed to. Ales-
sandro joined Don Juan in December 1577.95 By that time, Don Juan was ill 
and had suggested to Philip that Alessandro might take over in case of his 
death.96 When Don Juan fell ill again in the autumn of 1578 and felt death 
approaching this time, he appointed Alessandro as his temporary successor 
until new orders arrived from Philip.97 Alessandro had never seriously been 
considered for this office, and Philip did not intend to confirm his tenure 
now: he intended Alessandro’s tenure as governor to be interim and to be 
downgraded to commander-in-chief, serving his mother Margaret, his aunt 
Empress Maria or his cousin Archduke Ferdinand – that is, either a sister or 
a ‘real’ Habsburg.98 The candidacy of Philip’s cousin Archduke Ferdinand – 
an experienced governor who had been in charge of Bohemia for twenty 
years before becoming an independent count of Tyrol, and who reportedly 
was Philip’s favourite99 – shows that Philip valued experience after the Don 
Juan interlude, but also the family name. The other candidates, Margaret of 
Parma and Empress Maria, were his sisters, of his own age, with many years 
of political experience under their belts. Throughout Habsburg rule, such 
candidates had been the first choice and they were again, even in the war-torn 
Low Countries. But the provision of the governorship was at something of 
a crossroads. Would the governorship be reserved for a ‘Habsburg’ cousin, 
or would closer kinship trump the ‘Austria’ label, with a Farnese nephew? 
It was Alessandro himself who essentially had the last word on this matter. 
He stubbornly refused any of the arrangements that would see him take up a 
subordinate role and, with the support of the local Council of State, basically 
forced Philip to make his appointment permanent in 1581.100

The Arch-Nephew

During the 1570s, Philip’s cherished Austrian nephews, whom he showered 
with affection while they resided at his court, missed out on any appoint-
ments. But a new name had been added to the list of candidates: Albert’s. 
After Rudolf and Ernest had left the Spanish court, Albert had arrived in 
the company of his younger brother Wenceslaus and their sister Anna, who 
would marry Philip. The two younger archdukes were further removed from 
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the imperial succession, and we have seen that Maximilian did not have any 
plans for them. Indeed, one condition for their Spanish education was that 
Philip would provide for them instead of their father.101 This allowed Philip 
some freedom to draw them ever more into his orbit. Their household was 
more Castilian in complexion and more heavily dominated by Philip’s ap-
pointees than Rudolf and Ernest’s household.102 It has been argued that Philip 
already intended his nephews for the Church in 1572, because churchmen 
were more prominently present in their households.103 In fact, it is hard to 
trace the discussions about their futures, which were shrouded in much se-
crecy along with other sensitive dynastic matters.104

In the previous chapter, we already briefly mentioned Albert’s candidacy 
for the succession to the elderly archbishop of Zaragoza, Hernando de 
Aragón, a grandson of Ferdinand the Catholic who died in January 1575. 
The see of Zaragoza had been held by illegitimate members of the house of 
Aragón, which gave it a junior-grade royal character – apparently suitable 
for Albert as well. That the imperial ambassador Khevenhüller took this 
option seriously is shown by his swift intervention when another cardinal 
applied for a hefty pension from Zaragoza’s revenues to annul this threat 
to Albert’s future income.105 But Philip gave the see to his confessor. In June 
1576 (after Albert had also missed out on the Low Countries post), Kheven-
hüller spoke to Philip about Albert’s apparent wish to enter the Church. The 
young archduke wrote a letter to his father, confirming this wish, but this 
letter could never be delivered to the ailing Maximilian, who was by now 
at death’s door.106 One suspects the Emperor would have objected strongly, 
but Maximilian and the other Austrians were actually being kept out of the 
loop; with regard to the archdukes’ futures, Khevenhüller was condemned 
to trying to make sense of gossip at court.107 This means of course that the 
ambassador was not part of the negotiations that potentially concerned the 
future of the archdukes.

Maximilian’s death changed the situation for his sons at the Spanish court, 
removing an important impediment to their clerical careers.108 Albert and 
Wenceslaus were essentially stranded in Spain, aged almost seventeen and 
fifteen. Rudolf appropriated the entire patrimony for himself and took lim-
ited interest in the futures of his brothers, except for Ernest, who became his 
governor in Austria. Albert and Wenceslaus were of an age to be taken care 
of, and they now fell squarely under the responsibility of their uncle.109 Their 
mother, Maria, had always fully supported Philip in his decisions regarding 
her children, and she now helped push through clerical appointments for her 
sons, no longer constrained by her (deceased) husband’s suspicions towards 
the Church.110 Maria, the new emperor Rudolf II and Philip worked together 
to secure a cardinalate for Albert, which was granted in March 1577. In May 
the cardinal’s hat arrived, and Albert received his tonsure.111 Albert was also 
earmarked to take over the archbishopric of Toledo in the future. Albert thus 
first took on the mantle intended for illegitimate relatives – one suspects that 
all these posts could have been Don Juan’s, if only he had wanted them. No 
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legitimate Castilian prince or Austrian archduke had ever been a cardinal be-
fore the 1570s.112 Soon Albert would add the governorship of Portugal to his 
portfolio. As the first Habsburg governor there, there were no precedents for 
his appointment. But we have seen that the governorship of the Low Coun-
tries had developed from an office intended for legitimate siblings to one that 
could be held by bastards and nephews. Indeed, Philip first offered the job to 
his sister Maria, newly arrived in Castile after being widowed, following the 
preferred route.113 But Albert transformed the role nephews could play in the 
monarchy by taking the job after his mother refused.114

For Wenceslaus a rather novel career path was carved out, which would 
serve as a blueprint for the next generation. As the runt of the litter, he had 
been the most obvious candidate for a clerical career and had been mentioned 
in that context when he was still only a very little boy. As both Albert and he 
approached adulthood, Philip decided to place him in the Church, but not as 
a cardinal or bishop. He was intended to take over the Castilian grand priory 
of the Order of St John.115 His royal status would be used to strengthen 
the grip of the monarchy on the Castilian branch of the Order. The grand 
priory had been divided into two positions, the priories of Castile and Leon, 
respectively, since the late fifteenth century. During the 1560s, the Grand 
Master of the Order and the Pope wanted to end this division to strengthen 
the Order while Philip II wanted to bring the Spanish priories under closer 
royal control – and thus remove them from aristocratic control.116 Both prio-
rates were held by members of the Toledo family, which was naturally much 
displeased by this course of events. But talk of Wenceslaus’s accession to the 
priorates was hot during the late 1570s, when the duke of Alba – head of the 
Toledo clan – and his eldest son were strongly out of favour, which means the 
King did not take their interests into account.117 It was decided that which-
ever of the two grand priors survived the other would become the sole grand 
prior, to be succeeded after his death by a royal relative.118 This campaign to 
turn the priorate into a dynastic office was a logical continuation of the late-
fifteenth-century efforts of the Catholic monarchs to bring the Castilian mili-
tary orders under royal control by having the king elected as grandmaster. In 
this way, Ferdinand the Catholic became master of the orders of Calatrava 
(1487), Alcántara (1494) and Santiago (1499), while the monarchs managed 
to eliminate a rival power as well as to gain a powerful instrument of patron-
age.119 Of course, it was unthinkable that Philip II would take up this position 
himself since the Castilian priory in the Order of St John was subordinate 
to the Order’s grand master on Malta, but a nephew was a credible royal 
substitute.120 However, while Wenceslaus was taken into the Order in 1577, 
he died too soon to ever take over the priorate – the last of the incumbent 
priors did not die until 1591.121 Nevertheless, a pushing mother and a pulling 
uncle determined the future of these two archdukes. Clerical careers were on 
offer for the nephews, similar to the careers of illegitimate offspring in earlier 
times, but grander – a path that Don Juan might have followed had he been 
more inclined to spiritual affairs.
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Conclusion

There are some noticeable differences between the reigns of Charles V and 
Philip II. While nephews like Hans of Denmark and Lodovico of Savoy had 
arrived at a Habsburg court of necessity, Philip assembled young nephews 
around him with more purpose. Also, Hans had stayed in the Low Coun-
tries and Lodovico in Castile, so their paths never crossed. During Philip II’s 
reign, groups of young relatives resided at court together, giving each other 
(and their parents) insights into the possibilities available to them. Growing 
up with Don Carlos and Alessandro may well have turned Don Juan away 
from a career in the Church. And while this triumvirate lived in Madrid or 
Alcalà, they were joined by Archdukes Rudolf and Ernest, making five young 
men whose destinies would be closely connected to Philip’s.122 Around 1570, 
Alessandro and Don Juan became active in Italy while Don Carlos had died 
by then. But before Rudolf and Ernest returned home, their brothers Albert 
and Wenceslaus arrived, along with their sister Anna who would become the 
new queen – raising the number of Austrian siblings in Madrid to five again. 
The larger number of young relatives in the orbit of the king of Spain allowed 
for new patterns of employment to emerge and old barriers to be broken 
down. Whereas Maximilian I’s bastard sons had inevitably ended up in the 
Church while Charles’s ‘consorts’ and ‘heirs’ governed his territories, Charles 
V’s own bastard son Don Juan set out on a military and gubernatorial career, 
while nephews like Albert and Wenceslaus combined Church and administra-
tive offices – serving in the roles previously assigned to bastards and siblings. 
Less strict distinctions between various groups of relatives also meant that 
they increasingly competed for the same offices.

Local elites were also vocal about their wish for a royal governor. After 
several years of Castilian grandees at the head of the government, the Low 
Countries estates extracted a promise from Philip to appoint a ‘prince ou 
princesse de nostre sang’ (a prince or princess of our blood) in the future. 
Such pressures were quite absent when Philip planned for Wenceslaus to 
become grand prior of St John, or for Albert to be become archbishop of 
Toledo. The employment of royal relatives developed both into an obliga-
tion forced on the King by his subjects, and into a strategy to increase royal 
control, particularly of the peninsula’s clerical apparatus.

Relatives themselves were equally involved: Philip’s sisters Maria and 
Margaret sent their sons to him, with various degrees of reluctance. The third 
sister, Juana, refused to take up a role that was traditional for royal widows, 
and his brother Don Juan refused to acquiesce in the typical role of a bas-
tard. That widowed sisters were no longer appointed governor was not a 
consequence of their absence but of choice. Once in Castile, Empress Maria 
had ample opportunity to garner a reputation like that of Mary of Hungary 
as governor of Portugal, but she refused and spent over two decades in the 
Descalzas with her daughter instead. Not Mary of Hungary but Juana pro-
vided the model Maria followed. All these choices led Philip to turn to the 
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hitherto untapped potential of his nephews and, eventually, to the emergence 
of the arch-nephew, Albert. This stereotypical dispossessed younger son had 
every right to be pleased with his achievements when he closed his eyes for 
the last time in 1621, at the age of sixty-one: he died having ruled for over 
twenty years as the sovereign lord of the Habsburg Low Countries, which his 
wife, the Spanish Infanta Isabella, had brought as a dowry to their marriage. 
Before his marriage Albert had already had a career as archbishop of Toledo, 
governor of Portugal and chief councillor to the king in his old age.123 Albert 
thus started out on the traditional ‘bastard career’ in the Church (although 
with a golden lining as a cardinal and primate of Spain), first followed by 
Maximilian I’s bastards and anticipated for Don Juan. Then he transferred 
to the ‘inner-circle career’ as a territorial governor, following in the footsteps 
of royal spouses, siblings and children. At the death of Philip II, Albert had 
become a kind of ‘second son’, inheriting the Low Countries. Tellingly, when 
Albert received the Order of the Golden Fleece from Philip III at the occa-
sion of his marriage, the chain and pendant were those that had belonged to 
Philip II.124
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Chapter 4 ended with the remarkable ascent of the Habsburg ‘arch-nephew’, 
Albert, who became his uncle’s heir when he received the Low Countries as 
his wife’s dowry. Albert’s good fortune was unprecedented and unique in 
the history of the House of Habsburg: he enjoyed a career that had been in-
tended for at least two separate nephews: one as an archbishop and another 
as groom for Isabella, and he combined the roles played previously by clerical 
bastards, governing siblings and – as ruler of the Low Countries – hypotheti-
cal second sons. If his two brothers Wenceslaus and Ernest had lived longer, 
the three of them (the primate of Castile, the prior of St John and the prince 
of the Low Countries) would have formed a formidable triumvirate indeed at 
the highest echelons of the Spanish monarchy.

But dynastic rule is always punctuated by generational shifts and dynastic 
incidents. Wenceslaus and Ernest died a few years before their uncle, and in 
1598 the monarchy got a new king, the young Philip III (born 1578). Philip III 
would not show the same eagerness as his father to employ nephews, instead 
lavishing all his attention on only one of them: Filiberto of Savoy, who would 
become prior of St John. Of course, after his sister and her husband had 
taken possession of the Low Countries, its government was an appointment 
he could no longer make. But some posts that had traditionally been occupied 
by relatives remained vacant as well. Portugal was governed by a string of 
clerics1 – the absence of a royal governor there gave rise to endless rumours 
about imminent appointments.2 New offices that took on a dynastic hue – 
the generalship of the Mediterranean fleet – would be assigned to Filiberto. 
Blessed with three legitimate sons reaching their teens, Philip only gave the 
youngest a future role in the monarchy by having him created a cardinal and 
archbishop of Toledo. The new King did not seem keen to expand the dynas-
tic ruling group. In part because of this reticence, a new dynamic cropped 
up during Philip III’s reign: rivalry over scarce vacancies among different 
groups of aspiring relatives, among them the Styrian brothers of his new wife 
Margaret and the Savoyard children of his sister Catalina, who was arguably 
the ‘dynastic vessel’ most instrumental in shaping the Habsburg seventeenth 
century (Fig. 6.1).3 This dynamic was complemented by another: the careers 
of the sons of Maria and Maximilian provided a new generation of parents 
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with a blueprint for the possible futures of their children, prompting them to 
be much more savvy and calculating in their dealings with the Spanish court 
(Fig. 6.2).4

A New King, a New Queen, a New Dynastic Ruling Group?

In 1599, Philip III, the new king of Spain, married Margaret of Austria-Styria. 
She was the daughter of the deceased Archduke Charles of Styria, youngest 
son of Emperor Ferdinand I, and Maria Anna of Bavaria. The marriage had 

Figure 6.1 � The Infanta Catalina Micaela (1567–97), by Alonso Sánchez Coello, c. 
1584. 

Source: Alamy.
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been seriously in the making since 1596, although with two of Margaret’s el-
der sisters as candidates.5 The Styrian branch was the junior Austrian branch 
of the family – that it would be the only surviving branch twenty years later 
was hard to foresee, even though an Italian diplomat predicted already in 
1594 that Margaret’s brother Ferdinand might become emperor one day.6 
But in 1594 Rudolf II was still emperor, and he might still marry and have 
legitimate children,7 while several of Rudolf’s younger brothers were set to 
marry in the following years (Ernest, Albert and Matthias). While all these 
grooms were approaching their forties, it was not unthinkable that one of 
them might be able to sire a son – Philip II was fifty-one years old when he 
became father of the future Philip III. For the time being, the Styrians were 
still the junior branch with a limited patrimony that could not be partitioned. 
This meant that the Spanish marriage would be used to provide for Marga-
ret’s numerous siblings, apart from her eldest brother Ferdinand who was the 
sole ruling archduke of Styria: two unmarried younger sisters and no fewer 
than three brothers (Maximilian Ernest, Leopold and Charles).8 It is not dif-
ficult to see why Margaret’s marriage raised hopes for these brothers’ futures. 
When Philip III’s mother, Anna of Austria, had travelled to Castile to marry 
Philip II, her younger brothers Wenceslaus and Albert had accompanied her 
and had been well provided for. Indeed, Rudolf II appreciated and encour-
aged Maria Anna and Margaret’s efforts on behalf of the younger archdukes, 
and even for his own brother Archduke Maximilian, who, however, could 
never be persuaded to engage on a Spanish career.9

To facilitate negotiations about her other children, Maria Anna asked for 
permission to accompany her daughter all the way to Spain.10 While Philip II 
had granted her permission, Philip III – who succeeded his father in the mid-
dle of the preparations for the marriage – denied it, precisely because he 
feared Maria Anna would push for favours for her sons. Not only the young 

Figure 6.2  Dramatis personae.
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King but also his new favourite, the soon-to-be duke of Lerma, was against 
his mother-in-law’s visit. They must have had Leopold in mind in particular; 
they feared Maria Anna would try to acquire the archbishopric of Toledo (re-
cently renounced by Archduke Albert) for him.11 They agreed to allow Maria 
Anna to come only if she left her sons at home.

This did not stop the negotiations, of course. Margaret and her mother 
tried to have either Maximilian Ernest or Leopold sent to Spain to be edu-
cated there (Charles, born in 1590, was probably considered too young at 
this stage). While the destiny of the second eldest, Maximilian Ernest, was 
undecided, the two youngest brothers Leopold and Charles were destined for 
the Church, and Philip II himself had intervened to enable Leopold’s elec-
tion as co-adjutor to the bishop of Passau.12 Maria Anna had more plans for 
her third-born: if he could just come to Castile for his education, he would 
first continue his theological studies in Salamanca before acquiring a Spanish 
bishopric and a cardinalate, and once he attained these positions, he might 
well be appointed to the governorship of Portugal, Milan or Naples.13 It is 
not hard to see where Maria Anna got her inspiration: essentially, she sug-
gested that Leopold follow the path recently trodden by Albert. But Philip III 
and Lerma would have none of this. After this plan failed, the two women 
set their sights on the governorship of Portugal for Maximilian Ernest. This, 
it seems, was granted,14 but the young archduke was not inclined to it and 
nothing came of it.15

Margaret’s mother clearly used her daughter’s marriage to create career 
possibilities for her non-inheriting sons, similar to what happened after Anna 
of Austria married Philip II in 1570. But throughout Philip III’s reign, the 
Styrian Habsburgs would encounter stiff competition from a perhaps unex-
pected corner: Savoy. Philip III’s sister Catalina had married Duke Charles 
Emmanuel of Savoy (son of Emmanuel Philibert) in 1585 and had soon given 
birth to a string of princes and princesses. If a Habsburg identity had been 
important during the reign of Philip II, it was decisively trumped by kinship 
during Philip III’s: Philip III clearly preferred his Savoyard nephews over his 
Austrian second cousins and brothers-in-law. The Styrian marriage negotia-
tions took place in a period where other negotiations were also in full swing, 
namely for the travel of some Savoyard nephews to Spain for their education. 
The Styrians clearly recognised the danger: a Savoyard diplomat reported to 
his home court that ‘the faction of the Archduke’ was against their arrival, 
and Maria Anna’s efforts to send her own sons to Spain for their education 
were probably meant to neutralise the Savoyard threat.16 The new King’s 
emotional preference for the Savoyards (they were his sister’s children and 
his father’s grandchildren, and a stream of letters about them and portraits of 
them had been flowing to Madrid for years) explains his aloofness towards 
his new brothers-in-law. But the royal favourites of the seventeenth century 
would also become an ever greater obstacle to royal careers, with their al-
most complete control of royal patronage and with their own relatives to 
consider. In the end, neither Leopold nor any Savoyard prince would become 
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the new archbishop of Toledo – the duke of Lerma’s uncle was appointed to 
the position.17

The Sons of Catalina

Philip III’s Savoyard nephews were the children of his sister, the Infanta 
Catalina Micaela. Infanta Catalina was born in 1567, daughter of Philip II 
and his third wife Isabelle of Valois, herself a daughter of the French king 
Henry II and his Italian spouse Catherine de Medici, after whom Catalina 
was named. She was the second daughter born of the match, after her sister 
Isabella Clara Eugenia (born 1566). In 1585, the Infanta married Charles 
Emmanuel, the young duke of Savoy (1562–1630). In contrast to both her 
mother and grandmother, who had had to endure years of childlessness be-
fore finally producing children, Catalina proved fecund from the start: she 
gave birth to five boys and five girls between 1586 and her death in 1597. 
Nine children reached adulthood: Filippo Emanuele (1586), Vittorio Ame-
deo (1587), Emanuele Filiberto (1588), Margherita (1588), Isabella (1591), 
Maurizio (1593), Maria Apollonia (1594), Francesca Caterina (1595) and 
Tommaso Francesco (1596). Therefore, during the last years of Philip II’s 
life, while Ernest and Albert were embarking on their careers and a new set 
of archdukes entered the Spanish orbit from Styria, a cohort of Italian royal 
grandchildren was growing up. Even though their mother died young, she 
would prove of immense significance for them: being her children would de-
fine their relationship with the Spanish monarchy throughout their lives. But 
they also had a father, the mercurial Charles Emmanuel, whose relationship 
with the Spanish kings was rocky at the best of times. Like Maria Anna of 
Bavaria, he would be at the centre of protracted negotiations for the future 
of his children.

As soon as Catalina and Charles Emmanuel’s children were born, they 
were presented to their grandfather Philip II as his and his heir’s future ser
vants. Expressing one’s desire to be a faithful servant was part of polite con-
versation, so we should not read too much into assertions by the parents such 
as ‘I wish [prince Philip’s] nephews were older so that they could serve Your 
Majesty and him, since they are so many that they could form a company of 
soldiers, which I hope they will do’.18 But in these years, the careers of Ales-
sandro, Albert and Wenceslaus had taken shape, so these phrases were also 
more than just niceties. With an eye on their careers, the possibility of an 
education at the Spanish court was already discussed in 1592, when Philip II 
rejoiced to his daughter at the idea of seeing his grandsons soon (Fig. 6.3).19 
While the children were then still too young – the eldest was barely six years 
old – such expressions indicate that everyone took for granted that the princes 
would one day meet their grandfather.20

As the journey was delayed, it became something of a bone of contention. 
In 1595 Charles Emmanuel complained to the Spanish ambassador in Turin 
about the lack of favours for his children, claiming that the King had not 
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granted permission for two of them to travel to the Spanish court ‘to be at the 
feet of Your Majesty and the prince’. This stung particularly since the arch-
dukes Ernest and Albert had received so much confidence and money.21 In the 
1590s, then, Charles Emmanuel saw the previous generation of archdukes 

Figure 6.3 � Portrait of the Princes Vittorio Amedeo (1587–1637), Emanuele Fili
berto (1588–1624) and Filippo Emanuele (1586–1605) of Savoy, by Jan 
Kraeck, c. 1592/95. 

Source: Alamy.
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both as models and as rivals for his own children. He intended to secure the 
future of some of his sons before sending them to the Spanish court. Geo-
political factors helped the Duke. In 1588, Charles Emmanuel had annexed 
the French-held enclave of Saluzzo and he had been at war over it ever since. 
Philip II was at war with France as well: he refused to accept Henry IV’s claim 
to the French throne and instead advanced that of his elder daughter – a 
granddaughter of Henry II and thus niece of the last Valois kings. Father-in-
law and son-in-law were allies, but Charles Emmanuel was unhappy about 
the level of military support he got from Spain, and he complained about the 
lack of favour shown to his sons.22 In this context, the Spanish ambassador 
in Turin suggested awarding a few favours to the young Savoyard princes, 
which would be cheaper than sending troops.23 In 1596, Philip wrote to his 
daughter to say that he had decided to award the priorate of Castile in the 
Order of St John to one of his grandsons – she could decide which one.24 As 
we already saw in the previous chapter, Philip had intended to appoint his 
nephew Archduke Wenceslaus to this office. Wenceslaus only had to wait 
for both incumbents to die, but it was the young archduke who died first in 
1578, and it was only in 1591 that the second of the two aristocratic priors 
died and the office became vacant at last.25 Offering it to Turin would placate 
Charles Emmanuel while bringing his sons firmly into the orbit of the Span-
ish court.

This was all the more necessary because Charles Emmanuel had begun 
to lean towards France: in the summer of 1595, he signed a ceasefire with 
Henry IV,26 much to the disgust of Philip,27 and he considered marrying his 
eldest daughter Margherita to the young prince of Condé, Henry IV’s cousin 
and heir at the time.28 This apparent alignment with France made it impera-
tive that the children would be raised to be pro-Spanish. The Spanish ambas-
sador spoke of ‘taking some of these princes there’ (‘llevar allá algunos destos 
príncipes’) to make sure that the Duke ‘is careful’ (‘mire con cuydado’). But 
no action was taken at the time, and similarly Emanuele Filiberto – the third 
son, who had been selected to become prior of Castile29 – did not receive his 
official appointment yet, either. These favours were left dangling before the 
disloyal Charles Emmanuel’s eyes.

In the end, Philip II would never meet his grandchildren as he died before 
they travelled to Spain. The decision was left up to his successor Philip III. 
The new King can barely have remembered a time when a meeting with his 
nephews was not being discussed somehow, and maybe because of this, he 
became a strong advocate for their swift arrival after his accession in 1598. 
Charles Emmanuel – at war again with France while Spain had just signed a 
peace – was not willing at that moment to send his eldest son, arguing that 
his subjects would not accept the absence of their future lord.30 This rebuff 
was unacceptable to the Spanish Council of State. The councillors advised 
the King to take great offence at the refusal to send the heir, primarily be-
cause if he came, he could be counted on to become pro-Spanish, while if he 
remained in Turin, he would most likely become pro-French.31
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In 1600, Philip III cranked up the pressure. In the secret instruction to 
his ambassador in Savoy, Philip reiterated that he had made it clear before 
that he wanted to see his nephews, particularly Filippo Emanuele, and that, 
although Charles Emmanuel was their father, Philip had loved their mother 
very much and that therefore ‘their upbringing and provision should always 
be to my satisfaction’. These statements seem to indicate that Philip saw him-
self as the boys’ dynastic superior, outranking even their father. Stressing his 
own authority even more, Philip instructed his ambassador to suggest that 
Charles Emmanuel could ‘do them a lot of harm if he does not act accord-
ing to my wishes’.32 To placate Charles Emmanuel, Philip finalised Emanuele 
Filiberto’s appointment to the priorate of St John.33 The twelve-year-old 
wrote a thank-you letter, writing tellingly, ‘I am certain that Your Majesty 
will employ me in his royal service my entire life, which I beg of Your Majesty 
with all possible humility and appreciation’.34 What we see happening is that 
Philip III was much more assertive in claiming authority over his nephews; a 
sentiment which Charles Emmanuel undoubtedly resented, but had also fed 
by his clamouring for favours and service for his children. Indeed, if we may 
suspect the father’s voice of shining through in the son’s letter, Charles Em-
manuel expected his third-born to be taken care of for life.

But in 1600, Charles Emmanuel was not quite ready to send his sons. He 
embarked on a slow process of rapprochement with France, taking an ever 
more critical and ultimately even hostile stance towards Spain.35 His agents in 
Spain had to plead with the Duke to send the boys. Not only were some pow-
erful Spanish bureaucrats losing patience, but after Philip’s marriage with 
the Styrian Margaret, her family entered the scene as contenders – supported 
by, or forming, the elusive ‘faction of the Archduke’.36 Another factor stood 
in the way of the princes’ speedy departure: the Queen’s pregnancy. Queen 
Margaret became pregnant in early 1601. If she gave birth to a boy, Charles 
Emmanuel would not send his eldest son. After all, as long as neither Philip 
III nor Isabella and Albert had any children, Filippo Emanuele was directly 
in line to inherit the throne. But if Margaret gave birth to a son, Filippo’s 
chances were strongly reduced, and his future would be in Savoy. Also, be-
fore sending his sons, the Duke wanted to assure the future of Vittorio Ame-
deo, the second son, in the shape of a cardinalate and benefices to the value 
of about 100,000 scudi.37 After the birth of the Infanta Anna in September 
1601, a healthy child for whom Filippo would make a suitable groom, the 
sons’ visit was considered to only be a matter of time: the chronicler Luis 
Cabrera de Córdoba noted that ‘everyone is certain that the three eldest sons 
of the duke of Savoy will arrive this summer, to reside here and be educated 
a few years, as has been discussed ever since His Majesty’s father was alive’.38 
Finally, in 1603, the three eldest boys – seventeen-year-old Filippo Emanuele, 
sixteen-year-old Vittorio Amedeo and fifteen-year-old Emanuele Filiberto – 
arrived in Spain.

In preparation for the princes’ arrival, Philip III ordered the Council of 
State to discuss how they would be addressed once they arrived in Castile. 
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The councillors clearly assumed that Filippo, as heir to the duchy of Sa-
voy, would be styled ‘His Highness’, but what about the younger ones? In a 
draft consulta which was not sent to the King, the president of the Council 
of Religious Orders felt that they should be styled ‘His Excellency’, since 
they would most likely become clerics (Vittorio was a candidate to receive 
the Portuguese priorate of Ocrato39).40 This section was omitted from the 
consulta which was sent to Philip III. In that document, the councillors pre-
sented a unanimous front, deciding on the style of ‘Highness’ for all the 
Savoyard princes, because each was ‘a son of the lady infanta Doña Cat-
alina, grandson of the king our lord, and nephew of Your Majesty’ and they 
went on to argue that

because the honour he is shown should correspond with this, it seemed 
that when making the distinction [between eldest and younger princes] 
people could think that the honour shown to the eldest is because of 
his status as firstborn of Savoy and not as a son of the lady Infanta, 
grandson of the King our lord and nephew of Your Majesty on which 
his status should be based, because it is clear that if this was not the 
case, they would receive a very different treatment, and that is why we 
agreed that there should be no difference.41

In short, the princes of Savoy were considered to be sons of a Spanish infanta 
rather than of the duke of Savoy. Giving them the style of ‘Highnesses’ was a 
confirmation of their Habsburg birth, thus marking them as members of the 
Habsburg dynasty.

As del Río Barredo noted, older Italian authors have considered the 
Savoyard princes to have been hostages at the Spanish court to ensure the 
loyalty of their father, although their preferential treatment as close relatives 
of Philip III rather implies that they were guests of honour.42 Del Río herself 
places the journey in the context of the educational practices of the Italian 
princely houses, which included educational stints for young princes at for-
eign courts. The Spanish court was a logical destination for the Savoyard 
princes – and not, say, the French or imperial courts – because they were so 
close to the succession.43 As we have seen, there has been a similar debate 
about Alessandro Farnese: were they hostages or were they typical Italian 
princes finishing their education? If we consider all the difficulties that had 
gone into the princes’ arrival, it becomes clear that this trip was not merely 
about providing an education at one of the most prestigious courts in Europe. 
For Philip III, it had much to do with exerting control over the futures of Cat-
alina’s sons. Claiming authority over them by virtue of being their uncle, the 
King intended to make sure the next duke of Savoy would be a loyal Spanish 
client. As before, when discussing Alessandro Farnese, I would argue that this 
court education was meant to firmly socialise the nephews into the Habsburg  
dynasty. A stay at court would make them Habsburgs, or at least loyal to 
the Habsburgs. In a sense, a Spanish education for the children served as a 
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consolidation of the alliance forged by the marriage of their parents, ensuring 
lasting political loyalty.

But Charles Emmanuel was only willing to give up control if he, and they, 
stood to benefit considerably. Comparisons to and a wish to emulate the 
previous generation of nephews were palpable in the correspondence of the 
Savoyard diplomats and of Charles Emmanuel himself, who often referred 
to the archdukes (particularly Ernest and Albert). Such analogies to Albert 
became even more pronounced once the princes had arrived. Vittorio was im-
mediately rumoured to not only be about to become a cardinal, but also vice-
roy of Portugal – an even clearer mimicking of Albert’s career. These rumours 
started before the princes had even reached the royal court, and in the years 
to come, the possibility of the cardinalate and viceroyalty was mentioned time 
and again.44 The Savoyard entourage of the princes continuously mentioned 
them, which means that these appointments remained an important ambition 
for the House of Savoy.45 Filippo had a distant shot at the throne, through 
direct inheritance or otherwise through marriage to the future queen of Spain. 
Vittorio was to be set up as the family cardinal – a long-standing ambition 
of the House of Savoy which had lacked one until now – bankrolled by the 
Spanish Church. Vittorio was clearly meant to become ‘the new Albert’, and 
Filiberto, as the grand prior of Castile, ‘the new Wenceslaus’.

In any case, the expectation that the princes of Savoy would copy the arch-
dukes’ careers signifies how a certain role for nephews within the monarchy 
had come into existence. Whereas Albert and Wenceslaus’s appointments had 
been quite unanticipated when they first arrived in Spain – their elder broth-
ers had returned home without any appointments, and no expectations ex-
isted for the younger boys either – the three princes of Savoy and their father 
knew precisely what they wanted from the new King. An education at the 
royal court would not merely serve to polish their manners and to do some 
networking but was seen as a stepping stone to greater favours and lifelong 
careers in Spanish service.

Filiberto: Forging a New Role

Any plans made by either Philip III or Charles Emmanuel were disrupted by 
the sudden death of Filippo Emanuele in 1605. The King had his nephew bur-
ied in the Escorial with the honours of an infante (as discussed in Chapter 3). 
The honours bestowed on Filippo reflected the genuine affection Philip III felt 
for his nephews, but it also confirmed their position within the Habsburg ex-
tended family. Filippo was again treated as a Spanish infante, quite consistent  
with his previous treatment as ‘Your Highness’ as Catalina’s son. Filippo’s 
death sent a shockwave through the House of Savoy. Charles Emmanuel was 
by all accounts a difficult brother-in-law, but also a devoted father. He started 
pushing for the return of his remaining sons immediately. Vittorio, who had 
neither been created a cardinal nor appointed viceroy of Portugal yet, was 
now the heir to the Savoyard duchy and as such no longer earmarked for 
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such offices. Instead, Charles Emmanuel wanted to have him by his side.46 
Filiberto, most firmly drawn into the Habsburg orbit as grand prior of Cas-
tile, became the focus for further advancement. Seeing that the duke of Savoy 
was adamant about his sons’ return, the Spanish court mentioned all kinds of 
favours and appointments to change his mind: Filiberto might be appointed 
viceroy of Portugal, while Maurizio (now the third son) would be made a 
cardinal and even the youngest, Tommaso, would be taken care of with a 
priory in the Order of St John. The Duke’s many daughters would receive 
dowries.47 Philip’s councillors wanted Vittorio to remain in Spain ‘hasta que 
tome estado’ – that is until his marriage, much like Alessandro Farnese half a 
century earlier.48 Since it was impossible for Charles Emmanuel to marry his 
son to an undesirable bride while Vittorio was in Spain, this basically meant 
that Philip III would have the final say on the matter. None of these promises 
would materialise and Charles Emmanuel succeeded in getting his sons home, 
unmarried. But shortly before their departure, another appointment was 
floated, one which lacked the prestige of the Portuguese viceroyalty, but was 
a much more realistic prospect: the generalship of the Mediterranean fleet.49

The generalship had once been held by Don Juan de Austria but had since 
been in the hands of Gian Andrea Doria, head of the famous Genoese house 
that had supplied countless naval commanders to the Habsburgs. As general 
of the fleet, Doria was in overall command of several regional squadrons, 
based in Castile, Naples and Sicily and supplemented by the squadrons of 
Italian allies like Genoa, Savoy and Tuscany. Over sixty years old in 1601, 
Doria had been allowed to retire while keeping his salary and title.50 Since the 
office was considered to be one of ‘authority, rather than substance’, the gov-
ernor of Milan thought it could do no harm to appoint Charles Emmanuel to 
it.51 But while Doria lived, no new general was appointed. In February 1606, 
the old admiral died, and the office could finally be awarded to someone else. 
The first person to petition for it was the count of Niebla, commander of the 
galleys of Castile. As an experienced naval officer and son-in-law of Philip 
III’s favourite, the duke of Lerma, Niebla might be considered a good can-
didate. But he was denied. The Savoyard ambassador let Charles Emmanuel 
know that Philip did not want to award the office to ‘so low’ a candidate (‘si 
bas’), but instead wanted to give it to someone of the House of Savoy.52 At 
the same time, the King wanted to reduce feuding among the squadron com-
manders and improve the coordination between them.53 A general of royal 
blood would be better able to command the respect and obedience of all the 
aristocratic commanders, which would increase the effectiveness of the Medi-
terranean naval forces. In June 1606, Filiberto was rumoured to be the prime 
candidate.54 Filiberto, present at court until the summer of 1606, was already 
a vassal of the king as the prior of St John, and he had turned eighteen in 
April. He would make a perfect new, dynastic general.

As had happened with the priorate, Filiberto would have to wait for sev-
eral years before the appointment was finalised. This had much to do with 
deteriorating relations between Charles Emmanuel and Philip III. The duke 
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of Savoy had embarked on a decidedly pro-French course. He closed off the 
Spanish Road to the Habsburg armies heading north between 1605 and 
1607,55 he married off his daughters to the heirs of Mantua and Modena 
without involving Philip and he started negotiating a French marriage for 
Vittorio.56 Taking advantage of Philip’s apprehension about all this, Charles 
Emmanuel suggested a marriage between Vittorio and the Infanta Anna in-
stead, with the Low Countries as her dowry.57 Nothing came of the marriage, 
but the King did promise the generalship to Filiberto, and he also promised 
to nominate Filiberto’s younger brother Maurizio for the bishopric of Mon-
reale in Naples. In addition, the King offered a place at the Descalzas mon-
astery to one of their sisters. However, the appointments fell through when 
the Spanish became aware of plans for a joint invasion of Milan by Charles 
Emmanuel and the king of France, and the income from Maurizio’s bishopric 
was promised to Archduke Leopold instead.58 The invasion was only averted 
because Henry IV died on 14 May 1610 and his widow, Marie de Médicis, 
quickly abandoned the anti-Spanish policies of her late husband. Naturally, 
the Spanish were enraged.

In this new climate, Filiberto travelled back to Spain – a step seen as a con-
scious choice on Filiberto’s part to ‘remain Spanish’ and that was supported 
by Charles Emmanuel, who hoped to mend his relationship with Philip III.59 
The Council of State also demanded Filiberto’s return so that his incomes 
from the grand priory would not fall into Charles Emmanuel’s hands and be 
used against the Spanish.60 The favours for Filiberto’s brother and sister were 
taken off the table immediately, but not the generalship. But before Filiberto 
could receive it, he and his father had to make amends. This entailed accept-
ing some chilly treatment and offering an apology. 61 Filiberto was lodged in 
a building connected to the palace by a passageway, which was closed off – 
either, as he wrote to his father, ‘because of renovation works, or to treat 
me a little like a foreigner’.62 He was even forced to exchange his Savoyard 
household for Spaniards.63 Filiberto apologised to the King on behalf of his 
father, 64 but it was a rather cursory apology and the court expected more.65 
Despite the fact that no more apologies were forthcoming, the court chroni-
cler Cabrera de Córdoba reported that ‘they said that they told [Filiberto] to 
make ready for a voyage, some say to become viceroy of Portugal, others to 
take up the office of general of the Mediterranean’.66 On 14 November, Fili
berto could finally write to his father that the appointment had been settled.67 
In the future, the generalship would remain a royal preserve. Along with 
becoming dynastic, it became more prestigious. In a description of Filiberto’s 
obsequies, the generalship was called ‘the greatest office this Crown awards’, 
and Filiberto was succeeded by Philip IV’s younger brother Don Carlos with 
the upgraded title ‘príncipe de la mar’.68

Filiberto’s rise in Habsburg service did not end with his appointment to 
the generalship. In 1621, he would also be appointed viceroy of Sicily. The 
appointment came about soon after the death of his uncle Philip III. The new 
king, Philip IV, was just a week shy of his sixteenth birthday, and his ascent 
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to the throne caused a scramble for power and influence. Filiberto was egged 
on by the Savoyard ambassador in Madrid to secure power for himself.69 Fili
berto met his royal cousin in the hunting lodge at Aranjuez. There, Filiberto 
was lodged ‘in the same quarters where His Majesty stayed when he was 
prince, and he is being served as if he were the person of the king’.70 During 
this stay at Aranjuez, Philip had probably notified Filiberto that he intended 
to appoint him viceroy of Sicily, or at least to send him to Sicily to prepare 
the fleet to counter a possible Ottoman invasion.71 The appointment was 
communicated to Filiberto in October.72

Filiberto’s appointment served to distance him from his family, since as 
viceroy of Sicily he would be required to reside alternately in Palermo and 
Messina. Savoy had renewed its alliance with France after Louis XIII had 
taken power from his pro-Spanish mother in 1617. This had resulted in the 
marriage of Vittorio and Louis’s sister Christine in 1619. The new Franco-
Savoyard alliance was widely celebrated, and in this context the younger 
brothers Maurizio and Tommaso entered French service as well.73 In the light 
of the ‘defection’ of Vittorio and his brothers, the King perhaps wanted to 
claim Filiberto unambiguously for Habsburg service, thus limiting the num-
ber of his kinsmen in service of his enemies and getting Filiberto out of Turin. 
Once in office, Filiberto stressed the link between his paternal and maternal 
families and his own semi-royal status by placing portraits of all the kings of 
Spain (starting with Charles V) and of his parents and siblings in the gallery 
of his viceregal palace in Palermo.74

As had happened with the generalship, Filiberto’s tenure served to turn 
the viceroyalty in something of a dynastic office. Certainly, the connection 
of the viceroyalty of Sicily – or Naples – with the generalship would prove 
to be popular in the future. A year after Filiberto’s death, Olivares suggested 
just this combination of offices for one of the King’s younger brothers.75 
Philip  IV’s illegitimate son Don Juan would also combine the generalship 
with Sicily, and Chapter 7 shows how the Medici tried to obtain these of-
fices as well. As in the case of Archduke Albert, who established the cardi-
nal-Portugal combination (so often rumoured to be bestowed on Vittorio), 
Filiberto’s career created a new format for nepotal careers: the offices of 
the priorate and generalship had become dynastic. Albert and Filiberto thus 
played similar role in institutionalising dynastic offices. But there were differ-
ences too. Offices like the governorships had often been filled by royal rela-
tives on the express demands of subjects, for instance, in the Low Countries 
and Portugal. But Filiberto’s offices, particularly the priorate and the general-
ship, were granted on the King’s own initiative and served to enhance royal 
authority in Castile and around the Mediterranean.

The Daughters of Catalina

The sixteenth-century rise of the Arch-Nephew had a parallel in the disap-
pearance of widows – that is, their disappearance from governing positions. 
As we saw in the previous chapter, a new form of female Habsburg action 
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had been developed by Juana, Maria and Sister Margaret of the Cross, one 
that associated them closely with monastic life. As Magdalena S. Sánchez ar-
gued in her seminal study of the ‘The Empress [Maria], the Queen [Margaret 
of Austria] and the Nun [Margaret of the Cross]’, the Descalzas monastery 
developed into a court space – both an extension of the royal palace and a 
rival power centre.76 The women leading a monastic life served the dynasty in 
two important ways: they fortified the dynasty’s religious identity by exercis-
ing piety, and they kept up communications between the dynasty’s various 
branches. Sister Margaret – the Infanta Monja – was a cloistered nun but 
kept up a busy correspondence from within the confines of her monastery.77

As in other aspects of Habsburg dynastic dynamics, generational shifts 
also changed the role of the women at the Descalzas. Juana had already died 
in 1573, and Empress Maria died in 1603. This left Sister Margaret of the 
Cross as the senior Habsburg in the monastery. Part of her activity was geared 
towards securing the continuation of a dynastic presence in the monastery by 
recruiting a young niece.78 Margaret’s drive was probably connected to the 
death of Empress Maria, but perhaps also to the court’s move to Valladolid 
(1601–1606). This meant that Margaret of the Cross not only became quite 
isolated in the convent but also lost contact with her relatives outside of it. 
She was especially deprived of the company of the royal children. It is obvi-
ous from some of her letters to Philip that she missed seeing them.79 In addi-
tion, being the convent’s new matriarch – although never its abbess – possibly 
caused her to think of the dynasty’s future there, and she might have been out 
to recruit a successor, but this is not certain. The correspondence shows that a 
destiny in the Descalzas was not necessarily in store for such a niece; instead, 
a marriage might be arranged for her via the Spanish court.80 This indicates 
that Margaret was at this time more interested in educating a young relative 
rather than securing a dynastic presence in the monastery. In the early seven-
teenth century, the female ‘role’ of ‘matriarch of the Descalzas’, to be taken 
up later by the illegitimate daughters, was still evolving.

The prime candidates were two legitimate relatives: a daughter and a 
granddaughter of Infanta Catalina, both also called Catalina. Catalina, the 
daughter, was a target of recruitment in 1609 and 1610. We have already 
seen that the two eldest princesses of Savoy married the duke of Mantua and 
the prince of Modena, respectively, in 1608. These marriages were highly un-
popular with their uncle Philip III: the Spanish king aimed to avoid alliances 
between the princes of northern Italy in general, and he considered these two 
princesses, his nieces, as his to marry off. Instead, Charles Emmanuel had 
negotiated these marriages without any involvement of the King, failing to 
safeguard his interests. Most likely in response to this, Philip pushed for the 
transfer of another daughter, the said Catalina, to the Descalzas. In March 
1609, he wrote to his brother-in-law that he wished his youngest niece to 
come to Madrid ‘because I want to take responsibility for her’.81 This wish 
was reiterated in 1610.82 That Francesca Caterina, or Catalina,83 was identi-
fied as a possible new addition to the monastery gives a clue about the type 
of young companion that Margaret had in mind. Born 1595, she was the 
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fourth and youngest surviving daughter, and namesake, of Infanta Catalina. 
Since children who bore the names of specific forebears were thought to also 
possess their character traits, sending a young Catalina to Madrid was like 
reuniting the fondly remembered Infanta Catalina with her family.

However, Catalina of Savoy never made the trip as relations between her 
father and uncle broke down irretrievably in 1610. Philip III’s interest in his 
nieces did not cool because of this. On the contrary, having control over 
them under these new circumstances could be considered even more crucial 
than before, and we have seen that Charles Emmanuel’s betrayal did not 
negatively impact Philip’s relationship with Filiberto. Certainly, having the 
younger princesses in his custody would serve to socialise them firmly into 
the Habsburg dynasty, while Philip III could also prevent them from be-
ing married to French aristocrats, or any other groom that did not suit his 
interests. However, the breakdown in relations killed any wish on the part 
of the duke of Savoy to send his daughter over. Instead, the Duke started 
talks to marry Catalina to the duke of Nemours, a distant kinsman who had 
married into the French aristocracy – a marriage of which Philip III (again) 
disapproved.84

But Margaret of the Cross remained extremely interested in having a young 
companion, and she found an ally in Filiberto. Filiberto, back in Castile after 
Charles Emmanuel’s betrayal, reported regularly to his father that he visited 
the ‘Infanta monaca’ in her monastery, where she continued to ask after the 
Savoyard princesses.85 In 1621, another Catalina came into focus: Caterina 
d’Este, the fourth child and eldest daughter to be born to Alfonso of Modena 
and Isabella of Savoy, Infanta Catalina’s second daughter. Isabella’s children 
were Catalina’s only grandchildren (apart from the young duchess of Monfer-
rato86) and thus excellent candidates to perpetuate her memory and fortify the 
links between the Habsburgs and their Italian collaterals. As an eldest daugh-
ter, Catalina was an important dynastic pawn for her family; conceivably, a 
younger sister might have been considered a better candidate for the mon-
astery. But Catalina’s next-younger sisters were only infants, born in 1619 
and 1620. Catalina, on the other hand, was about eight years old – perhaps 
old enough to travel.87 But again, we might suspect that her auspicious name 
tipped the balance. Catalina arrived in Madrid in March 1621.88 Once there, 
she ‘took the veil’,89 which should be understood as becoming a novice rather 
than taking her vows as a nun. This did, however, seem to put Catalina on 
much more of a course towards monastic life than was the case when the stay 
of Catalina of Savoy was discussed in 1609–10. The Estensi made use of the 
Spanish wish to have Catalina to ask for favours for other children as well: a 
dowry for Catalina’s oldest, unmarried aunt (Giulia, in her early thirties) and 
an education at Salamanca University for her two brothers.90

Catalina was not the only young relative in the Descalzas at the time. Ru-
dolf II’s illegitimate daughter (and thus Margaret’s real niece) Ana Dorotea 
of Austria had arrived at around the same time, as a child of some eleven 
years old (Fig. 6.4).91 In previous centuries, such illegitimate daughters often 
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Figure 6.4 � Fresco in the Chapel of the Miracle, in the Descalzas monastery, show-
ing from left to right Margaret of the Cross, Ana Dorotea of Austria and 
Catalina d’Este. 

Source: Alamy.
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served their paternal families through marriage.92 For both the illegitimate 
Ana Dorotea and the Estense Catalina, their entrance into the monastery was 
a public affair with the royal family in attendance, which served to officially 
present them as Habsburg family members.93 When the gazetteer Torque-
mada gave an account of a visit to the monastery, he described the two high-
ranking girls as follows: ‘one is the daughter of the Emperor, and the other is 
the daughter of the duke of Modena, niece of Prince Filiberto, daughter of his 
sister, and both of them nieces of Her Highness the Infanta Margarita’.94 The 
audience consisted not only of the Spanish court, but essentially all the courts 
of Europe since the resident ambassadors also reported on these events.95

It is hard to say what role Catalina played in court politics or diplomatic 
relations between Modena and Spain, or if there was any rivalry between her 
and Ana Dorothea (a reincarnation of the two ‘factions’ of the archdukes and 
the House of Savoy?). But we can say with certainty what the Modenese en-
voy Ferrari thought: he explicitly cast Catalina in the role of Margaret of the 
Cross’s successor, writing that ‘it is taken for a certainty that, after the demise 
of the Infanta Nun, who suffers many ailments, she will be the absolute mis-
tress of this monastery, and will have great influence with His Majesty and 
the Infantes’.96 Indeed, in a letter of the same day to Catalina’s grandfather, 
Ferrari clarified that Catalina would surely take over the captaincy of the 
convent in view of the royal family’s affection and the other nuns’ respect.97 
The secretary never tired of reporting that Catalina was ‘an example of virtue 
and prudence, loved by all and as well-respected as ever’, while Margaret of 
the Cross was getting on in years.98 Had Catalina lived longer, she might have 
eclipsed Ana Dorotea.

But this was not to happen. In late August 1626, Catalina’s mother Isabella 
died, and the young novice took the death very hard. The news reached the 
Spanish court in October, and after hearing it, the King, Queen and their 
family members went to the Descalzas to offer their condolences to Sister 
Margaret and Catalina.99 Over the next year and a half, Ferrari, who re-
ported faithfully on both Margaret’s and Catalina’s health, noted ever more 
bouts of fever.100 She was ill most of the winter.101 Only in August 1627 could 
Ferrari report that she had returned ‘to pristine health’ and was ready to 
write to her grandfather again, to his great joy (‘grand giubilo’).102 But while 
she remained in good health, it proved too difficult a task to write home.103 
In November, Ferrari wrote that she was well again.104 But in January – after 
a silence of several months about her condition – he had to write to the duke 
of Modena that his granddaughter had died suddenly.105 The conditions of 
her death were obscure. The biographer of Sister Margaret devoted consider-
able attention to Caterina’s piety and devotion, but only a few words to her 
death – ‘after a short sickbed she attained the crown of heaven’ – attributing 
the death to fever.106 The Savoyard ambassador – Catalina was a granddaugh-
ter of Duke Charles Emmanuel – referred to her ‘infermità ethica’, suggesting 
some form of mental issue, but he described her otherwise as an ‘angela’ and 
reported on the lavish and honourable funeral.107
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The circumstances of her death had not remained secret to all. A persistent 
Tuscan ambassador clearly had well-informed sources in the monastery, and 
he could send more accurate updates to his home court. After the death of her 
mother, Catalina had wanted to return to Italy. She had only come to Spain 
out of obedience to her mother, and now she no longer felt bound to it. He 
described her condition already in the winter of 1627 as melancholy, and the 
situation was serious enough that two nuns were ordered to be with her at 
all times, while Philip IV and Sister Margaret were trying to keep quiet about 
it.108 Soon after her death, he wrote home that she had simply stopped eating, 
and her fellow nuns could not persuade her to resume.109 The truth was that 
Catalina died a death that was remarkably similar to Don Carlos’s death in 
1568. Suffering from bouts of melancholy ever since her mother’s death, she re-
fused to eat anything for thirteen days. The distraught nuns had to use violence 
to force some fluids down her throat with a syringe. It appears as if she might 
have lost consciousness, but processions, prayer and other pious acts restored 
her enough to receive the sacraments and to ask for food again. But it was too 
late: the food that she ate did her more harm than good and she died.110

Her burial became an opportunity to reaffirm her royal and Habsburg 
status, nevertheless. Philip IV ordered the president of the Council of Castile, 
Cardinal Trejo, to attend the funeral mass – an honour only allowed ‘royal 
persons’. The King himself was not present, but a host of councillors and 
courtiers were, and her coffin was carried by grandes.111 In addition, she 
was buried under the ‘primo altare’, where Empress Maria and possibly also 
Queen Isabella of Valois had previously rested – one of the altars of the mon-
astery’s cloister, on the wall bordering on the church112 – ‘because His Maj-
esty wanted her to be buried in a royal vault’.113 Since Catalina came from a 
ducal family, all these signs of royal status could only refer to her Habsburg 
background.

Under these circumstances, Ana Dorotea would be the one to start a new 
tradition of illegitimate matriarchs in the Descalzas. After having come to the 
monastery as a child, she in her turn would lobby for other girls to come: she 
made sure that Mariana, daughter of the Cardinal-Infante, remained in the 
Descalzas instead of being transferred to Las Huelgas.114 Ana Dorotea also 
requested that Margarita, Don Juan’s daughter, come to the Descalzas when 
she was around four years old – apparently having to neutralise some com-
petition by the Encarnación monastery (Fig. 6.5).115 However, the acceptance 
of these illegitimate daughters, Mariana and Margarita, seems to have been 
a rather muted affair compared to the ceremonial introductions of Catalina 
d’Este and Ana Dorotea. When Mariana took the habit at five years old, her 
uncle Philip IV ordered that she do it ‘without publicity or fuss, because that’s 
not necessary at all’.116 The arrival, and identity, of Don Juan’s daughter 
Margarita was best kept secret as well, according to the King, when she took 
the habit at six years old.117

These three ladies have recently received increased attention from histo-
rians, particularly Ana Dorotea, who served as a conduit between the two 
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Figure 6.5 � Fresco in the Chapel of the Miracle, in the Descalzas monastery, showing 
from left to right Margarita, daughter of Don Juan; Mariana, daughter of 
Cardinal-Infante Fernando; and the Abbess. 

Source: Alamy.
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branches of the family much as Margaret of the Cross herself had done, and 
Mariana, who served as a kind of clearing house for correspondence between 
Habsburgs queens in Spain and France.118 As it happened, the Descalzas be-
came a place where illegitimate Habsburg daughters could find a prestig-
ious and influential role for themselves. Their illegitimate birth did, however, 
bring with it some limitations. While Ana Dorotea could function as a liaison 
between Spain and Vienna, Mariana and Margaret had no powerful mater-
nal family networks and, perhaps as a result, their correspondence served 
intra-familial purposes, connecting the Habsburg queen of France to her 
home court.119 The Habsburg women in the monastery were strong support-
ers of Charles II’s mother and regent, Queen Mariana, keeping her informed 
of court politics even after she was banished from court.120 Ana Dorotea, 
Sister Margaret’s heir as the ‘Infanta Monja’, corresponded regularly with 
the Austrian ambassador Khevenhüller and with the papal court.121 She 
also corresponded with Philip IV directly about both political and personal 
matters.122 Sister Mariana, the Cardinal’s daughter, corresponded regularly 
with her cousin Maria Teresa, queen of France, among other things about a 
marriage between Charles II and a French princess.123 All of the Habsburg 
women linked to the Descalzas – nuns or not – were also buried there. This 
robbed the Escorial of an important segment of the Habsburg dynasty, the 
‘pious branch’, and instead made the monastery a depository of female pietas 
austriaca. It created a gender divide between the Escorial and the Descalzas 
that mirrored the increasing masculinity of the dynastic ruling group: only 
nephews and male bastards were buried in the Escorial, while the nieces and 
female bastards were buried in the Descalzas.

The Portugal Problem

Philip III appears to have been unwilling to appoint relatives to the post in 
Lisbon. According to the agreements of Tomar, the governorship of Portugal 
was to be held either by Portuguese nationals or by a close relative of the 
king: a child, sibling or nephew/niece. Philip III chose Portuguese nationals. 
Relatives and courtiers were relegated to spreading rumours about imminent 
appointments. Olival argues that this was in part due to a lack of suitable 
relatives during the reigns of Philip II and Philip III, especially after Infanta 
Isabella had taken up residency in the Low Countries.124 This is not entirely 
true, considering that both monarchs had several nephews available. We have 
already seen that Queen Margaret thought of her brother Maximilian Ernest 
for the post, while Charles Emmanuel of Savoy saw either Vittorio or Fili
berto travelling there. Another factor in Philip III’s reluctance to employ his 
relatives may have been the fact that his government was dominated by his 
favourite, the duke of Lerma, who had a vested interest in appointing his own 
‘creatures’ and relatives to posts in the monarchy. We have already noticed 
that the newly appointed archbishop of Toledo was a member of Lerma’s 
circle rather than a royal relative. Whatever the reason, Portugal was off the 
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table during Philip III’s reign, but not for lack of ambitious relatives, nor for 
want of a Portuguese desire for a royal governor: when Philip III visited the 
kingdom in 1619, the Portuguese asked for a royal governor – the crown 
prince, or his youngest brother-in-law Archduke Charles of Styria. Philip III 
ignored all these suggestions, but the latter would in fact be appointed by 
Philip IV.125 The possible appointment of ‘Uncle Charles’ represents some-
thing of a turning point. Firstly, it inverted the uncle-nephew relationship, 
highlighting Philip IV’s lack of suitable junior family members. Charles had 
never been considered for a Spanish career – in contrast to people like Wen
ceslaus, Albert or Filiberto, who had been groomed since childhood for it, 
or even his brothers Leopold and Maximilian Ernest – but instead turned to 
the Spanish king after his dynastic career in the Holy Roman Empire seemed 
to run aground. In this sense, Charles prefigures other candidates to dynastic 
office in Philip IV’s reign, so it is interesting to take a closer look at him.

Archduke Charles was the youngest of four brothers.126 Their father, Arch-
duke Charles of Styria, who died before his youngest son had been born, had 
stipulated in his testament that only the eldest son would rule the patrimony, 
while the younger sons had to content themselves with stipends. But these 
stipends did not suffice, so their mother feverishly sought additional incomes 
and status-appropriate positions for them. Charles, however, was consistently 
overlooked: his mother focused primarily on the futures of the two middle 
brothers, Maximilian Ernest and Leopold.127 During the negotiations for the 
marriage between Philip III and Charles’s sister Margaret, his mother made 
no efforts on his behalf, and Philip had granted pensions to Charles’s brothers 
Maximilian Ernest and Leopold, but not to him. Charles would eventually 
embark on a more modest clerical career, acquiring the bishoprics of Breslau 
(Wrocław) and Brixen (Bressanone). This gave him some income and status, 
but his bishoprics were severely damaged by the Thirty Years’ Wars, which 
put Charles in dire financial straits. Charles turned to his Spanish brother-in-
law for help. He invoked promises that Philip had made to him some years 
earlier, about a yearly allowance of 12,000 ducats.128 When he could not get 
any solid commitments from the King, he threatened to travel to Spain in 
1620. This threat was an empty one, meant to force Philip III’s hand, but alas 
to no avail: Philip consistently ignored his pleas.129 In seeking some financial 
support from the Spanish king, Charles could no more rely on his brothers 
than on his mother: in early 1621, when Charles was practically begging the 
Spanish king for any kind of financial help, his elder brother Ferdinand only 
intervened to gain ecclesiastical incomes for Leopold.130

However, the unresponsive Philip III – who did not take much notice of 
any of his brothers-in-law – died in 1621. Khevenhüller, the Imperial am-
bassador, felt that the situation might have changed with the ascension of 
Philip  IV.131 By now, Charles had stopped corresponding directly with the 
Spanish court. But Khevenhüller was right: Philip IV considered Charles a 
good candidate for the Portuguese government and became rather eager to 
see him come. (In a return to the old Styrian-Savoyard rivalry, Philip was 
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reported to consider turning to Filiberto for that post if Charles did not show 
up.132) By 1623, Khevenhüller was putting pressure on Charles through both 
Ferdinand II and Archduke Leopold to get him to come to Spain.133 This 
worked; the three brothers met in September 1624, and as a result of this 
meeting, Charles decided to travel to Castile.134

This had never really been Charles’s ambition; he had only been after some 
financial security. But the relationship between the brothers had changed. 
In 1616, Maximilian Ernst died, leaving Leopold as the second brother. In 
1618, their uncle Maximilian III died as well, upon which the county of Tyrol 
reverted to the House. In the next few years, Emperor Matthias (1619) and 
Archduke Albert (1621) also died, leaving none of the sons of Emperor Max-
imilian II alive. Since rules of primogeniture did not apply to the patrimony 
held by Maximilian’s sons, this meant that the entire Habsburg patrimony 
was now for the Styrian brothers to divide among themselves. In late 1622 
and early 1623, the three brothers negotiated a partition.135 Archduke Leo-
pold, who had served as regent of Tyrol since Maximilian III’s death, received 
the county as his hereditary fief, which turned him into an independent ruler, 
but Charles essentially had to content himself with crumbs: he was given a 
string of lordships, among them the margraviate of Burgau.136 The reason for 
this uneven partition is that Emperor Ferdinand, fighting what would become 
the Thirty Years’ War, was extremely reluctant to partition the dynasty’s re-
sources. As the same war wreaked havoc on Charles’s bishoprics, Ambas-
sador Khevenhüller started to paint a rosy picture of Charles’s prospects in 
Spain, undoubtedly to strengthen the reluctant archduke’s resolve. He em-
phasised the honour involved: many previous archdukes (and other relatives, 
we might add) had wanted the Portugal post but had failed, yet now Philip IV 
had – extraordinarily – offered the post to Charles ‘proprio motu’.137 He 
suggested further that Charles might start out as governor of Portugal, but 
that he might be transferred to the Low Countries – which was perhaps more 
attractive to the Austrian prince.138 Indeed, Charles seems to have been less 
than enthusiastic about the Portugal post.139 He mainly hoped that meeting 
Philip in person would lead to an appointment to the Low Countries, much 
closer to home and a more familiar climate.140 So he embarked on the jour-
ney despite his misgivings. Tragically, his reluctance to travel to Castile was 
vindicated: only a month after his arrival, he fell ill and died.141

Archduke Charles’s saga is thus one of a career that never was, and of 
a disenfranchised younger brother in search of a livelihood. But still, his 
brief association with the Spanish court shows some interesting new trends. 
Firstly, Portugal was now on the map again as a real possibility for royal 
careers, after having been off limits during Philip III’s reign. Charles’s ill-
fated candidacy did not discourage the new King, and actual royal ap-
pointments there would follow. This highlights again that Portugal was an 
optional royal appointment: ambitious kinsmen might have their eyes on it 
and local elites might put steady pressure on the King to appoint one of them, 
but it was ultimately up to the King whether he did so or not. Secondly, 
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the Styrian-Austrian Habsburgs were in play again. Mostly ignored during 
Philip III’s reign, Philip IV showed them a welcoming face.

After Archduke Charles’s death, the Portuguese office would be filled by 
regency councils consisting of Portuguese nobles and clerics. This would turn 
out to be a temporary solution. In 1629, Philip IV fathered a male heir, which 
freed up his brothers, who were now in their twenties and became the obvi-
ous choice for the posts of the Low Countries and Portugal, as we saw in 
Chapter 1. Appointing legitimate royal princes as governors – which was 
essentially a novelty – caused problems of its own, however, since their royal 
charisma might embolden local players with separatist tendencies.142 But this 
did not stop Philip from assigning his next oldest brother Carlos to the post. 
However, even this appointment was cursed as shortly before he was due 
to travel west in 1632, Carlos died, not quite twenty-five years old, leaving 
Lisbon devoid of a royal presence yet again. In his willingness to appoint 
someone with dynastic credentials, Philip offered the position in 1633 to 
Francesco d’Este, duke of Modena.143 He was Philip’s second cousin, a son 
of Isabella of Savoy, grandson of Infanta Catalina and brother to the young 
nun Catalina who had had such a difficult time in the Descalzas (she had died 
only five years earlier, and her memory was undoubtedly still fresh). As a 
second cousin, he would not have been accepted by the Portuguese as a royal 
governor, since they had stipulated that only a child, sibling or nephew could 
fit this profile, but his Savoyard-Habsburg background most likely played a 
role in the offer. The Duke declined it, possibly because he was aiming for 
a ‘better’ posting in Sicily, Naples or Milan, leaving Portugal still without a 
royal governor.144

The matter of a royal governor for Portugal did not lose its salience. In 
the early 1630s the kingdom was heading towards a rebellion, caused by the 
controversial policies of Olivares to push the Portuguese to contribute more 
to the defence of their colonial empire than they were required.145 This led to 
upheaval during the years 1633–34, and the Portuguese Cortes had renewed 
their requests for a governor of the blood.146 Another Italian contender with 
even better Savoyard-Habsburg connections came into focus: Margherita of 
Savoy, eldest daughter of Infanta Catalina and dowager duchess of Mantua, 
who would remain passionately pro-Habsburg throughout her life, what-
ever the politics of her father or brothers. She had become a rather pro
blematic figure in Italy in the early 1630s. After the death of her husband 
Duke Francesco (1612), her only daughter was barred from the succession 
to Mantua, which accepted only males. When her two brothers-in-law as 
successive dukes did not produce any male heirs either, the succession caused 
a new war, which ended when Margherita’s daughter married a French male-
line descendent of an earlier duke and the couple became joint heirs to the 
duchy.147 After the succession wars had ended, Margherita joined her daugh-
ter – soon widowed herself – in Mantua.148 But the king of France exerted 
considerable influence in Mantua, and Margherita’s aggressive advocacy of 
Habsburg interests rankled with him to the point that he effectively ordered 
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her to leave the duchy.149 Neighbouring states were reluctant to take her 
in, and she refused to return to Savoy, due to her enmity with her sister-in-
law, Christine de Bourbon. In addition, her unpaid dowry became a bone of 
contention between Margherita and her brother.150 Instead, she crossed into 
Milan and threw herself on the mercy of her cousin Philip IV.151 The Spanish 
Council of State considered that the King might as well allow her to come to 
the Descalzas monastery.152 Philip, however, immediately floated the option 
of some ‘worthy occupation’, namely Portugal, where political unrest was 
reaching a peak.153

She set out for Castile and was received in Barcelona by Filiberto’s old 
mayordomo. Once in Madrid, she was given her brother’s old quarters in 
the ‘casa del Tesoro’, connected to the Palace by a passage. Torquemada, 
who had served Filiberto and was thus well inclined towards the House of 
Savoy, elaborately described the honourable reception Margherita was given 
in Madrid, involving the count-duke of Olivares, all the court’s grandees 
and, of course, the King and Queen.154 Within a few weeks of her arrival in 
Madrid (on 4 November 1634), she was on her way to Lisbon (30 Novem-
ber),155 but not before visiting the King at the Escorial ‘with great show of 
love and affection’.156

In a sense, Margherita came just in time and it was hoped that this vice-
reine, descended from the kings of Portugal through both the daughters of 
Manuel I, could bring about Olivares’s reforms without sparking off a rebel-
lion.157 But she was unable to establish harmony, and as soon as 1638, the 
court in Madrid considered replacing her.158 Her tenure in Lisbon (1634–40) 
ended dramatically with the start of the Portuguese Restoration War in 
1640.159 Margherita was first imprisoned in a convent. In August 1641, she 
was expelled from the kingdom by the Portuguese and sent to Badajoz, across 
the Castilian border.160 After that, she hoped to return to Mantua, but she was 
denied permission. Neither was she allowed to come to the court in Madrid, 
but was instead told to remain in Mérida, close to the Portuguese border, 
and later to take up residence in Ocaña, to the south of Madrid, where Philip 
visited her.161 However, Margherita felt that Philip did not provide her with 
sufficient means to maintain her household, and she went to Madrid of her 
own accord to complain of her dire straits. Here, she was lodged in the En-
carnación monastery – with a guard at the door, as a royal person.162 Only 
in 1643 did Philip IV let her take up residence in the Descalzas monastery, 
and she became part of court life – perhaps the most forgotten princess in the 
Descalzas of all!163

Famously haughty and particular about her status, she was treated well by 
the nuns, who gave her Empress Maria’s old quarters (the other Habsburgs 
in the monastery were professed nuns, so there was no competition for these 
high-status rooms), and by the King, who gave her 24,000 ducats a year for 
her upkeep.164 Nevertheless, she corresponded tirelessly with her brother to 
receive the dowry she had been promised by her father, which was partly 
dependent on her own mother’s dowry, which had never been paid in full, 
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leading to a complicated tangle.165 In 1650 she complained to her brother 
Maurizio that she was an old beggaress (‘vechia mendica’) who had spent 
forty-eight years as a widow but had never had accomplished anything with 
regard to her dowry.166

Apart from settling her dowry, her most ardent wish was to return to Italy. 
In 1654, she wrote to her sister-in-law: ‘I am quite well, but so burdened 
with years that little life is in promise for me. But I am loath to end it before 
settling my affairs with the royal house [of Savoy; a reference to her dowry 
negotiations] and before returning to Italy, which I so desire’.167 Already in 
1646, there were rumours that Philip IV had granted two villages in Naples 
to Margherita for her upkeep and that she would travel there.168 The Madrid-
based avisos writer Barrionuevo chronicled her last months at court and her 
journey to Italy.169 About her money problems, he wrote ‘They promised 
her 3,000 ducats a month but give her not even 500, and even those they 
won’t pay her’.170 Maybe for this reason, the journalist was uneasy about 
her departure. ‘If she leaves, we’ll have one more enemy, since women are 
vindictive.’171 Philip clearly made up for his earlier stinginess by showering 
his cousin with wealth before she left: again according to Barrionuevo, she 
received 30,000 ducats for her travels, and yearly rents amounting to 36,000 
ducats, on condition that she settle in a town in the duchy of Milan.172 Before 
the journey she received a litter, coach and several carts for herself, her ladies 
and her luggage, as well as more money.173 Apparently, the former vicereine 
had also managed to take a good deal of jewellery from Portugal, which 
altogether meant that she left Spain extremely rich (‘riquísima’).174 In fact, 
the total value of the jewellery she was carrying was so great that it caused 
her trouble with customs, which did not allow her to take more than the 
equivalent of 500 ducats out of the country – she was detained in Burgos as 
‘contrabandista’! Her journey was furthermore plagued by both dissension 
and deaths in her household,175 and the Princess herself fell ill in Miranda del 
Ebro, close to Burgos, where she had been delayed.176 There she died, never 
seeing her beloved Italy again.177

Archduke Charles had put Portugal on the map again as a royal posting. 
However, Philip IV was quite unlucky with his candidates: both his uncle 
Charles and his brother Don Carlos died before they reached Lisbon. This 
leaves Margherita of Savoy as the only actually governing royal relative in 
the kingdom (although as a cousin rather than a daughter, sister or niece, 
she was not universally accepted as such).178 Neither Archduke Charles nor 
Margherita had close ties to the Castilian court: they had never spent time 
there before their appointments. While Philip often expressed his affection 
for them, a personal relationship like the one between Philip II and Ales-
sandro Farnese and Archduke Albert or that between Philip III and Filiberto 
of Savoy simply did not exist. Such relatives were quite simply not available 
to Philip IV. For the first decades of his reign, Philip had no nephews of 
his own to educate and nurture himself.179 This left people like Charles and 
Margherita, which effectively meant that the requirement of years of physical 
proximity and court socialisation went out the window. One result of this 
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was that ever more remote relatives might hope to be included in the dynastic 
ruling group, however limited the personal relations between them and the 
Spanish kings.

Conclusion

Philip III was the first king to grow up with the expectation of employing 
his nephews someday. The children of Catalina had been around since he 
was a young boy. He always showed special favour to them and, it must be 
admitted, a touch of possessiveness. When the death of Filippo Emanuele and 
the hostile policies of Charles Emmanuel meant fewer and fewer Savoyard 
princes and princesses were available to him, no other relatives took their 
place, certainly not his wife’s string of younger brothers. He simply lavished 
all his attention on Filiberto, the loyal one. The offices Filiberto received were 
mostly new: the grand priorate and the generalship of the Mediterranean fleet 
(and the viceroyalty of Sicily under Philip IV). In this sense, Philip III made 
different choices than his father. Territorial governorships were not an option: 
the Low Countries had been inherited by his sister and brother-in-law, and 
Philip III preferred to appoint aristocrats and clerics as governors of Portugal. 
With the territorial governments out of the equation, this left the other offices 
pioneered by Albert and Wenceslaus. It is, furthermore, striking that Philip III 
was the first king who experienced increased pressure from his relatives. Ever 
more relatives started pressuring him for advancement for themselves or their 
offspring, rivalries arose among different groups of relatives and negotiations 
became protracted – a situation that was quite different from the relatively 
harmonious dynastic landscape that Philip II had faced.

Philip IV’s reign is characterised by a certain loss of control. Without 
nephews, this king found himself employing whatever relatives were on of-
fer, foregoing the lengthy apprenticeships that previous appointees had gone 
through. The loss of personal bonds between the King and his relatives un-
dermined his trust in them, but also weakened the relatives’ commitment to 
him. Yet dynastic appointments had been institutionalised to such a degree 
that it was hard to imagine not making them, whether suitable candidates 
were available or not. This applied to the Descalzas as well. Catalina d’Este, a 
legitimate granddaughter of Philip III’s cherished sister Catalina, had arrived 
in March 1621, when Philip still ruled. After his death, his son allowed new 
dynastic arrivals to come to the monastery, but they never had the same sta-
tus; instead, illegitimate daughters took the reins. The dynastic ruling group 
around Philip IV was hardly the same kind of tight-knit family circle that had 
surrounded his grandfather. Soon, it would become watered down beyond 
recognition.
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The previous chapter ended on a slightly melancholy note, touching on the 
demise of the ruling group, the kings’ loss of control and the rivalries among 
relatives. All these processes are best illustrated by the unusual – and brief – 
role that the Medici played on the periphery of the Habsburg dynasty. They 
emerged during the reign of Philip IV. This monarch seemed very willing to 
fill dynastic vacancies with relatives, but he did not have any nephews of his 
own. This forced him to look further afield to uncles and maternal cousins 
with whom he had a rather weak personal relationship. Arguably, opening 
up the dynastic ruling group to individuals without any close bonds with the 
Spanish court allowed a new type of relative to entertain hopes of employ-
ment: apart from the usual suspects of the Austrian branch and Savoyard 
family, we see second-born princes of Tuscany and Poland advancing their 
claims – before Philip’s illegitimate son became old enough to gobble up prac-
tically all dynastic offices. Rather than having been nurtured at the Spanish 
court, such relatives came into Spanish employment later in life because they 
had few options in their own dynastic spheres. Analysing family dynamics 
during Philip IV’s reign thus involves examining the backgrounds of his rela-
tives in slightly more detail. Undoubtedly due to their weak personal bonds 
with Philip IV and because they were always on the lookout for opportunities 
in their own dynastic spheres, they tended only to serve briefly in their offices. 
Yet, as the portraiture of one of them, Giovan Carlo de Medici, shows, kin-
ship with and service to the king of Spain were a lasting source of prestige 
(Fig. 7.1). The lengthy, loyal service of people like Mary of Hungary became 
a thing of the past. By the time we reach the reign of Charles II, the dynastic 
ruling group had all but disappeared.

The death of Filiberto of Savoy in 1624 set many wheels in motion. 
Filiberto’s death was obviously a blow to Philip IV but offered possibili-
ties to everyone who hoped to snap up one of the offices he had held: the 
admiralty, the priory of Castile and the viceroyalty of Sicily. It brought a 
new kind of rivalry into the Habsburg family group. During the previous 
reign, Styrians and Savoyards had vied for offices as collaterals or in-laws of 
Spanish Habsburgs. But around this time, the House of Savoy’s identity as 
an Italian princely family took over and their rivals on the Italian Peninsula, 
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the Medici of Tuscany, came to the fore. In 1624, the Medici state was ruled 
by Grand Duke Ferdinando II (1610–70), a boy of fourteen, and his two re-
gents, his grandmother Christina of Lorraine (a granddaughter of Christina 
of Denmark) and his mother Maria Magdalena of Austria – sister of Emperor 
Ferdinand II, Archduke Charles the Posthumous and the late queen Margaret 

Figure 7.1 � Cardinal Giovan Carlo de Medici holding a letter by Philip IV, by Baldas-
sare Franceschini ‘il Volterrano’, 1653. 

Source: Alamy.
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of Spain. This made Ferdinando II and his seven brothers and sisters cous-
ins of Philip IV (Fig. 7.2). The Medici had been involved in a fierce rivalry 
with the Savoyards since the middle of the sixteenth century. The Medici’s 
meteoric rise from untitled patricians to dukes of Florence (1540) and grand 
dukes of Tuscany (1576) upset the balance within Italy, where the dukes 
of Savoy had ranked as the first princes until then. In order to decisively 
outdo the other house, both houses sought a royal crown. When neither the 
emperor nor the pope proved willing to deliver, Duke Vittorio Amedeo of 
Savoy claimed royal status unilaterally in 1632, and the Savoyards ‘won’ the 
competition when they received the kingdom of Sicily as part of the peace set-
tlements at the end of the Spanish War of Succession.1 Although both houses 
strove for superiority, third-party courts were generally careful not to take 
sides too openly, so strict equality became the practical goal – a circumstance 
which would end up playing a surprisingly large role in the Medici’s entrance 
into the Habsburg ruling group. The rivalry revolved in practical terms 
around titles (duke, grand duke and king), styles of address (Your Highness 
and Your Royal Highness) and diplomatic and courtly ceremony (the relative 
ranking of the ambassadors of the two states at third-party courts). During 
the decade after Filiberto’s death, another area of dispute would be added to 
this list: the conditions under which the two houses served the king of Spain.

During the first decades of the seventeenth century, the Medici did not 
consider themselves to be part of the Spanish pool of potential governors. 
Instead, they focused their energies on building careers in the Empire, un-
der the auspices of their Austrian kinsmen. First, the teenaged Grand Duke 
Ferdinando travelled with his next-eldest brother Giovan Carlo (1611–66) 
through Italy and Germany in 1628, where they met their uncle, Emperor 
Ferdinand II.2 Some years later, in 1631, Maria Magdalena travelled with 

Figure 7.2  Dramatis personae.
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two of her younger sons, Mattias (1613–67) and Francesco (1614–34), to 
the Empire to start their military careers there.3 Francesco succumbed to the 
plague in 1634, only nineteen years old, but Mattias served in the Thirty 
Years’ War until 1641.4

Despite this previous focus on the Imperial Habsburgs, the Medici court 
immediately showed interest in obtaining some of the offices left vacant by 
Filiberto’s death, although with little confidence of obtaining them. The Tus-
can ambassador in Madrid, Averardo Medici – a very distant relation of the 
governing House – wrote to his home court that the priorate of Castile had 
been earmarked for one of the King’s brothers, while four aristocrats had 
already been tapped for the Sicilian viceroyalty. As for the generalship, any 
general would be expected to use the flagship, the Royal Galley (‘la galera 
Real’), which was so expensive to maintain that the ambassador thought that 
the office would be left vacant instead. If any admiral were to be appointed, 
it would most likely also be a brother of the King.5 But the Tuscan regents 
wanted to gain the generalship for one of the Medici princes, in recognition 
of the services they had so faithfully offered in return for their investiture 
with Siena but also to provide one of them with an occupation. Two brothers 
of the previous grand duke were still alive and quite young: Carlo, a cardinal 
who was approaching thirty, and twenty-five-year-old Lorenzo, who did not 
have any fixed role. Lorenzo would be the main candidate for the general-
ship, but as a son of Grand Duke Ferdinand I and Christina of Lorraine he 
did not have close family ties to the Habsburgs.

At this time, the Tuscan quest for the generalship did not really have any-
thing to do with the rivalry with the House of Savoy or with kinship with the 
Spanish king. At least, we conclude this from the fact that the Tuscans were 
not interested at this point in the conditions under which Filiberto had held 
the office. Instead, the Medici court itself offered very favourable conditions. 
Understanding from an audience with Olivares that the King wished to cut 
back on the costs of maintaining the flagship, the ambassador noted that the 
Tuscan princes, who had been given large inheritances by their father Ferdi-
nand I, would not need a Spanish salary for their support – taking the job 
without pay would reduce the costs for the Spanish government.6 The Medici 
seemed quite willing to pay for the honour of serving the king of Spain and 
of course to provide Lorenzo with an honourable position.

The offer was made in February 1625,7 but was politely declined. Philip IV’s 
minister Olivares told the ambassador that the King had decided to take the 
flagship out of service and not to appoint a new general.8 The offer may have 
indeed been declined because the fleet was badly in need of financial reforms 
or maybe the ambassador’s first hunch was true: that Philip wanted to give 
the office to his brother. In 1632, when the King finally made up his mind 
about his brothers’ futures, Don Carlos did indeed receive the office.9 That 
appointment confirmed the generalship’s dynastic aura, after the previous 
appointments of Don Juan and Filiberto. This, it seems, would put it out of 
the reach of the House of Medici.
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Don Carlos, however, died before he had had a chance to take up the of-
fice. In July 1632, the generalship fell vacant again and the Medici made a 
move for it, despite its elevated status. This had to do with the fact that the 
status of the Medici had undergone quite a transformation as well, primar-
ily due to developments in Rome. In 1630, Pope Urban V had promulgated 
a new directive for the style of address of cardinals. In an effort to turn the 
curia into a cohesive group of equals, he determined that all cardinals would 
henceforth be styled as ‘Your Eminence’. Other styles, such as the obviously 
superior ‘Your Highness’, would no longer be tolerated, except for the sons 
of kings – an exception designed for the Infante Fernando, who was a cardi-
nal.10 The Medici did not protest strongly at this new situation and accepted 
the ‘Eminence’ style for their cardinal, the Grand Duke’s uncle Carlo. The 
Savoyard Duke Vittorio Amedeo, on the other hand, strove for royal status 
for his House and was horrified by this development – particularly since the 
Pope refused to consider Vittorio’s brother, Cardinal Maurizio, as a son of 
a king. Partly in response to this development, he unilaterally declared him-
self to be the king of Cyprus and demanded international recognition of his 
royal status.11 Since his arrival in Rome, Maurizio had fought to have his 
and his dynasty’s royal status recognised (which was strongly opposed by the 
Medici).12 Maurizio’s Spanish heritage would come in useful, since it allowed 
him to argue that he would never consent to giving up his style of ‘High-
ness’, which had been accorded to his brothers, and thus also to him, when 
they travelled to Castile in 1603.13 He appeared to receive support from the 
Spanish king: when Maurizio actually travelled to Rome in 1635, the Spanish 
ministers in Italy duly addressed him as ‘Your Highness’.14

This was of course entirely unacceptable to the Tuscan court, since al-
though they had agreed to accept the style of ‘Your Eminence’ for Carlo, they 
would never agree to a lesser style from the Spanish court than the Savoyard 
cardinal. How could the Spanish ministers justify distinguishing between the 
houses of Savoy and Medici? The Spanish court always offered the same an-
swer: the style of address for Maurizio was not intended at all to distinguish 
between the two houses, but rather to acknowledge the fact that Maurizio 
was of the royal blood of Spain (‘del sangue regio di Spagna’).15 The sons of 
the Infanta Catalina had been styled ‘Your Highness’ since the time the eld-
est princes visited the court in 1603–6. If the Tuscans had a problem with it, 
they should have protested a long time ago.16 This meant that the choice of 
style did not entail recognition of Vittorio’s recent royal claims. Rather the 
contrary: the Council of State had argued in 1601 that the princes deserved 
the royal style solely because of their mother (and maternal grandfather) and 
not because of their father’s status. Awarding the royal style to the younger 
brothers along with the heir had even been explicitly intended to avoid grant-
ing the eldest any special honours as heir to Savoy. Since the royal treatment 
was only directed at Infanta Catalina’s children, any other members of the 
House of Savoy – for instance, Vittorio’s recently born son and heir – would 
not receive it, since they were not ‘born of the royal blood of Spain’.17 In the 
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eyes of the Spaniards, the matter had nothing to do with the rivalry between 
the two Italian houses. But such considerations, which basically required 
people to separate Maurizio’s two identities as a Savoyard cardinal and as a 
Spanish royal grandson, proved unworkable of course.

The Tuscans stubbornly demanded equal treatment with the Savoyards, 
and the Tuscan ambassador in Spain vehemently remonstrated with Olivares 
and the King for the same honours for Cardinal Carlo – the whole conflict 
was about the style of cardinals, after all. It took quite some negotiating to 
acquire the royal style for Cardinal Carlo. First, the Cardinal lobbied to be-
come protector of Spain. This appointment allowed the ambassador to argue 
that Carlo would be able to advocate for the Spanish crown with much more 
authority if he were styled ‘His Highness’.18 Indeed, in 1636, the Spanish 
ambassador in Rome received instructions to start addressing Carlo as ‘His 
Highness’.19 As a corollary of this status battle, the Tuscan ambassador felt it 
would be easy now to acquire the same royal treatment for all of the Grand 
Duke’s brothers, who were, after all, sons of Archduchess Maria Magdalena 
and thus ‘nati del medesimo sangue d’Austria’ (‘born of the same Habsburg 
blood’).20 Philip IV had brought the kinship argument into play, which had 
now put him in a position where he could not refuse to treat the Medici as 
his relatives as well. The services that the Medici had provided to the kings 
in Spain – they held Siena in feoff from the Spanish crown and were required 
to supply military support to Milan in return – also forced Philip to grant 
them their request.21 Their support was more important than ever since war 
had broken out between Spain and France in 1635. As the Medici frequently 
pointed out, they were much more loyal supporters of Spanish power in Italy 
than the fickle Savoyards, who had leaned towards France for most of the 
seventeenth century. Philip IV simply could not afford to offend the Medici.

But the tussle about the cardinals had unexpected consequences. The 
Medici were now ready to start exploiting their newly recognised kinship 
with the Spanish king to the full. Over the summer of 1636, they made sure 
that all Spanish officials in Italy gave Carlo the style of ‘Your Highness’.22 At 
the same time, the ambassador worked to confirm use of ‘Highness’ for the 
Grand Duke’s brothers. The Spanish court was at this time preparing a letter 
to the youngest Tuscan prince, Leopoldo, and the ambassador monitored the 
drafting of this letter like a hawk. When it was finally ready, he could report 
that the letter was addressed to ‘[e]l señor principe Leopoldo mi primo’ (the 
lord Prince Leopoldo, my cousin); the incipit read ‘señor primo’ (my lord 
cousin), and it was signed by Philip IV as ‘vuestro buen primo’ (your good 
cousin).23 Any ‘Your Highnesses’ were absent since the Spanish kings called 
their subordinates simply ‘vos’ – ‘you’.24 But since all the formulae mentioned 
were reserved for the close relatives of the Spanish kings – high-ranking aris-
tocrats, as fictive kinsmen, would normally be addressed as ‘ilustre duque 
primo’25 – they nevertheless elevated Prince Leopoldo, and by extension all 
his elder brothers, to the inner ranks of the House of Habsburg. This is re-
markable. The Savoyards were grandchildren of a king of Spain and were 
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acknowledged as heirs to the throne if the main line defaulted. The Tuscan 
princes, on the other hand, were cousins to Philip IV because their mothers 
were sisters. As Styrian archduchesses, they were so remotely descended from 
a Spanish king that they were no longer included in the succession clauses of 
Spanish royal testaments. Yet the Medici had now achieved parity with the 
House of Savoy as royal relatives.

A few months after the letter for Leopoldo was drafted and Cardinal 
Carlo had been promised the royal style in Rome, discussion arose about 
further favours for the Medici. A familiar office slipped into the conversation: 
the Spanish viceroy of Naples had hinted that the Medici would be offered 
the generalship of the Mediterranean fleet for the Grand Duke or one of his 
brothers, along with the viceroyalty of Sicily. This combination of offices ech-
oed the career of Filiberto, of course, who had held both earlier. Olivares con-
firmed the offer, although he insisted that the offer was meant for Grand Duke 
Ferdinando himself, regardless of what the viceroy had said. He went on to 
call the office of the generalship ‘una belissima carica’ (‘a very beautiful of-
fice’), which was all the more prestigious because a royal prince had been the 
latest incumbent. He also reminded the Tuscan ambassador of the conditions 
the Grand Duke had offered a few years earlier – paying for the maintenance 
of the Royal Galley. To overcome Ferdinando’s resistance, Olivares had made 
sure that the King threw in the admiralty of the Atlantic fleet, as well as al-
lowed the Grand Duke to assign the daily running of the fleets to his brother 
Giovan Carlo.26 Such an offer might have been accepted a few years earlier, 
as the negotiations for Prince Lorenzo show, but at this point the ambassador 
refused immediately: the second-born son of the duke of Savoy had held the 
office, so Ferdinando could only accept the offer for one of his own younger 
brothers.27 After the tussle of the cardinals earlier, the Medici were now ob-
sessed with achieving strict equality with (if not superiority to) the Savoyards, 
including when offices in the Spanish royal service were concerned. At the 
same time, a Savoyard prince might well take over the office again: the Tuscan 
ambassador doubted that Olivares would give the Medici the office as Prince 
Tommaso, Filiberto’s youngest brother, might be interested in it.28

A few months passed, but in March 1637 the Tuscan ambassador spoke 
again with Olivares. The minister claimed that Monterrey had told him that 
Grand Duke Ferdinando had accepted the generalship. Of course, the ambas-
sador reiterated the Tuscan position, namely that he hoped the King would 
give the generalship ‘along with viceroyalty of Sicily to Prince Giovan Carlo, 
his brother, in the same manner in which Prince Filiberto of Savoy had been 
honoured with it’.29 Spanish officials could not understand why Ferdinando 
refused the generalship. Was it not an honour to succeed the Infante Don Car-
los, the brother of the king of Spain? And would it not be a dishonour to the 
deceased infante if he were succeeded by a grand duke’s younger brother?30 
But the Tuscans stubbornly refused to forget about Filiberto. The new gen-
eral would be the successor not so much of Don Carlos, as of the Savoyard 
secondogenitus! The Tuscans were simply not prepared to compromise on 
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this issue. In the end, Olivares had no choice but to accept a Tuscan prince 
instead of the Grand Duke as the new general.

The rivalry with the Savoyards did not end here. Once Olivares and 
Philip IV had agreed to appoint Giovan Carlo to the office, discussions began 
about the conditions. The Tuscans continued their strategy of strict equality – 
the ambassador asked the Spanish negotiator if Giovan Carlo would have the 
office ‘in the same way and with the same rights, authority, salary and emolu-
ments as Prince Filiberto’,31 and Olivares reassured him that Philip would 
not want to distinguish between his two cousins.32 To underline the fact that 
the conditions would be the same, the Spanish bureaucracy produced a copy 
of Filiberto’s appointment as the draft for Giovan Carlo’s.33 The Spaniards 
had crossed out ‘Filiberto’ and replaced it with ‘Giovan Carlo’. This left one 
pressing matter to be discussed. Filiberto had been appointed by his uncle 
Philip III, who had addressed him as ‘my lord nephew’ (‘señor sobrino’). 
Would this formula be maintained for Giovan Carlo, even though he was 
Philip IV’s cousin?34 The final documents fortunately show that the Tuscans 
were not prepared to defy the laws of kinship in their quest for equality – they 
settled on ‘señor primo’. The Tuscans clearly looked at the appointment to 
the generalship from a strictly Italian perspective. The only other general who 
mattered was Filiberto, and not Don Carlos – nor, for that matter, Philip II’s 
half-brother Don Juan – which meant that the rules of the Tuscan-Savoyard 
rivalry applied: no difference could be accepted in treatment between the 
two houses. This introduced a very toxic dynamic into the Habsburg family 
circle, which ended up limiting Philip IV’s freedom of movement.

After having gained the generalship for Giovan Carlo as a royal cousin, 
the Florentine Court felt there might be other prizes on the horizon. When 
Philip IV’s brother Fernando died in 1641, the governorship of the Low 
Countries and the archdiocese of Toledo became vacant. When the Tuscan 
ambassador in Madrid conveyed the news to his home court, he mentioned 
that all eyes were now on the Emperor’s brother Leopold William to take 
the Brussels post, with the ‘Archduchess of Innsbruck’ and Margherita of 
Savoy, unemployed after her Portuguese debacle, as secondary candidates.35 
The Spanish Council of State indeed preferred Leopold William and started 
negotiations in 1642.36 But Leopold William had just suffered a major defeat 
in the Thirty Years’ War at the hands of Swedish troops, and he retired from 
public life for a while.37 With the Archduke temporarily out of the picture, 
other candidates were floated. The ambassador was ordered by the Tuscan 
minister Cardinal Gondi to be ‘vigilant’ in case Philip IV were inclined to ap-
point a Tuscan prince.38

Nothing happened at the time, and a cousin appointment seemed a remote 
possibility since Philip had just recognised a twelve-year-old boy, Don Juan, 
as his illegitimate son, who was rumoured to be about to be appointed both 
archbishop of Toledo and governor of the Low Countries. But as Leopold 
William kept procrastinating and Don Juan’s appointments did not material-
ise, the Tuscan princes did become candidates after all. The Spanish Council 
of State debated the issue in 1644 again. Leopold William, who remained in 
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retirement, was still the prime candidate, while Don Juan was considered too 
young. But, the councillors discussed, if the Archduke was unwilling, perhaps 
one of the princes of Tuscany could be considered!39 Both the general Giovan 
Carlo and the Thirty Years’ War veteran Mattias were mentioned. It is a clear 
testament to how the Medici had insinuated their way into the select circle 
of possible governors. Back in 1630, the Council of State had used quite a 
narrow definition of who could serve in these offices. The Council looked for 
someone who was of the royal blood, ‘or at least a descendant of the most 
august House of Your Majesty’.40 We see this reflected in a list of 1629: when 
royal councillors also drew up a list of names of potential governors of the 
Low Countries, it was almost completely dominated by the House of Savoy. 
Vittorio (not yet duke at that time), Maurizio and Margherita were on the 
list, along with the favourite Archduke Leopold William and the dark horse 
Duke Odoardo Farnese, grandson of Alessandro.41 Including the Medici 
princes some years later thus required a rethink of what a suitable govern-
ing relative looked like. In the end Leopold William regained his appetite for 
public life, and after another stint fighting in the Thirty Years’ War, he was 
finally available to travel to Brussels in 1647.42

Giovan Carlo probably turned out to be a bit of a disappointment as gen-
eral of the fleet. His service was very limited, and in 1642 it was agreed that 
he would no longer carry out his responsibilities, although he would be al-
lowed to use the title for the rest of his life. If the admiralty role proved of 
little use in practical matters, it was important to Giovan Carlo, nonetheless. 
In 1644, Giovan Carlo became a cardinal and as such he had himself painted 
by Justus Sustermans. In the painting, Giovan Carlo is seen holding a letter. 
The letter is from Philip IV, who addresses his cousin as they agreed: ‘Señor 
primo, mi general de la mar’. Clearly, this form of address buttressed Giovan 
Carlo’s claims to high status, and to the address of ‘Your Highness’, in Rome 
and elsewhere. Undoubtedly, the painting was a way to advertise his kinship 
with the Spanish king to the world and to declare that the Medici were not 
inferior to the Savoyards, even in this regard.

Even though the Habsburg kinship was of great importance to the genera-
tion of Savoyard princes born to Infanta Catalina, they also defined them-
selves in an Italian context, which meant in relation to other Italian houses 
and especially the Medici. When Philip IV looked at Filiberto or Maurizio of 
Savoy, he saw half-Spanish princes; when Grand Duke Ferdinando II looked 
at them, he saw his most bitter Italian rivals. The impossibility of separating, 
or distinguishing between, these two identities meant that the Italian rivalry 
was allowed to influence the definition of what it meant to be a Spanish royal 
relative, qualified to hold Habsburg dynastic offices. Was it to be a descendant 
of a Spanish king, or to be related to the king in any shape or form? In a sense, 
not Philip IV but the Medici themselves decided that they should be treated as 
royal relatives and should form part of the Spanish Habsburg ruling group.

Few cousins or nephews would be employed after Giovan Carlo’s years 
as general. Portugal was lost after Margherita of Savoy’s tenure, and most 
other dynastic offices were monopolised by Don Juan, Philip IV’s bastard 
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son, who became prior of St John and general of the Mediterranean fleet and 
served as governor or viceroy of Naples, Sicily, Catalonia, the Low Countries 
and Extremadura – this last posting was intended as a springboard for the 
re-conquest of Portugal – during the reign of his father, and of Aragon dur-
ing the reign of his younger half-brother. (All of these offices would be held 
by aristocrats after Don Juan.) Charles II came to the throne when he was 
not yet four years old, which meant his reign started with a long regency. 
During these regency years, the boy king’s mother Maria Anna of Austria 
was highly suspicious of Don Juan.43 Rightly so, because Don Juan launched 
a coup against her and her favourite minister from Aragon, which brought 
him to the centre of power for a short period, until his early death in 1679.44 
Despite the trouble he caused, he was, however, still the only dynastic can-
didate and the Queen Mother was well aware of his worth.45 This death 
spelled the end of the dynastic ruling group. Even if the King and his entou-
rage had wanted to appoint relatives, these individuals had by now become 
exceedingly rare, or exceptionally unsuitable.46 Only one of Charles II’s two 
sisters had a son who survived infancy, and this boy would become known 
as the Grand Dauphin Louis of France, son of Louis XIV. Charles had several 
cousins through his mother Maria Anna of Austria, whose sister had married 
the duke of Lorraine. One of them, Charles Joseph, would become prior of 
Castile in the Order of St John as an eleven-year-old in 1691, but he played 
his main political role in the Holy Roman Empire, as the elector of Trier.47 
Relatives had become inconsequential in governing the Spanish monarchy.

Conclusion

Constructing the Spanish Habsburg dynastic ruling group was a process in 
which many actors were involved. The kings of Spain determined the biologi-
cal outlines of this extended family by deciding who their daughters would 
marry, and by including (the Savoyards) or excluding (the Bourbons) non-
Habsburg relatives from the succession to the throne. Whether they would 
be employed, and if so how, depended on other matters. Subjects had a con-
siderable say in the process, demanding royal governors on pain of rebel-
lion. By the seventeenth century, the precedents set in the sixteenth century 
had great influence as well. Even if previous careers, like those of Albert or 
Filiberto, were never copied exactly, they did set the agenda for future rela-
tives, providing a target to aim for. Knowing what to expect and knowing the 
criteria for employment gave relatives much greater agency in shaping their 
own fortunes, which, in turn, limited the autonomy of the kings of Spain. All 
these pressures and influences meant that the dynastic ruling group changed 
beyond recognition between 1520 and 1660.

Neither Margherita of Savoy nor Giovan Carlo de Medici was buried in the 
Escorial. Their tenure in dynastic offices was brief. They lacked a strong per-
sonal relationship with the king of Spain. That Philip IV depended on them says 
something about the scarcity of the sort of relatives that previous Spanish kings 
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had relied on. Only Philip’s son Don Juan came close. The number of posts 
that required a relative dwindled as well. Portugal was lost, and after 1660, the 
Low Countries were governed by a string of Castilian aristocrats. Filiberto’s 
princely tenure as viceroy of Sicily did not give rise to a lasting tradition there. 
The Castilian aristocracy became Charles II’s primary pool of governors. Part 
of the reason was demographic – Charles II was chronically short of relatives, 
and the Austrian branch was no great help:48 during Charles II’s reign, not one 
Austrian cadet reached adulthood. While the future Emperor Charles VI did 
survive to adulthood, he was still only fifteen when Habsburg rule in Spain 
came to an end and was thus too young to play the role of an Albert or a 
Filiberto. Other relatives were mainly to be found in Paris and Versailles: the 
children of queens Anna and Maria Teresa of France. Even Charles II’s first 
wife was French, which meant his in-laws were of no use either. The demise 
of the dynastic ruling group is also reflected in the burials in the Escorial: after 
the burials of Filiberto and Archduke Charles the Posthumous, only royal chil-
dren, spouses and kings were buried there – and Don Juan.49
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The main conclusion of this book is that dynasties, at least the Spanish Hab-
sburg dynasty, come to us in various guises, reflecting the temporal dimen-
sions in which they exist: the past, the present and the future. The Spanish 
Habsburg dynasty was constructed as a community of heirs, which in reality 
became increasingly restricted as primogeniture was introduced but which as 
a scenario for the future continued to include a testator’s siblings and their 
children. It was also constructed as a unilineal and patrilineal genealogical 
narrative going back to Adam, Sigebertus of Austrasia or Gontramus that ex-
cluded all dynastic loose ends until blossoming into more varied foliage when 
the present or recent past was discussed. And it was shaped as a post-mortem 
transgenerational community of the dead that first grew to include all man-
ner of relatives in addition to the ruling couple, and later on was divided into 
a group of rulers and a group of others. And lastly it found expression as a 
contemporaneous ruling group consisting of the ruler’s immediate and coeval 
helpmeets, a group whose membership was the result of ongoing negotiation 
and the institutionalisation of certain roles for certain types of relatives.

While we argued that these four constructions of dynasty represent its 
existence in different temporal dimensions (past, future and present), all con-
structions in fact hold elements of more than one temporal dimension. These 
dual aspects of time are most noticeable in genealogies, testaments and crypts. 
Genealogies are primarily concerned with the past, which is constructed in 
a unilineal manner, but they also discuss the present, or the very recent past, 
where the narrative widens to include the horizontal dynasty. Testaments 
tend to identify a similar (but not identical) wider group as possible future 
heirs, but they also echo the unilinear nature of genealogies in pinpointing 
one universal immediate heir and thus narrowing the pool of immediate 
heirs. And crypts present this same wider family group whose members were 
buried there, but with the passing of years they came to represent the past. 
Even this manifestation of the past could be made to fit a more unilineal view 
of the dynasty’s history by the building of two separate pantheons, one for 
rulers and one for the rest. Past, present and future are thus closely intercon-
nected, and all contribute to the construction of the overall picture of the 
dynasty. Thus, instead of a single dynasty we find a variety of family groups, 
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constructed in different temporal and social contexts by a variety of media 
and actors, but still overlapping to such a degree that we cannot understand 
the whole without understanding its parts.

How did these constructions come about? The juridical community of 
heirs is perhaps the family group which is most often taken (implicitly) as 
‘the’ dynasty, because it gives us the sequence of rulers that so often serves 
as the ordering principle of histories of dynasties. In early modern Span-
ish Habsburg succession practices, the merging of several medieval inherit-
ance regimes becomes apparent: the Austrian tradition of partition, going 
to some lengths to privilege male family members over women and thus ef-
fectively excluding the latter, and the Burgundian and Castilian traditions, 
privileging a single heir but allowing female succession. In Castile, the eldest 
son became king, but his brothers were generously endowed and a daughter 
could succeed in the absence of sons. In the Burgundian conglomerate, the 
eldest son received the lion’s share of the patrimony, while his brothers be-
came independent but minor princes, either by receiving some parts of the 
conglomerate or by acquiring others through marriage. In most territories 
of the conglomerate, female succession could be enacted, but the duchy of 
Burgundy itself, a French appanage, was reclaimed by the French crown in 
the absence of a male heir. So the various medieval traditions contained dif-
ferent attitudes towards younger sons and daughters, although all male sci-
ons could expect to be treated well. At the level of the Habsburg monarchy 
as a whole, the Burgundian and Austrian traditions were continued until the 
early seventeenth century. But under the influence of reasons-of-state think-
ing, an increased identification of the patrimony with a mayorazgo and the 
emergence of favourites with their own agendas, traditions of partition and/
or generous endowments for younger sons were phased out, younger princes 
became dependent on the ruler and female succession became more problem-
atic. This was a process of dynastic centralisation: material resources became 
concentrated in the hands of the single heir, the family head, which meant 
that his position within the family group became ever more dominant. This 
increasing dominance came at the expense of the independence and material 
resources of other males.

Apart from succession and inheritance, testaments tell us something about 
the future dynasty, the group of people that the testator chose to include in 
his list of hypothetical heirs. Testators always had to take various possibilities 
into account and had to look beyond their heir apparent. Testators identified 
their predecessor’s descendants as backup heirs: Charles V included all the 
descendants of his own father Philip I; Philip II included all of Charles V’s de-
scendants. This means siblings, nephews and nieces were mentioned explicitly,  
affirming their eligibility to wear the crown. This group consisted only of 
legitimate offspring, excluding the bastards, but including women and non-
Habsburgs: Catalina’s Savoyard children were included, and the Austrian 
Habsburgs were not privileged over them in any way. This group overlapped 
to a considerable degree with the kind of individuals subjects preferred to 
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have as governors: they often asked for the heir or, as the Portuguese Cortes 
stipulated, any ‘child, sibling or nephew’ of the king. They did not always 
get what they wanted, since the ruling group was in reality more inclusive 
than that, but this does highlight the fact that possible heirs were preferred 
as governors and these were the individuals that subjects most closely associ-
ated with their ruler.

The emergence of primogeniture is reflected in contemporary genealo-
gies, which exhibit a marked unease with the multiple branches that had 
characterised the medieval Habsburgs and show efforts to present the sev-
enteenth-century Habsburgs of both branches as two parallel, patrilineal 
lines; genealogies written in the context of marriage between the branches 
in particular betray this characteristic. This quest for patrilineal clarity con-
demned medieval junior branches to oblivion (like the first Tyrolean line), 
while elevating the hardly remarkable Philip the Handsome – the last shared 
patrilineal ancestor of the two early modern branches, again important when 
discussing marriage – to star ancestor status. More generally, we see a con-
tinuous renegotiation and reshaping of the family group in these narratives. 
New demands for rigorous source criticism expelled some ancestors (like 
Sigebertus of Austrasia) and added others (like Gontramus). The genealogi-
cal narratives in particular show that the shaping of the dynasty was not 
exclusively in the hands of family heads, or even of family members. While 
some rulers encouraged genealogy writing and court officials were involved 
in some cases, many genealogies came about without the involvement of a 
single Habsburg, for instance, when commercial hacks peddled their gene-
alogies to the curious masses, or scholars engaged in their academic warfare 
from the safety of their ivory towers. While Habsburg descent was the key 
ordering principle in such texts, non-Habsburgs occasionally crept in as col-
lateral relatives – at least whenever genealogical narratives reflected the re-
cent ruling group. The unilineal dynastic past was accompanied by a wider 
dynastic ‘present’, reflected in genealogists’ discussion of recent and current 
generations. Here, we see an overlap with the ruling group: individuals who 
were excluded from the unilineal narrative, like most women, illegitimate 
offspring and cognates, reappeared as long as they were remembered locally 
as governors or otherwise.

Particularly telling developments can be identified in the demographics 
of the Spanish Habsburg burial sites. The accumulated post-mortem family 
group grew dramatically between the Middle Ages, characterised by indi-
vidual burial sites or sites that housed a limited number of relatives, and 
the middle of the seventeenth century; when Philip IV’s coffin was brought 
to the Escorial, its crypts housed no fewer than thirty-eight relatives. It is 
important to note that this was not merely due to the passing of time; many 
generations of Castilian kings and Austrian dukes had passed away over 
the centuries without ever giving rise to such densely populated crypts. It 
was rather because the people buried there represented an ever-wider group. 
Charles V started this expansion by reburying his infant sons with him, and 



Conclusion  233

his successors continued to expand the group by including relatives that had 
previously been buried separately from kings: widowed aunts, nephews, bas-
tards and even those who had expressed a wish for burial elsewhere, like 
Philip II’s son Don Carlos or Cardinal-Infante Fernando. The fact that the 
latter, a legitimate Spanish prince and an archbishop to boot, did not have 
an individual tomb somewhere represents quite a dramatic shift in compari-
son with his medieval predecessors. Individual burials were closely connected 
to independent authority and resources: ruling archdukes in Austria and 
Castilian infantes endowed with vast wealth had simply had the financial 
means and the political independence to avoid ending up in a crowded dynas-
tic vault. Not so for the royal cardinal. His final resting place in the Escorial 
crypt is among the clearest manifestations of the process of dynastic centrali-
sation. This centralisation was not only due to the family head’s dominance. 
Many relatives obliquely requested burial in the Escorial, which was, in the 
light of their own lack of resources, by far the preferred option because of 
its prestige and its salvation industry, run by its resident monks. Such rela-
tives gave the king the authority to decide where to bury them, hoping (and 
expecting) that he would choose the Escorial for them. There thus seems to 
be a clear connection between the material distribution of resources and the 
construction of the post-mortem family group. Power had shifted: financial 
resources, political power and family authority had flowed into the hands of 
the family head, but not just because he took it – also because other relatives 
gave it to him.

Dynastic centralisation is less apparent in the construction of the ruling 
family group. The size of this elite group of relatives who were employed 
in governing the monarchy was always connected to the offices that needed 
to be filled by close relatives. Within the Spanish monarchy, these offices 
became fewer at the start of Philip II’s reign: the Austrian branch took over 
the Empire after 1558, while the King no longer needed a representative in 
Castile because he resided there. But other offices were added: Portugal came 
under the wings of the Habsburgs in 1581, the grand priory of Castile in the 
Order of St John was re-styled as a dynastic office, and the generalship of 
the Mediterranean fleet was added in the early seventeenth century. Overall, 
the number of relatives the king of Spain needed to run his monarchy did not 
increase or decrease significantly.

Yet, within this group, certain dynamics did their work. Over the course of 
the sixteenth century, siblings lost their primacy – voluntarily, in the case of 
Philip II’s sisters – to nephews, who often had spent some years at the Spanish 
court being thoroughly Habsburgified. By crafting an alternative power posi-
tion in the Descalzas, Philip II’s sisters contributed to a more gendered family 
group, where men took on governing roles and women staffed the ‘pious 
court’ from the convent. In the seventeenth century, a lack of suitable neph-
ews brought in an ever-wider field of contestants, who managed to present 
themselves as close relatives based on the precedents that had been created. 
The King lost his grip of the construction of this group somewhat, which 



234  Conclusion

in turn caused it to lose some of its cohesion and lustre in the seventeenth 
century. Apart from Philip IV’s brothers who had become part of the ruling 
group instead of taking on an independent position, and Filiberto of Savoy 
and Philip IV’s illegitimate son Don Juan, relatives do not appear to have 
enjoyed the same level of trust as their sixteenth-century predecessors. The 
employment of relatives during Philip IV’s reign consisted mostly of numer-
ous brief cousin employments. Furthermore, most of the relatives who served 
him had not been socialised at his court, and they were no longer buried in 
the Escorial. The commitment of these relatives to the Spanish Habsburgs 
was much weaker than that of Alessandro Farnese or Filiberto of Savoy. 
During Charles II’s reign, dynastic appointments petered out almost entirely 
and aristocrats took over as governors in the Low Countries, the priorate 
of Castile and elsewhere. Demography and dynastic accident expedited the 
disappearance of the ruling group: only when Charles II was a child – his 
mother and ministers jealously guarding his prerogatives – did he have a 
brother, Don Juan, to employ, and as the events of the Spanish War of Suc-
cession so dramatically show, he counted only the French dauphin as his 
nephew. The ruling family group had disappeared.

What role did the family head play in the development of these different 
dynastic constructions? As long as all males stood to acquire some part of 
the patrimony, it was, of course, not always evident who the family head 
even was or who was subordinate to him, nor how far his authority reached. 
Charles V’s younger brother Ferdinand deferred to his brother in many as-
pects but was firmly in charge of his own patrimony and burial. Over the 
course of the sixteenth century, a clear family head did emerge in the Spanish 
branch. Yet he never became an all-powerful shaper of his dynasty. For one, 
natural processes of demography determined the playing field – how many 
sons, daughters and siblings did he have? – and these matters were partly out 
of his hands. But apart from that, relatives continued to display considerable 
agency: Philip II’s sisters simply refused to take on government roles or be 
buried in the Escorial. Other relatives did the opposite; Filiberto of Savoy 
and others actively placed their post-mortem fates in the King’s hands. With-
out such input from relatives, the demographics of the Escorial might have 
looked different. Neither must we forget how the Medici seemed to present 
Philip IV with a sort of fait accompli in their insistence on equality with the 
Habsburgified princes of Savoy, elbowing their way into the Habsburg ruling 
family group, however ephemeral their service turned out to be. Relation-
ships among relatives – also quite outside of the King’s control – played an 
important role as well: the rivalry over the government of the Low Coun-
tries between Christina of Denmark and Margaret of Parma, cousin and 
half-sister, respectively, of Philip II, caused some headaches, and from the 
late sixteenth century until well into the seventeenth century, we can trace a 
Styrian-Austrian group, formed initially by Philip III’s brothers-in-law, vying 
with the better entrenched Savoyards, the children of Infanta Catalina, for 
the same kinds of perks and offices. The seventeenth-century Medici appear 
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to be exclusively driven by their bitter rivalry with the House of Savoy. These 
rivalries were often closely connected to expectations based on previously 
established practice: both the Styrians and the Savoyards looked at the previ-
ous generation of Austrian archdukes, and the Medici intended for one of 
their own to follow in the footsteps of a deceased Savoyard prince. The fam-
ily head’s authority was limited by demography, individual agency, rivalry 
and the institutionalisation of roles for certain types of relatives.

Another important conclusion is that the development of inner-dynastic 
dynamics always intersected with generational shifts: all relationships had to 
be renegotiated when a new head of the House came to power. Any new king 
was a different individual from his father, with different likes and dislikes, 
who listened to different people. For example, Philip III brought in the duke 
of Lerma and his family as new rivals for high office. But a new king also 
meant that kinship was calculated with respect to a different ‘central individ-
ual’: nephews became cousins, sisters became aunts, brothers-in-law became 
uncles, sons became brothers and first cousins became second cousins. Kin-
ship became either more remote or closer, and this influenced how relatives 
might be used, if at all. Rulers never made appointments of relatives farther 
removed than first cousins (even if they were sometimes considered), so the 
transition from first cousin to second cousin essentially meant an exit from 
the family group. New marriages and births introduced new members: in-
laws, children, nieces and nephews. They gladly took on the mantle of their 
predecessors in such roles. With each generational shift, the dynasty became 
a different group, based on kinship ties to a new family head.

Dynasties can best be understood as a composite of constructions of a 
family group that exists in different temporal dimensions: genealogies and 
crypts construct and reflect its past and appointments and burials (and 
surely many other things) illuminate its contours in the present, while succes-
sion scenarios hypothesise its future. Processes like dynastic centralisation,  
dynamics within the family group and between ruler and elites, individual 
agency and the social institutionalisation of roles all drove change. Construc-
tions have a nagging reputation of not being real, but all the constructions 
of the Spanish Habsburg dynasty that I have discussed were real to contem-
poraries. Alessandro Farnese was a royal governor in the eyes of the elites in 
Brussels, even if he was an Italian prince born of an illegitimate mother; ge-
nealogies of the ‘House of Austria’ were real even if the characters described 
in them might not be; testaments granted real rights and reflected real claims 
even if not all clauses were triggered; the remains of the occupants of the 
crypt in the Escorial are still in situ, even if they might have turned to dust 
by now; and to highlight his status as a royal grandson, Filiberto of Savoy 
was really called ‘Your Highness’ by the Spanish court – and ‘of Austria’ by 
others.
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Rudolf II, duke of Austria 20, 21, 43n10, 

89, 90
Rudolf II, Holy Roman Emperor 44n23, 

63, 67, 71, 72, 78, 79, 84n60, 89, 
104, 105, 110, 111, 112, 120n112, 
156, 161, 162, 163, 166, 167, 169, 
175n104, 180, 192, 204n7–8, 
205n17, 210n92

Rudolf III, duke of Austria 21, 67, 89
Rudolf IV of Austria 89, 90; construction of 

crypt 114n10

Salazar de Mendoza, Pedro 77, 78
Sánchez, Magdalena S. 191
Sancho IV, king of Castile 25, 92, 93
San Lorenzo de El Escorial 87,  

99–103, 100
Sansovino, Francesco 58
Santiago, order of 168

Savoy 132–138
Schönleben, Johann Ludwig 58
Schoppe, Caspar 60, 68, 79
Sebastian, king of Portugal 156
Seifridus, Johannes 58
Sforza, Bianca 96
Sicilian viceroyalty 220
Siete Partidas 23, 31
Sigebertus of Austrasia 57, 230
Sigismund of Austria, count of Tyrol 22, 

65, 67, 68, 89, 91
Sigismund of Luxemburg, Holy Roman 

Emperor 13n4, 65, 89
social institution, definition of 17–18n43
social institutionalism 10
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